
Tourism, Communities, Culture & 
Leisure Committee
Date: Tuesday, 18 January 2022
Time: 6.00 p.m.

Venue: Palace Suite - Floral Pavilion

Contact Officer: Mike Jones
Tel: 0151 691 8363
e-mail: michaeljones1@wirral.gov.uk
Website: www.wirral.gov.uk

Members of the public are encouraged to view the meeting via the webcast
(see below), but for anyone who would like to attend in person, seating is
limited therefore please contact the Floral Pavilion box office at their website:
https://www.floralpavilion.com/en-GB/categories/wirral%20council or by 
telephone on 0151 666 0000 in advance of the meeting, if you would
like to reserve a seat. All those attending will be asked to wear a face
covering (unless exempt) and are encouraged to take a Lateral Flow Test
before attending. You should not attend if you have tested positive for
Coronavirus or if you have any symptoms of Coronavirus.

Wirral Council is fully committed to equalities and our obligations under 
The Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. If you have any 
adjustments that would help you attend or participate at this meeting, 
please let us know as soon as possible and we would be happy to facilitate 
where possible. Please contact committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk

This meeting will be webcast at
https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

AGENDA
1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION 

2. APOLOGIES 

3. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Public Document Pack

https://www.floralpavilion.com/en-GB/categories/wirral%20council
mailto:committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk
https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Members are asked to consider whether they have any disclosable 
pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest.

4. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8)

To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held on 17 
November 2021.

5. PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS 

Please telephone the Committee Services Officer if you have not 
received an acknowledgement of your question/statement by the 
deadline for submission.

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Notice of question to be given in writing or by email by 12 noon, 
Thursday 13 January 2022 to the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
(committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk) and to be dealt with in accordance 
with Standing Order 10.

5. STATEMENTS AND PETITIONS 

Notice of representations to be given in writing or by email by 12 noon, 
Thursday 13 January 2022 to the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
(committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk) and to be dealt with in accordance 
with Standing Order 11.1.

Petitions may be presented to the Committee. The person presenting 
the petition will be allowed to address the meeting briefly (not 
exceeding one minute) to outline the aims of the petition. The Chair 
will refer the matter to another appropriate body of the Council within 
whose terms of reference it falls without discussion, unless a relevant 
item appears elsewhere on the Agenda. Please give notice of petitions 
to committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk in advance of the meeting.

5. QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS 

Questions by Members to be dealt with in accordance with Standing 
Orders 12.3 to 12.8.

SECTION A - KEY AND OTHER DECISIONS

6. A SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY STRATEGY FOR WIRRAL 
(2021-2026) (Pages 9 - 182)

7. LIBRARY STRATEGY AND FUTURE OPERATING MODEL (Pages 
183 - 464)

mailto:committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk
mailto:committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk
mailto:committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk


SECTION B - BUDGET AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

8. 2022/23 BUDGET UPDATE (Pages 465 - 562)

SECTION C - WORK PROGRAMME / OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

9. WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE (Pages 563 - 572)



TOURISM, COMMUNITIES, CULTURE AND LEISURE COMMITTEE 
Terms of reference
(extract from Constitution section 3(b))

7.1 Composition: 
 

Eleven (11) Members of the Council, which may be altered to 
accommodate the overall political balance calculation.  

 
7.2 Terms of Reference 
 

The Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee has 
responsibility for customer contact, community development and 
community services. including all of those functions related to 
community safety and also those regarding the promotion of 
community engagement.

The Committee is charged by full Council to undertake responsibility for 
the Council’s role and functions:-
(a) for customer and community contact services, including various 

offices and meeting points, customer contact centres and advice 
and transaction services 

(b) community engagement, incorporating the Council’s approach to 
equalities, inclusion communities, neighbourhoods and the 
voluntary and charitable sector, community wealth building and 
social value;

(c) in considering options and develop proposals for neighbourhood 
arrangements, including capacity building, use of assets and 
devolving powers and services to neighbourhoods;

(d) for the provision and management of leisure, sports and recreation 
facilities;  

(e) for delivery of the authority’s library and museums services, 
including but not limited to art galleries, historic buildings and their 
gardens and the functions of the Council regarding public records, 
and the Council’s 

(f) concerning tourism, the arts, culture and heritage, including 
provision of theatre, entertainments, conferences and events;

(g) in relation to bereavement services and support to the Coroner’s 
service;

(h) regarding community safety, crime and disorder and all associated 
matters;

(i) for trading standards and environmental health, including but not 
limited to:
(i) consumer protection;
(ii) product safety;
(iii) fair trading; 
(iv) metrology; 



(v) food standards and animal health; 
(vi) air pollution control;
(vii) health and safety at work (except in so far as it relates to the 

Council as an employer);
(viii) public conveniences; 
(ix) food safety; and 
(x)control of nuisances;

(j) in respect of emergency planning and community resilience 
(community, regulatory and asset services);

(k) providing a view of performance, budget monitoring and risk 
management in relation to the Committee’s functions; and

(l) undertaking the development and implementation of policy in 
relation to the Committee’s functions, incorporating the assessment 
of outcomes, review of effectiveness and formulation of 
recommendations to the Council, partners and other bodies, which 
shall include any decision relating to the above functions.

7.3 Methodology 

(a) Enquiries and Policy Development -The Committee may 
undertake enquiries and investigate the available options for future 
direction in policy development and may appoint advisors and 
assessors to assist them in this process.  They may go on site 
visits, conduct public surveys, hold public meetings, commission 
research and do all other things that they reasonably consider 
necessary to inform their deliberations.

(b) Overview and Scrutiny - The Committee may scrutinise and 
review decisions made or actions taken by the Authority in so far as 
they have a direct impact on the role or functions of the committee 
and the Committee can make recommendations to the relevant 
Committee on policies, budget and service delivery.  Overview and 
scrutiny of the Council is an important part of the Committee’s remit 
as part of a ‘doing and reviewing’ approach. Upon conclusion of a 
scrutiny exercise the Committee will produce a report containing 
recommendations for decision by the Policy and Resources 
Committee or other Committee as may be relevant. In doing so, the 
Committee shall have regard to the overview and scrutiny means of 
working set out at Part 4(4) of this Constitution.

(c) Stakeholders - The Committee may invite stakeholders to address the 
committee on issues of local concern and/or answer questions in so far as it 
impacts directly or indirectly on the role of functions of the committee



This page is intentionally left blank



TOURISM, COMMUNITIES, CULTURE & LEISURE 
COMMITTEE

Wednesday, 17 November 2021

Present: Councillor H Cameron (Chair)

Councillors M Booth
A Brame
P Cleary
P Gilchrist
J Johnson

B Kenny
C Spriggs
KJ Williams
S Williams
G Wood

40 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION 

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and those watching the 
webcast.

41 APOLOGIES 

There were no apologies for absence.

42 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were asked to consider whether they had any disclosable pecuniary 
interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection with any item(s) on 
this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state the nature of the interest. 

No such declarations were made.

43 MINUTES 

Resolved – That the minutes of the meeting of the Tourism, 
Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee held on 12 October, 2021 
be approved and adopted as a correct record.

44 PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

One question had been received from Steven Jones, which the Chair read out 
followed by the response, as follows:

Question:
The Oval sports hall is still closed for Covid vaccinations. However, the hall 
frequently seems to be closed and not being used much for this purpose. Why 
is an important sports hall being kept mothballed when other local buildings 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



could be used for vaccinating, such as Bebington Civic Centre for example? 
Also, why was the expensive sports hall wooden floor not covered before 
thousands of members of the public, many no doubt wearing normal shoes, 
were allowed through the hall for covid jabs? Many other local authorities 
have covered their sports hall floors using dedicated temporary coverings to 
prevent damage to the sports hall floor. Look at the damage to the Oval sports 
hall floor at the fire exit being used as the entrance for covid vaccinations. 
Pictures are available showing the floor pre and post covid vaccination usage 
- the damage caused by not covering the floor is clearly evident.

Response: 
Thank you for your question. The agreement to utilise the sports hall at the 
Oval for COVID19 vaccinations was made early on in the pandemic between 
the Council and its healthcare partners as part of a joint agency response to 
the pandemic. This agreement is in place until March 2022 and the site will 
continue to support the operation during the uncertain Winter period. The 
NHS are currently using 5-7 vaccination lanes 2-3 days per week. As they 
enter the next phase of the booster programme in the coming 2-3 weeks that 
will increase to 4-6 days per week. Bebington Civic Centre could not 
accommodate the 5-7 lanes required and other activities are planned to take 
place at this site. The sports hall at The Oval is a sealed Granwood floor, not 
a wooden floor and as such it will not have significant damage from outdoor 
shoes etc. It has a rolling programme of cleaning and re-sealing and officers 
will ensure that all necessary maintenance is picked up prior to the site re-
opening for indoor sports.

45 STATEMENTS AND PETITIONS 

No statements, petitions or questions from Members had been received.

46 GRANT FUNDING FOR DESTINATION MARKETING 

The Assistant Director: Chief Regeneration Officer introduced the report on 
Grant Funding for Destination Marketing. In 2019, prior to the Covid-19 
pandemic, the Liverpool City Region Visitor Economy Group had developed a 
proposal for funding from the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority’s 
(LCRCA) Single Investment Fund, to promote tourism across the city region. 
The proposal was revised in 2021 and was approved by the LCRCA in July 
2021. 

The report set out the activity that would be progressed through the 
Destination Marketing project and requested the Committee to delegate 
acceptance of the grant funding, allocated to Wirral Council, to the Director of 
Regeneration and Place in line with the priorities and projects outlined in the 
report. The grant would be spent on improvements to the visitwirral.com 
website and on advertising campaigns, to increase visits to Wirral. Following 
the Covid pandemic, it was part of a series of measures to support the 

Page 2



recovery of businesses in the visitor economy sector. Wirral was due to 
receive around £350,000 from the LCRCA, to be spread over three years

Responding to a number of comments from Members, the Assistant Director 
stated that the LCR Visitor Economy Recovery Strategy was due to be 
presented to Chief Executives and that she would provide feedback when this 
took place. Wirral Council’s match funding of £150,000 had been agreed 
some time ago and was still contained in the budget currently.

She also agreed to provide a breakdown of the City Region’s visitor economy 
and the number of jobs supported in Wirral as referred to in paragraph 3.2 of 
the report. With regard to the website the development of this would be 
undertaken on a City Region basis but the website would be tailored to each 
authority and there would be a strong focus for Wirral. Officers would also 
work within the Mersey Dee Alliance to make sure Wirral’s connection to 
Chester was maximised.

The Chair suggested a short summary document be produced referencing the 
breakdown of visitor economy jobs in the borough alongside Key Performance 
Indicators relating to Wirral to be extracted from the relevant LCR documents.

RECOMMENDED to the Policy and Resources Committee:

(1) that it be noted that the funding is subject to receiving and entering 
into a formal Grant Funding Agreement, which details the terms and 
conditions of the award; 

(2) the Director of Regeneration and Place be authorised to approve the 
Grant Funding Agreement, thereby accepting the funds. 

47 BIRKENHEAD CULTURE AND HERITAGE STRATEGY 

The Senior Manager, Culture Strategy introduced a report which provided an 
update on the development of a Culture and Heritage Strategy for 
Birkenhead, commissioned in support of the Council’s ambitious regeneration 
plans. In addition to the aims of the Strategy, the report set out timescales, 
overarching themes and high level priorities. The long-term vision in the 
Strategy was aligned to the Birkenhead 2040 Framework but with an initial 5 
year delivery timeframe (2021 – 2026) which was aligned to both the Wirral 
Plan and Economic Strategy. 

The strategy would also be critical to underpinning key initiatives which 
impacted on the borough as a whole, such as the Liverpool City Region 
Borough of Culture status, which Wirral would hold again in 2024.

In line with the draft Strategy, officers were currently working to ensure the 
opportunities presented by the Birkenhead Regeneration Framework had 

Page 3



input in respect of culture and heritage. As an example of the joint working 
referenced in the document, officers were collaborating proactively across 
directorates to develop a programme for 2022 which would include 
Birkenhead Park’s 175th anniversary celebrations.

The Senior Manager and Assistant Director: Chief Regeneration Officer 
responded to a number of comments on the Strategy. Further work was to be 
carried out to finalise the Strategy in consultation with creatives, communities 
and stakeholders. Work was also ongoing to develop a funding plan aligned to 
the Strategy alongside culture being a fundamental part of the regeneration 
programme which presented further opportunities. With regard to an 
evaluation of the 2019 Borough of Culture, this had been held in abeyance 
due to Covid pressures but work had been undertaken and would be reported 
to Members. 

Members expressed their thanks and full support for all the work which had 
and was being undertaken with regard to the Strategy and all that it entailed.

On a motion by the Chair, seconded by Councillor Steve Williams, it was -

Resolved – That, 
 
(1) the draft Culture and Heritage Strategy for Birkenhead, be endorsed 

and;

(2) the Director of Regeneration and Place be requested to bring a 
further report for approval of the final strategy.

48 PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 

The Director of Public Health introduced the Public Health Annual Report 
(PHAR) which was her independent annual report and which was a statutory 
requirement. 

The 2020/2021 PHAR described enduring health inequalities in Wirral, the 
immediate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on these differences in health 
outcomes and recommended actions that the Council would need to take to 
improve everyone’s health. The PHAR was an important vehicle to identify 
key issues, flag up problems, report progress and inform local inter agency 
action. The purpose of the PHAR was to draw attention to issues of 
importance which had an impact on population health. 

Since the Council took back responsibility for Public Health in 2013, it had 
published six reports on:

 Social isolation 
 Healthy schools and children

Page 4



 Domestic violence 
 The roles of the Council and NHS in promoting health and wellbeing 
 Problem gambling 
 The role of culture in health and wellbeing.

These reports had led to action in the reduction of people smoking in the 
borough to levels below the national average; increased support for people 
who were feeling socially isolated plus significant activity across a range of 
partners to highlight and reduce the damage caused to Wirral’s communities 
from alcohol abuse and gambling. The 2020/2021 PHAR sought to direct 
action that was needed to take to reduce the impact of health inequalities on 
Wirral’s residents and improve health for everyone in the borough. 

Members made a number of comments on the report, to which the Director 
responded. With regard to the Household Support Grant scheme she would 
ask the Assistant Director: Neighbourhood Safety and Transport to circulate a 
briefing with the criteria for applications for support on fuel and food poverty 
issues. In respect of the air quality assessment of 2019 she would find out 
further information in respect of vehicle ownership figures and if these were 
from the 2011 census. The Chair confirmed that extensive work on air quality 
was being undertaken by the Liverpool City Region and further details could 
be obtained from there.

Members welcomed the report and the Chair stated that Members were 
united in wanting to reduce health inequalities in the Borough despite some of 
the financial difficulties the Council faced.

On a motion by the Chair, seconded by Councillor Max Booth, it was -

Resolved – That  this Committee endorses the recommendations 
detailed within the Public Health Annual Report.

49 BUDGET MONITORING QUARTER 2 

The Senior Finance Business Partner introduced a report which set out the 
financial monitoring information for the Committee as at quarter 2 (July – 
September) of 2021-22). The forecast year end position for Tourism, 
Communities, Culture and Leisure was an adverse variance of £0.158m 
against a budget of £10.059m, which was an improvement on quarter 1. The 
report detailed each service and the factors contributing to adverse or 
favourable variances within the budget. 

In response to Members’ comments, the Assistant Director: Leisure, Libraries 
and Customer Engagement, commented that he would circulate figures for 
the numbers of people who had continued their Invigor8 membership 
following the freezing of membership direct debits at the start of the 

Page 5



pandemic. He also outlined the issues with regard to the use of the Oval, 
which the NHS were still using.  

On a motion by the Chair, seconded by Councillor Gill Wood, it was -

Resolved – That, 
 
(1) the projected year-end revenue forecast position of £0.158m 

adverse, as reported at quarter 2 (July – Sept) of 2021/22, be noted;

(2) the progress on the achievement of approved savings and the 
projected year end forecast position at quarter 2 (July – Sept) of 
2021-22, be noted;

(3) the reserves allocated to the Committee for future one-off 
commitments, be noted;

(4) the projected year-end capital forecast position of £3.161m 
favourable, as reported at quarter 2 (July – Sept) of 2021-22, be 
noted.

50 TOURISM COMMITTEE BUDGET PAPER 

The Senior Finance Business Partner, introduced a report on the feedback 
and outcomes from the Budget Workshops which had been held in recent 
months. The Policy and Service Committees were responsible for those 
services being delivered under their operational headings within their annual 
budget envelope. 

The Policy and Resources Committee, in consultation with the respective 
Policy and Service Committees, had been charged by Council to formulate a 
draft Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and budget to recommend to the 
Council. The Budget Workshops considered whether the proposals included 
in the MTFP for the 2022/23 budget, and beyond, were to be taken forward or 
whether they were to be replaced by alternative proposals that the 
committees would recommend. 

The scale of the financial challenge that the Council faced could not be 
overstated. The short-term support afforded by government in the form of a 
capitalisation directive did not extend beyond 2021/22, reinforcing the 
requirement for an in-depth review of Council operations to enable considered 
and robust proposals to be made to Council in February 2022 for the 2022/23 
budget allocation. This would require difficult decisions to ensure that a 
balanced budget could be presented. 

The workshop had considered and agreed to all the savings put forward of 
£665k as outlined in an appendix to the report.

Page 6



With regard to the proposed savings a Member suggested the need to be 
mindful of separating out efficiencies and income, as suggested increases in 
income were aspirational and Members had now been asked to focus on 
achievable savings.

The Chair referred to the external assurance reviews and key dates in the 
budget setting process and that this Committee would have oversight of its 
budget, whilst acknowledging that the ultimate decision maker in proposing a 
budget would be the Policy and Resources Committee. 

On a motion by the Chair, seconded by Councillor Pat Cleary, it was -

Resolved - That the Budget Workshop feedback and outcomes, as 
detailed in appendix 1, be agreed and be reported to Policy and 
Resources Committee for consideration.

51 WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE 

The Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee was responsible 
for proposing and delivering an annual committee work programme. This work 
programme was to align with the corporate priorities of the Council, in 
particular the delivery of the key decisions which were within the remit of the 
Committee. 

The Chair referred to the need for the work programme to now have only 
items which had a significant impact on the Council’s finances and that some 
items might have be taken off.

Responding to comments from Members, the Assistant Director: Leisure, 
Libraries and Customer Engagement referred to the two strategy documents 
due to come before the Committee on sports and on libraries and that the 
libraries one would give consideration to one stop shops.

On a motion by the Chair, seconded by Councillor Jenny Johnson, it was -
 
Resolved - That the work programme for the Tourism, Communities, 
Culture and Leisure Committee be altered just to include those specific 
items that deal with the financial position, medium term budget and the 
current assurance review recommendations.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 
Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee
17 November 2021

REPORT TITLE: A Sport and Physical Activity Strategy for Wirral (2021-
2026) 

REPORT OF: Director of Neighbourhood Services

REPORT SUMMARY

This report provides the Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee with the 5-
year strategy, “Creating an Active Wirral, A Sport and Physical Activity Strategy for Wirral”. It 
provides an overview of the collaborative process, needs analysis and strategic priorities 
required to increase sport and activity levels in the borough to deliver a reduction in health 
and social inequalities. 

The key focus of the strategy is to set out the priorities for sport and leisure facilities, services 
and activities and seeks to redress the balance between being a provider of facilities and 
tackling inequality through preventative, outreach, and early intervention work.  It is not a 
statutory requirement to have a Sport and Physical Activity Strategy, but it is seen as good 
practice to outline the council’s plans for leisure services for the period 2021-2026, based on 
the evidence base, public consultation and the current Covid-19 landscape. 

The report will also inform of the outcome of the public consultation that was completed 
following member approval at the July committee meeting. The consultation received over 
750 responses. 

The public consultation has assisted in providing overall direction for the strategy and having 
now incorporated this public feedback, officers are seeking approval for the finalised strategy 
to be formally adopted by the council. 

The report and strategy are aligned to the priorities of the Wirral Plan 2026: 

 Active and healthy lives 
 Safe and pleasant communities
 Sustainable environment 
 Brighter futures 
 Inclusive economy 

The vision for the strategy is: To make sport and physical activity part of everyone’s everyday 
life.

The four strategic themes are: 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 Theme 1: Active People - To provide opportunities for all Wirral 
residents to be more active 

 Theme 2: Active Partnerships - To build partnerships and 
collaborations that provide inclusive activities for all

 Theme 3: Active Places and Spaces - Influence place-shaping to 
ensure a network of high quality and accessible spaces that make it 
easier for people to be active.

 Theme 4: Active Facilities - To create accessible, affordable, 
environmentally sustainable facilities offering a quality opportunity and 
environment that encourages Wirral residents to be more active, more 
often.

This matter affects residents in all Wards within the Borough.

This report is a key decision. 

RECOMMENDATION/S

The Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee is recommended to:

1. Approve the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy (2021-2026) / Creating an Active 
Wirral. 

2. Request the Director of Neighbourhoods to develop the next stage of a delivery plan to 
be reported back to a future meeting of this committee.

Page 10



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 One of the challenges Wirral faces is reducing the stark health inequalities that exist 
between different parts of the borough and improving the life chances for all. Sport and 
physical activity can contribute significantly towards combatting this, due to its well 
documented and scientifically proven potential in improving a person’s physical and 
mental wellbeing, individual development, and social and community development.

1.2 The Sport and Physical Activity Strategy will guide and influence both internal teams 
and external partners, Planning Teams, Public Health, Constituency Team, Children’s 
and Adult Services, national governing bodies of sport, local sports clubs, and 
community groups. This final strategy will be a consideration in planning decisions, the 
development of planning policy and the community funding panel decisions. The 
strategy will also be a key document that articulates the needs of Wirral residents as 
part of the Wirral Plan 2026. The final strategy will be integrated into the wider 
Children’s, Adult Social Care and Health agendas, as well as linking into all aspect of 
the wider Wirral 2026 plan: focusing on the contribution sport and physical activity 
provides to each of the thematic areas, active and healthy lives, safe and pleasant 
communities, sustainable environment, inclusive economy and brighter futures for all.

1.3 It is not a statutory requirement to have a Sport and Physical Activity Strategy, but it is 
seen as good practice in setting out the council’s priorities and plans for meeting sport 
and leisure needs. The council’s previous Leisure Strategy aligned with the Wirral Plan 
2020 and placed a significant emphasis on outdoor spaces and tourism. In seeking to 
support the new Wirral 2026 Plan, this strategy, whilst continuing to support and build 
on the benefits of outdoor space, will place a greater emphasis on inequality and the 
need to tackle the significant degree of health inequality across our Borough – 
magnified by the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

1.4 The most recent Active Lives Survey conducted by Sport England indicated that 24% 
of Wirral’s population is ‘inactive’. Inactive is defined as 30 minutes of activity or less 
per week and also includes those that do not do any activity. 

1.5 The Sport England, Active Lives Survey measuring activity levels of adults (16+) for 
the period of mid-Nov 2019 to mid-Nov 20 reported that the number of ‘active’ people 
in Wirral is 62.4% (take part in 150 minutes plus per week), ‘fairly active’ (30-149 
minutes) is 13.6% and ‘inactive’ people has increased to 24% (an increase of 3,900 
residents in the last 12 months) of the population. The report contained the first 8 
months of the coronavirus restrictions (mid-March to mid-Nov 20) and is the national 
measure for sport and physical activity levels. 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Not to progress with the development of a new strategy. 

2.2 Many external funders such as Sport England and national governing bodies of sport 
require a clear strategic position and evidence base that can clearly articulate how the 

Page 11



borough is working towards increasing physical activity levels and can be a 
prerequisite before funding applications will be considered. 

2.3 As physical activity delivers health, social, environmental, and economic benefits. It is 
important that Wirral approaches the challenges in a collaborative, coordinated 
manner. 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 In 2015 there was a major shift in central government’s position regarding sport, from a 
focus on the number of participants, to the social good that sport and physical activity 
can deliver. The Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS) strategy 
‘Sporting Future, a new Strategy for an Active Nation’ (2015), redefines what success 
looks like in sport, by concentrating on five key outcomes: physical wellbeing, mental 
wellbeing, individual development, social and community development, and economic 
development. This new approach informed the Merseyside Sport Partnership Strategic 
Framework (2017-2022), which sets out targets for reducing inactivity for children and 
adults within the borough. These key documents have been considered and are 
reflected in the Strategy.

3.2 In January 2021, Sport England unveiled their new 10-year strategy, ‘Uniting the 
Movement’. The strategy, which runs until 2031, aims to transform lives and 
communities through sport and physical activity. Improving inclusivity and tackling 
deep-rooted inequalities is at the core of the strategy, recognising that there are too 
many people who have been left behind, and currently feel excluded from being active, 
which has been heightened by Covid-19.

3.3 The strategy highlights five ‘big issues’ that Sport England need to address collectively 
to make a lasting difference:

1) Recover and reinvent

2) Connecting communities

3) Positive experiences for children and young people

4) Connecting with health and wellbeing

5) Active environments

3.4 Wirral Council’s strategy is fully aligned to the direction of travel of that of the new 
Sport England Strategy. Wirral Council have worked closely with colleagues at Sport 
England to shape our local thinking and approach.  

3.5 As the council continues to adapt and rebuild from the pandemic, the strategy 
recognises the important role sport and physical activity plays in improving the physical 
and mental health of the nation, supporting the economy, reconnecting communities, 
and rebuilding a stronger society for all.

Page 12



3.6 The health and wellbeing of Wirral will be a key factor in its ongoing success. Our 
ambition is to ensure that all Wirral residents have the opportunity, environment and 
support they need to lead active, healthy, and happier lives, and to make physical 
activity an everyday natural choice. We want to create a fairer future for all of our 
residents, where the supporting of healthy life choices will help our population to live 
their lives to the full for as long as possible

3.7 This strategy will support the Council’s Economic Strategy and wider regeneration 
place aspirations in delivering over 21,000 new and affordable homes. The strategy 
will play an active and effective role alongside all partners to shape and achieve “good 
growth” for Wirral; creating great places for people to live, work, learn and enjoy, with 
active travel solutions linked to walking and cycling, and ensuring Wirral’s 
infrastructure is sustainable for the future.

4.0 Sport and Physical Activity Strategy for Wirral 2021 – 2026: Progress since previous 
report:

4.1 The public consultation which ran from 8 June until 19 July 2021 focussed on three key 
areas; adults, young people, and organisations & partners.  

4.2 The findings of the adults’ consultation are as follows: 

Adult Responses:
What matters most in terms of 
Sports and Physical Activity? Personal fitness and health (73%) 

Walking (50.5%)
Swimming (35.8%)What Activities Do you currently 

undertake?
Cycling (33.9%)

How much time do you like to be 
active for? 1 – 3 hours (44.1%)

Where are you when you are active? Council leisure centres (76.1%)

Increase in availability of different/additional 
exercise classes (40.9%)
Sports specific coaching (33.3%)
Family activities (34.9%)

Sessions lasting one hour (60.2%) or 45 minutes 
(43.3%)
Taking place at evening (45.2%) or morning 
(34.7%)
Additional Comments:
Lack of swimming sessions
Not enough variety of classes/sessions offered

Preferences for Activities

More outdoor activities including swimming. 
Life commitments (39.5%)

Barriers to Physical Activity
Activity timing (35.2%)

Page 13



Cost (33.1%)
Lack of appropriate facilities (22.8%)
Increasing activities in resident’s locality (73.4%)Recommendations for encouraging 

activity Provisioning activities outside of leisure centres 
(30.4%)

4.3 A youth survey was developed to capture the motivation, needs, and wants of our 
young people in Wirral and captured the following results: 

Young People Responses:
What matters most in terms of Sports 
and Physical Activity? Socialising with friends (54%)

Playing outside (60.5%)
Football (44.1%)What Activities Do you currently 

undertake?
Walking (24.4%)

How much time do you like to be 
active for? 30 minutes – 1 hour (32.7%)

Where are you when you are active? Local parks or open spaces (76.1%)

Sport specific coaching (44.2%)
Holiday sport programmes (16.7%)
Sport competitions (16.7%)

Sessions lasting one hour (47.7%) or 30 minutes 
(20.5%)

Preferences for Activity

Taking place at twilight (25.6%) or any time of 
day (25.6%)

Not knowing what activities were available (over 
73.4%) 

Cost (50.4%)
Fear of trying activities (43.2%)
Not knowing anybody (33.1%)
Issues related to transport (31.7%)
Additional Comments:

Barriers to Physical Activity

Need to improve cycle lane safety (33%)

Increasing activities in locality (41.5%)
Being able to bring a friend or relative (23.7%)
Providing beginner sessions or classes (20.2%)

Recommendations for encouraging 
activity

Trial activities at schools (13.3%)

4.4 A number of external stakeholders have been consulted through their networks, and 
presentations have been given to groups such as Wirral Health Inequalities Group, 
Wirral Youth Collective, Bridge Forum and the Humanitarian Cell. 

Page 14



4.5 21 partners provided information within the consultation on ways of encouraging 
physical activity with residents, and the results were:

4.6 The council has commissioned Knight, Kavanagh & Page LTD to develop a Leisure 
Facilities Masterplan and Investment Strategy. The plan is due to be completed in the 
next few weeks and presented to members at a future meeting of this committee. Sport 
England provided grant funding towards this piece of work. 

4.7 The Leisure Facilities Masterplan and Investment Strategy will be informed by the 
Indoor Built Facilities Plan and recent Strategic Outcomes Planning Guidance Report 
and will provide members with the following:

 An accurate, detailed summary showing the current state of its leisure 
facilities.

 Proposals in respect of the component parts and shape of all future 
leisure facilities in the Borough (this will need to consider formal and 
informal activities).

Organisation & Partner Responses:
Encourage outdoor activity (23.5%)

Barrier: Lack of venues for hire (11.8%)

Barrier: Difficulty finding information (11.8%)

Barrier: Cost (11.8%)

How could activity levels be 
improved across the Borough?

Barrier Accessibility (11.8%)

Achieving outcomes (14.3%)

Delivering a good quality offer (14.3%)

Good communications between teams (9.5%)

Created new projects (9.5%)

Top 5 things Partners thought 
worked well with Wirral Council

Acquired funding for project development (4.8%)

Lack of communication (14.3%)

Lack of successful outcomes (9.5%)

Project did not happen (9.5%)

Lack of financial investment (9.5%)

Top 5 things partners thought didn’t 
work well with Wirral Council

Lack of time and resource (4.8%)
Very 

Satisfied Satisfied Neutral UnsatisfiedLevels of satisfaction from working 
with the council: 30% 16.7% 33.3% 16.7%

Page 15



 Fully validated recommendations and proposals which explicitly detail 
where future leisure facilities within the Authority should be located 
(considering and agreeing the preferred option for all existing/new sites), 
the rationale for them (individually and collectively), their scale, scope, 
relationship to the community(s) serviced, to each other and other sport, 
leisure, cultural and community facilities.

 Provide cost forecasting detailing the estimated revenue cost/surplus 
generating potential and capital cost (including lifecycle costs) of all 
future leisure facilities in the Borough. – in the form of cost summaries 
and projections - detailing what to invest in, where, why and in what 
order.

4.8 Wirral Council’s Planning Team have commissioned Knight, Kavanagh & Page LTD to 
undertake the development and consultation of the council’s Playing Pitch Strategy in 
conjunction with the specific requirements of Sport England. The process included an 
assessment of the quality of pitches used for sport throughout the Borough as well as 
the supply and demand analysis. The resultant Playing Pitch Strategy will be published 
soon. 

Next Steps

4.9 An adoption of the Strategy document and approval to begin the action plan ready for 
presentation in April 2022.
 

4.10 Launch of the new Active Wirral brand and accompanying communications campaign. 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 It is acknowledged that upfront investment in physical activity could lead to longer term 
reductions in costs of other whole system costs including front-line public sector 
(children’s, adults etc) and health services.  

5.2 A Facilities Master Plan for the Borough which, in turn, informs a Leisure Investment 
Strategy will provide senior managers and Members with an overview of the high-level 
capital cost and the revenue impact of an improved facility offer. 

5.3 Many of the asset-based facilities that make up the council’s Leisure estate are old, 
tired, underutilised and in need of significant levels of capital investment just to 
maintain day to day operations. The last condition survey undertaken on Leisure 
assets (2016) suggested that approximately £15 million of works were required, and 
condition shortfalls were further illustrated during attempts to recommission buildings 
during the Covid-19 pandemic. This figure is only likely to increase in the event that the 
council commissions a new condition survey, discussions around which are currently 
taking place. The outcome of this strategic approach is fundamental in attracting 
inward investment from national sporting bodies, to either modernise, redesign, 
decommission or rebuild the council’s existing assets. Without support, it is unlikely 
that any new facilities would be developed, and the council would need to continue to 
fund works on deteriorating assets indefinitely at a time of extreme revenue 

Page 16



deficiencies.

6.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 There is no legal requirement to have a Sport and Physical Activity Strategy, as the 
Council’s Leisure Services are non- statutory. However, it is seen as good practice to 
outline the council’s plans for the period 2021-2026, based on the evidence, public 
consultation and the current Covid-19 landscape.

6.2 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. However, Legal advice 
will be sought where relevant, in relation to any proposed partnership arrangements, 
arising from the action plan. 

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

7.1 One of the principles of the new strategy is to make best use of available resources 
and community assets, and it is assumed that staffing and other costs connected with 
the delivery of the strategy will be contained within existing departmental revenue 
budgets. 

7.2 Improvements in IT provision through an updated mobile app, new digital membership 
system and online and virtual classes are some of the benefits that will increase 
activity levels not within a facility or open space. 

8.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

8.1 As referred to above, the absence of any strategy would significantly jeopardise any 
discussions with communities, stakeholders, and strategic partners. The council is 
unlikely to attract or have access to any nationally available funding streams in the 
event that it is unable to present a sound and strategic case, that demonstrates its 
strategic health and activity intentions in the short, medium, and long term. 

8.2 With the ambition of supporting the residents of Wirral to live active and healthy lives, 
the reputational risk to the council, would be substantial if we were not to move forward 
with the development of a strategy. 

8.3 There are growing health inequalities across the borough, with Covid-19 only 
enhancing these, and there would be a substantial risk to the council if there was no 
intervention to support residents become more physically active. The health and social 
costs relating to physical inactivity would only increase. 

9.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

9.1 Public consultation was undertaken, engaging with residents, particularly those who 
were inactive, to understand the motivations, needs and wants in regard to being 
physically active. This took place on the Have Your Say platform, with the survey going 
live on the 8 June 2021, and lasted 6 weeks, until 19 July 2021. The consultation was 

Page 17



used to inform the basis of the strategy, realigning the outline, with the wants and 
needs of the residents in the community. 

9.2 Three independent consultations were undertaken, each with a different target group; 
adults, young people and partnerships. Each questionnaire was developed to enable 
residents to share their views about sport and physical activity, and an opportunity to 
provide free text answers was also provided. Furthermore, an ideas board was set up 
to allow residents to submit their own ideas, which other users could engage with 
through approval and comments.

9.3 The online consultation platform reached 2,963 people and in total over 750 residents 
provided feedback. Whilst the survey is not representative of the Wirral Residents 
population, it does provide detailed information from those who engaged with the 
survey. Within the new strategy under the Active People strand, officers will continue to 
engage with our residents to further our understanding of their wants and needs. 

10.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The Sport and Physical Activity Strategy is designed to increase participation and 
uptake from those groups that currently use the service least whilst having the highest 
needs. The strategy is aimed at reducing inequalities across the Borough and has 
been based on a full needs’ assessment; it aims to increase participation in areas of 
greatest need where the take-up is currently low, by providing services and activities 
that are relevant to, and valued by those communities.

10.2 As set out under the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality duty (PSED), an 
equalities impact assessment was carried out during the development of the strategy. 

10.3 The Equality Impact Assessment has been reviewed and this report makes no change 
to it. It is available at the following link, https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-
neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments .

11.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

11.1 Modernising the leisure centres will reduce the environmental impact whilst investment 
will result in more attractive buildings which will enhance the local townscape.

11.2 Keeping leisure provision within local communities and increasing our outreach offer, 
will all serve to minimise emissions from car usage. Our leisure centres will all have 
cycle storage and active travel access with associated infrastructure facilities, under 
the government’s ‘gear change’ initiative, will be considered and implemented where 
appropriate.

11.3 Where possible we will invest in environmentally friendly solutions and designs when 
we modernise our buildings, purchase new equipment in order to reduce our carbon 
footprint by supporting the outcomes of the Cool 2 climate change strategy for Wirral.

11.4 As a result of the initiatives outlined above, the content and recommendations 
contained within this report are expected to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases.

Page 18

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments


11.5 Officers are in the process of applying for capital funds, administered by Salix, on 
behalf of the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, to decarbonise 
our leisure facilities in line with the climate emergency plan, whilst also looking to save 
on utility costs through efficiencies delivered by retrofitted modern technology. 

12.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS

12.1 There are a number of social value implications that are directly associated with his 
committee report. Leisure Services has received grant funding (£3,452) from Sport 
England to be included in a national project called Moving Communities, a programme 
designed to track participation at public leisure facilities and to provide new evidence of 
the council’s Leisure facilities performance, sustainability, and social value. 
https://movingcommunities.org/ 

12.2 Moving Communities social value calculator shows Wirral’s Leisure centres have 
generated, in monetary terms; £930,294 of Subjective Wellbeing, £11,078 of 
Educational Attainment, £362,994 of Physical and Mental Health value and £424,771 
in reduced crime in the last 12 months. The combined Social Value of the Leisure 
Centres is £1,729,137 over the last 12 months, with an average social value of 
£131.76 per person. This was collected during the COVID period and additional data is 
required to reinforce our position now more services are being reopened. 

12.3 Data from the Moving Communities platform will be regularly presented to members as 
part of the Leisure Service dashboard and will be used a baseline to monitor the social 
value added, as a result of the implementation of the Sport and Physical Activity 
Strategy.

12.4 In addition, it is envisaged that the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy will have other 
social value benefits for both the organisation, and the wider community, developing 
and building back communities post covid, creating local opportunities for local people 
to thrive, especially in the most deprived areas. 

REPORT AUTHOR:

Sarah Robertson
Neighbourhoods 
sarahrobertson@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Creating an Active Wirral, a Sport and Physical Activity Strategy for Wirral 2026

Wirral Council – Strategic Outcomes Planning Guidance Report 2021

Sport and Physical Activity Strategy Public Consultation Report 

Sport and Physical Activity Strategy Needs Analysis 

Page 19

https://movingcommunities.org/
mailto:sarahrobertson@wirral.gov.uk


BACKGROUND PAPERS

Creating an Active Wirral presentation November 2020 

Wirral Borough Council Indoor and Built Facilities Strategy, draft report October 2019

Wirral Playing Pitch Strategy and Action Plan, 2021

Sport England Strategy, Uniting the Movement 2021 – 2031

Wirral Borough Council: Re-Imagining Libraries, Leisure, Parks and Cultural Services, Phase 
2 Report, October 2017

Measuring the Social and economic value of community sport and physical activity in 
England, 2020

Sport England – Strategic Outcomes Planning Guidance 2019

Merseyside Sport Partnership Strategic Framework (2017-2022)

Department of Culture, Media and Sport: Sporting Future: A New Strategy for an Active 
Nation, 2015 

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure 
Committee

November 2020

Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure 
Committee

July 2021

Page 20



W W W . A C T I V E W I R R A L . C O MW W W . A C T I V E W I R R A L . C O M

A  S p o r t  a n d  P h y s i c a l  A c t i v i t yS p o r t  a n d  P h y s i c a l  A c t i v i t y 

S t r a t e g y  f o r  W i r r a lW i r r a l   2 0 2 1  -  2 0 2 6

C R E A T I N G  A NC R E A T I N G  A N

P
age 21



C O N T E N T SC O N T E N T S

11 I N T R O D U C T I O NI N T R O D U C T I O N

22 T H E  C A S E  F O R  C H A N G ET H E  C A S E  F O R  C H A N G E

33

F O R E W O R D

V I S I O N

P U B L I C  C O N S U L T A T I O N

S T R A T E G I C  O V E R V I E WS T R A T E G I C  O V E R V I E W
A C T I V E  P E O P L E

A C T I V E  P A R T N E R S H I P S

A C T I V E  P L A C E S  &  S P A C E S

A C T I V E  F A C I L I T I E S 

44 S T R A T E G I C  C O N T E X TS T R A T E G I C  C O N T E X T
L I N K S  T O  O T H E R  S T R A T E G I E S  A N D 

P A R T N E R  P R I O R I T I E S 

M E T H O D O L O G Y  

55 1 01 0  F R E E  O R  A F F O R D A B L E  F R E E  O R  A F F O R D A B L E 

W A Y S  T O  B E  A C T I V EW A Y S  T O  B E  A C T I V E

33

66

1 11 1

1 81 8

2 22 2

33
55

88

1 21 2
1 51 5
1 61 6
1 71 7

1 91 9

2 02 0

2

A B O U T  W I R R A L 1 01 0

P
age 22



It has long been recognised that sport and physical activity make a positive 

difference to people’s lives. They strengthen communities, bring people together 

and directly improve the health and wellbeing of our residents.

This strategy, along with the Wirral Plan 2026 sets out our ambitious plan to 

provide opportunities that help our residents to live happy, healthy, independent, 

and active lifestyles. It also seeks to balance our position as a provider of facilities 

with tackling inequality through preventative, outreach and early intervention 

work.

As we look to the future, moving on and progressing from the coronavirus 

pandemic, we have a clear vision - to make sport and physical activity part of 

everyone’s everyday life.

Working with our partners and local people, we need to collectively re-think 

how we can make sport and physical activity available to everyone by creating 

accessible and affordable opportunities.  

The statistics around the quality of life for Wirral people show there are still vast 

differences across the Borough. They demonstrate that there is still a long way 

to go and many improvements can be made.

As Chair of the Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee, I am 

pleased to support and endorse this strategy.  Having always lived in the 

Borough, I’ve seen the positive impact sport and physical activity has on 

people’s quality of life and I wholeheartedly believe that we can make changes 

to help our communities by working together.

I would like to thank all the organisations, partners, stakeholders and members 

of the public who have contributed towards this strategy, and I look forward to 

working with you to deliver this plan.

I N T R O D U C T I O NI N T R O D U C T I O N
F O R E W O R D

C O U N C I L L O R  H E L E N  C A M E R O NC O U N C I L L O R  H E L E N  C A M E R O N  
Chair Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee

3

P
age 23



P
age 24



V I S I O NV I S I O N

T O  M A K E  S P O R TS P O R T  A N D 

     P H Y S I C A L  A C T I V I T Y P H Y S I C A L  A C T I V I T Y  P A R T  O F 

            E V E R Y O N EE V E R Y O N E ’’ SS  E V E R Y D A Y  L I F EL I F E ..

Creating an Active Wirral is our five-year vision to transform our residents lives 

and communities through sport and activity. 

As a Borough, we have many great physical and community assets. Ranging 

from outdoor green spaces such as playground parks, play pitches and golf 

courses, to our open countryside, marine lakes, beautiful coastlines and superb 

gyms, sport halls and swimming pools.

Activities, facilities and opportunities are offered by a wide range of providers, 

including commercial, voluntary and community groups as well as Wirral 

Council and other public sector organisations.

The benefits of an active lifestyle are well documented, and this strategy will use 

the power of sport and activity to improve the lives of our residents and create a 

stronger, healthier, and happier society. 

As we rebuild from the coronavirus pandemic, we need to collectively re-imagine 

how we can make sport and physical activity part of everyone’s lives.

T H E  V I S I O N  I S :

5

P
age 25



T H E  C A S E  F O R  C H A N G EC H A N G E
The Sport England, Active Lives Survey (2019/20) reports that 62.4% of adults 

in Wirral are physically active (above the national average of 61.4%) with 24% 

of people physically inactive meaning they do less than 30 minutes of weekly 

activity at a moderate level. 

In previous years, overall activity levels in Wirral had been rising. The number 

of ‘active’ people in the area increased from 159,500 in 2014/15 to 168,300 in 

2018/19, and the number of ‘inactive’ people fell from 65,800 to 59,300 in this 

same period. However, when considering the most recent data obtained through 

the Active Lives Survey, the number of ‘inactive’ Wirral residents has increased 

by 3,900 as of November 2019/20. Although data from more recent COVID-19 

impacted years has not yet been released, we envisage a continuation of this 

trend resulting in even less ‘active’ residents.

Physical inactivity in later life is now estimated to cost the NHS £92 million per 

year and is projected to increase to over £120 million by 2030. If left unaddressed 

this means the NHS will spend over £1.3 billion on later life physical inactivity 

between now and 2030 (DEMOS, 2019DEMOS, 2019). 

It is critical that as a Borough we provide an offer that encourages and enables 

our residents to build physical activity into their everyday lives.

The benefits of our residents becoming more physically active include a 

reduction in:

• The risk of diabetes by 50%• The risk of diabetes by 50%

• The risk of developing mental health conditions and dementia by 30%• The risk of developing mental health conditions and dementia by 30%

• The risk of Coronary Heart Disease and Stroke by 35%• The risk of Coronary Heart Disease and Stroke by 35%

• The likelihood of experiencing loneliness and social isolation• The likelihood of experiencing loneliness and social isolation

• Involvement in anti-social behaviour and crime• Involvement in anti-social behaviour and crime

As well as,

• Increases in skills development and academic achievement• Increases in skills development and academic achievement

6

P
age 26

https://demos.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Active-Ageing-an-Anchor-Hanover-report-in-association-with-Demos.Final_.pdf


Estimates provided in Sport England’s 2014 ‘Local Sport Profile Tool’, detail 

the health costs of physical inactivity in Wirral related to cancer (GI), breast 

cancer, diabetes, coronary heart disease and cerebrovascular disease (stroke) 

as totalling £7.3 million. 

Sport England commissioned the Sport Industry Research Centre at Sheffield 

Hallam University, to calculate the social impact and the economic importance 

of sport and physical activity in England. They found that when measured 

against costs of engagement and providing opportunities, for every £1 spent 

on community sport and physical activity, a return on investment of £3.91 was 

generated for individuals and society. Across England the combined economic 

and social value of taking part in community sport and physical activity was 

£85.5billion. 

Increasing physical activity has direct benefits for the local environment. By 

increasing the number of journeys made on foot or by bicycle, beneficial 

reductions in CO2 emissions will be delivered that will significantly contribute to 

Wirral’s latest Climate Change Strategy, Cool 2.

7

P
age 27



8 9

S U M M E R  2 0 2 1 
P U B L I C  C O N S U L T A T I O N 

A d u l t s : A d u l t s : 

• 73% of residents saw improving their personal fitness and health to 

be their main motivation for engaging in sports and physical activity. 

The main activities currently conducted by residents are walking, 

swimming, and cycling, with the majority of these taking place at 

council leisure centres. 

• Over 40% of residents said that they want an increase in the 

availability of different/additional exercise classes, with preferences 

for more swimming sessions and more variety in classes, as well as 

sports specific coaching and family activities. Additionally, residents 

wanted to see more opportunities for outdoor activities, including 

swimming. 

• The main barrier to physical activity was life commitments (39.5%), 

followed closely by activity timing and cost, with lack of availability 

of classes and facilities also being notable themes in comments. 

• To encourage more physical activity, increasing activities in 

residents’ local areas was an overwhelming theme reported by 

73.4% of respondents, followed by the provisioning of activities 

outside of leisure centres.

P
age 28



C h i l d r e n  a n d  Y o u n g  P e o p l e : C h i l d r e n  a n d  Y o u n g  P e o p l e : 

• In terms of motivations for engaging in sports and physical activity, 

the majority of young people consulted, reported socialising with 

friends, indicating a preference for fun over functionality. 

• The most common response regarding current activity that young 

people engage in, was playing outside (60.5%) followed by football 

and walking. Young people most commonly detailed this activity to 

take place in local parks or open spaces for 30 minutes to one hour. 

• Young people reported that their preferences on future sports 

was for sports specific coaching, but also included holiday sports 

programmes and sports competitions. Sessions lasting one hour 

or 30 minutes and taking place at twilight or at any time in the day 

were also most reported. 

• One of the top barriers to engaging in sports and physical activity 

was not knowing what activities were available, which was reported 

from over 70% of respondents. Cost, a fear of trying activities, 

not knowing anybody, and issues related to transport were also 

reported as barriers. 

• To encourage young people to engage in more physical activity, the 

top responses in the consultation were an increase in the availability 

of activities in the local area, as well as being able to bring a friend 

or relative, and having beginner sessions or classes. 

• Comments from 33% of young people were provided related to 

improving the safety of cycling, with other comments made on 

facilitating trial activities at schools.

9

P
age 29



A B O U T  W I R R A LW I R R A L

1 0

The context for Wirral is stark:

48.4%

322,000 322,000 Wirral residents

P O P U L A T I O N

51.6%
Male

Female

44%                                                                of Wirral 
residents self-report 

experiencing low levels of anxiety.

23%
23%23% of Wirral residents have a 

limiting long-term illness.

28%
28%28% of households have no access to a car.

Although life expectancy across Wirral has 
actually increased over recent decades, 
healthy life expectancy has decreased. 
Therefore, additional years of life are being 
spent in poorer health and adding more 
strain to health and social care resources. 

The onset of poor health begins at age 61 61 
for menfor men and 63 for women63 for women, up to 5 years 
before pension age. The disparity in these 
ages however varies across the Borough, 
and can be up to 19 years before pension 
age, from two different wards on opposing 
sides.

There is a clear east-west east-west 
split in the Borough with 
the M53M53 motorway being
a defining line through
the area.

82,000
Over 1/41/4 of residents live within the 10 most 

deprived communities in the country. 69.3%                                    of adults 
are overweight or obese compared 
to the 62.8% England’s average.

24.3%                                    of children 
are overweight or obese compared 
to the 23% England’s average.

Over 13%Over 13% of young people 
live in poverty, however, in 
our most deprived wards, this 
rises to 33%

Nearly 50%Nearly 50% of Wirral population are 
in the bottombottom 20% decile20% decile in 
health deprivation, 
and 70%70% of those 
are in the lowestlowest 10% decile.10% decile.

(107,408)

Over 63%Over 63% of Wirral’s 
young people
are in the bottombottom
20% decile f20% decile for health index compared
to the England average of 19.9%. 

(195,456)
Nearly 80,000Nearly 80,000 of Wirral’s 

young people live 
in the bottombottom 20% decile 20% decile in 

the wellbeing index, and nearly 62,000 nearly 62,000 
are in the are in the bottom 10% decile.bottom 10% decile.

P
age 30



S T R A T E G I C  O V E R V I E WS T R A T E G I C  O V E R V I E W  
Our strategy consists of four main themes that are the priorities we believe are 

key to increasing activity levels of our residents. 

We will continue to work collaboratively to develop an action plan to ensure the 

strategy is implemented and our ambitions realised.  

This vision is closely aligned to that of the Wirral Plan  2026, to secure the best 

opportunities and outcomes for our residents, in particular through contributing 

to the active and healthy lives of our residents, giving them the opportunity, 

environment and support they need to lead active, healthy and happier lives. 

 

This strategy will support the Council’s Economic Strategy and wider 

regeneration place aspirations in delivering over 21,000 new and affordable 

homes. The strategy will play an active and effective role alongside all partners 

to shape and achieve “good growth” for Wirral; creating great places for people 

to live, work, learn and enjoy, with active travel solutions linked to walking and 

cycling, and ensuring Wirral’s infrastructure is sustainable for the future. 

We promote active lifestyles. We’re proud of our reputation as the ‘Leisure 

Peninsula’, and our residents benefit from quality opportunities for leisure, sports 

and exercise – through our gyms or in our world-class parks, beaches and 

open spaces. Where people need extra help to stay healthy, we commission 

outstanding services to help people live healthier lifestyles.

     

In order to achieve the outcomes, the strategic objectives have been defined 

in the following thematic areas:

1 1

A C T I V E  P E O P L EA C T I V E  P E O P L E A C T I V E  P A R T N E R S H I P SA C T I V E  P A R T N E R S H I P S A C T I V E  S P A C E S  A N D  P L A C E SA C T I V E  S P A C E S  A N D  P L A C E S A C T I V E  F A C I L T I E SA C T I V E  F A C I L T I E S

To provide opportunities for all To provide opportunities for all 
Wirral residents to be Wirral residents to be 

more active.more active.

To build partnerships and To build partnerships and 
collaborations that provide collaborations that provide 
inclusive activities for all.inclusive activities for all.

Influence place-shaping to ensure Influence place-shaping to ensure 
a network of high quality and a network of high quality and 

accessible spaces that make it accessible spaces that make it 
easier for people to be active.easier for people to be active.

To create accessible, affordable, To create accessible, affordable, 
environmentally sustainable facilities environmentally sustainable facilities 

offering a quality experience and offering a quality experience and 
environment that encourages environment that encourages 

Wirral residents to be more active, Wirral residents to be more active, 
more often.more often.

P
age 31



1 2

Inactivity presents the biggest health risk in our time and this strategy places delivering better health and wellbeing outcomes for our residents as our number one 

priority. In order to support our most inactive residents become more active, whilst retaining the number of residents who are active, we will work collaboratively to 

design and shape opportunities that meet their individual needs. We will be working universally across the Borough to drive up activity levels as well as targeting 

the specific groups we know are at greater risk from inactivity.

The Sport and Physical Activity Strategy is aligned with the emerging 

Early Years Strategy, to focus on making Wirral great for all, including 

children, young people, and their families, driven by their voice, wants 

and needs. Over the last 10 years, Wirral’s deprivation rates have 

increased at a rapid rate, with 35% of its population living in deprived 

areas. This figure increases in Wirral’s most deprived wards, with child 

poverty being as high as 45% in Birkenhead and Tranmere, Bidston 

and St. James, Seacombe and Rock Ferry, where at least 1 in 3 young 

people live in poverty.

There are approximately, 72,000 residents over the ages of 16 living 

in Wirral with a long-term limiting illness, which accounts for 23% of 

residents in comparison to England’s national average of 13%. Despite 

this number being higher than the national average, the number of 

residents with long term illnesses and conditions continues to grow, with 

the most common being; respiratory diseases, mental health, cancer 

and cardiovascular disease. In Wirral, the spread of health deprivation 

and disability is vast, and there is a great difference between two wards 

on opposing sides of the Borough, with a particular area in Birkenhead, 

being ranked as England’s 2nd worst area for health deprivation and 

disability.

22F A M I L I E S  A N D  C H I L D R E N : F A M I L I E S  A N D  C H I L D R E N : R E S I D E N T S  L I V I N G  W I T H  A  L O N GR E S I D E N T S  L I V I N G  W I T H  A  L O N G -- T E R M T E R M 
C O N D I T I O N  O R  D I S A B I L I T Y : C O N D I T I O N  O R  D I S A B I L I T Y : 11

T H E M E  T H E M E  11 :: A C T I V E  P E O P L E 

P
age 32



Approximately 35% of Wirral’s residents reside in an area of deprivation, 

and over 25% of residents live in the 10 most deprived communities 

in England. Poverty is something that affects all areas of the Borough, 

affecting on average 13.4% of Wirral residents compared to England’s 

national average of 11.8%. However, the disparity of wealth between 

the east and west sides of the Borough, means that in some cases, 

poverty levels can be as low as 5.9% in Heswall, and as high as 34.5% 

in Birkenhead and Tranmere, with an average of nearly 30% in the 5 

most deprived wards in Wirral. 

Girls in Wirral are less active than their male counterparts with 51.8% 

of boys and only 35.2% of girls classified as active in the most recent 

Sport England Active Lives survey. When it comes to adulthood, the 

number of active women and men are equal. As a result, we would like 

to better understand and make efforts to reduce this activity gap in girls’ 

participation.  

R E S I D E N T S  L I V I N G  W I T H  A  L O N GR E S I D E N T S  L I V I N G  W I T H  A  L O N G -- T E R M T E R M 
C O N D I T I O N  O R  D I S A B I L I T Y : C O N D I T I O N  O R  D I S A B I L I T Y : 

R E S I D E N T S  L I V I N G  I N  P O V E R T Y : R E S I D E N T S  L I V I N G  I N  P O V E R T Y : 33

W O M E N  A N D  G I R L S : W O M E N  A N D  G I R L S : 44

1 3

P
age 33



A M B I T I O N  - 

W E  W I L L  D O  T H I S  B Y :
1 .1 .   Developing opportunities for Wirral residents to move more. 

2 .2 .   Better understanding and engaging with groups with the highest identified needs to codesign opportunities that are right for them.

3 .3 .   Continuously reviewing our offer to ensure that it remains exciting and attractive to a broad cross-section of users. 

4 .4 .   Encouraging positive behavioural change and increased activity through targeted interventions. 

5 .5 .   Maximising income to fund initiatives that address highest identified priorities. 

W H A T  W E  W A N T  T O  A C H I E V E :  
• Support a decrease in the number of physically inactive residents, with a particular focus on underrepresented groups – families and children, residents with 

long term health conditions and disabilities, women and girls and residents living in deprived areas. As well as retaining the number of physically active residents.

• Support children and young people to ensure that they have the best start possible, so they can achieve their ambitions. To encourage regular participation and 

increase their enjoyment in physical activity to reduce childhood obesity levels, and support their general wellbeing, providing them with the necessary life skills 

to be the best that they can be.

• Better health and social outcomes for our residents through sport and physical activity. 

T O  P R O V I D E  O P P O R T U N I T I E S  F O R  A L L  W I R R A L  R E S I D E N T S  T O  B E  M O R E  A C T I V E T O  P R O V I D E  O P P O R T U N I T I E S  F O R  A L L  W I R R A L  R E S I D E N T S  T O  B E  M O R E  A C T I V E 

1 31 4

P
age 34



A M B I T I O N  - 

W E  W I L L  D O  T H I S  B Y :
1 .1 .   Working with stakeholders to meet national and local priorities. 

2 .2 .   Communicating and delivering an offer that supports the achievement of shared outcomes around physical health, mental wellbeing and individual, social

  and community development.

3 .3 .   Helping and supporting community partners to deliver place-based targeted activities designed around the needs and preferences of local people. 

4 .4 .   Establishing new partnerships and investment opportunities into physical activity. 

W H A T  W E  W A N T  T O  A C H I E V E :  
•  Quality partnerships placing residents at the centre of everything we do, making sure we get the right message out and giving local people a voice 

  in how provision is provided. 

•  A thriving network of organisations that want to contribute towards increasing opportunities to be active.

Here in Wirral, we have a thriving network of sports clubs, third sector organisations and partners, all who encourage our residents to be active. Underpinning this 

are hundreds of volunteers and employees who all contribute to driving activity levels in the Borough. 

These organisations have told us that they would like to work with us to deliver better health and social outcomes for our residents and would like to be involved in 

the design and development of future partnerships. 

1 5

T O  B U I L D  P A R T N E R S H I P S  A N D  C O L L A B O R A T I O N S  T H A T  P R O V I D E  I N C L U S I V E  A C T I V I T I E S  F O R  A L LT O  B U I L D  P A R T N E R S H I P S  A N D  C O L L A B O R A T I O N S  T H A T  P R O V I D E  I N C L U S I V E  A C T I V I T I E S  F O R  A L L    

T H E M E  T H E M E  22 :: A C T I V E  P A R T N E R S H I P S 

P
age 35



1 6

T H E M E  T H E M E  33 :: A C T I V E  P L A C E S  &&  S P A C E S 
A M B I T I O N  - 

W E  W I L L  D O  T H I S  B Y :
1 .1 .   Engaging with communities to develop flexible solutions to locally identified needs.

2 .2 .   Working with key partners in both the private and third sector to position sport and physical activity at the forefront of the Borough’s future vision, 

  through effective place shaping and making to deliver a wide network of high quality, user friendly and accessible environments. 

3 .3 .   Influencing planning developments to increase participation in community sport and physical activity.

4 .4 .   Positioning Wirral as a destination for sport and activity. 

W H A T  W E  W A N T  T O  A C H I E V E :  
•  Develop more active and sustainable environments and communities. 

•  Increase physical activity opportunities in parks and open spaces. 

I N F L U E N C E  P L A C E - S H A P I N G  T O  E N S U R E  A  N E T W O R K  O F  H I G H  Q U A L I T Y  A N D  A C C E S S I B L E  S P A C E S 

T H A T  M A K E  I T  E A S I E R  F O R  P E O P L E  T O  B E  A C T I V E

P
age 36



1 7

T H E M E  T H E M E  44 :: A C T I V E  F A C I L I T I E S 
A M B I T I O N  - 

W E  W I L L  D O  T H I S  B Y :
1 .1 .   Working with key partners to develop a strategic plan for our facilities that creates commercially viable, fit-for-purpose, accessible and sustainable 

  facilities that meet resident’s needs.

2 .2 .   Delivering value for money with the Invigor8 membership product, by providing the right activities, in the right place at the right time. 

3 .3 .   Providing a quality customer experience at all touch points throughout their sport and physical activity journey.

4 .4 .   Working closely with National Governing Bodies for sports and aligning our activities to determine local needs.

5 .5 .   Ensuring facilities are innovative and future proofed so that we can react quickly and positively to changes in leisure and activity trends.

6 .6 .   Giving consideration to co-location with key partners such as Public Health, NHS, and other internal agencies.

7 .7 .   Creating a ‘cradle to grave’ approach to our facility design and activities within.

8 .8 .   Horizon scanning the leisure industry to be at the forefront of trends and technology.

9 .9 .   Listening to our customers and creating clean, friendly, modern, vibrant facilities across the Borough.

W H A T  W E  W A N T  T O  A C H I E V E :  
•  Better connect our residents who have the greatest needs to accessible and affordable facilities. We will seek to maximise all opportunities and increase 

  footfall year-on-year through creative and innovative programming. 

•  A commitment to reducing our energy consumption and waste throughout our leisure facilities.

• Investment to develop new facilities aligned with the Borough’s ambitious regeneration plans.

T O  C R E A T E  A C C E S S I B L E ,  A F F O R D A B L E ,  E N V I R O N M E N T A L L Y  S U S T A I N A B L E  F A C I L I T I E S  O F F E R I N G  A  Q U A L I T Y 

O P P O R T U N I T Y  A N D  E N V I R O N M E N T  T H A T  E N C O U R A G E S  W I R R A L  R E S I D E N T S  T O  B E  M O R E  A C T I V E ,  M O R E  O F T E N 

P
age 37



1 8

S T R A T E G I C  C O N T E X TS T R A T E G I C  C O N T E X T

P
age 38



The vision, mission, ambitions and objectives set out in this strategy are closely 

aligned with the strategic priorities of the Wirral Plan 2026, and a range of 

key local, regional and national strategies. They are informed by the careful 

consultation of a broad range of partners and stakeholders closely involved 

with promoting, supporting and delivering sports and physical activity across 

the Borough. Links to key informing strategies and the priorities of such partners 

can be found below: 

We are committed to producing an Annual Implementation Plan to ensure the 

realisation of the Strategy’s objectives and will regularly review its aims and 

objectives to ensure their ongoing relevance and alignment with local, regional 

and national priorities. 

1 9

L I N K S  T O  O T H E R  S T R A T E G I E S  & 

P A R T N E R S  P A R T N E R S  P R I O R I T I E SP R I O R I T I E S

N A T I O N A LN A T I O N A L R E G I O N A LR E G I O N A L L O C A LL O C A L

Sport England: Uniting the Movement Sport England: Uniting the Movement 
2021 – 20312021 – 2031

Department of Culture, Media and Sport: Department of Culture, Media and Sport: 
Sporting Future: A New Strategy for an Sporting Future: A New Strategy for an 

Active Nation, 2015Active Nation, 2015

Sport England – Strategic Outcomes Sport England – Strategic Outcomes 
Planning Guidance 2019Planning Guidance 2019

Merseyside Sport Partnership Merseyside Sport Partnership 
Strategic FrameworkStrategic Framework

(2017-2022) (2017-2022) 

Wirral Plan 2026 Wirral Plan 2026 

Healthy Wirral Strategy, 2020Healthy Wirral Strategy, 2020

Community Wealth Building Strategy 2025 Community Wealth Building Strategy 2025 

Cool2 Strategy Cool2 Strategy 

Wirral Parks and Open Spaces Strategy Wirral Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 
2014-20242014-2024

Community Safety Strategy 2021-2026Community Safety Strategy 2021-2026

P
age 39



M E T H O D O L O G YM E T H O D O L O G Y
In order to help shape this strategy, we have used a number of 

tools and methods. The process began with extensive desk-based 

research from previous reviews of leisure services, consultations, local 

and national data and insight. A local needs analysis was undertaken 

using the Oxford Consultants for Social Inclusion’s Local Insight Tool, 

to investigate key social and economic indicators at Wirral level, to 

then be benchmarked against national averages to better identify the 

needs of Wirral residents related to sports and physical activity.

After developing a framework based on the data and insight from the 

needs analysis, a consultation process was adopted to help shape 

the emerging themes developing from the needs analysis. Council 

colleagues as well as over 400 organisations were contacted during 

the process with numerous presentations and discussions taking 

place.

2 0

P
age 40



Continuing with the consultation process, a further exploration of views 

was sought through a local resident’s consultation, to help further the 

development of key emerging themes, directly using public feedback 

on their needs, wants and barriers. An online public consultation was 

carried out through Wirral Council’s ‘Have Your Say’ portal, providing 

access to three consultation surveys, in which we hoped to gain insight 

into sport and physical activity. These were; People, Young People 

and Partnerships. 

The consultation was developed to enable residents, young people 

and other key stakeholders to share their views on sport and physical 

activity and identify barriers participants experience to carrying out 

sport and physical activity as well as potential strategies for increasing 

sport and physical activity participation. In addition to a survey, an 

ideas board was available for residents to submit ideas, as well 

as being able to interact with other comments through a ‘like and 

comment’ feature. To ensure accessibility, respondents were able to 

request paper copies or an easy read version of the surveys.

Paper copies were available from a range of Council facilities including 

leisure facilities. Paper copies delivered via schools and youth groups 

were used to target young people in particular, to mitigate any factors 

that would prevent them in being able to engage online, such as 

the requirement of providing an email address. Paper copies were 

aggregated into online survey results to ensure their views were 

represented. 

2 1

P
age 41



1 01 0   F R E EF R E E  O R  A F F O R D A B L EA F F O R D A B L E   W A Y S  T O  B E  A C T I V E

2 2

R U N  I N  W I R R A L
Run together in one of our running groups. All runs are led by our excellent qualified run leaders who will help you progress your running. There is no pressure 

to run the whole distance, walks are our friends! This is great way to start your running journey. All ages and abilities welcome. No challenge too big or too small! 

These runs are very supportive too.

11
I N V I G O R 8  M E M B E R S H I P 
To make the most of the Council’s leisure facilities and activities then join our Inivigor8 membership scheme. We offer discounts and flexible terms to a wide range 

of residents.

22
F R E E  O U T D O O R  G Y M S
Wirral has 12 outdoor gyms, all with a great choice of equipment designed to keep you fit for free! Gyms are found at Arrowe Park, Beechwood (3 sites), 

Birkenhead Park, Central Park (Wallasey), Duck Pond Lane (Prenton),  Twickenham Drive (Leasowe), Lingham Park (Moreton), New Ferry Park, Vale Park (New 

Brighton), Victoria Park (Tranmere), Woodchurch and Yew Tree Green (Moreton). 

33
O P E N  W A T E R  S W I M M I N G
Open water swimming at West Kirby Marine Lake takes place on Sunday mornings, from 7.30am to 8.30am, to give swimmers a safe and dedicated time to enjoy 

the water. The open water swimming sessions are fully accredited, and a safety team are on hand at all times.

44
W E I G H T  M A N A G E M E N T 
We have a new 12 week weight management programme running from our Leisure Centres supporting our residents to adopt healthier eating and activity habits. 

55

P
age 42



1010

O U T D O O R  E X E R C I S E  C L A S S E S
From Nordic Walking to cycling classes we run a number of outdoor classes to suit all abilities and ages. All our outdoor classes are part of our Invigor8 

membership. 

T E N N I S
We have a full tennis programme running at the Wirral Tennis and Sports Centre, including a coaching programme, cardio and social tennis, and return to tennis. 

In our parks we have ‘Tennis for Free’ coached sessions taking place in New Ferry and Birkenhead Park. 

77
W I R R A L  W A L K  O N
Wirral Walk On is our local Walking for Health scheme. Our walks are free, fun and friendly – perfect to help you get active and meet new people.  Across Wirral 

we have 14 weekly free walks that are offered by Walking for Health volunteer walk leaders.  These walks are for all abilities from those with mobility issues who 

can only walk for 20 mins with stops to those who will go out and walk 3 miles.  

88

C Y C L I N G
Wirral has great coastal and countryside routes for leisurely bike rides. This includes The Wirral Way, which forms part of Wirral Country Park, a 12 mile traffic-

free route running from West Kirby to Hooton and the National Cycle Network Route 56 that runs right through Wirral, taking in Seacombe, New Brighton, 

Liverpool Bay and many villages. 

99

G O L F
With our Invigor8 membership we offer unlimited golf at any of our 18 or 9 hole golf courses. Or if you are looking for something a little more try your 

hand at our pitch and putt courses or any of our footgolf courses. No experience necessary! 

2 3

P
age 43



Thank you to all residents, partners, sports clubs and community organisations for your time,
passion and commitment. 

For more information on the Sport and Activity Strategy for Wirral:

 A C T I V E W I R R A L @ W I R R A L . G O V . U K

 W W W . A C T I V E W I R R A L . C O M

                Chat with us:      

P
age 44



 

QUALITY, INTEGRITY, PROFESSIONALISM 
 
Knight, Kavanagh & Page Ltd 
Company No: 9145032 (England) 

MANAGEMENT CONSULTANTS 
 
Registered Office: 1 -2 Frecheville Court, off Knowsley Street, Bury BL9 0UF 

T: 0161 764 7040   E:  mail@kkp.co.uk    www.kkp.co.uk 

 
 
WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 

 
 
SPORT ENGLAND 
STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 
 
JANUARY 2021 

 
 
 
 

Page 45

mailto:mail@kkp.co.uk


 

QUALITY, INTEGRITY, PROFESSIONALISM 
 
Knight, Kavanagh & Page Ltd 
Company No: 9145032 (England) 

MANAGEMENT CONSULTANTS 
 
Registered Office: 1 -2 Frecheville Court, off Knowsley Street, Bury BL9 0UF 

T: 0161 764 7040   E:  mail@kkp.co.uk    www.kkp.co.uk 

 
 

Page 46

mailto:mail@kkp.co.uk


 

 

Quality assurance Name Date 

Report origination  Clare MacLeod 14.01.21 

Quality control John Eady 15.01.21 

Client comments Sarah Robertson 03.02.21 

Final approval   

 
Page 47



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 
 

 

 

CONTENTS 
 
INTRODUCTION: STAGE 1 - OUTCOMES .......................................................................... 1 

STAGE TWO - INSIGHT ..................................................................................................... 10 

STAGE 3 - INTERVENTIONS ............................................................................................. 15 

STAGE 4 – COMMITMENT ................................................................................................ 18 

CONCLUSION .................................................................................................................... 20 

 

 
  

Page 48



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 
 

 

 

 
  

Page 49



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

1 

 

INTRODUCTION: STAGE 1 - OUTCOMES 
 
This is the draft report by Knight, Kavanagh & Page (KKP) to undertake a diagnostic 
assessment of the Sport England Strategic Outcomes Planning Guidance (SOPG) for Wirral 
Council (WC).  Sport England produced its Strategic Outcomes Planning Guidance to assist 
local authorities take a strategic approach to maximising the contribution that sport and 
physical activity makes within a given local area and to ensure that any local investment made 
is as effective as possible and is sustainable in the long term. Local authorities are currently 
responding to an unprecedented public health crisis and are under significant pressure to 
deliver physical activity and sport opportunities with ever diminishing resources.   
 
WC has recently completed several major pieces of strategic planning work, including the 
Wirral Plan 2025, the Local Plan (2020-2035), an ANOG compliant Indoor and Built Facility 
Strategy (draft stage), Open Space Assessment (draft stage) and draft Sport and Physical 
Activity Strategy 2020. Further, it is undertaking a Playing Pitch Strategy (due for completion in 
August 2021) which will supersede the previous Playing Pitch Strategy completed in 2016. 
The Council is now considering investment into its leisure facilities with a view to reducing 
health inequalities across the Borough.   
 
Figure 1.1: Sport England Strategic Outcomes Planning model 
 

 
 
  

Page 50



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

2 

 

Key steps 
 

 Develop shared local strategic outcomes for your Place 
 Using a cross sector approach, identify local community needs and priorities 
 Establish the contribution sport and physical activity can make 
 Secure ‘buy in’ to the shared local strategic outcomes 

 

Figure 1.2: Wirral Council area with key roads and settlements 

 

The area is located on a peninsula in North West England. The Metropolitan Borough of Wirral is 
part of the Liverpool City Region. It is bounded to the west by the River Dee forming a boundary 
with Wales, to the east by the River Mersey, and to the north by the Irish Sea. The roughly 
rectangular peninsula is about 15 miles (24 km) long and 7 miles (11 km) wide. Since the passing 
of the Local Government Act 1972 only the southern third of the Wirral peninsula is in Cheshire, 
with the remainder being in the county of Merseyside. Wirral contains both affluent and deprived 
areas; the affluent areas located largely in the west, south and north coast of the peninsula, and 
deprived areas concentrated in the east, around the built-up district of Birkenhead.  
 

Population & deprivation1   
 

Wirral has a population of 324,011 of which 51.6% is female and 48.4% is male. With the exception 
of a slightly lower proportion of 20-39 year olds and slightly higher proportion of over 55’s Wirral’s 
population mirrors the North West average. There is a projected population growth (of around 4% 
to a total of 336,348 by 2043). This is expected to be driven by the increasing number of over 65’s.  
 
In respect of the deprivation, around a quarter of the population (25.5%, which equates to nearly 
82,000 residents) in Wirral live in the top 10% most deprived areas in the country. Of these, 
65.1% live in its four most deprived wards; Birkenhead and Tranmere, Rock Ferry, Seacombe 

 
1 (Data source: 2018 Mid Year Estimate 2019 indices of deprivation, DCLG, ONS births and deaths) 

Page 51



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

3 

 

and Bidston St. James. Within these four, 84.9% of the total population live within the top 10% 
most deprived areas. 
 
In respect of health deprivation (2016-18), life expectancy at birth in Wirral was 78.2 years for 
males (a decrease on 2015-17) and 82.0 years for females (an increase on 2015-17). This is 
lower than the national average which is 79.6 for males and 83.2 years for females. At this time 
Rock Ferry was the ward with the lowest life expectancy at birth for both males (72.2) and 
females (77.3); Heswall was the ward with the highest life expectancy at birth for males (84.3) 
and Pensby & Thingwall was the one with the highest life expectancy at birth for females (88.0). 
These serve to illustrate that, at its most extreme, there is a difference of 12.1 years for men and 
10.7 years for women between the lowest and highest life expectancy within the Borough.  
 
Further, in the most deprived parts of Wirral the onset of poor health begins at age 54 for men 
and 56.5 for women, up to 13 years before state pension age. Despite life expectancy having 
increased rapidly over the last few decades, healthy life expectancy has not increased, but rather 
decreased, for both Wirral and England. Therefore, these additional years of life are being spent 
in poorer health and adding more strain to health and social care resources.  
 
Adult obesity rates in Wirral are below regional but above national averages.  As with many other 
areas, child obesity rates increase significantly between the ages of 4 and 11. Approximately one 
in 10 (10.2%) of children in Wirral are obese in their reception year at school while 13.8% are 
overweight at this point. By Year 6 this rises to just under one in 5 (18.9%) obese and 15.2% 
overweight. In total, by Year 6, more than one third of young people (34.1%) are either 
overweight or obese. 
 
Figure 1.3: Child weight – reception and year 6 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 52



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

4 

 

Ethnicity (Data source: 2011 census of population, ONS) 
 
In broad terms, Wirral’s ethnic composition differs from that of England as a whole. According to 
the 2011 Census of population, the largest proportion (97.0%) of the local population classified 
their ethnicity as White; this is considerably higher than the comparative England rate of 85.4%. 
The next largest population group (by self classification) is Asian, at 1.6% this is markedly lower 
than the national equivalent (7.8%). 
 
Active Lives Survey 2019/20 
 
Sport England most recent Active Lives Survey data (2019/20) is based on 16+year olds taking 
part in walking, cycling, fitness, dance and other sporting activity. As identified in Figure1.4, a 
lower percentage of the Wirral population is inactive compared to England and North West and a 
similar percentage is considered to be active. 
 
Figure 1.4: Active Lives Survey data; Wirral 2019/20 
 

 
 
The Wirral intelligence service summarises Wirral as if it was 100 adults and 100 children. 
 
In summary, the key facts identified from Wirral Intelligence Survey are: 
 

Adults Children 

33 Adults will die before they are 75 years old 36 10-11 years olds have excess weight 

27 people will die from cancer KS4 achievement of England and Maths (9.4 grade) 
difference between those eligible for free school meals 
and their peers. 

26 will be physically inactive 25 4-5 year olds have excess weight 

19 will self report has having high anxiety 19 children are in low income families 

 
See illustration overleaf.  

Page 53



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

5 

 

Figure 1.5: Summary of Wirral as a community of 100 adults and 100 children 

 
Governance arrangements: Wirral Council 
 
On 14 October 2019 Wirral Council decided to change its governance arrangements. It moved 
from a “leader and cabinet” system to a “committee system” in September 2020. 
 
Wirral Plan 2025 
 
The Wirral Plan 2025 sets out a series of 20 pledges which the Council and its partners will work 
to achieve by 2025, focusing on the following key themes: 

 A prosperous, inclusive economy where local people can get good jobs and achieve their 
aspirations. 

 A cleaner, greener borough which celebrates, protects and improves the environment and 
urgently tackles the environmental emergency. 

 Brighter futures for young people and families – regardless of background or where they live. 
 Safe, vibrant communities where people want to live and raise their families. 
 Services which help people live happy, healthy, independent and active services there to 

support them when they need it. 
 
To ensure that the Council and partners deliver against the priorities set out in the Wirral Plan 
2025, there will be regular measurements of performance. This can be compared to previous 
performance and that of other areas. 
 

Page 54

https://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/documents/s50062011/Appendix%201%20Wirral%20Council%20Plan%202025.pdf


WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

6 

 

The Council suggests that regularly reviewing performance will help it to: 
 
 Identify and address areas of under-performance. 
 Plan for the future. 
 Ensure we deliver value for money. 
 Be accountable to our customers and stakeholders. 
 Demonstrate transparency and good governance. 
 
The vision is to secure the best opportunities and outcomes for residents, meaning that they will: 
 
 Live in a safe, pleasant and clean communities where people want to live and raise families 
 Live in a cleaner, greener borough which defends and improves the environment. 
 Have access to services which help people live happy healthy independent and active 

lifestyles with public services there to support them when they need it. 
 Benefit from a prosperous inclusive economy where local people can get good jobs and 

achieve their aspirations. 
 Young people and families will have brighter futures regardless of their background or where 

they live. 
 
The previous Wirral Plan (2015-20) had a series of pledges. Some key ones are identified below 
which suggest the importance of taking part in sport, physical activity and/or recreation can have 
and the areas which it has an influence within different directorates within the Council.  
 

Wirral Plan Pledge 
action plans: 2019-2020 

Priorities 

Older People Live Well 
Action Plan 2019-20 

Being an active part in strong, thriving, local communities 

Enjoying a happy home life 

Being physically and emotionally healthy 

Being financially secure 

Having better access to the right information and support 

Action Plan –Vulnerable 
Children reach their Full 
Potential 

Support children to live at home in their own community and preventing 
them entering statutory social care. 

Children and young people enjoy good health and well-being into adulthood 

Children who cannot live at home with their family, or extended family, live 
in homes where they feel safe, secure and supported to reach their full 
potential. 

Action Plan – People with 
disabilities live 
independent lives 

People with disabilities live independent lives 

Young People and Adults with disabilities have access to employment and 
are financially resilient 

All people with disabilities have choice and control over their lives 

Wirral Plan 2019-20 
Action Plan – Growth 

Increasing Employment Opportunities 

Workforce skills match business needs 

Growing competitive businesses 

Healthier lives strategy Our Ambition: “We want all of our residents to have a good quality of life 
and live healthy lifestyles in clean and safe environments” 

Facilitate a system wide approach to reducing smoking in Pregnancy 

Reduce the impact of alcohol misuse on individuals and communities 

Increase the number of people with a healthy weight 

Support people to take more control of their health and wellbeing 

Community Services are 
joined up and accessible 

Inspiring people to become more involved in their communities 

Encouraging more people to volunteer in Wirral 

Working together to remove barriers 

Page 55



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

7 

 

How Wirral Council intends to do this 
 

 
 
 
Development of a sport and physical activity strategy for Wirral (formerly the Leisure 
Strategy) 2020 
 
The key focus of the strategy is to set out the priorities for sport and leisure facilities, services and 
activities. It also seeks to redress the balance between being a provider of facilities and tackling 
inequality through preventative, outreach and early intervention work across services. It is not a 
statutory requirement to have a strategy, but it is (correctly) seen as good practice to outline the 
Council’s plans for leisure services for the period 2020-2025 based on the evidence base and 
emerging COVID19 landscape. 
 

Page 56



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

8 

 

The stated vision is: “To work with residents and partners to provide accessible and affordable 
services that help to make physical activity a part of everyone's everyday lives”. 
 
The Strategy represents an important next step in how WC helps residents to take up physical 
activity and remain active throughout their lives. It has four key strategic ‘active’ priorities: 
 
 Active people - to increase participation in sport and physical activity among Wirral residents, 

working to reduce barriers and recognise the benefits of an active lifestyle by providing 
relevant and accessible activities targeting residents and communities with the highest 
identified needs.  

 Active partnerships - to develop strong partnerships and community networks to support the 
delivery of a dynamic and cohesive offer that provides inclusive activities for people of all 
abilities.  

 Active place - to provide modern, accessible, affordable, energy efficient facilities offering a 
quality experience that encourages our residents to be more active more often.  

 Active open spaces – to influence place shaping to ensure a network of high quality and 
accessible spaces that make it easier for people to be active. 

 
It expands on these priorities to describe what the Council is aiming to achieve and deliver.  A 
high-level delivery plan has been developed to guide strategy implementation. A more detailed 
action and delivery plan will be completed following full consultation with residents, communities 
and other stakeholders and development of a comprehensive needs assessment. The final 
strategy will be outcomes based and monitored and refreshed annually in recognition of the 
success or otherwise of delivering on its aims, objectives, and targets, changing policy 
landscape, resources, partnerships and ongoing Covid-19 implications 
 
Consultation with senior officers and councillors indicates an in-depth understanding of the wide 
and varied needs of local residents. The requirement to address health inequalities is universally 
acknowledged. It is also recognised that levels of need in different parts of the Authority area are 
totally different and that any future provision should take account of local variations and not be a 
provided in a ‘one size fits all’ format.  
 
Another example is the clear understanding within WC that the Council’s role is to provide 
statutory services for families and young people having difficulties. There is a consistent view that 
discretionary services such as sport and leisure should be better-utilised to reduce the extent to 
which families go on to require such services and to mitigate the position for those already ‘in the 
system’. 
 
It is also recognised that, in general, people who take health and wellbeing seriously (for 
themselves and their families) are often those who socially, financially and in the context of life 
outlook, have a wider range of choices in the first instance. They tend to be relatively financially 
stable (this may change in the shorter term because of the impact of the Covid pandemic) have 
good social networks and positive relationships. They live longer and have better life chances. A 
consultation acknowledged role of the Council is to enable those in areas of higher deprivation to 
aspire to and have the same life chances as others who are more affluent and enjoying healthier 
lifestyles in the authority. 
 
  

Page 57



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

9 

 

Summary – Stage 1  
 

Develop an understanding of the wider local strategic outcomes for your place 

 

Strategic outcomes have been identified and examined at a corporate level (Wirral Plan 2025 and 
the delivery framework) and in relation to the specific areas of health and physical activity (sport 
and physical activity strategy and draft indoor and built facilities strategies). This has been 
combined with analysis of the demographic profile of the Borough, and consultation with senior 
Council officers. 

Reducing inequalities across the borough and improving the health and well-being of all residents 
are the main shared strategic outcomes where there is potential for WC’s leisure team to 
demonstrate impact based upon implementation of the Wirral Plan 2025. 

Using a cross sector approach, identify local community needs and priorities 

Review of the Council’s strategic documents suggests an increasingly cohesive approach to 
developing local strategic outcomes, built upon a joint understanding of the need to reduce 
inequalities across the Authority.  The Sport and Physical Activity Strategy clearly identifies aims to 
redress the balance between being a provider of facilities and tackling inequality through 
preventative, outreach and early intervention and prevention work - across services. 

The Wirral Plan 2025 identifies active and healthy lifestyles as part as a key component of its 
objectives. 

Community need and priorities are set out in the abovementioned documents, and evidence 
suggests that strategy development in Wirral is increasingly the result of a cross sector approach. 

There is a consistently espoused policy thread related to the ambition to increase levels of physical 
activity across the Borough whilst, as noted earlier, also recognising that one size does not fit all.   

KKP’s review of strategic evidence demonstrates a clear and consistent policy thread through from 
the Wirral Plan, Public Health Annual Report through to the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy.  

Establish the contribution sport and physical activity can make 

WC’s Sport and Physical Activity Strategy 2020 has established a framework and the Council is in 
the process developing the action plan which will represent an important next step in how it (and 
partners) help residents to take up physical activity and remain active throughout their lives. 

It is clear that this strategy needs to make reference to, and build up, the draft indoor and built 
facilities, playing pitch and open spaces strategies as all three are predicated upon extensive 
consultation.  Many senior managers recognise the importance of and role of walking and cycling 
with regard to health and wellbeing. 

The vision and objectives set out in the Sport & Physical Activity Strategy reflect a considered 
approach to addressing inactivity, which starts to build on previous practice in the borough and 
correlates more directly with health and well-being outcomes. Further work and support are 
required to develop insight around community needs and wants in respect of addressing inactivity, 
especially in those areas of higher deprivation, where inequalities abound. 

Secure ‘buy in’ to the shared local strategic outcomes 

The Council’s Plan 2025 demonstrates corporate buy in to shared outcomes in respect of health & 
well-being by determining that residents will have access to services which help people live happy 
healthy independent and active lifestyles with public services there to support them when needed. 
The translation of the overarching Sport and Physical Activity Strategy into specific policy actions, 
working across directorates and with elected member representation should ensure and secure buy 
in to shared local outcomes.  

 

  

Page 58



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

10 

 

STAGE TWO - INSIGHT 
 
Key steps 
 

 Gather insight from the local community and stakeholders to identify barriers and 
opportunities for behaviour change 

 Consider the contribution from the wider physical and social environment 
 Establish where you are now and where you want to be in the future 
 Agree the objectives needed to contribute to shared local strategic outcomes 

 
Wirral Draft Local Plan 2020-2035 
 
The Government requires each local planning authority to produce a local plan and then review it 
at least once every five years to ensure that it is up to date. It sets out policies and proposals to 
guide the future development of the Borough over that time. It will set out where future 
development will take place, and allocate land for housing, employment, mixed-use and other 
development. It will also seek to protect the most important characteristics of the Borough, by 
preserving its unique natural and historical assets from development. 
 
The new Local Plan for Wirral is being prepared to shape the future of the borough for the 15-
year period from 2020 to 2035. The latest stage was publication of a Local Plan Issues and 
Options document for public consultation. It addresses a wide range of issues, from strategic 
planning matters that affect the whole local authority area right through to finer detail related to 
the design of specific developments on individual sites.  
 
Wirral Council Draft Indoor and Built Facilities Strategy - December 2019 
 
The overall aim of the BFS is to locate the right sport and physical activity facilities in the right 
places to ensure that the maximum number of local people take part in regular, meaningful 
physical activity. These facilities will also need to be set up to achieve short, medium and longer-
term financial goals. The council has an aspiration and need to consider its facilities planning, 
particularly in the context of its current and growing population and the changing economic and 
demographic profile of the area - particularly via its Local Plan, which will be submitted to the 
Secretary of State during 2020. 
 
Key strategic issues raised by the BFS Needs Assessment in alignment with Sport England’s 
Planning Framework include the following: 
 
Protect 
 Commit to making the identified short and medium-term investment in maintenance and 

refurbishment to protect and improve existing WC public sports facilities. 
 
Enhance 
 Ensure that Council owned/managed facilities make a progressively greater (and measured) 

contribution to reducing health inequalities and are fully accessible to people from all the 
Borough’s communities through targeted initiatives, appropriately targeted concessionary 
pricing, programming and staff training. 

 Ensure that all school sports facilities are made fully available for community use (through 
binding, appropriate and detailed community use agreements) and that an agreed minimum 
level of availability is agreed. 

Page 59



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

11 

 

 Link this, wherever feasible, directly to judicious investment in improving the quality of school 
sports halls (and associated changing provision) particularly if/where other facility plans are 
likely to lead to increased reliance on the school stock both overall and in specific localities. 

 Support other developments (via planning and officer expertise) which assist in increasing 
the level and quality of provision catering for sport and physical activity in the wider 
community (specifically in sports including gymnastics, sailing and athletics). 

 Continue to work with the LTA to create a flexible solution to enhance the viability, financial 
sustainability and contribution to increasing participation in tennis and other sports at the 
Indoor Tennis Centre. 

 

Provide 
 Given that WC owned swimming facilities are collectively ageing and, in some cases, 

reaching the end of their useful life and in need of significant investment over the lifespan of 
the Local Plan, commission a long-term Borough master plan for swimming facilities in the 
Authority. This should be done with a view to the creation of an appropriately located and 
specified stock which will accommodate a high volume of swimming lessons, club activity 
and the full range of public swimming opportunity. 

 Link this (in terms of physically co-terminus provision) to a review (and improvement of) 
health and fitness provision (fitness rooms and studios) and, as appropriate other indoor 
sports/activity spaces. This should be done both in the context of servicing existing demand 
with high quality provision and with a view to addressing the next phase of fiscal 
improvement and efficiencies in respect of the net cost of Council leisure centre provision. 

 

Other/general  
 Improve the breadth, depth and quality of performance management data collected (and 

shared) and the associated analysis of facility usage to inform future marketing, promotion, 
programming and pricing etc. 

 Working with the Wirral Sports Forum and specific NGBs, create a workforce development 
plan to counter shortfalls in volunteers, officials and coaches across a range of sports. 

 
Wirral health and wellbeing 2017 
 
This year’s Public Health Annual Report ‘Expect Better’, focuses on the inequalities in life 
expectancy across Wirral. It recommends that Wirral partners, health and social care 
organisations and residents put prevention first by supporting each other to live healthier lives. 
 
The Wirral Plan 2020, thus, pledges to: 
 

 Reduce the number of people who smoke in Wirral. 
 Reduce the impact of alcohol misuse on individuals and communities. 
 Increase the number of people with a healthy weight in the borough. 
 Support people to take more control of their health and wellbeing. 
 
The Plan asks that Wirral residents take control of their own health and wellbeing by: 
 

 Following health advice. 
 Making use of the many opportunities to improve their wellbeing that Wirral offers. 
 Seeking appropriate treatment for their symptoms.  
 Attending offers for vaccinations and screening tests. 
 Most of all, expecting better for their own health and that of their families. 
 

Page 60



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

12 

 

The recommendations highlight potential measures to reduce avoidable deaths across Wirral. It 
is, however, in no way exhaustive.  It is recognised that, in reality, there will always be some 
deaths from avoidable causes simply due to the range of factors that impact on people’s lives, 
including lifestyle, health beliefs, availability and access to healthcare, accidents, etc.    
 
This said, reducing avoidable deaths by improving the health of the population and reducing or 
delaying the onset of long-term conditions, such as heart disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary 
disease, etc., is an essential part of increasing the quality of life for local people, whilst helping to 
reduce the impact of an ageing population on health and social care services 
 
Wirral open space draft standards report-2019 
 
This has been prepared in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); 
which sets out the Governments planning policies for England. In order for planning policies to be 
‘sound’ local authorities are required to carry out a robust assessment of need for open space, 
sport and recreation facilities2. Paragraph 96 of the NPPF refers to the need to identify qualitative 
or quantitative deficiencies or surpluses of open space. This was undertaken in 2019 in Wirral. 
 
For mapping purposes and audit analysis, Wirral is divided into eight sub-analysis areas based 
on the Councils Local Plan settlement areas. This allows more localised examination of open 
space surpluses and deficiencies and local circumstances and issues to be taken into account. 
The areas and their populations are shown in the table below.  
 
Table 2.1: Population by analysis area  
 

Settlement area Population (2019) 

Birkenhead Commercial Area 2,231 

Birkenhead Suburban Area 89,334 

Bromborough Eastham Urban Area 55,765 

Heswall Urban Area 28,467 

Mid Wirral Urban Area 53,581 

Rural Area 7,084 

Wallasey Urban Area 61,083 

West Kirby Hoylake Urban Area 25,250 

Wirral 322,796 

 
The following provides a summary on the key findings through the application of the quantity, quality 
and accessibility standards. It incorporates and recommends what the Council should be seeking 
to achieve in order to address the issues highlighted.  
 
Recommendation 1: Sites helping or with the potential to help serve areas identified as having 
gaps in catchment mapping should be recognised through opportunities for enhancement   
Recommendation 2: Ensure low quality/value sites helping to serve potential gaps in 
accessibility catchments are prioritised for enhancement  
Recommendation 3: Recognise low quality and value sites and how they may be able to meet 
other needs 

 
2 Playing pitches are the subject of a separate assessment prepared by the Council 

Page 61



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

13 

 

If no improvement to quality and/or value can be implemented for sites identified as low quality 
and/or value, a change of primary typology should be considered. If no requirement for another 
type of open space site is recognised, or it is not feasible to change the primary typology of the 
site, then the site could be potentially redundant/ 'surplus to requirements'. 
 
For instance, 141 parks, natural, amenity and play sites are identified as either lower quality and/or 
value. This includes 18 which receive no quality/value score due to being predominantly observed 
as inaccessible.  
 
Wirral Playing Pitch Strategy (2016) 
 
The Strategy is in two parts: an Assessment Report, setting out the latest background information 
for each sport; and a Strategy and Action Plan, setting out a series of initial recommendations for 
further consideration by a Steering Group, which will be chaired by the Council’s Strategic Hub. 
The Strategy shows that there is still strong and increasing demand for the use of a full range of 
facilities. There is a particular shortage of football pitches across the Borough, as well as more 
localised shortfalls for cricket and rugby union and growing demand for hockey. Demand for 
bowls and tennis is currently being met, although qualitative improvements for tennis will be 
required in the future.  
 
The Strategy goes on to conclude that there is a need to protect levels of provision; improve 
quality where possible, to create additional capacity; and, if viable, create access to school sites 
or bring some disused sites back into use, if the needs identified are to be fully met. The revised 
Strategy will support Wirral Plan pledges related to leisure opportunities for all; helping residents 
to live healthier; and will contribute towards an attractive local environment; and delivers one of 
the agreed actions of the Wirral Parks and Open Spaces Strategy. 
 
WC is currently in the process of updating the PPS; the new strategy is due for completion in August 
2021. Extensive consultation is being undertaken with residents, sports clubs and national 
governing bodies of sport which will not only ensure compliance with Sport England’s NPPF 
requirements, but will also help the Council to better understand local need. 
 
Grassroot football report 2020 
 
There is a recognition of the importance of football to local communities. Working with the local 
community, officers have developed a business case and are applying for grants to the Football 
Foundation for the first two priority AGP proposed sites at Woodchurch Leisure Centre and Wirral 
Tennis Centre, Bidston. There is a need for match funding from WC’s capital programme. 

Further developments will follow the development of a business case and grant application 
process to the Football Foundation, for the remaining three priority sites Leasowe, Arrowe Park 
and Bromborough.  Again, this will be subject to Council approval for the match funding from the 
capital programme. 

All the strategies cited above are predicated on extensive local consultation. The draft Indoor and 
Built Facilities Strategy notes that WC owned swimming facilities are collectively ageing, in some 
instances reaching the end of their useful life. Most will, at the very least, be in need of significant 
investment over the lifespan of the Local Plan. There is, thus, a need to commission a long-term 
Borough master plan for swimming facilities. The Strategy also identifies the requirement to 
improve the breadth, depth and quality of performance management data collected (which will 
enable the WC to assess impact and target resources in line with its identified corporate 
responsibilities).  

Page 62



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

14 

 

 
Summary: Stage 2 - Insight   
 

Gather insight from the local community and stakeholders to identify barriers and 
opportunities for behaviour change 

Analysis above highlights that WC has a robust evidence base in respect of barriers and opportunities 
in relation to its facilities infrastructure. These studies are informed by extensive consultation with 
communities and stakeholders, meeting relevant guidance and provide a defensible position within the 
Council’s Local Plan evidence base.  

In respect of its broader sport and physical activity strategy, community consultation will take place 
before the strategy is published (due in June 2021) and therefore WC should ensure that the future 
range of interventions to address inactivity is informed by ongoing research. 

Consider the contribution from the wider physical and social environment 

The Draft Open Spaces Assessment and Standards Paper (2019) and the recently commissioned PPS 
(due August 2021) considers the wider physical environments across Wirral. Walking, cycling and 
active travel were raised as concerns and important elements during consultation with senior 
managers. There is a specific keenness to develop cycle routes (and get them better used) across 
Wirral.  

The Sport and Physical Activity Strategy identifies Active Place and Active Open Spaces with a view to 
encouraging residents to be more active more often and provide a network of high quality and 

accessible spaces that make it easier for people to be active. 

Establish where you are now and where you want to be in the future 

The previously mentioned strategies provide robust assessments of community need (based on 
extensive community and stakeholder consultation) and suggested interventions linked to the sport 
and physical activity strategy need to be developed. 

They provide a clear direction of travel for the Council in relation to its Local Plan evidence base and 
justification for future investment from a range of sources (including planning gain). 

There is an understanding amongst senior officers in respect of the need to work across directorates 
but there is a need for better understanding of the financial pressures, for example, placed on Leisure 
Services. This service does generates income for the Council (but operates at a net financial loss). 
Further work is required to assess and improve levels of understanding in respect of the social value of 
Leisure Services as well as their trading performance. There is a recognition amongst officers that they 
could/should look to commission services in-house (where possible) in the first instance.  Any future 
investment in leisure facilities needs to ensure that social value is as well understood (and planned for) 
as financial value/income.  Further consultation and insight is likely to be needed in order to determine 
‘place-based’ solutions in respect of existing communities and new housing growth. 

Agree the objectives needed to contribute to shared local strategic outcomes 

The stated priorities and commitments within each of the key strategic planning documents reflect the 
strategic outcomes identified within the Wirral’s Plan 2025 and Local Plan as well as wider health and 
wellbeing strategic plans. 

Objectives set out in the Sport & Physical Activity Strategy in respect of health and wellbeing do 
demonstrate how they can contribute to those at a corporate and cross-directorate level. In particular, 
the need to support the reduction of inequalities across Wirral. 

 
  

Page 63



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

15 

 

STAGE 3 - INTERVENTIONS 
 
Key Steps 
 

 Consider a range of facility and service interventions across the broad range of provision 
 Determine the optimal and sustainable mix of facility and service interventions 
 Explore and identify effective management model(s) 
 Establish the key performance indicators (KPIs) for each intervention 

 
Stages one and two of this report have established that WC sees physical activity as playing a 
critical role in addressing its public health outcomes and addressing health inequalities across the 
Borough, particularly those around life expectancy. It has set out its approach within Wirral Plan 
2025 and the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy2020. 
 
There is an underlying message that Leisure Services is not achieving as well as it might. This is 
attributable to a number of factors including facility quality, location and the prevailing emphasis 
on driving income. This is, arguably, presently done at the expense of internal commissioning and 
on the basis of a realisation among other directorates of the financial pressures the Service 
faces. It is universally accepted and agreed that leisure facilities are inherently important but it is 
also recognised that, at present, that most of the current ones are not fit for purpose – either now 
and for the future.  
 
Colleagues in Children’s Services suggested that access to sport and leisure should be an 
entitlement not an ‘add on’. Other consultees confirmed the importance that access to and the 
take up of sport and physical activity can make to a range of services including adult services as 
well as the wider public health agenda.  
 
The Covid epidemic has highlighted the ability of the Leisure Team to reach out and offer online 
services (fitness classes) to those unable to attend leisure centres. These have been relatively 
successful. The Assistant Director of Leisure is keen to raise aspirations and ensure that local 
neighbourhoods are serviced by appropriate facilities. An example of the issues faced is facility at 
Woodchurch Leisure Centre which is in poor condition. Its quality (or lack thereof) has a knock on 
effect among local people who are unlikely to use it due to its condition (even if they had the time, 
money and energy to wish to do so). This also affects people’s perception of the importance 
placed on their local area by the Council.  
 
Consultation with senior officers and Members identified core messaging throughout. All 
consultees identified the need to deal with inequalities in the Borough and all acknowledged that 
improved access to and take up of sport and physical activity is one key method of so doing. The 
need to achieve the desired transformational changes in residents’ behaviour via the adoption of 
a ‘whole system’ approach, working at a neighbourhood level via its integrated neighbourhood 
teams is also confirmed .  
 
Senior Council executive staff recognise the need to further develop the concept of (and 
importance placed on) social value and the need to build ‘making every contact count (MECC) 
into a customer offer. This needs to be considered against the backdrop that a solely business 
case/income generation focus on leisure services - in particular facility operation is incompatible 
with embedding social value.  
 
 
 

Page 64



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

16 

 

Figure 3.1 below identifies how a MECC type system could work in Wirral alongside and as part 
of facility improvement and development. This will need to entail wholesale support for the 
programme of change and organisational development (which WC is currently initiating) led by 
the Assistant Director responsible for HR and organisational development. 
 
Figure 3.1 Social outcome delivery model 
 

 
 
WC is committed to working cross departmentally. The model identified above identifies how this 
might happen in respect of improving access to leisure facilities but it will take all directorates to 
understand their potential role in order to make it a success. For example, WC is aware of people 
children and young people in care, those people who enter the benefits system (who may be the 
poorest and most vulnerable in society). 
 
The opportunity (GDPR regulations notwithstanding) exists to use this data to identify and target 
sport and physical opportunities at them.  WC has experience of allowing young people who 
leave care not to pay Council Tax for a specific amount of time (which reduces the financial 
burden on them) so will be able to build on its expertise in this respect. It may be that the wider 
family of a child in care can access facilities or programmes (depending upon need).  
 
Consideration of price elasticity needs careful consideration. Identifying where the subsidy goes 
and who can afford to pay (potentially) more. 
 
There will be a need for the Council to identify the facility mix requirements, based on supply and 
demand and for this to inform the wider regeneration proposals. 
 
Development of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
 
In relation to facilities, and on the assumption that new centres are to be developed, a suite of 
outcome focused KPIs is likely to be needed to measure their impact against the key objective of 
reducing health inequality across the Borough. 

Page 65



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

17 

 

Summary Stage 3 – Interventions  
 

Consider a range of facility and service interventions across the broad range of provision 

The Council’s Sport and Physical Activity Strategy, alongside the Built Facilities, Open Space and 
emerging PPS Strategies present a good range of planned interventions and a clear evidence base for 
the Local Plan. 

There is also a clear and eloquently expressed desire to work cross departmentally which with 
Regeneration moving at a pace, provides opportunity to make a difference sooner rather than later.  

The Council should consider how it ensures active design and active travel principles are built into the 
master planning of any new facilities. It is also universally agreed that different communities have 
different needs and one size does not fit all. 

Determine the optimal and sustainable mix of facility and service interventions 

The Draft Indoor and Built Facilities Strategy identifies that the current swimming stock in Wirral is not 
sustainable, is coming to the end of its lifecycle and there is a need to commission a long-term 
Borough master plan for swimming provision. This needs to align to consideration of investment in 
more and better health and fitness facilities (ability to cross subsidise). Concurrent improvement to the 
use of front-of-house systems, data and communications (linking to understanding of where there is 
greatest need and, for example where and how people access the benefits system) to ensure that 
Leisure Services with the aim of continuing to reduce inequalities across the Borough  

There is a plethora of asset-based information as well as pressure being placed on leisure officers to 
identify facility developments based on emerging regeneration needs.  

A twin -track approach whereby a borough wide plan for swimming (based on the needs assessment) 
is undertaken in parallel with leisure facility investment options appraisal is recommended, whereby 
facility options can be flexed’ in response to emerging findings and direction of travel of different 
directorates within the Council. Co-location and an agreed understanding of the role of leisure needs 
agreement across the Council, which can then be further extended to the wider public.  

Whilst extensive community consultation has taken place for the strategies identified above, there is a 
need to continue to engage with different communities ensuring facilities are relevant and accessible. 

Explore and identify effective management model(s) 

Leisure Services is the second largest income generator for WC (second to Council Tax) but still 
operates as a net subsidy per annum. This is set against a backdrop whereby the Council needs to 
achieve further cost savings. This has been exacerbated by the pandemic lockdown. 

There is no real drive, within the Council, to externalise facilities. It is worth noting that facilities and 
staff have been used to good effect throughout the pandemic due to the ability of the Council to use 
both flexibly to support wider Council services. 

As part of the investment strategy the process in respect of indoor facilities should include a full options 
appraisal in respect of management models and recommend a preferred option to the Council (this 
may need to be externally supported) in order that WC is able to achieve some of the abovementioned 
outcomes. 

Establish the key performance indicators for each intervention 

The Wirral Sport and Physical Activity Strategy, alongside the Draft Indoor and Built Facilities and 
Open Space strategies and the emerging PPS contain a mix of outcome focused and quantitative 
based KPIs. It is acknowledged that more work is needed to ensure that the Sport and Physical Activity 
Strategy contains the right KPIs, that they are adhered to and that the community is engaged in this 
process 

 
 
 
  

Page 66



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

18 

 

STAGE 4 – COMMITMENT 
 

 Secure investment commitment to outcome delivery 
 Agree sustainable and effective business case 
 Identify resource requirements to support implementation 
 Secure stakeholder commitment and move to implementation  
 Approval from cabinet/members to progress to implementation 

 
This report has established that Wirral Council has in place a set of jointly agreed outcomes 
supporting the role that sport and physical activity has/will have in contributing to improved 
health and wellbeing in the local area and in the reduction of health inequalities. 
 
Initial commitment in respect of stakeholder financial contributions can be evidenced in terms 
of the investment in the Grassroots Football proposal whereby pitches are being installed at 
Woodchurch Leisure Centre and Wirral Tennis Centre, Bidston 
 
As highlighted earlier, the Councils Sport and Physical Activity Strategy is in the process of 
being formally adopted and endorsed (due for completion in June 2021). This should facilitate 
securing funding and resource in the future.  
 
Fundamentally, proving the business case for investment (investment strategy) into, and 
sustainability of WC indoor leisure facilities (underpinned by the indoor facility needs 
assessment) is the critical piece of work that should be undertaken. It is one of the priority 
recommendations arising from this report.  
 
WC has the information it needs to move forward. As is noted elsewhere in this report, the 
next step must be a facilities master plan for the Borough (based on where swimming pools 
need to be situated, their scale and configuration). This may lead to a reduction in the actual 
number of pools but could lead to increased water space. On agreement upon this as the way 
forward, a business case analysis needs to be prepared for the Borough (taking account of 
short, medium and long-term interventions) with information being fed in ‘real time’ into capital 
investment proposals.  
 
It will be important for WC to set down a roadmap geared to gaining full commitment to a 
programme of leisure centre renewal and to approach this in a coordinated fashion. This will 
require the commissioning/recruitment of specialist project management expertise in order to 
marshal resources from across its various departments but critically regeneration, planning, 
children’s services, adult services and public health. 
 
  

Page 67



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

19 

 

Summary – Stage 4 - Commitment 
 

Secure investment commitment to outcome delivery 

A capital investment strategy in respect of indoor facilities, linked to a new master plan (based on 
the recently completed facilities audit and needs assessment (and the Sport and Physical Activity 
Strategy) will provide an evidence-based approach to securing investment into leisure centre 
renewal. 

Agree sustainable and effective business case 

Business case development in respect of new leisure centre development will need to be 
progressed for all of Wirral. This must be based on an agreed master plan and then specific 
feasibility studies for each new facility development or major investment.  

A co-ordinated approach should be taken to the commissioning of the investment strategy, 
business case development, management options appraisal.  

The potential impact of Covid-19 will need to be factored into the business case in respect of 
anticipated pricing (and elasticity therein). There is scope to consider whether longer term 
changes in behaviour can be accommodated within the facility mix and considered as part of the 
associated community consultation. 

Identify resource requirements to support implementation 

Project management requirements and agreement re appropriate KPIs is required. 

Project management resource requirements in respect of delivering the investment strategy and 
relevant feasibility studies (co-ordinating respective regeneration, leisure, planning teams via 
steering group) should also be identified. 

Cross departmental communication is essential to ensure that opportunities are maximised, 
especially with regard to co-location. In addition, consideration of wider community partnership 
options need to be explored.  

Secure stakeholder commitment and move to implementation approval from cabinet/ 
members to progress to implementation 

Stakeholder consultation and commitment in respect of a delivery plan linked to the new Master 
Plan and Sport and Physical Activity Strategy need to be secured. Committee approval also needs 
to be sought. 

Stakeholder consultation and commitment in respect of an investment strategy in relation to the 
new master plan and relevant feasibility studies should be secured based on a co-ordinated set of 
proposals. This should be informed by the already completed needs assessment and regeneration 
proposals. 

Clarification is required on the level of financial contribution the Council can make to the project 
and the level of support required from capitalised revenues.  

WC should determine, at the point where progression though RIBA design stages is ongoing, 
whether there is a requirement for additional external financial commitment from Sport England 
and other funding bodies. 

Approval from cabinet/members to progress to implementation 

A timetable should be developed in respect of gaining committee / member approval for both the 
new master plan and leisure centre investment strategy. 

  

Page 68



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

20 

 

CONCLUSION  
 
In summary, this report has found that WC is well positioned in terms of its progress through the 
four stages of the Sport England Strategic Planning Model Guidance. WC is in the process of 
developing/refining a coherent set of outcomes in relation to sport & physical activity’s 
contribution to health and well-being and the reduction of health inequalities underpinned by 
good levels of cross directorate buy in. This emerging position appears to be gathering 
momentum. 
 
WC’s insight (in certain areas of the Council) is well developed, particularly in respect of its built 
and outdoor facilities evidence base. The development of the Sport and Physical Activity 
Strategy (2020) has added further momentum to this process. Its community-level research into 
the needs and wants of residents, and specifically what interventions may influence a change in 
behaviour will require further attention (as identified in the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy), 
both in respect of its facility offer and wider outreach plans.  
 
There is scope for a wider examination of how the active environment can contribute to the 
delivery of WC’s strategic objectives, bringing to bear Sport England Active Design principles 
and a more fully embracing cross-directorate approach to developing the Authority’s walking 
and cycling infrastructure.  
 
Finally, the Authority manages its own leisure facilities and whilst there does not appear to be a 
strong desire to alter the status quo, it is recommended that a management options appraisal be 
undertaken to ensure that (existing and new) facilities provide the best social and financial 
return for the Council.   A summary of key next steps for the authority is outlined below. 
 
Stage 1 – Outcomes 
 
Ongoing work and support are required to develop insight with regard to community needs and 
wants in respect of addressing inactivity. 
 
Stage 2 - Insight 
 
There is potential, using the current evidence base augmented by community consultation and 
through greater joint planning across the Wirral Council Planning, Regeneration, Children’s 
Services, Adult Services and Financial teams to develop a more all-embracing ‘place based’ 
approach to influencing behaviour change. 
 
Stage 3 – Interventions 
 
A twin-track approach whereby a borough wide plan for swimming (based on the needs 
assessment) is undertaken in parallel with leisure facility investment options appraisal is 
recommended. Complementary facilities based on local need and a strong business case need 
to be considered leading to a Facilities Master Plan for Wirral. 
 
Facility options can be flexed’ in response to emerging findings and the direction of travel of 
different Council directorates. Co-location and an agreed understanding of the role of leisure 
needs can then be further extended to the wider public.  
 
Further community consultation will be required to validate the Council’s investment proposal(s) 
and refine the wider facility development proposals and mixes.  

Page 69



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
SPORT ENGLAND STRATEGIC OUTCOMES PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 
 

January 2021 
3-018-2021 Sport England – Wirral SOPG  

 Knight Kavanagh & Page 

21 

 

Further investigation of interventions in the active environment (parks, open space, urban 
environment) and incorporation of active design principles into future proposals should be 
considered. 
 
Future review should consider the remaining facility strategy recommendations in light of 
anticipated housing growth in the Authority. 
 
Stage 4 - commitment 
 
Clarification is required with regard to the level of financial contribution the Council can make to 
the project and the level of support required from capitalised revenues.  
 
WC should determine its likely requirement for external financial support. 
 
A set of anticipated KPIs should be developed both in the context of their own value and in the 
event of them being required to underpin Sport England capital investment. 
 
** 
 
In summary SOPG based policy-based progress in the Authority is strong as is the alignment 
with Public Health outcomes.  The Council is moving away from its former silo-based approach 
to a much more collaborative cross-departmental approach to delivering services. Senior 
officers and Council elected members are determined to reduce health inequalities and this 
ambition is widely supported. It is now imperative that the Council continues to communicate 
well and achieves community buy-in prior to the development of a detailed delivery plan. 
 
The SOPG and Draft Indoor and Built Facilities Strategy evidence base validates an investment 
strategy for indoor facilities to address the fundamental strategic challenge of an ageing, 
inefficient indoor sport and physical activity stock. The Council needs to act decisively to put in 
place a long-term transformational plan for the Borough accompanied by a clear approach in 
respect of resourcing the associated work and facilitating its progress through its own decision-
making process. It should, in a value for money context, probably take the form of a single 
commission which comprises a Facilities Master Plan for the Borough which, in turn, informs a 
Leisure Investment Strategy.  
 
The rationale for a single commission is that there is a need for the Council to build momentum 
with respect to its facility needs and to provide senior managers and Members with an overview 
of what is needed, the high-level capital cost and the revenue impact of an improved facility 
offer. This will enable it to gauge the potential impact of an improved revenue position on its 
overall affordability threshold. This is also important in the context of the Council’s emerging 
Regeneration Strategy.  
 
 
 

Page 70



 

 

 

Sport and Physical Activity 
Strategy 

Public Consultation Report 
 

 
  

Consultation: 7 June to 19 July 2021 

Report: 4 August 2021 

Page 71



2 

 

Contents 
 

1.0 Executive Summary ....................................................................................... 6 

1.1 Key Findings .............................................................................................. 6 

1.1.1 Surveys ............................................................................................... 6 

Resident’s consultation, including young people. ........................................ 8 

Partners’ consultation ............................................................................... 15 

Ideas Board ............................................................................................... 16 

1.1.2 Easy Read responses ......................................................................... 17 

2.0 Methodology .............................................................................................. 21 

2.1 Surveys .................................................................................................... 21 

2.1.1 Questionnaire ................................................................................... 21 

2.1.2 Ideas Board ....................................................................................... 22 

2.2 Interpretation of Results ......................................................................... 23 

2.3 Communications ..................................................................................... 23 

3.0 Findings ....................................................................................................... 25 

3.1 Questionnaire findings ............................................................................ 25 

3.1a Resident’s responses: People and Young People surveys. ...................... 25 

Q1. What does being active mean to you? ................................................ 25 

Q2. Is it important to have an active lifestyle? ........................................... 26 

Q3. Do you enjoy taking part in physical activity? ..................................... 27 

Q5. Do you take part in any sport or physical activity (outside of school or 
college)? .................................................................................................... 29 

Q6. How much time do you like to spend being active? ............................. 30 

Q7. How often are you active in an average month? ................................. 31 

Q8. When it comes to being active, what matters most to you? ................ 32 

Page 72



3 

 

Q9. Where are you when you are active? .................................................. 34 

Q10. What sport and/ or physical activities do you currently take part in? 36 

Q11. Are there any barriers that make it harder for you to be active? ....... 39 

Q12. Do you currently, or have you in the past, used a Invigor8 
membership? ............................................................................................ 41 

Q13. Why have you not taken out an Invigor8 membership? .................... 42 

Q14. Why have you not taken out a new Invigor8 membership? ............... 44 

Q15. How easy do you find it to know what sports and activities are 
happening locally? .................................................................................... 46 

Q16. How could we help you to be more active? ....................................... 47 

Q17. Which sports and activities are most important to you? ................... 49 

Q18. At what time of day would you prefer to be active? .......................... 51 

Q19. To help us design new sessions, how long would you like them to be?
 .................................................................................................................. 52 

Q20. Have you had COVID-19? .................................................................. 53 

Q21. What impact has the last 12 months had on you? ............................. 54 

Q22. How have the changes and restrictions brought about by the COVID-
19 pandemic affected your levels of physical activity? .............................. 56 

Q23. Do you have a disability? .................................................................. 57 

Q24. Do you have a long-term health condition?....................................... 58 

Q25. Do you attend school or college? ...................................................... 59 

Q25. Are you currently in employment? .................................................... 60 

Q27. Are you currently not in school, college or employment (NEET)? ...... 61 

Q28. Is there anything else you would like to tell us about being active in 
Wirral? ...................................................................................................... 62 

3.1b Partners Responses ............................................................................... 67 

Q1. Please tell us what type of services your organisation provides .......... 67 

Page 73



4 

 

Q2. Who is your service for? ...................................................................... 68 

Q3. Please tell us where your services are delivered ................................. 69 

Q4. Would you be interested in working with Wirral Council Leisure 
Services to improve health inequalities? ................................................... 70 

Q5. Have you worked in partnership with Wirral Council Leisure Services in 
the past? ................................................................................................... 70 

Q6. If you have worked in partnership with Wirral Council Leisure Services 
in the past, please provide the timing of this? ........................................... 70 

Q7. What type of work was carried out in this partnership?? .................... 71 

Q8. How satisfied were you with your experience of working in partnership 
with Wirral Council Leisure Services? ........................................................ 71 

Q9. From your experience, what worked well in this partnership? ............ 71 

Q10. From your experience what didn't work well in this partnership? ..... 72 

Q11. What role do you see Wirral Council Leisure Services playing in 
partnership with your organisation? ......................................................... 72 

Q12. Is there anything else you would like to tell us about how we could 
work together to improve activity levels across the borough? ................... 73 

3.2 Ideas Board Responses ............................................................................ 75 

Residents’ Ideas Board .............................................................................. 75 

Young People’s Ideas Board ...................................................................... 76 

4.0 Demographics and Site Traffic ..................................................................... 78 

4.1 Demographics ......................................................................................... 78 

Residents .................................................................................................. 78 

Young People ............................................................................................ 81 

Partner’s demographics ............................................................................. 84 

4.2 Site Traffic ............................................................................................... 86 

Residents .................................................................................................. 86 

Page 74



5 

 

Young People ............................................................................................ 87 

Partners .................................................................................................... 88 

 

  

Page 75



6 

 

1.0 Executive Summary 
Wirral Council aims to work with residents and partners to create opportunities that help to 
make physical activity a part of everyone’s everyday lives.  The mission is to ensure that, by 
2025, all Wirral residents have the opportunity, environment and support they need to lead 
active, healthy, and happier lives. The council will work with partners to transform attitudes 
and behaviours to make physical activity part of the everyday lives of our residents. 

The sport and physical activity engagement consultation was carried out to obtain the views 
and ideas of residents and partners, to inform a new Sport & Physical Activity Strategy for 
Wirral.  

Residents and partners were invited to share their views and ideas on being active to ensure 
that the right opportunities and environments are created. This included asking respondents 
about barriers they may encounter in being active, with a view to helping to overcome them. As 
well as understanding what matters most to them in relation to being active.  

Residents’ and partners were consulted separately; the outcome of both of these consultations 
are reported in this document. 

 A summary of key findings is set out below: 

1.1 Key Findings 
1.1.1 Surveys 
 

Residents 

There was a total of 372 online responses to the ‘People’ survey, 0 paper copies and 3 Easy 
Read copies. The Easy Read responses are summarised separately in section 1.1.2. 

Demographics: 

• Most respondents (96.5%) were from the Wirral.  

• The most represented Wirral wards were New Brighton (19.0%) and West Kirby (10.6%) 

• 13.9% of respondents provided a postcode in the first decile (most deprived decile) of 
the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD). The most represented ward in this decile was 
Bidston & Claughton (21.6%). 

 

  

Page 76



7 

 

Young People  

There were 9 online responses to the survey and 362 young people from 9 Wirral schools or 
organisations completed paper copies of the survey, providing a total of 371 survey responses 
from young people.  

Demographics: 

• All (100%) of the young people, responding across both the online and paper surveys, 
were from Wirral, or from a Wirral school or organisation. 

• Overall, 85.2% of young people either lived in or attended a school or organisation that 
fell in the first two deciles (most deprived deciles) of the Index of Multiple Deprivation 
(IMD). 69.3% fell in to the first decile, 15.9% in to the second decile.  

• Claughton (4.3.7%) was the most represented ward, followed by Liscard (15.4%), 
Birkenhead & Tranmere (14.6%) and Bidston & St James (11.1%). 

 

Partners 

There were 20 online responses to the survey, 1 paper copy and 1 Easy Read response.  

Demographics: 

• Most respondents (90.0%) were from the Wirral.  

• The most represented wards were New Brighton (15.0%) and Pensby (15.0%). 

• 15.0% of respondents provided a postcode in the first decile (most deprived decile) of 
the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD). 

  

Page 77



8 

 

Resident’s consultation, including young people.  
 

• The most prevalent options selected when asked ‘what does being active mean to you?’ 
were: 

For residents: 

o 86.6% - Going for a walk, jog or run. 

o 63.4% - Swimming at the local pool. 

For young people: 

o 61.5% - Playing sport. 

o 58.0% - Going for a walk, jog or run. 

• 100% of Residents and 94.6% of Young People say that it is important to have a healthy    

   lifestyle.   

Only 5.4% of Young People said it was not important to have a healthy lifestyle. 

• 95.9% of residents and 85.9% of young people enjoy taking part in physical activity.   

Only 4.1% of residents and 14.1% of young people do not enjoy taking part in physical 
activity. 

• 82.7% of residents and 79.2% of young people would describe themselves as an active 
person. Only 17.3% of residents and 20.8% of young people would not describe 
themselves as an active person. 

• 81.7% of residents and 63.5% of young people say they take part in any sport or physical 
activity.  

18.3% of residents and 36.5% of young people say they do not take part in any sport or 
activity.  

• The most and least prevalent options selected when asked ‘How much time do you like to 
spend being active?’ were: 

For residents: 

o Most prevalent - 44.1% - 1-3 hours 

o Least prevalent – 1.3% - less than 30 mins 

For young people: 

o Most prevalent - 32.7% - 30min -1 hour 

Page 78



9 

 

o Least prevalent – 5% - 5 hours or more 

• The most and least prevalent options selected when asked ‘How often are you active in 
an average month?’ were: 

For residents: 

o Most prevalent - 38.3% - 4-6 days a week 

o Least prevalent – 0% once a month 

For young people: 

o Most prevalent - 28% - daily 

o Least prevalent – 0% once a month 

• The most and least prevalent options selected when asked ‘When it comes to being 
active, what matters most to you?’ were: 

For residents: 

o Most prevalent - 73.1% - to improve personal fitness and health 

o Least prevalent – 5.6% opportunity to volunteer/be a mentor 

For young people: 

o Most prevalent - 54% - socialising with friends 

o Least prevalent – 2.8% - opportunity to volunteer/be a mentor 

• The most and least prevalent options selected when asked ‘Where are you when you are 
active?’ were: 

For residents: 

o Most prevalent – 76.1% - council leisure centres 

o Least prevalent – 1.1% Multi-Use Games Areas (MUGAs) 

For young people: 

o Most prevalent – 72.2% - local parks or open spaces 

o Least prevalent – 0.3% - Outdoor gyms 

• The top sports and/or physical activities that respondents take part in are: 

For Residents: 

o 50.5% Walking 

o 35.8% Swimming 

Page 79



10 

 

o 33.9% Cycling 

For Young People: 

o 60.5% Playing outside 

o 44.1% Football 

o 24.4% Walking 

•  The top barriers that make it harder to be active are: 

For residents: 

o 39.5% - Life Commitments  

o 35.2% - Timing of activities 

o 33.1% - Cost 

For young people: 

o 73.4% - Not knowing what activities are available 

o 50.4% - Cost 

o 43.2% - Scared or worried about trying activities 

o 33.1% - not knowing anybody 

o 31.7% - Transport 

• 23.9% of residents currently have an Invigor8 membership, 43.0% have used one in the 
past, and 33.1% have never had one.   

29.1% of young people currently have an Invigor8 membership, 25.6% have used one in 
the past and 45.3% have never had an Invigor8 membership. 

• Of those who had never had an Invigor8 membership, the most prevalent reasons were: 

For Residents: 

o 39.8% - I don’t think I would use it enough 

o 23.6% - Cost 

For Young People: 

o 14.3% - Cost 

o 9.7% - I don’t think I would use it enough 

• Of those who have had an Invigor8 membership in the past, the most prevalent reasons 
were: 

Page 80



11 

 

For Residents: 

o 11.6% - the lack of availability of sessions (11.6%) 

o COVID-19 (11.3%)  

For Young People: 

o 14.8% - Cost 

o 6.1% - Membership does not offer what they want 

• 39.3% of responding residents are neutral about how easy they find it to know what 
sports and activities are happening locally.  33.0% of young people find it easy to know 
what sports and activities are happening locally.   

• The ways in which we could help you to be more active are:  

For Residents: 

o 73.4% - more activities in my local area 

o 30.4% - activities outside of leisure centres. 

For Young People: 

o 41.5% - more activities in my local area 

o 23.7% - for a friend or relative to join them 

o 20.2% - beginner sessions or classes   

• The sports and activities that are most important are: 

For Residents: 

o 40.9% - different/ additional exercise classes 

o 34.9% - family activities 

o 33.9% - sport specific coaching 

For Young People: 

o 44.2% - sport specific coaching 

o 16.7% - holiday sports programmes 

o 16.7% - competitions 

• The times of day that respondents would prefer to be active are: 

For Residents: 

o 45.2% - evening 

Page 81



12 

 

o 34.7% - morning 

Young People: 

o 39.4% - twilight 

o 25.6% - anytime 

• The time periods that respondents would prefer new sessions to be: 

Residents: 

o 60.2% - one hour long 

o 43.3% - 45 minutes long 

Young People: 

o 47.4% - one hour long 

o 20.5% - 30 minutes long 

• 93.1% of adults and 82.6% of young people said they had not had COVID-19.   

Only 17.4% of residents and 6.9% of young people said they had had COVID-19. 

• The impacts of the last 12 months were: 

Residents: 

o 58.1% - weight gain 

o 52.2% - reduced activity levels 

Young People: 

o 27.0% - socially isolated 

o 15.1% - mental health issues 

• 56.8% of residents and 46.9% of young people said they do less physical activity because 
of the COVID-19 pandemic. Only 20.1% of residents and 18.0% of young people said they 
do more sport or physical activity. 

• 87.4% of residents and 94.2% of young people said they did not have a disability. 11.3% 
of residents and 1.2% of young people said they did have a disability. 

• 72.8% of residents and 95.4% of young people said they do not have a long-term health 
condition. 12.3% of residents and 2.9% of young people said they do have a long-term 
health condition. 

• 99.5% of young people said they attend school or college only 0.5% said they do not 
attend school or college. 

Page 82



13 

 

• 98.6% of young people said they were not in employment. Only 1.4% of young people 
said they were currently in employment.  

• 99.4% said they were not currently in school, college, or in employment (NEET).  Only 
0.6% said they were NEET. 

• Respondents’ comments about being active in Wirral fell into six main categories, which 
are summarised below: 

Residents: 

• Facilities (48.8%) 

o Lack of availability of facilities 22.5% (x27). 

o Facilities are unclean/run down/badly maintained and not fit for purpose 
20% (x24).   

o Requests for facilities to re-open following closures related to COVID-19, 
or not to close down in the future 15.8% (x19).  

o Opening times/session times are unsuitable 11.7% (x14).   

• Classes and sessions (37%) 

o Not enough variety of types of classes/sessions offered 50.5% (x46).  

o Lack of availability of sessions 28.6% (x26).   

o Outdoor classes and sessions 17.6% (x16).  There is an appetite for more 
outdoor classes and sessions. 

• Swimming (34.6%) 

o Swimming – General  

o Facilities 49.2% (x31) including calls for a Lido in Wirral (x22) and not enough 
swimming pools are open (x9)  

o Lack of availability of sessions 42.9% (x27).   

• Open-Water Swimming 

o Facilities 72.7% (x16) 

o More open water swimming locations should be made available (x13).  

o Accessibility (x2) – open water swimming locations should be made more 
accessible. 

• Informal outdoor exercise (32.9%) 

Page 83



14 

 

o Outdoor Exercise (x43) – including parking charges are a barrier to outdoor 
exercise (x9) and more public exercise facilities needed (x7) 

o Cycling 44.4% (x36) – including making cycle lanes safer (x19)  

• General barriers to being active 20.7% 

o Cost (x14) 

o Accessibility and inclusiveness (x9) 

o Lack of information (x8). The Council website does not contain the required 
information and is difficult to navigate. 

Young People: 

• Cycling (33.3%) – mainly talking about how cycling safety needed to be improved 

• Trial activities at schools (13.3%) 

• Barrier – distance of swimming facilities is a barrier for some (13.3%) 

• Comment – the Wirral is good for outdoor spaces (13.3%) 

 

  

Page 84



15 

 

Partners’ consultation 
 

Where questions allowed multiple selections, percentages relate to the prevalence of the 
selected option, rather than as a percentage of respondents 

• The most prevalent services provided amongst the partnership organisations were: 

o Sport & Activity – 15 of the 21 partners (74.1%) 

o Community – 8 of the 21 (38.1%) 

• 11 of 21 partner respondents (52.4%) brackets said the services for children and young 
people aged zero to 18 years. 

• The most prevalent areas that partners deliver services are, jointly: 

o All areas - 8 of 21 partners (38.1%) 

o Birkenhead & Tranmere – 8 of 21 partners (38.1%) 

• 100% of partners would be interested in working with Wirral Council leisure services to 
improve health inequalities. 

• 71.4% of partners have not worked with Wirral Council Leisure Services in the past. 
28.6% of partners have worked with Wirral Council leisure services in the past. 

• 83.3% of the partners who worked with Wirral Council Leisure Services did so in the 
last year and 16.7% did so in the last 10 years. 

• 5 out of the 21 partners (23.8%) carried out work related to sports and activities. 

• 33.3% of partners were neutral about the experience of working in partnership with 
Wirral Council Leisure Services and 33.3% were very satisfied. 16.7% were unsatisfied 
and 16.7% were satisfied. 

• The top things that respondents felt worked well in partnership with the Council were: 

o Achieved outcomes – 3 of 21 partners (14.3%) 

o Delivered a good quality offer - 3 of 21 partners (14.3%) 

• The top thing that respondents felt didn't work well in the partnership with the council 
was a lack of communication - 3 of 21 partners (14.3%) 

• The most prevalent type of role that partners saw Council Leisure Services playing in 
partnership with their organisations were: 

o Provider of facilities – 7 out of 21 partners (33.3%) 

Page 85



16 

 

o Delivery Partner - 6 out of 21 partners (28.6%) 

o Funding provider - 6 out of 21 partners (28.6%) 

• The top ways the partners commented (free text) that we could together to improve 
activity levels across the borough were:  

• Encourage Outdoor Activities (23.5%) 

• Barrier – lack of venues for hire (11.8%) 

• Barrier – difficult to find information (11.8%) 

• Barrier – too expensive (11.8%) 

• Barrier – accessibility (11.8%) 

 

Ideas Board 
64 contributors submitted or commented on 50 ideas to the ideas board tool other visitors to 
the board were able to ‘vote’ for ideas that they liked. 

The 2 most popular ideas, that received the most ‘votes’ were: 

And 

 

Common themes amongst all the ideas were: 

• Being active outdoors (excluding cycling and swimming) – 20 ideas / 32 likes 

o More public conveniences would encourage people to be active outdoors (5 
ideas / 15 likes) 

o A reduction or removal of parking charges would encourage people to be active 
outdoors (3 ideas / 7 likes) 

“Lido at New Brighton.  Bring back outdoor swimming activities.  A lido to be enjoyed by all, near 
or far” 9 votes 

 

“West Kirby lake needs opening up to swimming.  It is an approved safe open water training 
facility. We want to swim every day, but not at dawn!” 7 votes 

 

Page 86



17 

 

o Formal outdoor classes/activity sessions should be provided in coastal locations 
(1 idea / 6 likes) 

• Cycling – 14 ideas / 23 likes   

o Cycle lanes should be improved to be made safer by being made wider, better 
maintained and more separate from other traffic (6 ideas / 10 likes) 

o The cycle network should be better connected and allow joined up travel around 
the whole peninsula (3 ideas / 6 likes) 

• Open water/outdoor swimming – 8 ideas / 23 likes 

o Allow swimming in West Kirby Marine Lake, section off part of the lake 
exclusively for swimmers, do not restrict access times (4 ideas / 14 likes) 

o Provision of a lido in New Brighton (2 ideas / 9 likes) 

• Swimming – indoor pools – 4 ideas / 9 likes 

o There should be more availability of swimming sessions, and later swimming 
sessions (3 ideas / 9 likes) 

o There should be no swimming pool closures (1 idea). 

• Rake Hoylake Beach – 3 ideas / 5 likes so that it can be used for being active 

 

1.1.2 Easy Read responses  
 

Alongside the online and paper versions of the survey, a simplified ‘easy read’ version of the 
survey was produced to ensure that everyone who wished to complete the survey was able to, 
regardless of ability.  An extra 2 weeks was allowed following the close of the online survey to 
return ‘easy read’ surveys to maximise the opportunity to respond.   

The responses from these surveys are summarised below, and made available to the project 
team to be considered fully alongside the full survey responses. 

3 easy read survey responses were received, all for the people survey. 

The responses were examined in conjunction with the full survey, and common themes are 
summarised below. 

• Walking/jogging/running were considered by all easy read respondents as being the 
biggest part of being active.  This is in common with the full survey where 86.6% or 
respondents agreed. 

Page 87



18 

 

• All of the easy read respondents felt that it was important to have an active lifestyle, 
that they enjoyed being active, and were active themselves. This reflects the results of 
the full survey where the majority of respondents agreed. 

• There was no common length of time that easy read respondents were active for 
weekly, - answers raged from 30mins to an hour, 1-3hours and 3-5hours. 1-3hours was 
the most popular response in the full survey. 

• 2 of the 3 easy read respondents stated they are active 2-3 days a week, the third 
respondent is active every day.  4-6 days a week was the most popular response in the 
full survey. 

• The things that were most important to easy read respondents when being active were, 
equally: 

o Improving fitness & health 

o Improving mental health & wellbeing 

o Enjoyment 

o Getting better at a sport or activity 

These are similar things to the full survey, where the top responses were: 

o Improving fitness & health 

o Improving mental health & wellbeing 

o Enjoyment 

o Stress or anxiety relief 

• Parks and open spaces were the most common location for easy read respondents to be 
active, this is in common with the full survey, where 54.0% of respondents agreed. 

• Walking was the most common type of sport & physical activity carried out by easy read 
respondents.  This is in common with the main survey where 50.5% of respondents 
agreed. 

• Issues with facilities was the main barrier to being active for easy read respondents, 
specifically the flooding of municipal golf courses and lack of availability of indoor tennis 
sessions.  In contrast, life commitments was the most prevalent barrier among the 
respondents of the full survey (39.5%). 

• 2 of the 3 easy respondents had in the past had an invigor8 membership, as was the 
case with the majority of full survey respondents (43.0%). The reasons given for not 
renewing membership amongst the easy read respondents were a lack of availability of 

Page 88



19 

 

sessions, they didn't think they'd use it enough and that they didn't need membership 
for their sport.  The lack of availability of sessions was the most prevalent reason 
amongst the full survey respondents. 

• 2 of the 3 easy read respondents found it ‘Quite Easy’ to find out information about 
sport and physical activity. The majority of full survey respondents felt neutral about 
this.  

• Most easy read respondents felt that more activities in their area would help them to be 
more active.  This is in common with the main survey where 73.4% of respondents 
agreed. 

• The types of activity that easy read respondents felt were most important to them were, 
equally:  

o Competitions and tournaments, specifically golf. 

o Sports lessons/taster classes/camps 

o Mental health & wellbeing classes 

These are similar things to the full survey, where the top responses were: 

o Different/additional exercise classes (40.9%) 

o Family Activities (34.9%) 

o Sports specific coaching/taster sessions (33.9%) 

• The morning (9am-12pm) was the time that 2 of the 3 easy read respondents preferred 
to be active.  For respondents of the full survey evening (6pm-10pm) was the most 
popular time (45.2%), followed by the morning (30.9%). 

• There was no common length of time that easy read respondents would like future 
sessions to be - answers raged from 45 mins, 1 hour or 2 hours. 1 hour was the most 
popular duration in the full survey. 

• None of the easy read respondents had had COVID-19.  The majority of full survey 
respondents (82.6%) had not had the virus. 

• The impact of the pandemic over the last year on easy read respondents was, equally:  

o Putting on weight. 

o Becoming less active 

o Becoming more active 

o Feeling less strong 

Page 89



20 

 

o Not seeing many people. 

These are similar things to the full survey, where the top responses were: 

o Putting on weight (58.1%) 

o Becoming less active (52.2%) 

o Mental Health issues (43.5%) 

o Feeling less strong (35.5%) 

• There was no common answer among the easy read respondents as to how COVID-19 
restrictions had affected their levels of physical activity - answers raged becoming more 
active, becoming less active and doing the same amount of activity. Most full survey 
respondents became less active (56.8%) 

• None of the easy read respondents had a disability or long term health condition, this is 
in common with most of the respondents of the full survey. 

• The only free text final comment on the easy read surveys was a request to rake 
Hoylake beach, in order to play volleyball.  Although not a top theme in the full survey, 
requests to rake Hoylake beach appeared on the idea board 3 times. 

 

  

Page 90



21 

 

2.0 Methodology 
 

A range of methods were developed to collect feedback through different routes to optimise 
the engagement approach and the range of feedback. 

2.1 Surveys 
To help shape the Sport & Physical Activity Strategy, a public consultation was carried out using 
Wirral Council’s ‘Have Your Say’ consultation portal at www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk. A Sport 
and Physical Activity Engagement hub was created on the front page of the website, that 
provided a portal to access the three consultation surveys, People, Young People and 
Partnerships. 

Key documents related to the strategy were published on the page for each of the three 
consultations and were available for download. These included a strategy summary document, 
a FAQ sheet and a full copy of the strategy and an easy read version.  

In addition to the surveys, an ideas board was available on the People and Young People pages, 
where participants could both submit their own ideas, and interact with other people’s ideas by 
‘liking’ and commenting on them. 

To ensure accessibility respondents were able to request paper copies of the survey, an easy 
read version, contact the team directly and submit additional comments via a dedicated email 
address, which was published on the Have Your Say site alongside the online survey. 

 

2.1.1 Questionnaire  

The consultation questionnaire was developed to enable participants to share their views about 
sport and physical activity. The consultation sought to identify barriers that participants 
experience in relation to carrying out sport and physical activity. The questions included 
opportunities for respondents to provide free text comments to expand on their answers. 

Both paper copies and Easy Read surveys were created to enable the survey to be accessible.  

Paper copies of these surveys were available at Wirral’s leisure centres, municipal golf courses, 
the Floral Pavilion, Birkenhead Library and the Hive Youth Zone and could be provided on 
request as required.  Young people in particular were targeted with paper copies via schools 
and youth groups, as it was possible that they were less able to engage online due to the 
requirement to provide an email address. 

Page 91

http://www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/


22 

 

No paper copies were received for the people survey, 162 for the Young People survey and 1 
for the Partnership survey. These responses were aggregated into the online survey results to 
ensure the views were represented in the final analysis. 

3 completed easy-read forms were received for the people survey.  An additional 2 weeks after 
the online survey close was allowed for the return of the easy read, to ensure the targeted 
demographic were able to return their views.  Responses were examined and a summary of 
these is provided in section 1.1.2. 

1 completed easy read form was received for the partnership survey, the result of which has 
been incorporated into the full survey partnership responses in section 3.1b 

In terms of the results of the questionnaire it is important to note that: 

• The public consultation is not representative of the overall population of Wirral but 
provides information on the opinion of those residents who engaged. 

• Where percentages do not add up to 100, this may be due to rounding, or the question 
is multi-coded. All free questions that invited respondents to write in comments are 
multi-coded and therefore add up to more than 100 percent. 

• In order that they can be summarised, all free text responses to the public consultation 
have been categorised using a ‘tagging’ system based on the main themes arising from 
the comment.  Comments may cover multiple themes, therefore there are more 
comment categories than comments. 

• Questions 13 and 14 are designed to be answered only if respondents answered a 
certain way to question 12.  In the young people survey, this question was answered in a 
group environment, and the skip logic was not strictly followed.  Therefore, more young 
people answered these questions than answered 'no' or ‘yes in the past to Q12, making 
it difficult to produce accurate percentages.  To produce accurate and comparable data 
questions 13 and 14 the full number of respondents for each survey as a whole has been 
used as the denominator for both young people and residents.  

 
2.1.2 Ideas Board 
The Ideas Board was set up to allow respondents to submit their own ideas about sport and 
physical activity, these could be approved and commented on by other members of the public.  

The information provided was reviewed and coded based on content and a set of themes were 
identified to allow reporting.  

  

Page 92



23 

 

2.2 Interpretation of Results 
In terms of the results, it is important to note that: 

• The public consultation is not representative of the overall population but provides 
information on the opinion of those residents who engaged. 

• For questions where multiple answers can be selected and free text responses where 
comments contain multiple themes percentages do not add up to 100. 

 

2.3 Communications 
The consultation was promoted in a number of ways both generally and by signposting specific 
groups to the part of the consultation most relevant to them. The COVID-19 virus continues to 
place limitations on our efforts to engage with our local communities however, to raise 
awareness amongst as many residents, stakeholders and business as possible, a full 
communications campaign, utilising a variety of communications channels, was delivered. This 
included: 

• Organic social media (mix of platforms for corporate and Wirral Leisure)  

• Resident Email (inclusion in 5 editions)  

• Wirral leisure emails to Invigor8 members 

• Partner/ Stakeholder E-newsletter 

• Press/ Content media release 

• Updates on Wirral View  

• Outreach through established COVID-19 response cells and Champions Network 

• FAQ document 

• Artwork (screens at Floral Pavilion, screens at leisure centres, posters at Leisure sites, 
postcards at leisure centres)  

• Post on Staff Facebook Page  

• Exec View (Staff Newsletter)  

• Staff Intranet  

 

Page 93



24 

 

In addition to this, paper copies of the consultation were placed into leisure centres and 
partners spoke to schools to help increase engagement with the youth survey.  

 

 

  

Page 94



25 

 

3.0 Findings 
3.1 Questionnaire findings 

3.1a Resident’s responses: People and Young People surveys. 
Where questions allowed multiple selections, percentages relate to the prevalence of the 
selected option, rather than as a percentage of respondents.  As a result percentage totals will 
add up to more than 100% and to avoid confusion, total percentage figures are omitted from 
tables. 

 

Q1. What does being active mean to you? 
 

Note: Respondents could select more than one option, and therefore the results add up to 
more than 100 percent. 

 
Figure 1: Chart showing what respondents say being active means to them 

86
.6

%

63
.4

%

56
.7

%

54
.6

%

47
.8

%

47
.3

%

46
.2

%

42
.2

%

31
.5

%

10
.8

%

58
.0

%

36
.7

%

33
.7

% 39
.4

%

34
.5

%

31
.5

%

61
.5

%

8.
9%

19
.1

%

0%

Walk/ jog/
run

Swimming
at the

local pool

Walking or
cycling

over car

Cycling or
riding a

bike

Going to
the gym

Fitness
classes

Playing
sport

Gardening Dancing /
dance
class

Other

Q1. What does being active mean to you?
Residents %

Young People %

Page 95



26 

 

The most popular categories for Residents were walk/ jog/ run (86.6%), swimming at the local 
pool (63.4%) and walking or cycling instead of using the car (56.7%). 

For Young People, the most popular categories were playing sport (61.5%), walk/ jog/ run 
(58.0%) and cycling or riding a bike (39.4%). 

There were 26 ‘Other’ answers for Residents, which included 16 respondents saying open water 
swimming, 3 saying paddle boarding, and 3 saying yoga. 

What does 'being active' 
mean to you? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young 
People 
Total % 

Walk/ jog/ run 322 86.6% 8 207 58.0% 
Swimming at the local pool 236 63.4% 7 129 36.7% 
Dancing / dance class 117 31.5% 4 67 19.1% 
Cycling or riding a bike 203 54.6% 6 140 39.4% 
Playing sport 172 46.2% 7 221 61.5% 
Gardening 157 42.2% 0 33 8.9% 
Fitness classes 176 47.3% 3 114 31.5% 
Going to the gym 178 47.8% 4 124 34.5% 
Walking or cycling over car 211 56.7% 4 121 33.7% 
Other 40 10.8% 0 0 0.0% 
Total 1812 - 43 1156 - 

Table 1: Table showing the Respondent’s answers to ‘What does being active mean to you?’ 

Q2. Is it important to have an active lifestyle? 
 

 
Figure 2: Chart showing whether respondents think it is important to have a healthy lifestyle 

10
0.

0%

0.
0%

94
.6

%

5.
4%

Yes No

Q2. Is it important to have an active lifestyle?

Residents %
Young People %

Page 96



27 

 

100% of Residents and 94.6% of Young People say that it is important to have a healthy 
lifestyle.  Only 5.4% of Young People said it was not important to have a healthy lifestyle. 

 

Do you think it is 
important to have an 
active lifestyle? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young People 
(online) 

Young people 
(Paper copies) 

Young 
People % 

Yes 371 100.0% 9 322 94.6% 
No 0 0.0% 0 19 5.4% 
Total 371 100.0% 9 341 100.0% 

Table 2: Table showing whether respondents think it is important to have a healthy lifestyle. 

 

Q3. Do you enjoy taking part in physical activity? 
 

 
Figure 3: Chart showing whether respondents enjoy taking part in physical activity 

95.9% of residents and 85.9% of young people enjoy taking part in physical activity.  Only 4.1% 
of residents and 14.1% of young people do not enjoy taking part in physical activity. 

Do you enjoy 
taking part in 
physical activity? 

Residents 
(online) Residents % 

Young People 
(online) 

Young people 
(Paper copies) 

Young 
People % 

Yes 353 95.9% 8 309 85.9% 
No 15 4.1% 1 51 14.1% 
Total 368 100.0% 9 360 100.0% 

Table 3: Table showing whether respondents enjoy taking part in physical activity. 

 

95
.9

%

4.
1%

85
.9

%

14
.1

%

Yes No

Q3. Do you enjoy taking part in physical activity?

Residents %
Young People %

Page 97



28 

 

Q4. Would you describe yourself as an active person? 

 

 
Figure 4: Chart showing whether respondents would describe themselves as an active person. 

82.7% of residents and 79.2% of young people would describe themselves as an active person. 
Only 17.3% of residents and 20.8% of young people would not describe themselves as an active 
person. 

Would you describe yourself 
as an active person? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young people 
(Paper copies) 

Young 
People % 

Yes 305 82.7% 7 316 79.2% 
No 64 17.3% 1 84 20.8% 
Total 369 100.0% 8 400 100.0% 

Table 4: Table showing whether respondents would describe themselves as an active person. 

 

  

82
.7

%

17
.3

%

79
.2

%

20
.8

%

Yes No

Q4. Would you describe yourself as an active person?

Residents %
Young People %

Page 98



29 

 

Q5. Do you take part in any sport or physical activity (outside of school or 
college)? 
 

 
Figure 5: Chart showing whether respondents take part in any sport or physical activity. 

81.7% of residents and 63.5% of young people say they take part in any sport or physical 
activity. 18.3% of residents and 36.5% of young people say they do not take part in any sport or 
activity.  

Do you take part in 
any sport or physical 
activity (outside of 
school or college)? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young People 
% 

Yes 299 81.7% 8 234 63.5% 
No 67 18.3% 1 138 36.5% 
Total 366 100.0% 9 372 100.0% 

Table 5: Table showing whether respondents take part in any sport or physical activity. 

  

81
.7

%

18
.3

%

63
.5

%

36
.5

%

Yes No

Q5. Do you take part in any sport or physical activity 
(outside of school or college)?

Residents %
Young People %

Page 99



30 

 

Q6. How much time do you like to spend being active? 
 

 
Figure 6: Chart showing how much time respondents like to spend being active. 

Of those who answered, ‘yes’ to question 5 ‘do you take part in any sport or physical activity?’, 
the most prevalent period that residents like to spend being active was one to three hours 
(44.1%).  For young people the most prevalent period was between 30 minutes and one hour 
(32.7%). The least prevalent category for residents was less than 30 minutes (1.3%) and the 
least prevalent category for young people was five hours or more (5.0%). 

If you are being active, 
how much time do you 
like to spend doing that 
activity, outside of school 
or college? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young People 
% 

30 mins - 1 hour 114 38.4% 1 129 32.7% 
1 - 3 hours 131 44.1% 4 111 29.0% 
3-5 hours 26 8.8% 0 96 24.2% 
5 hours or more 22 7.4% 3 17 5.0% 
Less than 30 mins 4 1.3% 0 36 9.1% 
Total 297 100.0% 8 389 100.0% 

Table 6: Table showing how much time respondents like to spend being active. 

  

38
.4

% 44
.1

%

8.
8%

7.
4%

1.
3%

32
.7

%

29
.0

%

24
.2

%

5.
0% 9.

1%

30 mins - 1
hour

1 - 3 hours 3-5 hours 5 hours or
more

Less than 30
mins

Q6. How much time do you like to spend being active

Residents %
Young People %

Page 100



31 

 

Q7. How often are you active in an average month? 
 

 
Figure 7: Chart showing how often respondents are active in an average month. 

Of those who answered, ‘yes’ to question 5 ‘do you take part in any sport or physical activity?’ 
the most prevalent response for residents (38.3%) was that they were active 4 - 6 days a week 
in an average month.  The most prevalent response for young people (20%) was every day.  The 
least prevalent response for both residents and young people was once a month (0% for both 
residents and young people). 

In an average month, how often are you 
active? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young 
People % 

Daily 92 30.9% 3 113 28.0% 
4 - 6 days a week 114 38.3% 3 107 26.6% 
2 - 3 days a week 78 26.2% 1 75 18.4% 
Once a week 13 4.4% 1 55 13.5% 
Less than once a week 1 0.3% 28 28 13.5% 
Once a month 0 0.0% 0 0 0.0% 
Total 298 100.0% 36 378 100.0% 

Table 7: Table showing how often respondents are active in an average month. 

 

 

  

30
.9

% 38
.3

%

26
.2

%

4.
4%

0.
3%

0%

28
.0

%

26
.6

%

18
.4

%

13
.5

%

13
.5

%

0%

Daily 4 - 6 days a
week

2 - 3 days a
week

Once a week Less than once
a week

Once a month

Q7. How often are you active in an average month?

Residents %

Young People %

Page 101



32 

 

Q8. When it comes to being active, what matters most to you? 
 

 
Figure 8: Chart showing what matters most to respondents when it comes to being active. 

Of those who answered, ‘yes’ to question 5 ‘do you take part in any sport or physical activity?’, 
what matters most to residents was to improve personal fitness and health (73.1%).  What 
matters most to young people was socialising with friends (54.0%%).  What matters least to 
both residents (5.6%) and young people (2.8%) was the opportunity to volunteer/be a mentor. 

There were 7 ‘Other’ responses from Residents, in which there were only a couple of common 
themes: exercising in nature and being able to fit exercise into routine when working.  

73.1%

68.8%

64.0%

55.1%

42.7%

32.5%

28.5%

28.0%

27.4%

26.3%

14.5%

7.0%

5.6%

1.9%

29.6%

16.4%

44.4%

15.4%

54.0%

6.8%

33.0%

10.8%

34.6%

9.3%

4.3%

6.5%

2.8%

0.0%

Improve personal fitness and health

Improve mental wellbeing

Enjoying the activity

Stress or anxiety relief

Socialising with friends

Improving body image

Improve skills and ability in my chosen sport or activity

Gain or improve confidence

Being part of a group (teamwork and peer support)

Meeting new people

Get more involved in my community

Opportunity for training and development

Opportunity to volunteer/be a mentor

Other

Q8. When it comes to being active, what matters most to you?

Residents % Young People %

Page 102



33 

 

 

When it comes to being active, 
what matters most to you? 
(Choose all that apply) 

Residents 
(online) 

Resident
s % 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young 
People % 

Improve personal fitness and 
health 272 73.1% 3 93 29.6% 
Improve mental wellbeing 256 68.8% 6 47 16.4% 
Enjoying the activity 238 64.0% 6 138 44.4% 
Stress or anxiety relief 205 55.1% 5 45 15.4% 
Socialising with friends 159 42.7% 5 170 54.0% 
Improving body image 121 32.5% 4 18 6.8% 
Improve skills and ability in my 
chosen sport or activity 106 28.5% 4 103 33.0% 
Gain or improve confidence 104 28.0% 5 30 10.8% 
Being part of a group (teamwork 
and peer support) 102 27.4% 4 108 34.6% 
Meeting new people 98 26.3% 2 28 9.3% 
Get more involved in my 
community 54 14.5% 1 13 4.3% 
Opportunity for training and 
development 26 7.0% 1 20 6.5% 
Opportunity to volunteer/be a 
mentor 21 5.6% 0 9 2.8% 
Other 7 1.9% 0 0 0.0% 
Total 1769 - 46 822 - 

Table 8: Table showing what matters most to respondents when it comes to being active. 

 

  

Page 103



34 

 

Q9. Where are you when you are active? 

 
Figure 9: Chart showing where respondents are when they are active. 

54.0%

43.5%

38.7%

18.8%

16.1%

14.0%

13.7%

13.4%

13.2%

12.6%

9.9%

9.7%

8.6%

8.1%

6.2%

5.9%

4.3%

3.2%

2.7%

2.4%

1.1%

72.2%

13.0%

69.4%

1.5%

7.1%

0.6%

27.5%

2.5%

9.0%

6.2%

4.9%

9.9%

4.6%

4.3%

2.8%

3.7%

0.6%

16.0%

0.3%

3.4%

11.4%

Local park or open spaces

Coast

Home / Garden

Open Water

West Kirby Concourse Leisure…

Other (please specify)

Sports Club

Commercial leisure facilities

Oval Leisure Centre

Leasowe Leisure Centre

Guinea Gap Leisure Centre

Europa Pool Leisure Centre

Wirral Tennis & Sports Centre…

Wirral Sailing Centre & West…

Municipal golf course

Woodchurch Leisure Centre

Church Hall

Youth Club

Outdoor Gyms

Community Centre

MUGA (Multi-use games area)

Q9. Where are you when you are active?

Residents % Young People %

Page 104



35 

 

Of those who answered, ‘yes’ to question 5 ‘do you take part in any sport or physical activity?’, 
the most popular place for residents to be active was at a council leisure centre (76.1%), 
followed by at a local parks or open spaces (54.0%).  The least popular place for residents to be 
active at was multi-use games areas (1.1%). 

Young People were more likely to be active at a local park or open space (72.2%) or at their 
home or garden (69.4%).  Council leisure centres were the third most prevalent option (45.4%0 
for young people.   The least popular place for young people to be active was outdoor gyms 
(0.3%). 

For residents that answered ‘Other’, the most popular responses were roads (3.8% of the total 
number of respondents for this question), outside (2.4%) and the Wirral Way (1.6%). 

For young people that answered ‘Other’, the responses were that they were at Calday Grange 
pool (0.3%) and Cubs/Scouts (0.3%).   

Where are you when you are 
active? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young 
People % 

Local park or open spaces  201 54.0% 6 228 72.2% 
Coast 162 43.5% 3 39 13.0% 
Home / Garden 144 38.7% 4 221 69.4% 
Open Water 70 18.8% 0 5 1.5% 
West Kirby Concourse 
Leisure Centre     60 16.1% 3 20 7.1% 
Other (please specify) 52 14.0% 2 0 0.6% 
Sports Club 51 13.7% 4 85 27.5% 
Commercial leisure facilities 50 13.4% 3 5 2.5% 
Oval Leisure Centre 49 13.2% 1 28 9.0% 
Leasowe Leisure Centre 47 12.6% 1 19 6.2% 
Guinea Gap Leisure Centre 37 9.9% 0 16 4.9% 
Europa Pool Leisure Centre 36 9.7% 1 31 9.9% 
Wirral Tennis & Sports Centre 
(Bidston) 32 8.6% 0 15 4.6% 
Wirral Sailing Centre & West 
Kirby Marine Lake 30 8.1% 0 14 4.3% 
Municipal golf course 23 6.2% 0 9 2.8% 
Woodchurch Leisure Centre  22 5.9% 1 11 3.7% 
Church Hall   16 4.3% 2 0 0.6% 
Youth Club 12 3.2% 1 51 16.0% 
Outdoor Gyms 10 2.7% 0 1 0.3% 
Community Centre  9 2.4% 1 10 3.4% 
MUGA (Multi-use games 
area) 4 1.1% 0 37 11.4% 
Total 1117 - 33 845 - 

Table 9: Table showing my respondents are when they are active.  

Page 105



36 

 

Q10. What sport and/ or physical activities do you currently take part in? 

 
Figure 10: Chart showing what sport or physical activities respondents take part in. 

Due to the number of options, the above chart has been limited to those sports and physical 
activities where more than 5% of either resident’s or young people participate.  Full figures are 
available in figure 10. 

50.5%

35.8%

33.9%

28.0%

27.4%

25.8%

21.0%

11.0%

9.9%

8.6%

7.5%

7.3%

7.0%

6.7%

4.8%

2.2%

0.8%

0.8%

0.8%

24.4%

9.3%

7.7%

0.0%

16.0%

11.7%

0.6%

0.3%

0.3%

60.5%

1.9%

2.8%

1.5%

8.6%

44.1%

10.2%

9.0%

8.6%

6.2%

Walking

Swimming

Cycling

Gardening

Running

Gym / Fitness

Indoor Exercise Class

Other (please specify)

Online Exercise Class

Playing outside

Tennis

Golf

Outdoor Exercise Class

Dance

Football

Boxing

Athletics

Gymnastics

Basketball

Q10. What sport and/ or physical activities do you currently take part in?

Residents %
Young People %

Page 106



37 

 

Of those who answered, ‘yes’ to question 5 ‘do you take part in any sport or physical activity?’, 
the most popular physical activities for residents were walking (50.5%), swimming (35.8%) and 
cycling (33.9%).   

The most popular physical activities for young people were playing outside (60.5%), playing 
football (44.1%) and walking (24.4%). 

For residents that answered ‘Other’, the most popular responses were yoga (2.4% of the total 
number of respondents for this question), paddle boarding (1.3%) and crown green bowling 
(1.3%). 

Only 1 young person answered ‘Other’, which was going to a skatepark (0.3%).  

  

Page 107



38 

 

What sport and/ or physical activities do 
you currently take part in outside of school 
or college? (Choose all that apply). 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young 
People 
% 

Walking 188 50.5% 4 75 24.4% 
Swimming 133 35.8% 5 25 9.3% 
Cycling 126 33.9% 3 22 7.7% 
Gardening 104 28.0% 0 0 0.0% 
Running 102 27.4% 1 51 16.0% 
Gym / Fitness 96 25.8% 3 35 11.7% 
Indoor Exercise Class 78 21.0% 0 2 0.6% 
Other (please specify) 41 11.0% 0 1 0.3% 
Online Exercise Class 37 9.9% 1 0 0.3% 
Playing outside 32 8.6% 1 195 60.5% 
Tennis 28 7.5% 3 3 1.9% 
Golf 27 7.3% 0 9 2.8% 
Outdoor Exercise Class 26 7.0% 1 4 1.5% 
Dance 25 6.7% 2 26 8.6% 
Football 18 4.8% 2 141 44.1% 
Cricket 14 3.8% 1 17 5.6% 
Badminton 13 3.5% 0 2 0.6% 
Triathlon 13 3.5% 0 0 0.0% 
Boxing 8 2.2% 0 33 10.2% 
Sailing 8 2.2% 0 1 0.3% 
Martial Arts 7 1.9% 1 9 3.1% 
Multi-Sport 6 1.6% 0 1 0.3% 
Netball 5 1.3% 1 4 1.5% 
Rugby 4 1.1% 1 13 4.3% 
Fishing 4 1.1% 0 1 0.3% 
Athletics 3 0.8% 0 29 9.0% 
Basketball 3 0.8% 0 20 8.6% 
Gymnastics 3 0.8% 4 24 6.2% 
Hockey 2 0.5% 0 4 1.2% 
Table Tennis 2 0.5% 0 1 0.3% 
Volleyball 2 0.5% 0 0 0.0% 
Cheerleading 1 0.3% 0 1 0.3% 
Wheelchair Sports 1 0.3% 0 0 0.0% 
Total 1160 - 34 749 - 

Table 10: Table showing what sports and physical activities respondents take part in. 

Page 108



39 

 

Q11. Are there any barriers that make it harder for you to be active? 

 
Figure 11: Chart showing the barriers. That make it harder for respondents to be active. 

39.5%

35.2%

33.1%

22.8%

21.8%

20.2%

19.6%

18.0%

17.7%

14.2%

13.4%

12.9%

12.1%

8.1%

8.1%

6.2%

6.2%

3.5%

3.0%

10.8%

14.4%

50.4%

5.8%

3.6%

3.6%

73.4%

27.3%

0.0%

5.0%

29.5%

1.4%

1.4%

43.2%

0.0%

33.1%

31.7%

2.2%

1.4%

Life commitments

Timing of activities

Cost

Lack of appropriate facilities

Self-motivation

Accessibility of sessions

Not knowing what activities are available

Location of the activities

Other (please specify)

Childcare

Self-confidence

Accessibility at facilities

Health

Scared or worried about trying activities

Mobility issues

Not knowing anybody

Transport

No social areas/ cafe

Technology

Q11. Are there any barriers that make it harder for you to be active?

Residents %

Young People %

Page 109



40 

 

 

Of those who answered ‘no’ to question 5 ‘do you take part in any sport or physical activity?’ 
the biggest barriers for residents were life commitments (39.5%), timing of activities (35.2%) 
and Cost (33.1%). The biggest barriers for young people were not knowing what activities are 
available (73.4%), cost (50.4%), being scared or worried about trying new activities (43.2%), not 
knowing anybody (33.1%) and transport (31.7%) 

For residents that answered ‘Other’, the most popular responses were road safety / lack of 
cycle lanes (3.0% of the total number of respondents for this question), facilities closed because 
of Covid-19 (1.9 %) and lack of swimming sessions (1.3%). 

Are there any barriers that make it 
harder for you to be active? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young 
People % 

Life commitments 147 39.5% 3 12 10.8% 
Timing of activities 131 35.2% 3 17 14.4% 
Cost 123 33.1% 3 67 50.4% 
Lack of appropriate facilities 85 22.8% 3 5 5.8% 
Self-motivation  81 21.8% 3 2 3.6% 
Accessibility of sessions 75 20.2% 1 4 3.6% 
Not knowing what activities are 
available  73 19.6% 3 99 73.4% 
Location of the activities  67 18.0% 3 35 27.3% 
Other (please specify) 66 17.7% 0 0 0.0% 
Childcare  53 14.2% 1 6 5.0% 
Self-confidence  50 13.4% 3 38 29.5% 
Accessibility at facilities 48 12.9% 0 2 1.4% 
Health  45 12.1% 0 2 1.4% 
Scared or worried about trying 
activities  30 8.1% 2 58 43.2% 
Mobility issues 30 8.1% 0 0 0.0% 
Transport 23 6.2% 1 43 33.1% 
Not knowing anybody  23 6.2% 3 43 31.7% 
No social areas/ cafe 13 3.5% 0 3 2.2% 
Technology 11 3.0% 1 1 1.4% 
Total 1174 - 33 437 - 

Table 11: Table showing the barriers that make it harder for respondents to be active. 

  

Page 110



41 

 

Q12. Do you currently, or have you in the past, used a Invigor8 membership? 
 

 
Figure 12: Chart showing whether respondents. Currently have or have in the past had an invigorate 

membership.  

23.9% of residents currently have an Invigor8 membership, 43.0% have used one in the past, 
and 33.1% have never had one.  29.1% of young people currently have an Invigor8 membership, 
25.6% have used one in the past and 45.3% have never had an Invigor8 membership.  

Do you currently, or have you in the 
past, used an Invigor8 membership? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young 
People % 

Yes, currently 89 23.9% 2 23 29.1% 
Yes, in the past 160 43.0% 3 19 25.6% 
No 123 33.1% 4 35 45.3% 
Total 372 100.0% 9 77 100.0% 

Table 12: Table showing whether respondents currently have or have in the past had an invigorate 
membership. 

  

23
.9

%

43
.0

%

33
.1

%

29
.1

%

25
.6

%

45
.3

%

Yes, currently Yes, in the past No

Q12. Do you currently, or have you in the past, used an 
Invigor8 membership?

Residents %
Young People %

Page 111



42 

 

Q13. Why have you not taken out an Invigor8 membership? 
In the young people survey, this question was answered in a group environment.  More young 
people answered this question than answered 'no' to Q12, as a result it was not possible to 
produce accurate percentages.  To produce accurate and comparable data for this question, 
and question 14 the full number of respondents for each survey as a whole has been used as 
the denominator.  

 
Figure 13: Chart showing why respondents have not taken out an Invigor8 membership. 

13.2%

7.8%

5.4%

4.8%

4.8%

4.6%

4.0%

3.8%

3.8%

3.5%

2.7%

2.4%

2.2%

1.9%

1.6%

0.3%

0.0%

9.7%

14.3%

0.8%

2.2%

1.1%

2.7%

1.1%

1.9%

0.8%

0.8%

0.3%

2.2%

0.5%

0.8%

0.5%

0.3%

0.3%

I don't think I would use it enough

Cost

Doesn’t offer what I want 

I prefer to pay as I go

Other (please specify)

I don’t require a membership for my …

Availability of sessions / places

COVID-19

Unsuitable operating times

Lack of activity specific membership

Lack of childcare

Facilities are too far

Not value for money

I have an existing membership elsewhere

Difficulties with online booking

Length of member ship too long

Length of member ship too short

Q13. Why have you not taken out an Invigor8 membership?

% of all respondents (residents)

% of all respondents (young
people)

Page 112



43 

 

The most prevalent reason that residents have not taken out an Invigor8 membership are that 
they don’t think they would use it enough (13.2%) and the cost (7.8%).  The same top 2 reasons 
were provided by young people, although in this case the top reason for not taking out a 
membership was cost (14.3%) followed by that they didn’t think they would use it enough 
(9.7%). 

For residents that answered ‘Other’, the most popular responses were that they had never 
heard of Invigor8 (2.7% of the total number of respondents for this question).  

For young people that answered ‘Other’ the responses were that they didn’t know what 
Invigor8 was (2 people, 0.5%) and that they were too young to have a membership (2 people, 
0.5%). 

Why have you not taken 
out an Invigor8 
membership? 

Residents 
(online) 

% of all 
respondents 
(residents) 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

% of all 
respondents 
(young 
people) 

I don't think I would use 
it enough 49 13.2% 0 36 9.7% 
Cost 29 7.8% 1 52 14.3% 
Doesn’t offer what I want  20 5.4% 0 3 0.8% 
I prefer to pay as I go  18 4.8% 0 8 2.2% 
Other (please specify) 18 4.8% 0 4 1.1% 
I don’t require a 
membership for my 
activity 17 4.6% 2 8 2.7% 
Availability of sessions / 
places 15 4.0% 0 4 1.1% 
COVID-19 14 3.8% 0 7 1.9% 
Unsuitable operating 
times  14 3.8% 0 3 0.8% 
Lack of activity specific 
membership 13 3.5% 1 2 0.8% 
Lack of childcare  10 2.7% 0 1 0.3% 
Facilities are too far 9 2.4% 1 7 2.2% 
Not value for money 8 2.2% 0 2 0.5% 
I have an existing 
membership elsewhere 7 1.9% 0 3 0.8% 
Difficulties with online 
booking 6 1.6% 0 2 0.5% 
Length of membership 
too long 1 0.3% 0 1 0.3% 
Length of membership 
too short 0 0.0% 0 1 0.3% 
Total (as a proportion 
of all respondents) 248 66.7% 5 144 40.2% 

Table 13: table showing why respondents have not taken out an Invigor8 membership. 

Page 113



44 

 

Q14. Why have you not taken out a new Invigor8 membership? 

 
Figure 14: Chart showing why respondents have not taken out a new Invigor8 membership. 

7.3%

8.3%

10.8%

4.8%

4.6%

11.3%

4.3%

2.4%

2.4%

11.6%

9.9%

2.7%

0.5%

10.5%

4.0%

3.2%

0%

14.8%

6.2%

2.4%

2.4%

1.1%

0.8%

0.5%

0.5%

0.5%

0.3%

0.3%

0.3%

0.3%

0%

0%

0%

0%

Cost

Doesn’t offer what I want 

I don't think I would use it enough

Not value for money

Lack of childcare

COVID-19

Lack of activity specific membership

Facilities are too far

I don’t require a membership for my activity

Availability(sessions)

Unsuitable operating times

I prefer to pay as I go

Length of membership too long

Other (please specify)

Difficulties with online booking

I have an existing membership elsewhere

Length of membership too short

Q14. Why have you not taken out a new Invigor8 membership?

% of all respondents
(residents)

% of all respondents
(young people)

Page 114



45 

 

The most prevalent reason that residents have not taken out a new Invigor8 membership are 
the availability of sessions (11.6%) and COVID-19 (11.3%).  The top reasons provided by young 
people differed. The cost was the most prevalent reason (14.8%) followed by the fact that the 
membership does not offer what they want (6.2%). 

For residents that answered ‘Other’, the most popular responses were that facilities were 
closed because of Covid-19 (3.2% of the total number of respondents for this question), the lack 
of availability of swimming sessions (1.6%) and that sessions are difficult to book onto (0.8%).  

 

Why have you not taken 
out a new Invigor8 
membership? 

Residents 
(online) 

% of all 
respondents 
(residents) 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

% of all 
respondents 
(young 
people) 

Availability(sessions) 43 11.6% 1 0 0.3% 
COVID-19 42 11.3% 1 2 0.8% 
I don't think I would use it 
enough 40 10.8% 2 7 2.4% 
Other (please specify) 39 10.5% 0 0 0.0% 
Unsuitable operating 
times  37 9.9% 1 0 0.3% 
Doesn’t offer what I want  31 8.3% 1 22 6.2% 
Cost 27 7.3% 1 54 14.8% 
Not value for money 18 4.8% 0 9 2.4% 
Lack of childcare  17 4.6% 1 3 1.1% 
Lack of activity specific 
membership 16 4.3% 0 2 0.5% 
Difficulties with online 
booking 15 4.0% 0 0 0.0% 
I have an existing 
membership elsewhere 12 3.2% 0 0 0.0% 
I prefer to pay as I go  10 2.7% 1 0 0.3% 
Facilities are too far 9 2.4% 1 1 0.5% 
I don’t require a 
membership for my 
activity 9 2.4% 0 2 0.5% 
Length of membership 
too long 2 0.5% 0 1 0.3% 
Length of membership 
too short 0 0.0% 0 0 0.0% 
Total (as a proportion of 
all respondents) 367 98.7% 10 103 30.5% 

Table 14: Table showing why respondents have not taken out a new Invigor8 membership. 

Page 115



46 

 

Q15. How easy do you find it to know what sports and activities are happening 
locally? 
 

 
Figure 15: Chart showing how easy respondents find it to know what sports and activities are happening 

locally. 

39.3% of residents are neutral about how easy they find it to know what sports and activities 
are happening locally.  33.0% of young people find it easy to know what sports and activities 
are happening locally.  The lowest category for both residents and young people was very easy. 

How easy do you find it to know 
what sports and activities are 
happening locally? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young 
People % 

Not at all easy 30 8.2% 2 37 11.2% 
Not easy 87 23.9% 2 62 18.4% 
Neutral 143 39.3% 4 99 29.6% 
Easy 84 23.1% 1 114 33.0% 
Very Easy 20 5.5% 0 27 7.8% 
Total 364 100.0% 9 339 100.0% 
Table 15: Table showing how easy respondents find it to know what sports and activities are happening 

locally. 

 

8.
2%

23
.9

%

39
.3

%

23
.1

%

5.
5%

11
.2

%

18
.4

%

29
.6

% 33
.0

%

7.
8%

Not at all easy Not easy Neutral Easy Very Easy

Q15. How easy do you find it to know what sports and activities 
are happening locally?

Residents %

Young People %

Page 116



47 

 

Q16. How could we help you to be more active? 
 

 
Figure 16: Chart showing responses to ‘How could we help you to be more active?’ 

In answer to ‘How could we help you to be more active?’, 73.4% of residents said more 
activities in my local area and 33.3% said other.  

For residents that answered ‘Other’, the most popular responses were that the council should 
reopen facilities after Covid-19 (5.9% of the total number of respondents for this question), 
enable open water swimming in the West Kirby Marine Lake (2.7%), that a Lido should be built 
(2.2%), that there should be exercise classes for the whole family including children (2.2%) and 
better childcare (2.2%).  

For young people, 41.5% said more activities in my local area, 23.7% said for their friend or 
relative to join them and 20.2% said some beginner sessions or classes would help them. 

73
.4

%

33
.3

%

30
.4

%

25
.3

%

24
.7

%

17
.5

%

9.
4%

8.
6%

6.
5%

5.
9%

5.
4%

4.
0%

41
.5

%

0.
5%

10
.5

% 17
.8

%

20
.2

%

0.
8%

10
.2

%

2.
2%

23
.7

%

1.
9%

16
.2

%

0%

Q16. How could we help you to be more active?

Residents %

Young People %

Page 117



48 

 

For young people that answered ‘Other’, the responses were that there should be 
communication direct to schools regarding what is on offer for children and families (0.3%) and 
that the webpage is confusing and not easily laid out (0.3%).  

 

How could we help you to 
be more active? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young 
People % 

More activities in my local 
area 273 73.4% 13 141 41.5% 
Other (please specify) 124 33.3% 1 1 0.5% 
Activities outside of 
leisure centres 113 30.4% 2 37 10.5% 
Reduced cost at certain 
times  94 25.3% 5 61 17.8% 
Beginner sessions/ 
classes 92 24.7% 3 72 20.2% 
Weight loss support 65 17.5%  3 0.8% 
Rewards for attendance 35 9.4% 1 37 10.2% 
Guided sessions 32 8.6% 4 4 2.2% 
My friend or relative to join 
me  24 6.5% 1 87 23.7% 
Support groups 22 5.9% 2 5 1.9% 
Someone to help me  20 5.4% 1 59 16.2% 
Online Activities 15 4.0% 0 0 0.0% 
Total 909 - 33 507 - 

Table 16: Table showing responses to ‘How could we help you to be more active?’. 

  

Page 118



49 

 

Q17. Which sports and activities are most important to you? 
 

 
Figure 17: Chart showing which sports and activities are most important to respondents. 

40.9% of residents said that different/additional exercise classes would be important to them, 
34.9% said family activities and 33.9% said sports specific coaching.  For young people, 44.2% 
said sport specific training, 16.7% said holiday sports programmes and 16.7% said competitions 
are most important to them. 

For residents that answered ‘Other’, the most popular responses were swimming/access to 
swimming pools (3.5% of the total number of respondents for this question), open water 
swimming (1.9%), and cycling (1.6%).  

For the young person that answered ‘Other’, the response was sports clubs (0.3%).  

  

40
.9

%

34
.9

%

33
.9

%

33
.6

%

21
.8

%

19
.6

%

17
.2

%

12
.6

%

9.
1%

9.
1%

7.
3%

2.
7%

2.
2%

13
.7

%

44
.2

%

7.
0%

4.
6%

3.
0%

0.
3%

16
.7

%

16
.7

%

1.
9%

2.
2% 2.
7%

Q17. Which sports and activities are most important to you?

Residents %

Young People %

Page 119



50 

 

Which sports and activities 
are most important to you?  

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young 
People % 

Different/Additional Exercise 
Classes  152 40.9% 1 7 2.2% 
Family Activities     130 34.9% 5 46 13.7% 
Sports Specific Coaching / 
Taster Sessions /Camps 126 33.9% 6 158 44.2% 
Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Sessions    125 33.6% 2 24 7.0% 
Events 81 21.8% 3 14 4.6% 
Nutrition Advice    73 19.6% 1 10 3.0% 
Other (please specify) 64 17.2% 1 0 0.3% 
Holiday Sports Programme  47 12.6% 4 58 16.7% 
Competitions 34 9.1% 2 60 16.7% 
Volunteering opportunities 34 9.1% 0 7 1.9% 
Coaching Qualifications  27 7.3% 3 5 2.2% 
Work Experience/Job 
Opportunities 10 2.7% 0 10 2.7% 
Total 903 - 28 399 - 

Table 17: Table showing what sports and activities are most important to respondents. 

  

Page 120



51 

 

Q18. At what time of day would you prefer to be active? 

 
Figure 18: Chart showing what time of day respondents would prefer to be active. 

45.2% of adults said they would prefer to be active in the evening, and 34.7% said they would 
prefer to be active in the morning. 39.4% of young people said they would prefer to be active at 
twilight and 25.6% said they would prefer to be active anytime. 

At what time of day would you prefer 
to be active? (Choose all that apply). 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young 
People % 

Early Morning (6am – 9am) 115 30.9% 2 25 7.3% 
Morning  
(9am – 12 noon)   129 34.7% 1 4 1.3% 
Afternoon (12noon – 3pm)  85 22.8% 0 38 10.2% 
Twilight  
(3pm – 6pm)  86 23.1% 4 142 39.4% 
Evening  
(6pm – 10pm)  168 45.2% 8 65 19.7% 
Any time 68 18.3% 0 95 25.6% 
Total 651 - 15 369 - 

Table 18: Table showing what time of day respondents would prefer to be active. 

30
.9

% 34
.7

%

22
.8

%

23
.1

%

45
.2

%

18
.3

%

7.
3%

1.
3%

10
.2

%

39
.4

%

19
.7

% 25
.6

%

Early Morning 
(6am – 9am)

Morning 
(9am – 12 noon)  

Afternoon 
(12noon – 3pm) 

Twilight 
(3pm – 6pm) 

Evening 
(6pm – 10pm) 

Any time

Q18. At what time of day would you prefer to be active?
Residents %

Young People %

Page 121



52 

 

Q19. To help us design new sessions, how long would you like them to be? 
 

 
Figure 19: Chart showing how long respondents would like sessions to be. 

60.2% of residents said they would like sessions to be one hour long and 43.3% of residents said 
they would like them to be 45 minutes long. 47.4% of young people said they would like the 
sessions to be one hour and 20.5% said they would like the sessions to be 30 minutes long. 

For residents that answered ‘Other’, the most popular response was that it depends on the 
activity (1.6% of the total number of respondents for this question). 

To help us design new sessions how 
long would you like them to be?  

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young 
People % 

30 minutes  71 19.1% 1 75 20.5% 
45 minutes  161 43.3% 4 63 18.1% 
1 hour  224 60.2% 7 169 47.4% 
1 hour and 30 minutes  37 9.9% 2 15 4.6% 
2 hours 24 6.5% 0 6 1.6% 
Other (please specify) 19 5.1% 0 0 0.0% 
Total 536 - 14 328 - 

Table 19: Table showing how long respondents would like sessions to be. 

19
.1

%

43
.3

%

60
.2

%

9.
9%

6.
5%

5.
1%

20
.5

%

18
.1

%

47
.4

%

4.
6%

1.
6%

0.
0%

30 minutes 45 minutes 1 hour 1 hour and 30
minutes

2 hours Other (please
specify)

Q19. To help us design new sessions how long would you like them to be?

Residents %

Young People %

Page 122



53 

 

Q20. Have you had COVID-19? 
 

 
Figure 20: Chart showing whether respondents had coded 19. 

 

93.1% of adults and 82.6% of young people said they had not had COVID-19.  17.4% of residents 
and 6.9% of young people said they had had COVID-19. 

Have you had 
COVID-19? 

Residents 
(online) Residents % 

Young People 
(online) 

Young people 
(Paper copies) 

Young People 
% 

Yes 64 17.4% 0 12 6.9% 
No 304 82.6% 9 152 93.1% 
Total 368 100.0% 9 164 100.0% 

Table 20: Table showing whether respondents have had COVID-19. 

 

  

17
.4

%

82
.6

%

6.
9%

93
.1

%

Yes No

Q20. Have you had COVID-19?

Residents %
Young People %

Page 123



54 

 

Q21. What impact has the last 12 months had on you? 
 

 
Figure 21: Chart showing what impact the last 12 months has had on respondents. 

58.1% of residents said they had had gained weight over the last 12 months and 52.2% said 
they had reduced activity levels. 27.0% of young people said they had been socially isolated 
over the last 12 months and 15.1% said they had had mental health issues. 

 

 

 

58
.1

%

52
.2

%

43
.5

%

35
.5

%

26
.9

%

26
.3

%

15
.9

%

8.
1%

7.
3%

7.
0%

6.
2%

3.
0%

10
.2

%

13
.2

%

15
.1

%

2.
2%

11
.3

%

27
.0

%

12
.1

%

1.
9%

0.
8% 2.

7% 3.
5%

0.
5%

Q21. What impact has the last 12 months had on you?

Residents %

Young People %

Page 124



55 

 

What impact has the last 
12 months had on you? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young 
People % 

Weight gain  216 58.1% 1 37 10.2% 
Reduced activity levels  194 52.2% 6 43 13.2% 
Mental health issues 162 43.5% 4 52 15.1% 
Weaker Muscles  132 35.5% 0 8 2.2% 
Reduced Confidence  100 26.9% 3 39 11.3% 
Socially Isolated  98 26.3% 3 97 27.0% 
Increased activity levels  59 15.9% 1 44 12.1% 
Became stronger  30 8.1% 1 6 1.9% 
I now make more of an 
effort to be around 
people  27 7.3% 1 2 0.8% 
Weight loss  26 7.0% 2 8 2.7% 
Became stronger  23 6.2% 0 13 3.5% 
Weaker Muscles  11 3.0% 1 1 0.5% 
Total 1078 - 23 350 - 

Table 21: Table showing what impact the last 12 months have had on respondents.  

Page 125



56 

 

Q22. How have the changes and restrictions brought about by the COVID-19 
pandemic affected your levels of physical activity? 
 

 
Figure 22: Chart showing how the changes and restrictions brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic 

have affected respondents’ levels of physical activity. 

56.8% of residents and 46.9% of young people said they do less physical activity because of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Only 20.1% of residents and 18.0% of young people said they do more 
sport or physical activity. 

How have the changes and 
restrictions brought about by the 
COVID-19 pandemic affected 
your levels of physical activity? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young 
people 
(Paper 
copies) 

Young 
People % 

I do more sport or physical 
activity 74 20.1% 3 60 18.0% 
I do less sport or physical activity 209 56.8% 5 159 46.9% 
I do about the same amount of 
sport or physical activity 85 23.1% 1 122 35.1% 
Total 368 100.0% 9 341 100.0% 

Table 22: Table showing how the changes and restrictions brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic 
have affected respondents’ levels of physical activity. 

 

20
.1

%

56
.8

%

23
.1

%

18
.0

%

46
.9

%

35
.1

%

I do more sport or physical
activity

I do less sport or physical
activity

I do about the same amount
of sport or physical activity

Q22. How have the changes and restrictions brought about by the 
COVID-19 pandemic affected your levels of physical activity?

Residents %

Young People %

Page 126



57 

 

Q23. Do you have a disability? 
 

 
Figure 23: Chart showing whether respondents have a disability. 

87.4% of residents and 94.2% of young people said they did not have a disability. 11.3% of 
residents and 1.2% of young people said they did have a disability. 

Do you have a 
disability? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young People 
(online) 

Young people 
(Paper copies) 

Young 
People % 

Yes 42 11.3%  2 1.2% 
No 325 87.4% 9 152 94.2% 
Prefer not to say 5 1.3%  8 4.7% 
Total 372 100.0% 9 162 100.0% 

Table 23: Table showing whether respondents have a disability. 

  

11
.3

%

87
.4

%

1.
3%

1.
2%

94
.2

%

4.
7%

Yes No Prefer not to say

Q23. Do you have a disability?

Residents %

Young People %

Page 127



58 

 

Q24. Do you have a long-term health condition? 
 

 
Figure 24: Chart showing whether respondents have a long-term health condition. 

72.8% of residents and 95.4% of young people said they do not have a long-term health 
condition. 12.3% of residents and 2.9% of young people said they do have a long-term health 
condition. 

Do you have a long-term 
health condition? 

Residents 
(online) 

Residents 
% 

Young 
People 
(online) 

Young people 
(Paper copies) 

Young 
People % 

Yes 94 25.3% 1 6 2.9% 
No 271 72.8% 8 222 95.4% 
Prefer not to say 7 1.9% 0 4 1.7% 
Total 372 100.0% 9 232 100.0% 

Table 24: Table showing whether respondents have a long-term health condition. 

 

  

25
.3

%

72
.8

%

1.
9%

2.
9%

95
.4

%

1.
7%

Yes No Prefer not to say

Q24. Do you have a long-term health condition?

Residents %
Young People %

Page 128



59 

 

Q25. Do you attend school or college? 
 

 
Figure 25: Chart showing whether respondents attend school or college. 

This question was only asked to young people. 99.5% of young people said they attend school 
or college only 0.5% said they do not attend school or college. 

Do you attend school or 
college? 

Young People 
(online) 

Young people (Paper 
copies) 

Young People 
% 

Yes 7 372 99.5% 
No 2 0 0.5% 
Total 9 372 100.0% 

Table 25: Table showing whether respondents attend school or college. 

 

 

  

99
.5

%

0.
5%

Yes No

Q25. Do you attend school or college?

Young People %

Page 129



60 

 

Q25. Are you currently in employment? 
 

 
Figure 26: Chart showing whether the respondents are currently in employment. 

This question was only asked to young people. 98.6% of young people said they were not in 
employment. Only 1.4% of young people said they were currently in employment. 

Are you in 
employment? 

Young People 
(online) 

Young people (Paper 
copies) 

Young People 
% 

Yes 2 1 1.4% 
No 0 205 98.6% 
Total 2 206 100.0% 

Table 26: Table showing whether the respondents are currently in employment. 

 

  

1.
4%

98
.6

%

Yes No

Q26. Are you currently in employment?

Young People %

Page 130



61 

 

Q27. Are you currently not in school, college or employment (NEET)? 
 

 
Figure 27: Chart showing whether respondents are currently not in school, college or employment. 

This question was only asked to young people. 99.4% said they were not currently in school, 
college, or in employment (NEET).  Only 0.6% said they were NEET. 

Are you currently not in school, college or 
employment (NEET)? 

Young People 
(online) 

Young people 
(Paper copies) 

Young 
People % 

Yes 0 1 0.6% 
No 7 162 99.4% 
Total 7 163 100.0% 

Table 27: Table showing whether respondents are currently not in school, college or employment. 

 

 

 

  

0.
6%

99
.4

%

Yes No

Q27. Are you currently not in school, college or 
employment (NEET)?

Young People %

Page 131



62 

 

Q28. Is there anything else you would like to tell us about being active in Wirral? 
 

Residents 
Residents were invited to tell us anything else about being active in Wirral.   

There were 246 comments, which were categorised into themes; many comments contained 
multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor will they match the figures in the 
previous questions.   

The top themes, which are each discussed in more details below were comments about 
facilities (48.8%), classes and sessions on offer (37%), Swimming (34.6%), informal outdoor 
exercise (32.9%) and general barriers to being active (20.7%). 

 

Facilities (48.8%) 

120 of the comments mentioned sports and leisure facilities in Wirral.  The top themes amongst 
these comments were: 

• Lack of availability of facilities 22.5% (x27). 

• Facilities are unclean/run down/badly maintained and not fit for purpose 20% (x24).  
Specifically mentioned were:  

o Guinea Gap Leisure Centre (x3) 
o Stanley Road tennis courts (x2)  
o Bidston Tennis Centre (x1) 
o Woodchurch Leisure Centre (x1) 
o crown green bowling greens (x1)  

48.8%

37.0% 34.6% 32.9%

20.7%

10.6%

1.6% 0.8%

Free text comments by category

Page 132



63 

 

o the gyms (x1). 
 

• Requests for facilities to re-open following closures related to COVID-19, or not to close 
down in the future 15.8% (x19).  

These related to:  

o The Oval Leisure Centre (x11) 
o Europa Pools (x5) 
o Woodchurch Leisure Centre (x3). 

 
• Opening times/session times are unsuitable 11.7% (x14).   

People stated a variety of preferences, including:  

o More classes/sessions outside of standard office hours (x6) both earlier and later  
o More classes/sessions during the daytime (x3)  
o Restrictions removed for open water swimming (x2) 
o Classes/sessions to run at a variety of times to suit shift workers (x1)  
o Classes/sessions not to clash with school run times (x1). 

 
Classes and sessions (37%) 

91 of the comments mentioned classes and/or sessions offered by the Council. This excludes 
comments made about swimming sessions, which are discussed separately, below. The top 
themes amongst these comments were: 

• Not enough variety of types of classes/sessions offered 50.5% (x46). The top types of 
desired activities specifically mentioned were: 

o Conditioning classes such as Zumba, bodypump, clubbercise and bootcamps 
(x15) 

o Age specific classes/sessions, such as seniors (x7), children’s (x5) and adult only 
(x2). 

o Ability specific classes from beginner to advanced (x6). Inclusive, accessible 
classes such as seated fitness classes. 

o Women only sessions (x4) 
o Crown Green Bowling (x3) 

 
• Lack of availability of sessions 28.6% (x26).  General difficulty in finding available 

sessions/classes (x21).  Specific activities mentioned were the Gym (x2) and badminton 
(x1). 2 people stated that there were no sessions for their preferred activity but did not 
state the activities.  This excludes swimming sessions, comments relating to this are 
discussed as a separate section below. 

Page 133



64 

 

• Outdoor classes and sessions 17.6% (x16).  There is an appetite for more outdoor classes 
and sessions 

 

Swimming (34.6%) 

85 of the comments mentioned swimming.  Of these 63 (74.1%) spoke about swimming in 
general, and 22 (25.9%) open water swimming. 

Swimming – General (74.1%) 

• Facilities 49.2% (x31).  

o Calls for a Lido in Wirral (x22)  
o Not enough swimming pools are open (x9) these included requests not to close 

any swimming pools (x4). 
 

• Lack of availability of sessions 42.9% (x27).  Most comments concerned general difficulty 
in finding available sessions/classes, both in general (x13) and children’s/family 
swimming sessions (x13) 

• Accessible and autism friendly swimming sessions 6.3% (x4).  

o Low-noise/music sessions,  
o low intensity classes,  
o improved accessibility so that people can move safely in wet areas, e.g. between 

the pool and changing room.   
o Website should include full accessibility information, such as distance from the 

car park, types of surfaces, dimensions of facilities and availability of lifts, 
alongside plans of the buildings. 

 
Open-Water Swimming 25.9%) 

• Facilities 72.7% (x16) 

o More open water swimming locations should be made available (x13). 
Particularly mentioned were West Kirby Marine Lake, where it was felt part of 
the lake should be opened for swimmers, with unrestricted times (x7).  The 
charges to use New Brighton Marine Lake, now run by a private company, make 
this activity unaffordable (x3). 

o Accessibility (x2) – open water swimming locations should be made more 
accessible. 
 

Informal outdoor exercise (32.9%) 

81 of the comments spoke about informal exercise in the great outdoors, such as cycling, 
walking and running. 

Page 134



65 

 

• Outdoor Exercise, excluding cycling 53.1% (x43) 
 

o Parking charges are a barrier to outdoor exercise (x9) 
o More public exercise facilities, such as running tracks, outdoor gym equipment, 

skate/bike parks and outdoor table tennis tables would be welcome (x7) 
o Accessibility is a barrier to outdoor exercise, including long unmaintained grass 

and stiles/kissing gates (x6) 
o Lack of maintenance is a barrier to outdoor exercise, including broken glass, dog 

waste, broken outdoor gym equipment and badly maintained public tennis 
courts (x6) 

o Safety concerns are a barrier to outdoor exercise, including crime and anti-social 
behaviour (ASB) concerns and inconsiderate cyclists (x4). 

 

• Cycling 44.4% (x36)  

o Cycle lanes should be improved to be made wider, safer and more separate from 
other traffic (x19) 

o The number of cycle lanes should be increased (x9) and the cycle network should 
be better connected and allow joined up travel around the whole peninsula (x4) 

o Facilities such as ablutions blocks, and cycle storage/lockers should be available 
(x3) 
 

General barriers to being active (20.7%) 

51 of the comments spoke about the general barriers that they encounter when being active.  
The top barriers mentioned were: 

o Cost (x14) 
o Accessibility and inclusiveness (x9) 
o Lack of information (x8). In particular, the Council website does not contain the 

required information and is difficult to navigate. 
o Confidence (x6) including being in crowds post-covid restrictions. 
o Childcare (x5) 

  

Page 135



66 

 

Young People 
Young People were invited to tell us anything else about being active in Wirral.  There were 15 
comments, which were categorised into themes; many comments contained multiple themes 
so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor will they match the figures in the previous questions.   

Cycling (33.3%) 

Five of the comments mentioned cycling, with young people saying how much they enjoyed it, 
but that safety was an issue.  One person said they wanted more cycle safety lessons, and one 
said they were not allowed to ride their bike because of safety concerns. One said they wanted 
better cycle lane connectivity.  

Trial activities at schools (13.3%) 

Two of the comments mentioned that they would like to do more activities at or after school, 
including some trial activities to see whether they liked them. 

Barrier – distance of swimming facilities (13.3%) 

Two of the comments mentioned that because of Covid closures, they now had to travel further 
to access swimming facilities. 

Comment – good for outdoor spaces (13.3%) 

Two of the young people commented that they liked living here because there is good access to 
outdoor spaces and parks. 

  

Page 136



67 

 

3.1b Partners Responses 
Responses were received from 21 partners and partner organisations. Where questions allowed 
multiple selections, percentages relate to the prevalence of the selected option, rather than as 
a percentage of respondents.  To avoid confusion, total percentage figures are omitted from 
tables. 

Q1. Please tell us what type of services your organisation provides 
 

The most prevalent services provided amongst the partnership organisations were: 

• Sport & Activity – 15 of the 21 partners (74.1%) 

• Community – 8 of the 21 (38.1%) 

Q1. Please tell us what type of services your organisation provides. Number Percentage 
Sport and activity 15 71.4% 
Community 8 38.1% 
Other (please specify) 6 28.6% 
Arts 3 14.3% 
Support 3 14.3% 

 Table 28: Table showing what type of services partners offer 

One easy read response was retuned, from an organisation that offered sport and leisure 
activities. 

For the partners that answered ‘Other’, their organisations provide a variety of services 
including: 

• Health and wellbeing 

• Place of worship 

• Support vulnerable people who are lonely and inactive 

• Nature wellbeing activities 

• Programme design, research, and evaluation 

• NHS 

• Sport and activity (providing extra detail) 

  

Page 137



68 

 

Q2. Who is your service for? 
 

11 of 21 partner respondents (52.4%) said that their service is for children and young people 
aged 0 to 18 years and 47.6% said that their service is for all, and 42.9% said for adults over 
18years. 

Q2. Who is your service for? Number Percentage 
Children and young people (aged 0-18 years) 11 52.4% 
All 10 47.6% 
Adults (18 years+) 9 42.9% 
Disadvantaged groups 7 33.3% 
Adults (65 years +) 6 28.6% 
Families 6 28.6% 
People with long-term health conditions 5 23.8% 
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Groups 5 23.8% 
Children with disabilities and additional needs 4 19.0% 
Other (please specify) 1 4.8% 

Table 29: Table showing which group Partners provide services for 

The easy read respondent offered their service to all of the above categories. 

The partner that answered ‘Other’ (4.8%), provides services for adults over 18 with a learning 
disability. 

  

Page 138



69 

 

Q3. Please tell us where your services are delivered 
 

The most prevalent areas that partners deliver services are, jointly: 

• All areas - 8 of 21 partners (38.1%) 

• Birkenhead & Tranmere – 8 of 21 partners (38.1%) 

Q3. Please tell us where your services are delivered Number Percentage 
Birkenhead and Tranmere  8 38.1% 
All areas 8 38.1% 
Seacombe 4 19.0% 
Upton 4 19.0% 
Moreton West and Saughall Massie 3 14.3% 
Liscard 3 14.3% 
Bidston and St James 3 14.3% 
Rock Ferry 3 14.3% 
Bebington  3 14.3% 
Pensby and Thingwall 3 14.3% 
Leasowe and Moreton East 2 9.5% 
Wallasey  2 9.5% 
New Brighton 2 9.5% 
Prenton 2 9.5% 
Bromborough 2 9.5% 
Eastham  2 9.5% 
Heswall  2 9.5% 
West Kirby and Thurstaston 2 9.5% 
Hoylake and Meols 1 4.8% 
Claughton 1 4.8% 
Oxton 1 4.8% 
Clatterbridge 1 4.8% 
Greasby, Franky and Irby 1 4.8% 

Table 30: table showing where partner services are delivered. 

The easy read respondent organisation covered all areas.  

Page 139



70 

 

Q4. Would you be interested in working with Wirral Council Leisure Services to 
improve health inequalities? 
 

100% of partners, including the easy read respondent,  would be interested in working with 
Wirral Council leisure services to improve health inequalities. 

Q4. Would you be interested in working with Wirral Council 
Leisure Services to improve health inequalities? Number Percentage 
Yes 21 100.0% 
No 0 0.0% 
Total 21 100.0% 
Table 31: Table showing whether partners would be interested in working with Wirral Council Leisure 

Services to improve health inequalities. 

 

Q5. Have you worked in partnership with Wirral Council Leisure Services in the 
past? 
 

71.4% of partners have not worked with Wirral Council Leisure Services in the past.  

28.6% of partners have worked with Wirral Council leisure services in the past. 

Q5. Have you worked in partnership with Wirral Council 
Leisure Services in the past? Number Percentage 
Yes 6 28.6% 
No 15 71.4% 
Total 21 100.0% 

Table 32:  Table showing whether partners have worked in partnership with Wirral Council Leisure 
Services in the past. 

The easy read respondent had not worked with Wirral Council Leisure Services before. 

Q6. If you have worked in partnership with Wirral Council Leisure Services in the 
past, please provide the timing of this? 
 

83.3% of the partners who worked with Wirral Council Leisure Services did so in the last year 
and 16.7% did so in the last 10 years. 

Q6. If you have worked in partnership with Wirral Council 
Leisure Services in the past, please provide the timing of this. Number Percentage 
In the last 1 year 5 83.3% 
In the last 10 years 1 16.7% 
Total 6 100% 

Table 33: Table showing when partners have previously worked with Wirral Council Leisure Services. 

Page 140



71 

 

 

Q7. What type of work was carried out in this partnership?? 
 

5 out of the 21 partners (23.8%) carried out work related to sports and activities. 

Q7. What type of work was carried out in this partnership? Number Percentage 
Sport and activity delivery 5 23.8% 
Training provider 1 4.8% 
Other (please specify) 2 9.5% 

Table 34: Table showing what type of work was carried out in this partnership.  

The 2 partners that answered ‘Other’ provided facilities and services planning (16.7%) and 
adventure therapy (16.7%). 

 

Q8. How satisfied were you with your experience of working in partnership with 
Wirral Council Leisure Services? 
 

33.3% of partners were neutral about the experience of working in partnership with Wirral 
Council Leisure Services and 33.3% were very satisfied. 16.7% were unsatisfied and 16.7% were 
satisfied. 

Q8. How satisfied were you with your experience of working in 
partnership with Wirral Council Leisure Services? Number Percentage 
Neutral 2 33.3% 
Very satisfied 2 33.3% 
Unsatisfied 1 16.7% 
Satisfied 1 16.7% 
Total 6 100.0% 

Table 35: Table showing how satisfied partners were with their experience of working in partnership with 
Wirral Council Leisure Services. 

Q9. From your experience, what worked well in this partnership? 
 

The top things that respondents felt worked well in partnership with the Council were: 

• Achieved outcomes – 3 of 21 partners (14.3%) 

• Delivered a good quality offer - 3 of 21 partners (14.3%) 

 

 

 

Page 141



72 

 

Q9. From your experience, what worked well in this partnership? Number Percentage 
Achieved outcomes 3 14.3% 
Delivered a good quality offer 3 14.3% 
Good communication between teams 2 9.5% 
Other (please specify) 2 9.5% 
Created new projects 1 4.8% 
Good allocation of time and resources 1 4.8% 

Table 36: Table showing what worked well in the partnerships. 

 

The 2 partners that answered ‘Other’ said that funding for project development and bespoke 
sessions suited to the client's needs  worked well in the partnership. 

 

Q10. From your experience what didn't work well in this partnership? 
 

The top thing that respondents felt didn’t work well in partnership with the Council was a lack 
of communication – 3 of 21 partners (14.3%) 

Q10. From your experience what didn't work well in this partnership? Number Percentage 
Lack of communication 3 14.3% 
Did not achieve outcomes 2 9.5% 
Project did not happen 2 9.5% 
Lack of financial investment 2 9.5% 
Other (please specify) 2 9.5% 
Lack of time and resource 1 4.8% 

Table 37: Table showing what didn't work well in the partnerships. 

 

The 2 partners that answered ‘Other’ said that there was no ongoing commitment from the 
council and they were not too sure what didn’t work well in the partnership. 

 

Q11. What role do you see Wirral Council Leisure Services playing in partnership 
with your organisation? 
 

The most prevalent type of role that partners saw Council Leisure Services playing in 
partnership with their organisations were: 

• Provider of facilities – 7 out of 21 partners (33.3%) 

• Delivery Partner - 6 out of 21 partners (28.6%) 

• Funding provider - 6 out of 21 partners (28.6%) 

Page 142



73 

 

 

 

Q11. What role do you see Wirral Council Leisure Services playing in 
partnership with your organisation? Number Percentage 
Provider of facilities 7 33.3% 
Delivery partner 6 28.6% 
Funding provider 5 23.8% 
Strategic lead 4 19.0% 
Other (please specify) 2 9.5% 
Table 38: Table showing what role partners see Wirral Council leisure services. Playing in partnership 

with their organisations. 

The easy read respondent wishes to be a delivery partner. 

 

The partners that answered ‘Other’ said:  

• Feedback and input to policies to reduce inequalities for older people and improve 
health and wellbeing (4.8%). 

• I am not 100% certain at the moment, I would like to speak with someone from the 
Council Leisure services and see what we could come up with to help, support and 
promote running / exercise in all our local communities (4.8%). 

 

Q12. Is there anything else you would like to tell us about how we could work 
together to improve activity levels across the borough? 
 

Partners were invited to tell us about how we could work together to improve activity levels 
across the borough.  There were 17 comments, which were categorised into themes; many 
comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor will they 
match the figures in the previous questions.   

Encourage Outdoor Activities (23.5%) 

Some partners commented that we should be encouraging outdoor activities.  The local parks 
could be utilised to provide engaging adventure and nature-based activities to enable residents 
to exercise locally and sustainably.  Others commented that improving the running track at 
Woodchurch and building more all-weather football pitches would encourage people to 
exercise outside. 

Barrier – lack of venues for hire (11.8%) 

Page 143



74 

 

Two partners (11.8%) commented that there is a lack of venues for hire, and this is becoming a 
barrier to people doing exercise, because they have the demand to provide more classes, but 
they are not able to do so because the space is too small or not available to hire at the required 
time. 

Barrier – difficult to find information (11.8%) 

Two partners (11.8%) commented that it is difficult to find information.  They think or have had 
feedback that the public find it difficult to access information about the leisure services that are 
available. 

Barrier – too expensive (11.8%) 

Two partners (11.8%) commented that the expense of starting a new activity can be a barrier 
for some people, and that there should be some funding set up for disadvantaged people. 

Barrier – accessibility (11.8%) 

Two partners (11.8%) commented that access to leisure facilities for people with disabilities 
needs to be improved, as this is a barrier for some. 

The easy read partner response highlighted their organisations experience in their specific 
sport, and keenness to work with the council to create pathways in to the sport and encourage 
people to become more active.  

Page 144



75 

 

 

3.2 Ideas Board Responses 
Residents’ Ideas Board 
  

64 contributors submitted or commented on 50 ideas to the ideas board tool other visitors to 
the board were able to ‘vote’ for ideas that they liked. 

The 2 most popular ideas, that received the most ‘votes’ were: 

And 

 

Common themes amongst the ideas were identified and categorised.  The combined number of 
‘likes’ that ideas in each category were calculated to identify the most popular categories of 
idea.  Submissions sometimes contained ideas relating to more than one category, hence there 
may be more ‘ideas’ identified below than submissions. 

 

Being active outdoors (excluding cycling & swimming) – 20 ideas / 32 likes 

o More public conveniences would encourage people to be active outdoors (5 
ideas / 15 likes) 

o A reduction or removal of parking charges would encourage people to be active 
outdoors (3 ideas / 7 likes) 

o Formal outdoor classes/activity sessions should be provided in coastal locations 
(1 idea / 6 likes) 

o Provision of circular walking and cycle trails (1 idea / 4 likes) 
o Ideas for different types of outdoor provisions and activities were: 

 Outdoor Gyms (2 ideas) 
 Line dancing classes (2 ideas) 

“Lido at New Brighton.  Bring back outdoor swimming activities.  A lido to be enjoyed by all, near 
or far” 9 votes 

 

“West Kirby lake needs opening up to swimming.  It is an approved safe open water training 
facility. We want to swim every day, but not at dawn!” 7 votes 

 

 

Page 145



76 

 

 Fitness classes (2 ideas) 
 Parkrun (1 idea) 
 Walking Groups (1 idea) 
 Outdoor running tracks (1 idea) 

 

Cycling – 14 ideas / 23 likes   

o Cycle lanes should be improved to be made safer by being made wider, better 
maintained and more separate from other traffic (6 ideas / 10 likes) 

o The cycle network should be better connected and allow joined up travel around 
the whole peninsula (3 ideas / 6 likes) 

o Cycle hire provision would encourage activity (2 ideas / 3 likes) 
o Peak time only cycle lanes (1 idea / 2 likes) 
o Pump Tracks/BMX/Off road trails (1 idea /2 likes) 

 
Open water/outdoor swimming – 8 ideas / 23 likes 

o Allow swimming in West Kirby Marine Lake, section off part of the lake 
exclusively for swimmers, do not restrict access times (4 ideas / 14 likes) 

o Provision of a lido in New Brighton (2 ideas / 9 likes) 
o Provision of formal open water swimming sessions (1 idea) and more facilities 

for open water swimming (1 idea). 
 

Swimming – indoor pools – 4 ideas / 9 likes 

o There should be more availability of swimming sessions, and later swimming 
sessions (3 ideas / 9 likes) 

o There should be no swimming pool closures (1 idea). 
 
Rake Hoylake Beach – 3 ideas / 5 likes so that it can be used for being active 
 

Young People’s Ideas Board 
 

There were only 5 ideas pinned to the Ideas Board, there were no common themes, but the 
ideas included: 

• Creating a pump track and more skate parks 

• An outside water park – to prevent people jumping in the boating lake in New Brighton 

• Climbing walls 

• Taster days for less popular sports such as kayaking and archery 

Page 146



77 

 

• Bike safety classes: more classes and for younger children 

None of these ideas received any further likes or comments.  

Page 147



78 

 

4.0 Demographics and Site Traffic 
4.1 Demographics  
Residents 
 

Information regarding demographics was required to complete the survey, however not all 
questions in the registration form were compulsory.  Only the question requesting the 
participant’s postcode was mandatory, the remaining questions users could choose to select 
‘prefer not to say’ or skip the question altogether. 

Most respondents described themselves as a local resident (91.7%).  6.2% are employees of 
Wirral Council and 4.0% are members of a voluntary or community organisation.  

97.6% (x363) of respondents completed this question. They were able to select multiple 
options. 

 
Figure 28: Chart showing respondents’ connection with Wirral 

Most respondents (96.5%) were from the Wirral. The most represented ward was New Brighton 
(19.0%) followed by West Kirby (10.6%). 

13.9% of respondents provided a postcode in the first decile (most deprived decile) of the Index 
of Multiple Deprivation (IMD). The most represented wards in this decile were:  

• Birkenhead – Bidston/Claughton x11 

• Wallasey x 9 

91.7%

2.7%

6.2%

0.5%

4.0%

2.7%

A local resident

A local Business

An employee of Wirral Council

An elected Member of Wirral Council

A member of a voluntary or
community organisation

Other

Respondents registered as

Page 148



79 

 

• Prenton and Birkenhead x9 

• Birkenhead – Rock Ferry x8 

 
Figure 29: Chart showing the respondent's location by Wirral ward 

Most of the residents (69.0%) were female. 28.8% were male, and 2.2% chose not to say. 

 
Figure 30: Chart showing residents' gender 

97.8% of respondents completed this question. 

19.0%

10.6%

9.5%

9.0%

8.4%

7.1%

6.3%

5.7%

5.2%

5.2%

4.1%

3.3%

3.3%

3.3%

0.3%

New Brighton
West Kirby

Bromborough
Moreton

Prenton & Birkenhead
Pensby

Wallasey
Leasowe
Hoylake

Birkenhead - Rock Ferry
Bebington

Birkenhead - Bidston/claughton
Outside Wirral

Heswall
Unknown

Resident's Location by Wirral Ward

Female
69.0%

Male
28.8%

Prefer not to 
say

2.2%

Residents - Gender

Page 149



80 

 

The most common age groups were 45-54 years (31.5%) and 35-44 years (23.8%).  Only 1.4% 
were aged 16-24 years and only 1.9% were over 75 years. 

 
Figure 31: Chart showing the age group of residents 

97.3% of respondents completed this question. 

 

92.2% of respondents were white British and a further 2.8% of other white background.  Only 
18 (5%) respondents were of a non-white or other ethnicity. 96.8% of respondents completed 
this question. 

 

83.1% were heterosexual, with 5.1% being gay, lesbian or bisexual.  11.8% preferred not to say. 
95.7% of respondents completed this question. 

 

  

1.4%

7.7%

23.8%

31.5%

20.4%

13.3%

1.9%

16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75

Age Group of Residents

Page 150



81 

 

Young People 
Information regarding demographics was required to complete the online survey, however not 
all questions in the registration form were compulsory.  Only the question requesting the 
participant’s postcode was mandatory, the remaining questions users could choose to select 
‘prefer not to say’ or skip the question altogether.  There is only information for the online 
survey, not the paper copies. 

Demographics information for young people is based on the details provided by the 9 
participants of the online survey, combined with the group demographics of the 362 young 
people surveyed at a school or other youth organisation.  For example, those completing paper 
surveys at a school or club are counted as being representative of the area that the school or 
club is in. 

Demographics: 

• All (100%) of the young people, responding across both the online and paper surveys, 
were from Wirral, or from a Wirral school or organisation. 

• Overall, 85.2% of young people either lived in or attended a school or organisation that 
fell in the first two deciles (most deprived deciles) of the Index of Multiple Deprivation 
(IMD). 69.3% fell in to the first decile, 15.9% in to the second decile.  

• Claughton (4.3.7%) was the most represented ward, followed by Liscard (15.4%), 
Birkenhead & Tranmere (14.6%) and Bidston & St James (11.1%). 

 

Page 151



82 

 

 
Figure 32: Chart showing young people’s representation by ward 

Of the respondents who answered this question, most (46%) were female.  42% were male and 
12% preferred to use their own term. 

 
Figure 33: Chart showing young people's gender 

 

43.7%

15.4% 14.6%
11.1%

6.7% 6.5%
0.5% 0.5% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3%

Young People's representation by Wirral Ward

Female
46%

Male
42%

Prefer to use 
own term

12%

Young People - gender

Page 152



83 

 

As expected, the most common age group was under 16-year-olds (97.8%).  Where older age 
groups are represented, these are from the online survey, where it is assumed an adult has 
completed the survey on behalf of the young person using their registered details. 

 
Figure 34: Chart showing the age range of young people 

 

95.3% of respondents were white British.  Only 6 (4.7%) respondents were of a non-white or 
other ethnicity.  

34.1% of those respondents who chose to answer the question were heterosexual. 54.5% 
preferred not to say. 11.4% were not heterosexual. 

  

97.8%

0.3% 0.3% 1.3% 0.3%

Under 16 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Young People - Age Group

Page 153



84 

 

Partner’s demographics 
Information regarding demographics was required to complete the survey, however not all 
questions in the registration form were compulsory.  Only the question requesting the 
participant’s postcode was mandatory, the remaining questions users could choose to select 
‘prefer not to say’ or skip the question altogether. 

 
Figure 35: Chart showing partners' connection to Wirral 

The majority of respondents (90.0%) were from the Wirral. The most represented wards were 
New Brighton (15.0%) and Pensby (15.0%). 

15.0% of respondents provided a postcode in the first decile (most deprived decile) of the Index 
of Multiple Deprivation (IMD). 

32.0%

8.0%

48.0%

12.0%

A local resident A local Business A member of a
voluntary or
community
organisation

Other

Partners registered as

Page 154



85 

 

 
Figure 36: Chart showing Partners' location by Wirral ward 

Most of those responding on behalf of a partnership organisation (60.0%) were female and 
40.0% were male. 

 

 
Figure 37: chart showing Partners' genders 

 

15.0%
15.0%

10.0%
10.0%
10.0%

5.0%
5.0%
5.0%
5.0%
5.0%
5.0%
5.0%
5.0%

New Brighton
Pensby

Bromborough
Birkenhead - Bidston/claughton

Moreton
Wallasey

Prenton & Birkenhead
Heswall

Bebington
Unknown

Birkenhead - Rock Ferry
Leasowe

Outside Wirral

Partners' Location by Wirral Ward

Female
60.0%

Male
40.0%

Partners - Gender

Page 155



86 

 

The most common age group was 55-64 years (38.9%).  Two other age groups were equally 
represented with 22.2%:  45-54 years (31.5%) and 35-44 years (23.8%).  There were no 
representatives from under 35s or over 75s. 

 
Figure 38: Chart showing age group of partners 

88.9% of partners were white British.  Only 2 (11.1%) partners were of a non-white or other 
ethnicity.  

73.7% were heterosexual, with 26.3% preferring not to say. 

 

4.2 Site Traffic 
Residents 
There was a total of 2,489 visits to the Sport and Physical Activity – People consultation page 
during the consultation, out of these 384 people engaged with the survey tools.  

372 people participated in the survey and 49 people posted 65 ideas on the ideas board; there 
were 15 comments and 111 up votes. Some people contributed to both the survey and the 
ideas board, hence more contributions than contributors. 

Most visits to the site were direct visits, with a rate of engagement (visits that resulted in 
survey, places tool or ideas board completion) of 21.5%.   

Social media engagement rate of 10.8% with Facebook driving most (98.0%) social media traffic 
to the Have Your Say site.  

22.2% 22.2%

38.9%

16.7%

35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74

Age Group of Partners

Page 156



87 

 

Referrals, which is people who are directed to the site from other websites, had an engagement 
rate of 10.3% with wirralleisure.co.uk driving most (96.6%) referrals traffic to the Have Your Say 
site.  

 

TRAFFIC CHANNEL Page Views Clicked within page Used a tool 

DIRECT 2256 1722 (76.3%) 485 (21.5%) 

SOCIAL 102 49 (48.0%) 11 (10.8%) 

EMAIL 19 13 (68.4%) 4 (21.1%) 

SEARCH ENGINE 52 23 (44.2%) 8 (15.4%) 

.GOV SITES 2 2 (100.0%) 0 (0.0%) 

REFERRALS 58 22 (37.9%) 6 (10.3%) 

 

 

Young People 
There was a total of 238 visits to the Sport and Physical Activity – Young People consultation 
page during the consultation, out of these 11 people engaged with the survey tools.  

9 people participated in the survey and 2 people posted on the ideas board.  

Most visits to the site were direct visits, with a rate of engagement (visits that resulted in 
survey, places tool or ideas board completion) of 4.6%.   

  

Page 157



88 

 

TRAFFIC CHANNEL Page Views Clicked within page Used a tool 

DIRECT 216 129 (59.7%) 10 (4.6%) 

SOCIAL 7 3 (42.9%) 0 (0.0%) 

EMAIL 1 1 (100.0%) 0 (0.0%) 

SEARCH ENGINE 13 9 (69.2%) 1 (7.7%) 

.GOV SITES 1 0 (0.0%) 0 (0.0%) 

REFERRALS 0 0 (0.0%) 0 (0.0%) 

 

 

Partners 
There was a total of 236 visits to the Sport and Physical Activity – Partnerships consultation 
page during the consultation, out of these 20 people engaged with the survey tools.  

20 people participated in the survey.  

Most visits to the site were direct visits, with a rate of engagement (visits that resulted in survey 
completion) of 8.3%.   

 

TRAFFIC CHANNEL Page Views Clicked within page Used a tool 

DIRECT 217 125 (57.6%) 18 (8.3%) 

SOCIAL 1 1 (100.0%) 0 (0.0%) 

EMAIL 1 1 (100.0%) 0 (0.0%) 

SEARCH ENGINE 15 12 (80.0%) 1 (6.7%) 

.GOV SITES 1 0 (0.0%) 0 (0.0%) 

REFERRALS 1 1 (100.0%) 1 (100.0%) 

 

 

Page 158



SPORT & PHYSICAL ACTIVITY STRATEGY NEEDS ANALYSIS

Document Author: Tom Arthur

Date: September 2021

1. Introduction and context

1.1. Over recent years Wirral’s Leisure Service has been subject to a number of 
reviews and service changes, all aimed at delivering an integrated portfolio of 
services that better meet local needs.

1.2. The Council and its partners have signed up to the delivery of 20 Pledges for 2020, 
recognising the need to work more collaboratively to deliver joined-up and 
impactful services and reduce overall public sector costs.

1.3. The Department for Digital, Culture, Media, and Sport (DCMS) acknowledge the 
important leadership role that Local Authority (LA) takes in bringing together 
schools, voluntary sport clubs, National Governing Bodies, health services and 
the private sector to forge partnerships as well as unblocking barriers to 
participation. 

1.4. It states that, since the devolution of Public Health from the NHS to LA’s in 2013, 
many councils have taken the opportunity to integrate physical activity into wider 
strategies, moving away from a system that seeks to treat poor health, to one 
that promotes health and wellbeing. As a result, many other LA strategies have 
identified inactivity as a key issue that needs addressing within their local areas. 

1.5. The purpose of this needs analysis is thus to provide evidence and insight that 
can be used to develop a framework for the future development of Wirral’s Sport 
and Physical Activity Strategy. The Strategy will be aimed at ensuring that the 
service is able to meet the future needs of customers by delivering the right 
services, that are not only efficient and effective, sustainable, and provide value 
for money, but maximise its impact in supporting the delivery of the wider 2026 
Wirral Plan. 

2. What is a sport and physical activity needs analysis?

2.1. A sport and physical activity needs analysis is a process undertaken to learn 
about the needs of service users and non-users, in order to evaluate how well the 
current service supports their needs. It can be used to improve sport and physical 
activity facilities, services, and resources. 

2.2. A robust and comprehensive needs analysis will consider both the current leisure 
service usage and the demographic needs within catchment areas, using both 
sets of information to identify key areas of need and service improvements, 
ultimately to define a strategy for the future. 

Page 159



2.3. This document provides a needs analysis which considers the following evidence:

 National drivers 
 Demographic data
 Current service usage 

3. National drivers

3.1. Government Framework.

3.1.1 In December 2015, the Government published its strategic framework: ‘Sporting 
Future: A New Strategy for an Active Nation’. It set a direction for sport policy 
which was widely welcomed. It looked beyond simple participation and focused 
more on how sport changes lives and can be a force for social good. The 
framework primarily focused on five key outcomes:

 Physical wellbeing,

 Mental wellbeing,

 Individual development,

 Social and community development,

 Economic development. 

3.2. Sport England

3.2.1. Focusing on these five key outcomes and putting these principles into practice 
meant changes for Sport England. Taking a lead from the Governments strategic 
framework, their 2016-2021 ‘Towards an Active Nation’ strategy responded to the 
new challenges and opportunities by focusing on the benefits that sport can bring 
to people and society and directing public funding to improving each of the above 
outcomes.

3.2.2. Within the strategy, Sport England accepted that the sporting landscape had 
changed enormously in the last decade, with shifting social patterns giving rise to 
new activities, and declines in the popularity of others. Their strategy tackled this 
head on, putting the customer first, focussing on those least active and 
transforming how sport is delivered across the country.

3.2.3. The vision was to engage everybody, regardless of their age, background, or 
ability levels, to feel that they could engage in sport and physical activity. 
Everybody should feel welcome, should be able to find something in sport and 
activity that meets their needs, and to feel valued as customers by the sector.

3.2.4. To put their strategy in motion, Sport England focussed on seven key 
programmes, these were:

 Tackling England’s Growing inactivity

 Children and young people

 Volunteering

Page 160



 Taking sport and activity into the mass market

 Supporting spots core market

 Local delivery

 Facilities

3.2.5. Sport England have since released a brand-new strategy, setting the goals and 
targets for the next 10 years. Titled “Uniting the Movement” 2021- 2031, the 
strategy builds on Sport England’s vision of sport for all, placing particular 
emphasis on addressing the inequalities in participation in sports and physical 
activity.

3.2.6. The strategy details three key pathways to doing this. Firstly, through advocating 
the benefits of sports and physical activity. 

3.2.7. Secondly, by setting out several priority interventions including effective 
investment models, realising the power of people and leadership, applying 
innovation and digital technologies, utilising high-quality data, insight and 
learning, and good governance.

3.2.8. Lastly, it sets out that through collaboration, it seeks to address what it considers 
are the five key issues relevant to tackling inequalities in sport and physical 
activity, which are, 

 Recover and reinvent, 

 Connecting communities, 

 Positive experiences for children and young people, 

 Connecting with health and wellbeing, 

 Active environments.

4. Demographic data as indicators of need

4.1. Wirral’s Demographic Need

4.1.1. Wirral is a Borough of extremes, with areas of significant deprivation as well as 
very affluent areas. In some areas, health, deprivation, and disability is among 
the highest in the country and economic inactivity is multi-generational, whilst in 
other areas residents enjoy a good quality of life, with good health and wellbeing. 
For example, the male life expectancy at birth between two Wirral wards on 
opposing sides of the borough is 19 years1. Please see Appendix 1 for more 
information. 

4.1.2. The map below shows the distribution of deprivation across Wirral as measured 
by the Index of Multiple Deprivation. This combines numerous indicators under 
seven different domains of deprivation: Income Deprivation; Employment 

1 https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=life_expect_at_birth_male_val_20150101# 

Page 161

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=life_expect_at_birth_male_val_20150101


Deprivation; Education Skills and Training Deprivation; Health Deprivation and 
Disability; Crime; Barriers to Housing and Services and Living Environment 
Deprivation.

4.1.3. The needs between different wards vary from one area of the Borough to the 
next. In some areas, such as Heswall, West Kirby, Thurstaston, Greasby and 
Irby, the residents are self-sufficient and resilient, with good community networks. 
These residents simply need to be given freedom and some tools to support their 
activity. In other areas such as Woodchurch, Beechwood, Bidston St James, 
Leasowe and Rock Ferry, the communities are more unstructured and service 
dependent. These residents need more support and interventions to encourage 
them to access and engage with services, as well as the removal of any 
blockages or barriers that will ultimately enable them to help themselves.

4.1.4. The most recent data from Local Insight, shows that on Wirral, we have 
approximately 325,000 residents, or 140,682 households, split across 22 wards. 
Of these residents, over 110,000, or just over 35% of the population are living in 
the top 20% deprived areas in England2, and 28% of households (nearly 40,000) 
have no access to a car3. Over 23% of adults4 and 20% of children5 are obese. 
Whilst nearly 62% (164,000) of Wirral’s adult residents are classed as ‘active’ 
engaging in more than 150 minutes of exercise per week6. Only 14% are fairly 
active and 24% (63,200) engage in 30 minutes or less per week7. 

4.1.5. The majority of the needs analysis inequality data can be split into two main areas: 
Health and Crime. 

2 Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) for Wirral 2019 (wirralintelligenceservice.org)
3 https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=ks404ew0002_dr_20110101# 
4 https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=obese_adults_n_dr_20060101# 
5 https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=obese_child_yr_6_n_dr_20170601# 
6 https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=spact_active_r_20200101# 
7 https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=spact_inactive_r_20200101# 

Index of Multiple Deprivation Across Wirral

Page 162

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2928/imd-2019-briefing-paper-november-2019-final2.pdf
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=ks404ew0002_dr_20110101
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=obese_adults_n_dr_20060101
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=obese_child_yr_6_n_dr_20170601
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=spact_active_r_20200101
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=spact_inactive_r_20200101


4.2. Health

4.2.1. ‘Inactivity’ is considered as engaging in sport and physical activity, for less than 
an average of 30 minutes per week. The national average for inactivity in 
England is approximately 27% and collectively accounts for over 12.3 million 
people8, whereas adult inactivity in Wirral, accounts for approximately 24% or 
63,000 residents9. Whilst this is much lower than the national average, inactivity 
varies across Wirral. As identified from the map below, inactivity predominately 
affects the east Wirral wards, which are highlighted by the darker shaded areas. 

Highest Inactivity by ward10:

 Bidston & St James
 Seacombe
 Rock Ferry
 Birkenhead & Tranmere
 Upton

4.2.2. Child and adult obesity are also issues in Wirral, with over 20% of children in 
Year 611 and 23% of adults12 being classed as obese. Whilst these levels are 
more distributed across the borough, showing that obesity affects all areas of the 
borough, the data is still concentrated in key areas on the east of the Wirral, with 
the five most affected wards for levels of child obesity congregating the 
Borough’s upper east side. Such wards have an average of 26% of Year 6 
children classed as being obese, much higher than the national average of 20%, 
with Birkenhead and Tranmere ward averaging 28%.

Highest Levels of Obesity by ward:

 Seacombe
 Bidston & St James
 Birkenhead & Tranmere
 Liscard
 Rock Ferry

8   Active Lives | Results (sportengland.org)
9   Active Lives | Results (sportengland.org)
10 https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=spact_inactive_r_20200101# 
11 https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=obese_child_yr_6_n_dr_20170601#
12 https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=obese_adults_n_dr_20060101#

Page 163

https://activelives.sportengland.org/Result?queryId=582
https://activelives.sportengland.org/Result?queryId=27102
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=spact_inactive_r_20200101
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=obese_child_yr_6_n_dr_20170601
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=obese_adults_n_dr_20060101


4.2.3. Myocardial Infarction, commonly referred to as a heart attack also has a 
significantly higher prevalence in certain areas of Wirral compared to the national 
average. The data is shown on a scale to show the areas where it is more 
common. On the scale, England as an average is 103.3/39413. On average Wirral 
is lower, at 86.4. However, in the pockets of areas where there are increased 
amounts of reported heart attacks are significantly higher than the average, with 
Wirral’s top five wards averaging 114.3, and the highest ward averaging 133.3, 
which is shown as the darkest shade of blue on the image below. This health 
index contributes to the overwhelming amount of data, that shows that the areas 
of inequality in Wirral’s most deprived areas, are the ones most in need. Please 
see appendix 2, for more information.

Highest Levels of Myocardial Infarction by 
ward:

 Seacombe
 Bidston & St James
 Birkenhead & Tranmere
 Rock Ferry
 Leasowe

4.2.4. Wirral has an ageing population, meaning that age-related conditions such as 
dementia are above national averages. The table below shows the levels of 
dementia in Wirral compared with national averages14. Unlike the rest of the data, 
which shows trends in key areas, dementia data is more sporadic. The data 
shows dementia as being more prevalent in West Wirral, which is expected due 
to a greater proportion of its adults being 65+. Overall, there is a 0.8% difference 
between the highest and lowest ranking wards. 

Please see Appendix 3 for rates of dementia, by ward.

13https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=emerg_hosp_admiss_myocardial_inf_static_rate_2015
0101#
14 Dementia Profile - PHE

Page 164

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=emerg_hosp_admiss_myocardial_inf_static_rate_20150101
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=emerg_hosp_admiss_myocardial_inf_static_rate_20150101
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia/data#page/1/gid/1938132811/pat/15/ati/166/are/E38000208/iid/247/age/1/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/cid/4/tbm/1


4.2.5. According to Wirral’s compendium of statistics, 202115, the top five issues in GP 
surgeries contribute to over 50% of the GP disease register prevalence rates, 
these are:

 Hypertension (High blood pressure)- 16.4%
 Depression- 18.1%
 Asthma- 7.6%
 Diabetes Mellitus- 7.4%
 Chronic Kidney Disease- 5.1%

4.2.6. Sport England’s Local Sport Profile Tool, (2014)16 provides the health costs of 
inactivity in Wirral, which totals over £7 million, as shown in the diagram below. 

4.2.7. Additionally, Sport England’s survey suggests that despite significant levels of 
inactivity, there are also large amounts of activity across the Borough. In fact, the 
62.4%17 figure for those who engage in over 150 minutes of sports and physical 
activity is above the national average. Additionally, out of those who are inactive, 
17% (13,600 residents) want to do more sport, potentially preventing over 280 
deaths per year18. Please see 
below for more details around 

preventable deaths 
and physical activity. 

 

15 Wirral Compendium of Statistics 2021 (wirralintelligenceservice.org)
16 Local Sport Profile Tool - Funding 4 Sport
17 Active Lives | Results (sportengland.org)
18 Local Sport Profile Tool - Funding 4 Sport

Disease Category Cost
Cancer Lower GI (e.g., Bowel Cancer) £374,240
Breast Cancer £317,570
Diabetes £1,254,300
Coronary Heart Disease £4,360,110
Cerebrovascular Disease (e.g., Stroke) £1,041,720
Total Cost £7,347,940

Percentage more active Number of Deaths
25% 9
50% 100
75% 192

100% 283

Health Cost of Physical Inactivity on the Wirral

Levels Of Activity Amongst Wirral Adults

Number of Preventable Deaths On Wirral Through Increased Activity

Wirral Adults Wanting To Do More Sport

Page 165

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3458/wirral-compendium-of-statistics-2021-final-25-08-21-achkd.pdf
http://www.funding4sport.co.uk/services/funding/research/local-sport-profile-tool/
https://activelives.sportengland.org/Result?queryId=27102
http://www.funding4sport.co.uk/services/funding/research/local-sport-profile-tool/


4.2.8. In terms of the indices relating to health, the wards of Bidston and St James, 
Birkenhead, and Tranmere, Seacombe, Rock ferry and Liscard, all show a similar 
pattern of higher levels of poor health19, and lower levels of belonging20, which 
(broadly) matches that of the indices of Deprivation21. 

4.3. Crime

4.3.1. The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 defines anti-social 
behaviour (ASB) as “conduct which causes, or is likely to cause, harassment, 
alarm or distress any person”. The index for ASB represents the number of 
incidences per 1000 people. For Wirral, the Borough’s average of 26.7 incidents 
per 1000 closely matches England’s national average of 26.6 people per 100022. 
However, in deprived areas the number increases, with the five most affected 
wards averaging 45 cases per 1000, and the most affected ward, Birkenhead & 
Tranmere, averaging 70.2 cases per 1000. 

Highest areas of ASB by ward:

 Birkenhead & Tranmere
 Bidston & St James
 Seacombe
 Bromborough
 Hoylake and Meols

4.3.2. The rate of violent crime & sexual incidents on the Wirral is higher than the 
national average, at 33.5 per 1000 people compared to the England average of 
30.2 per 1000 people23. Similar to the other indices, there are pockets of areas 
where the average is significantly higher, with Birkenhead & Tranmere averaging 
104.8.

Highest areas of Violent Crime and Sexual 

19 Local Insight (communityinsight.org)
20 https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=comm_dyn_belong_tot_20150601#
21 https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=imd19_score_20190101#
22https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=anti_social_behaviour_police_uk_12_month_dr_20200
601#
23https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=violence_and_sexual_offences_police_uk_12_month_
dr_20200601#

Page 166

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=ks301ew0011_dr_20110101
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=comm_dyn_belong_tot_20150601
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=imd19_score_20190101
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=anti_social_behaviour_police_uk_12_month_dr_20200601
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=anti_social_behaviour_police_uk_12_month_dr_20200601
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=violence_and_sexual_offences_police_uk_12_month_dr_20200601
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=violence_and_sexual_offences_police_uk_12_month_dr_20200601


offences by ward:

 Birkenhead & Tranmere
 Seacombe
 Bidston & St. James

 Rock Ferry 
 Liscard

4.3.3. The above indices, which are all considered to be key contributors to the overall 
deprivation of the borough, were weighted and added together to form an overall 
vulnerability analysis. After ranking the top five wards for each index, each were 
given a weighted score, with the most effected ward receiving five points and the 
fifth most effected receiving one point, as shown below.

1st 5 Points
2nd 4 Points
3rd 3 Points
4th 2 Points
5th 1 Point

4.3.4. The weighted scored for each index was summed for each ward to generate an 
overall vulnerability score. Wards that scored higher can be considered as those 
wards more affected across the indices and therefore more deprived – 
conversely the lower the weighted score, the less deprived the area. The results 
for the eight highest scoring wards can be seen below. Please see appendix 5 for 
the full vulnerability index. 

4.3.5. The table below, gives an overview for the worst ward by indices, as well as any 
leisure provisions that are currently available in the ward. 

Ward Total Weighted Amount for 
Health and Crime Indices

Birkenhead and 
Tranmere Ward 33

Seacombe Ward 33
Bidston and St. 

James Ward 31

Rock Ferry Ward 18

Heswall Ward 5

Eastham Ward 4

Liscard Ward 3
Leasowe and 

Moreton East Ward 3

Page 167



4.4. Data for Wirral- Sports Mosaics

4.4.1. Sport England Segments24 splits Wirral by wards and sorts them by type of 
people that live there. The mosaic, or segments, are split into 19 and include 
those most likely to play sport or engage in physical activity in the borough. The 
segments include characteristics such as gender, age, socio-economic status, 
the type of sport they engage in, and also the proportion in the Borough. 

4.4.2. The resource details for each area of the Wirral what its dominant segment type 
is. The main segments on Wirral are represented in the table below. 

4.4.3. The table below also shows those segments that are higher in Wirral than in 
comparison to the national average (as seen in non-bold italics). As shown in the 
map above, all such market segments, excluding Roger and Joy, and Phillip, are 
located in areas of higher levels of deprivation. 

24 Market Segmentation - Sport England

Page 168

https://segments.sportengland.org/results.aspx?query=Segments#segment=dominant&focusType=LA&focusName=316&output=table&map=polygon&polygonType=OA&catchmentType=focus&querySource=Segments&queryType=SegRank1


Segment Population Characteristics
Elsie & Arnold 25,268 Retired singles or widowers 

(predominately female), living in 
sheltered accommodation (10.4% of 
Adults Wirral, 8% England)

Phillip 22,015 Mid-life professional, sporty males with 
older children and more time for 
themselves (9% of Adults Wirral, 8.6% 
England)

Roger & Joy 19,135 Free-time couples nearing the end of 
their careers (7.9% of Adults Wirral, 
6.8% England)

Elaine 16,494 Mid-life professionals who have more 
time for themselves since their children 
left home 6.8% of Adults Wirral, 6.1% 
England)

Tim 15,995 Sporty male professionals, buying a 
house and settling down with partner 
(6.6% of Adults Wirral, 8.8% England)

Brenda 14,255 Middle aged ladies, working to make 
ends meet (5.9% of Adults Wirral, 4.9% 
England)

Kev 13,782 Blokes who enjoy pub league games 
and watching live sport. (5.7% of 
Adults Wirral, 5.9% England)

Jackie 13,009 Mums juggling work, family, and finance 
(5.3% of Adults Wirral, 4.9% England)

4.4.4. The diagram below shows the geographical locations of the segments25. Whilst 
there are segments that have a large geographical representation, this does not 
necessarily match the number of people represented by the segment. For 
example, in the map below, within the West Wirral area, shaded by light blue, the 
segment represents approximately 9,000 people. However, on the East side of 
Wirral, the light and dark green segments represent 22,000 people, despite 
having a significantly smaller geographical area.

25 Market Segmentation - Sport England

9,300

22,000

Page 169

https://segments.sportengland.org/results.aspx?query=Segments#segment=dominant&focusType=LA&focusName=316&output=map&map=polygon&polygonType=OA&catchmentType=focus&querySource=Segments&queryType=SegRank1


4.4.5. It is within this more highly represented East Wirral area where there are large 
areas of deprivation, crime, and poor health. This area is dominated by two 
segments: Kev and Paula. Kev (Light Green) is a ‘bloke who enjoys pub league 
games and watching live sport’. Paula (Dark Green) is a ‘single mum with 
financial pressures, childcare issues, and little time for pleasure’.

4.4.6. The table above shows the top sport and physical activities for the segments 
within East Wirral, and their closest centres. It is important to note that not all the 
sporting activities available in Wirral, are available in every leisure centre. As 
such, there may be times when the chosen leisure centre is much further away 
than the closest option. 

4.4.7. As a result, barriers such as travel times make undertaking physical activity 
significantly harder. An example of this would be those wanting to play 5-a-side 
football in Birkenhead as illustrated in the map below26. For those with a car, the 
3-mile trip would be undertaken in over 10 minutes. However, for those segments 
who may struggle financially and therefore may not have access to a car, 
(approximately 40,000 residents27), travelling the 3 miles by foot would take just 
under an hour of walking through urban areas, which are often busy and 
congested, especially around peak times. 

26 Birkenhead to Wirral Tennis & Sports Centre - Google Maps
27 https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=ks404ew0002_dr_20110101# 

Segment Top Activities Closest Centres
Kev Keeping Fit / Gym (14%), Football (12%), 

Cycling (11%), Swimming (10%) Athletics 
(6%)

Europa Pools Leisure 
Centre; The Oval 
Leisure Centre

Paula Keeping Fit / Gym (18%), Swimming 
(17%), Cycling (5%), Athletics (4%), 
Football (3%)

Guinea Gap Leisure 
Centre; Wirral Tennis 
and Leisure Centre

Page 170

https://www.google.co.uk/maps/dir/Birkenhead/Wirral+Tennis+%26+Sports+Centre,+Valley+Rd,+Bidston,+Birkenhead+CH41+7EJ/@53.3985373,-3.0670826,14z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m18!4m17!1m5!1m1!1s0x487b2645d09cf51f:0x9ab8a8c59c2eb14a!2m2!1d-3.023009!2d53.389991!1m5!1m1!1s0x487b2645909b0217:0xf07485ab798f73bd!2m2!1d-3.0715315!2d53.4073704!2m3!6e0!7e2!8j1634037000!3e0
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=ks404ew0002_dr_20110101


4.5. BWB Needs Analysis

4.5.1. In December 2017, consultants Bates Wells Braithwaite (BWB) produced an 
impact and advisory report which considered the wider leisure and cultural needs 
across the Borough, and the impact that they have within Wirral Borough 
Council’s culture and leisure offer28. 

4.5.2. Within this report, BWB identified and sorted residents into three main groups 
based on their level of self-sufficiency and community relations as seen in the 
table below. 

Description Need to consider
Places that residents feel comfortable in.

Accessibility.
Likely to need peer to peer engagement 
rather than more formal interventions.

Pro-active professional support required.

Group A

Areas where residents face 
significant challenges, with 

fewer self-starting groups and 
generally lower levels of 

community cohesion. Focus on helping individuals to get more out 
of their community and its services.

Encouragement, facilitation, and 
coordination of existing groups to maximise 

take-up of activities and services and to 
foster mutual support across groups.

Group B

Areas that have some local 
groups and self-organised 

activities but are unlikely to be 
coordinated with one another. 
Local groups are likely to be 

very local.

Focus on linking individuals to services 
through groups and networks to build 

stronger community cohesion.

28 Wirral Borough Council: Re-Imagining Libraries, Leisure, Parks and Cultural Services. Phase 2 
Report. (BWB, October 2017) 

Page 171



May need support to ensure sustainability of 
groups.

Local knowledge and pride should be 
leveraged to increase use of facilities and 

encourage visitor spend.

Group C

More self-sufficient areas 
where existing community 

groups or individuals play a 
leadership and coordinating 

role, or where there is a good 
spread of private provision 
which seems to meet the 

needs of the area. There is 
likely to be appreciation and 

pride in the local area.

Focus on enabling and removing barriers, 
which will release capacity to provide 

traditional support for Group A.

4.5.3. The maps of need in sections 4.2- 4.3, generally indicate the location of the 
different groups identified by BWB. The areas in Group A are the most deprived 
with significantly higher needs than in other areas of the Borough. These are, 
Birkenhead and Tranmere, Bidston and St James, Rock Ferry and Seacombe 
Leasowe and Moreton East, and Liscard. The areas in Group B include the South 
Wirral constituency, including Moreton, Greasby and Irby, Pensby and Prenton. 
Within these areas, there are several self-led groups, but they are largely 
uncoordinated. The final area is those in Group C, which includes the West Wirral 
constituency and Hoylake, West Kirby, and New Brighton. The residents within 
these areas are generally self-sufficient with effective community leadership and 
local pride.

4.5.4. In addition to the residential community split, BWB also highlight five residential 
needs, split into themes that emerged from the needs analysis, that explored the 
ease with which different communities can achieve their needs and aspirations, 
and how this relates to the wider service demand, use and delivery. They are: 

 The context of people’s lives influences their needs and use of services,
 The need for connections, beneficial and reciprocal relationships,
 The need for equal voice and agency,
 Hyper-local delivery versus rationalisation,
 Beauty as a public asset.

Please refer to the report for further information. 

5. Current Leisure Usage

5.1. Sites and Locations

5.1.1. Wirral’s Leisure offer comprises of seven leisure centres, spread throughout the 
Borough, all of which operate under the Council’s Invigor8 brand. These are:

 West Kirby Concourse - West Kirby
 Leasowe Leisure Centre - Leasowe

Page 172



 Wirral Tennis & Sports Centre - Bidston
 Guinea Gap Leisure Centre - Seacombe
 Europa Leisure Centre - Birkenhead
 Woodchurch Leisure Centre - Woodchurch
 The Oval Leisure Centre - Bebington

5.1.2. The centres offer a wide range of activities, including but not limited to 
gymnasiums, swimming pools, tennis courts, football pitches, sports hall facilities 
and a variety of exercise classes. The leisure centres opening times vary slightly 
depending on location, but are generally staffed between 6:00- 22:00, (16 hours) 
Monday-Friday, and 8:00-19:00 (11 hours) at the weekends.

5.1.3. In addition to the Leisure centres, Wirral also offers four golf courses which run 
all year round. These are:

 The Warren - Wallasey
 Arrowe Park - Thingwall & Pensby
 Brackenwood - Bebington
 Hoylake – Hoylake

5.1.4. A report was commissioned by Knight, Kavanagh & Page in December 201929, 
for an indoor sports facilities need assessment, which undertook an asset 
condition survey. The report states that the majority of the council’s assets have 
had little to no investment over recent previous years. An overview of the site and 
refurbishment works is below.

Site Name Year Built Refurbishment
Age since 
opened / 

refurbishment
Europa Pools LC (Main/General) 1995 2004 17

Europa Pools LC (Leisure Pool) 1995 2013 8

Guinea Gap LC 1908 1991 30

Leasowe LC 1976 45

The Oval LC (Main/General) 1973 2008 13

The Oval LC (Learner Pool) 1973 2008 13

Wirral Tennis and Leisure Centre 1994 2007 14

West Kirby Concourse 1977 2002 19

Woodchurch LC 1968 1996 25

5.1.5. Additionally, the report outlined what investments would be required to ensure the 
facilities stay open over the next ten years, which is covered in the table on the 
following page. Based on the asset survey, works to ensure that leisure services 
are fit for purposes over the next ten years will total over £14 million.

29 Wirral Borough Council Indoor Sports Facilities Needs Assessment (KKP 2021 update to be 
published later this year). 

Page 173



Facility Year 1
2018/19

Years 1-3
2019/22

Years 3-5
2022/2024

Years 5-10
2024/2029

Total by facility 
(in report)

West Kirby 
Concourse £237,800 £630,300 £635,500 £110,500 £1,614,100

Europa Pools £324,300 £1,646,200 £284,000 £294,000 £2,548,500
Leasowe LC £165,720 £393,000 £540,000 £889,000 £1,987,720

Woodchurch LC £844,600 £983,000 £564,500 £61,000 £2,453,100
Beechwood £411,300 £242,700 £144,500 £81,500 £880,000
Guinea Gap £294,550 £409,100 £138,000 £114,100 £955,750

Tennis Centre £303,600 £341,500 £452,200 £468,500 £1,565,800
The Oval Main 

Building £482,500 £276,000 £183,000 £70,500 £1,012,000

The Oval Outside £76,700 £560,800 259,300 £114,100 £1,010,900
Total by 

Timescale £3,141,070 £5,482,600 £3,201,000 £2,203,200 £14,027,870

5.2. Memberships and Visits

5.2.1. Both the leisure centres and golf courses are included within Wirral Council’s 
Invigor8 memberships. Additionally, residents can visit a leisure centre or 
municipal golf course and choose to pay per session. Standard adult Invigor8 
memberships, which vary depending on location, activities, and time of use, 
range from £18.50 to £34 per month, with Teen/Junior memberships and Family 
memberships pricing at £15 and £60 per month respectively. 

5.2.2. Within the Liverpool City Region (LCR), Wirral places itself as average in terms of 
its pricing structure. Whilst it is certainly not the most expensive, neither is it the 
cheapest option, for example with the Liverpool City Council’s offer of £27.99 per 
month or £335.99 per year, compared to Wirral’s offer of £29 per month, or £290 
per year. However, out of the services in the LCR, it does offer best value, 
including seven choices of centres, with a mixture of gymnasiums, tennis courts, 
swimming pools, classes, and the inclusion of Golf. 

5.2.3. Prior to Covid-19 within the 2019-20 financial year, Wirral Council’s Invigor8 
average monthly membership total exceeded 15,000 Memberships were 
predominantly taken from those who are slightly older, with the average age 
totalling 46. Please see the chart on the next page for a breakdown of 
memberships by age. 

Page 174



5.2.4. Below, is a summary for the number of visits to each of the leisure centres and 
golf courses per year between 2016-2019. Additionally, a summary of visits for 
swimming Activities for 2019/20 is given below. It is worthwhile noting that whilst 
the Council has seen a reduced rate in the number of memberships per year, 
actual footfall increased year on year for leisure centres up until 2019. 

5.2.5. Summary of visits to Leisure Centres, 2016/17- 2019/20

5.2.6. Summary of visits to Golf Courses, 2016/17-2019/20

5.2.7. Summary of visits to Swimming Activities, 2019/20

5.2.8. However, whilst footfall may be higher, memberships are still reduced. Wirral 
leisure services are subsided by the Council, covering the deficit where there is a 
shortfall in revenue. Whilst Europa Pools has one of the highest number of visits 
per annum, it also has the second largest subsidy per visit rate, equating to over 
£2 per visit. Despite the Marine Lake having relatively moderate visitor rates, it 
boasts one of the lowest subsidy rates, totalling just £0.39p per visit. Please see 
the table below for more information. 

Page 175



5.2.9. The peak of Invigor8 membership performance was March 2017, when 
memberships totalled just under 19,000, a stark 18% variance on 2019-20’s 
membership rates. However, when the leisure centres where required to close, 
from March 2020, the variance totalled 100%, with no income being generated 
from any of the centres for April, May, and June.

5.2.10. Following the relaxation of COVID-19 restrictions in spring 2021, the Council 
maintained COVID-19 adaptations to its leisure offer due to the continued closure 
of facilities. Consequently, some of the classes once undertaken in leisure 
centres continued in an online or outdoors basis. This peaked with 185 classes 
being streamed over February 2021. 

5.2.11. With further relaxation and the reopening of leisure centres, on-site activities 
have now resumed. The most recent data shows the number of online classes 
streamed to have fallen to 49 as of August 2021, with in person class attendance 
rising to 343. 

5.2.12. The number of Invigor8 memberships, leisure centre footfall and number of 
swims have also increased from August 2020, particularly in comparison to 
January 2021 as shown in the table below. Nevertheless, the most recent figures 
are dramatically below 2019/20, with Golf being the only exception, reaching a 
three year high of 13,174 rounds in June 2021, dropping slightly to 12,919 as of 
August 2021.

Page 176



Page 177



6. Appendices

6.1. Average Male Life Expectancy - Wirral Wards: 

6.2. Myocardial Infarction Index – Wirral Wards:

Page 178



6.3. Dementia Rate – Wirral Wards:

Page 179



6.4. Cost Analysis of Leisure Centres in LCR.

Page 180



6.5. Vulnerability Index and Highest Weighted Wards

Index Ward Index Score Weighted Score

ASB 
Birkenhead and Tranmere Ward 70.2 5
Bidston and St. James Ward 45.5 4
Seacombe Ward 37.4 3
Bromborough Ward 36.6 2
Hoylake and Meols Ward 35.5 1

Violent Crime
Birkenhead and Tranmere Ward 104.8 5
Seacombe Ward 65 4
Bidston and St. James Ward 58.7 3
Rock Ferry Ward 55.8 2
Liscard Ward 42.1 1

Inactivity
Bidston and St. James Ward 29.4 5
Seacombe Ward 29.4 5
Rock Ferry Ward 28.7 3
Birkenhead and Tranmere Ward 27.9 2
Upton Ward 27 1

Obesity Year 6
Birkenhead and Tranmere Ward 28.4 5
Seacombe Ward 27.1 4
Bidston and St. James Ward 26.1 3 Birkenhead and Tranmere Ward 33
Rock Ferry Ward 25.9 2 Seacombe Ward 33
Claughton Ward 23.9 1 Bidston and St. James Ward 31

Rock Ferry Ward 18
Obesity Adult Heswall Ward 5

Seacombe Ward 28 5 Eastham Ward 4
Bidston and St. James Ward 27.3 4 Liscard Ward 3
Birkenhead and Tranmere Ward 26.5 3 Leasowe and Moreton East Ward 3
Liscard Ward 25.7 2 Bromborough Ward 2
Rock Ferry Ward 25.6 1 Oxton Ward 2

Claughton Ward 1
Myocardial Infarction Hoylake and Meols Ward 1

Seacombe Ward 133.3 5 Upton Ward 1
Bidston and St. James Ward 117.7 4
Birkenhead and Tranmere Ward 115.6 3
Rock Ferry Ward 105.7 2
Leasowe and Moreton East Ward 99.2 1

Obesity in Recpetion year
Heswall Ward 14.4 5
Eastham Ward 14.2 4
Rock Ferry Ward 13.8 3
Oxton Ward 13.5 2
Seacombe Ward 13.2 1

Anxiety
Birkenhead and Tranmere Ward 11 5
Bidston and St. James Ward 10.6 4
Rock Ferry Ward 9.9 3
Seacombe Ward 9.9 3
Leasowe and Moreton East Ward 8.6 1

Index of Multiple Deprivation
Birkenhead and Tranmere Ward 62.34 5
Bidston and St. James Ward 62.15 4
Seacombe Ward 57.97 3
Rock Ferry Ward 53.78 2
Leasowe and Moreton East Ward 39.99 1

Highest Weighted Wards

Page 181



Page 182



 

 

  

 
 

Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee 
January 18th 2022 
 

REPORT TITLE: LIBRARY STRATEGY AND FUTURE OPERATING 
MODEL  

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES   

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
  
This report provides the outcomes of the Library Strategy consultation and emerging Library 
Strategy for approval.  Three options (including a preferred) for a new operating model have 
also been presented for approval to take to consultation. 

 
The Library Strategy and preferred option strives to provide a balanced, modern, and fit for 
purpose Library Service in Wirral which will ensure that all residents have access to a 
comprehensive and efficient service. It is intended that the supporting information, detail, 
and data within this report provides sufficient justification for the preferred option whilst 
ensuring that the service is relevant, based on need, and financially sustainable. 

 
Most importantly, the preferred option will not disadvantage any one or more area of 
borough, ensuring that everyone has access to the library service they need, when they 
need it. This report outlines how Wirral’s Library Service will safeguard this vital provision 
now and for future generations. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION/S 
 
The Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee is recommended to: 
 

a) note the key outcomes, themes, and findings from the Library Strategy 

consultation as set out in paras 2.1 to 2.14; 

b) approve the emerging Libraries Strategy in Appendix 1 pending the determination 

of the Final Strategy following the consultation referred to in c); 

c) approve submitting Options 1 to 3 (preferred) for public consultation and 

engagement with service users, staff, key stakeholders and their representatives 

during February and March with the outcome to be reported to the first meeting of 

this Committee in the new municipal year 

  

Page 183

Agenda Item 7



 

 

1.1 Under the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 the Council has a statutory duty 
to provide a ‘comprehensive and efficient’ library service for all people working, living 
or studying full-time in the area who want to make use of it. Councils also have the 
power to offer wider library services beyond the statutory service to other user 
groups. At a national level, the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media and 
Sport (DCMS) have a statutory duty to superintend and promote the improvement of 
the public library service provided by local authorities in England and secure the 
proper discharge by local authorities of the functions in relation to libraries conferred 
on them as library authorities.  
 

1.2 Maintaining the current provision ‘as is’ is not a viable option. The service is 
expensive, many libraries are underused, staffing is stretched and there is a 
shortage of funding for books, IT facilities, building maintenance and modernisation. 
The impacts of the pandemic and the associated temporary closure of libraries has 
demonstrated that to an extent a library service can be delivered independently of 
current library buildings. There has been a significant increase in the take up of the 
e-book and e-audio offer and library activities such as reading groups and story 
times have been delivered online. 

 
1.3 At the time of writing (November 2021) Wirral is now in receipt of an external 

assurance review undertaken by CIPFA and Ada Burns (finance and governance 
review respectively) on behalf of the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC). In it, the challenges and impacts on available Council 
resources and financial position is clear, reviewed against the ask for exceptional 
financial support. In line with a Council wide mandate, the Library Service must now 
respond to the outcomes of this review in supporting the Council to develop a 
forward plan and statement of intent whilst continuing to develop a new operating 
model. The report makes explicit recommendations and statements relating to 
Libraries with the following:  
 

• ‘…there has only been very limited asset rationalisation in these building 

types to date. Both Leisure centres and Libraires are currently subject to a 

strategic review, which may impact on the volume of assets required in 

future’.  

 

• ‘…the Council will need to develop a more realistic asset disposal strategy, 

focusing on reducing the number of libraries, leisure centres, golf clubs, and 

public conveniences’. 

 

• ‘…acknowledged the relatively high provision available – including libraries, 

leisure centres and golf courses’. 

1.4 The external assurance review weighs heavily on assets, condition, and financial 
sustainability but this must be balanced against the Council’s statutory duty under 
the 1964 Act. This report and development of a future operating model has been 
cognisant of the findings of this report and the broader challenges facing the council 
whilst ensuring the risks associated with any future proposal are appropriately 
assessed, mitigated (if applicable), and would stand scrutiny against external/judicial 
review. 

 

Page 184



 

 

1.5 The challenge facing the library service is to continue to deliver sustainable services 
in accordance with its statutory duties at a time of significant pressures on available 
resources. It is anticipated that the preferred option for a future operating model 
detailed in this report will enable the Council to continue to deliver a service which is 
compliant with the Act, based on current and future need, and will be cost efficient 
and sustainable. 
 

1.6 This is an opportunity for the service to positively adapt and react to ensure that 
continuous improvement in provision is at the forefront of everything the Council 
does and supports the delivery of the Wirral Plan objectives.  

 
 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
 

2.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 
 

Outcomes of Libraries Strategy Consultation 
 

2.1 This section provides members with a high-level overview the outcomes of the recent 
consultation. For full detail and results please see Appendix 1. 

 
2.2 The Library Strategy consultation was designed to obtain the views and ideas of 

residents and stakeholders to inform the development of the new Library Strategy 
and options future operating model. 
 

2.3 The public consultation focused on several different themes. Information was 
requested about current libraries to find out what facilities and services worked for 
residents, and which do not. People were asked what would improve the service 
including things such as better book collections, more eBooks and eAudio 
availability, event space, dedicated work and study pods or digital creative spaces for 
video editing or gaming suites. Residents were also asked about delivery models 
and whether they and/or a community organisation would be interested in supporting 
the service. 

 
2.4 All feedback has been used to develop the emerging Library Strategy for the next 

five years and help the council develop a sustainable offer that meets the needs of 
the community both now, and for future generations. 

 
 
Methodology 
 

2.5 The public consultation was predominantly carried out using Wirral Council’s ‘Have 
Your Say’ consultation portal at www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk. 
 

2.6 To inform people about the engagement key documents were published on the 
webpage and were available for download. These included an overview of the 
consultation and a set of Frequently Asked Questions, the Draft Library Strategy, and 
an easy read version of the survey.  
 

Page 185

http://www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/


 

 

2.7 The questionnaire was published on the website to allow residents to answer the 
questions online. To ensure accessibility respondents were able to request paper 
copies of the survey and an easy read version. Paper copies were made available in 
different venues and any groups could request a set of copies as required. In 
addition, people could contact the team directly and submit additional comments via 
a dedicated email address, which was published on the Have Your Say site.  
 

2.8 An ideas board was available online where participants could both submit their own 
ideas and interact with other people’s ideas by ‘liking’ and commenting on them. 
 

2.9 In addition to these tools a series of events and key stakeholder sessions were 
offered and held to allow people to talk directly to Library Staff, get their questions 
answered and feedback their views and comments. This included sessions in the 
community, in schools, with Council staff and at specific stakeholder meetings. A list 
of community engagement session is provided below (see Table 1): 
 

Table 1: Community Engagement Events 

Location Date 

Pyramids Shopping Centre, Birkenhead 09/09/2021 

Cherry Tree Shopping Centre, Liscard 31/08/2021 

Little Beechwood Centre  20/08/2021 

St James Centre, Birkenhead 20/08/2021 

Heswall (outside library) 19/08/2021 

Seacombe Children's Centre  23/08/2021 

Heart of Egremont   24/08/2021 

Pensby - Kylemore Community Centre 06/09/2021 

Leasowe Leisure Centre 28/08/2021 

Irby - St Chad's Church 03/09/2021 

Moreton - Lingham Park 04/09/2021 

Hoylake - Melrose Hall 08/09/2021 

Upton - Victory Hall 17/09/2021 

Noctorum - St Andrews Church 13/09/2021 

 
 

2.10 At six week and nine-week periods during the consultation the responses received 
were analysed in relation to the demographics of responses at those time points. 
Following this analysis communications were reviewed and targeted to specific areas 
and through different communication methods to different age groups. The aim was 
to maximise the reach of the engagement and ensure that all residents interested in 
providing feedback would be able to engage. 
 

2.11 Library Officers were in contact with the DCMS. Two meetings took place with the 
DCMS on 21st May 2021and 18th June 2021 to update on activity and to provide an 
informal check on the approach and methodology to the consultation. 

 
  

Page 186



 

 

Key Findings 

• A total of 1,562 survey responses were received, 1,073 online responses to 

the survey, 459 paper copies and 30 Easy Read forms. All the responses 

have been amalgamated and are reported in entirety. 

• 90.8% of respondents stated that they were Wirral residents.  

• The libraries that are most used by respondents are: 

o West Kirby Library (11.8%) 

o Wallasey Central (11.6%) 

o Bebington (11.2%) 

o Birkenhead Central (10.9%) 

• The most common frequency to use the library is once a month (40.4%) 

followed by once a week (33.8%). 

• The most prevalent reason by far to visit the library is to borrow and return 

books (89.9%). 

• The majority of respondents, 73.2% of respondents felt positively about the 

service provided by Wirral Libraries. 

• Reading (reading groups/Challenges/books) was deemed the most important 

service, gaining an average rank of 1.51 (where 1 is most important and 4 is 

least important). 

• The type of library that most respondents felt would be most suitable for the 

library that they use the most is a Neighbourhood Library (48.8%). 

Conversely, under 16s preferred the Central Library option (42.1%). 

• Respondents predominantly thought that community groups (58.9%) and 

Volunteers (56.1%) could support the council to deliver the library service. 

• 71 contributors submitted or commented on 66 ideas to the ideas board tool. 

Visitors to the board were able to ‘vote’ for ideas that they liked. Common 

themes amongst the ideas were: 

o Events (41 Ideas) – respondents suggested events they wanted at 

libraries including: children’s events, more courses, guest speakers / 

authors 

o Facilities (17 ideas) – café facilities, agile workspaces, and to improve 

computer access and support 

o Staffing (13 ideas) – use some volunteers, paid staff needed 

o Open libraries (10 ideas) – open libraries after the Covid-19 closures, 

keep libraries open in general, local libraries needed 

o Community hub (10 ideas) – libraries should be community hubs 

o Books (9 ideas) – greater variety of books needed, concentrate on 

books, rotate books. 

 
2.12 As well the broad findings in the consultation report the data has been broken down 

by ward and library level to support local need-based decision making. This has 
been achieved using a PowerBI dashboard that has been provided to the strategic 
library team. Although this doesn’t lend itself to being provided as a supporting 
document, an example of the dashboard has been provided in Appendix 2.  

Page 187



 

 

Constraints 
 

2.13 The consultation was undertaken during a period of moving restrictions, with the 
approach having to evolve with emerging COVID guidance. It was recognised from 
project inception that it wasn’t optimal for maximising responses and representation, 
without mitigation. Therefore, the service took an iterative approach to managing the 
consultation, constantly evolving its method of delivery to suit. The survey was 
offered online, via paper format in open libraries, socially distanced community 
events in areas with no access to a library, targeted social media marketing in areas 
of low uptake, and broad physical and digital marketing of the consultation. The 
consultation was also included within Home Reader Service packs and easy read 
versions were available on request. The consultation was also promoted via various 
partnership forums and meetings to extend its reach further.  
 

2.14 The outcome of the consultation is just one part of a suite of evidence and 
information that have been used to support the development of options for a future 
operating model.  

 
 
Update on Development of Libraries Strategy 
 
Library Strategy Part I 
 

2.15 In response to the 2019 Libraries Connected review of the Universal Offers, Wirral 
Libraries decided to refresh its library strategy and take the opportunity to align to the 
then Wirral Council Plan 2025. Partly funded by Arts Council England (ACE), 
Libraries Connected is the sector support organisation for libraries. The Universal 
Offers were initially launched in 2013 to demonstrate the power of public libraries to 
enrich the lives of individuals and their communities. The offers and outcomes 
outlined by Libraries Connected provide a robust framework that aims to support the 
core public library offer and stimulate innovation and development. Furthermore, the 
strategy has incorporated the recommendations of the national Libraries Taskforce 
published in “Libraries Deliver: Ambition for Public Libraries in England 2016-2021”1.  

 
2.16 Supported by the Universal Offers framework and the Libraries Taskforce’s library 

service outcomes, a set of four key priorities have been designed that underpin the 
strategy.  

 

• Reading 

o Engage, Imagine, Discover 

• Information and Digital 

o Inform, Inspire, Innovate 

• Culture and Creativity  

o Explore, Create, Participate 

• Health and Wellbeing 

o Healthier, Happier, Connected 

 

 
1 Libraries Deliver: Ambition for Public Libraries in England 2016 to 2021 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Page 188

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-libraries-in-england-2016-to-2021


 

 

2.17 These priorities form the strategic outline for the library service’s 5-year plan and are 
designed to ensure a sustainable modern library service which will respond to the 
Wirral Council Plan 2026. In 2021 we also completed an internal consultation, a 12-
week Wirral Libraries public consultation and needs assessment. This has given us 
further insight and demonstrates those services people value the most and would 
like to access from the library service, whilst meeting local need in the context of 
available resources. This evidence has strengthened our proposed strategy, whilst 
delivering a sustainable service in challenging circumstances. 
 

2.18 For the full Libraries Strategy please see Appendix 3. 
 

 
Library Strategy Part II  
 

2.19 The proposals as set out in this report will be subject to full consultation with 
residents and interested parties. The outcome of that consultation holds potential to 
influence decision making and the scope of the preferred option. Therefore, post-
consultation and subsequent agreement of the preferred option, the Library Service 
will ensure that the prevailing Library Strategy reflect the direction of the service and 
will be reviewed considering any emerging operating model. 
 
 
Comprehensive and efficient 
 

2.20 To effectively review and develop a future operating model for Libraries in Wirral it is 
important to define and agree what ‘comprehensive and efficient’ means in the 
context of Wirral’s geography, population, need and available resources. Equally, in 
a borough of such extreme socio-economic contrast, the definition must reflect the 
needs at a local level. With a view of how other authorities have approached their 
definitions of the 1964 Act it is important that it represents the priorities and direction 
of the service, whilst balancing this against other influencing factors. It is also key 
that the definition remains flexible and scalable to respond to the changing trends in 
how people access literature, services, and information, which has been inarguably 
transformed with advancements and access to technology and digital media. What 
once represented a comprehensive and efficient service may not reflect modern 
need and it is Wirral’s priority to ensure that we continue to deliver excellent and 
valuable services for residents both now and for future generations. Future 
sustainability is also a key thread, ensuring that available council resources enable 
the service to operate and function effectively. 

 
2.21 Wirral’s library offer provides a range of services beyond the provision of free access 

to books and other printed material/information and is committed to serving areas of 
greatest need. In creating a definition for Wirral, outcomes from the recent Libraries 
consultation and subsequent strategy have been used and supplemented with a 
needs assessment and socio-economic profiles against each Library to ensure 
decisions are influenced at a local level, for local people and communities.  
 

2.22 For Wirral, a “comprehensive and efficient” library service will ensure that the four 
key priorities in the Library Strategy 2020-25 will be met. This modernised library 
service will deliver resources and activities to build literacy skills, support digital skills 
learning, support an increase in cultural and creative experiences and provide 

Page 189



 

 

access to trusted health information and resources. There will be a focus on these 
priorities and the most effective and efficient method of delivery within available 
resources following the outcome of the public consultation on Options 1 to 3. 

 
2.23 The Department of Culture Media and Sport select Committee (2012) states that: 
 

“A ‘comprehensive and efficient’ library service represents the balance to be struck 
by each local authority in meeting local needs within the context of available 
resources in a way which is appropriate to the identified needs of the communities 
they serve. The 1964 Public Libraries & Museums Act does not seek to be overly 
prescriptive but instead anchors the delivery of a local service to the needs of the 
local community. The closure of one or even a number of library branches does not 
necessarily signify a breach of the 1964 Act.” 

 
 
Balancing Need and Available Resources 
 

2.24 Below are several rulings from other Local Authority Library Service reviews that 
inform the balancing of need and available resources: 
 
“… it has been made clear in the recent London Borough of Brent Judicial Review 
(2011) that the Section 7 duty of the 1964 Act cannot be exempt or divorced from 
resource issues and cannot in law escape the reductions which have been rendered 
inevitable in the light of the financial crisis engulfing the country.” 
 
“Legislation does not state a minimum number of libraries. A High Court judgement 
(2014 Lincolnshire County Council) stated that comprehensive and efficient is to be 
interpreted in the context of the availability of resources, and that a comprehensive 
service cannot mean that every resident lives close to a library.” 

 
“High Court made it clear that a comprehensive and efficient service is, in itself, not 
an absolute concept, but rather must be understood in the context of the budget 
available (2015 Sheffield City Council).” 
 
 
Options for a New Operating Model 
 

2.25 Whilst developing a suite of options and determining a preferred, the fundamental 
test has been whether that option would allow the Council to meet its statutory duty 
of providing a comprehensive and efficient service as per Wirral’s definition, enabling 
it to deliver on the vision and priorities of the Library Strategy. This is also an 
opportunity to reinforce what Wirral’s library service is and should be in order to 
provide a modern, fit for purpose library service that is accessible to everyone in 
Wirral that wishes to use it. Furthermore, this is a chance to focus resources and 
define a service, building on the fantastic work, partnerships and programmes that 
have been developed over many years. 
 

2.26 It’s important to note that the delivery of a comprehensive and efficient service is not 
based on quantity of physical locations, rather on the right service being provided 
where it needs to be. For this, the service has used a wide range of supporting 
information and data drawn from the recent consultation, the priorities within the 

Page 190



 

 

Library Strategy as well as a suite of socio-economic profiles, usage and 
performance data and a community needs assessment relating to each library. 
Consideration has been given to the following (not exhaustive): 
 

• Existing provision, usage, and performance data 

• Costs of existing service provision 

• Geographic spread and accessibility 

• Existing community services 

• Co-located service and opportunities  

• Socio demographic profiling and local needs assessment 

 
2.27 Under the Act the Council is also required to determine how they manage their 

libraries through consultation with their communities. The library service is committed 
to ensuring all residents can have their say on options for a new operating model and 
will undertake a full consultation as included within this recommendation. 
 

2.28 A meeting with the DCMS held on 23rd November 2021 confirmed that any emerging 
option for a future operating model will be judged and assessed based on the 
appropriate level and nature of service being provided rather than physical location 
or method of delivery. The Council must evidence that any option has been 
developed using a needs-based approach. Local need must remain as the golden 
thread throughout this, but that need does not have to be met by proximity to 
physically located libraries if it can be fulfilled by other means. However, it is 
important to reinforce the financial challenges the Council is facing, and any option 
must be a balance between duty, need, and available resource.  

 
2.29 In support of the Councils mandate to evidence a forward plan and statement of 

intent towards delivering a balanced budget and the ask for exceptional financial 
support, it is pertinent for the service to assess and present the cost and any 
associated savings relating to the options for a future operating model. The cost of 
mitigation and/or change has been built in where appropriate. 

 
2.30 With consideration of all the information contained in this report and supporting 

documents members are asked to consider the following options and approve the 
three options (including preferred) for full consultation. For proportionality, Option 1 
and 2 are presented in summary and Option 3 (preferred) is presented with its detail, 
supporting information and justification as ‘preferred’. 
 
 

  

Page 191



 

 

Option 1 – One Central Library, Online Library, Home Reader Service, and New 
Mobile Library (See Appendix 9 for definitions of the services to be 
provided at each of these facilities)  

 
Reason for non-recommendation as preferred:  
May not provide an adequately accessible service as per the Council’s statutory duty 
for those who want to use it notwithstanding the facilities in support of the Central 
Library, and risks not meeting our statutory duty. This option carries a risk of call 
in/inquiry from DCMS. 

 
 

2.31 This option considered and modelled the delivery of the service with one Central 
library (Birkenhead Library) and the closure of the remaining library sites. The online 
library and Home Reader Service would be retained as well as investment in a new 
mobile library service to mitigate loss of physical provision.  

 
2.32 Table 2 details the proposed opening hours for this option (584-hour reduction in 

staffed hours from pre-COVID offer). Note, the online library offers 24/7 access and 
the mobile library hours offered are subject to the emerging programme although it’s 
anticipated that this will add significant access to residents: 

 
Table 2: Option 1 Opening Hours 

Opening Hours Days Opening Hours Total Hour 

Centrals Mon, Tue, Wed, Thu 9am-1pm & 
2pm-7pm  

50 hours 
Fri & Sat 9am-1pm & 

2pm-5pm  

  
Total 

50 hours a week to 
the public 

 
 

2.33 This represents a full consolidation of the library asset portfolio to realign and focus 
resources into one excellent service point for the borough. This would allow the 
service to streamline its processes and staffing structure and develop a 
comprehensive programme of outreach to supplement one site. This would be 
supported with an enhanced digital online offer, Home Reader Service, and the 
investment in a new mobile library service.  
 

2.34 Although this would generate a significant saving for the Council (see Table 5) it 
risks not providing a comprehensive and efficient service on the grounds of 
accessibility and geographical coverage. 
 

2.35 The geography of Wirral and socio-economic contrast across the borough make it 
difficult to provide a comprehensive and efficient library service from one site, even 
with the provision of a mobile library as a mitigating factor. This is due, in part, to the 
significant reduction in opening hours offered to the public and the varying level of 
need across the borough. In addition, geographic and social barriers might impede 
some areas of the borough from accessing a library service and often vital frontline 
information and advice on other Council services.  

Page 192



 

 

2.36 Furthermore, this option could disadvantage residents and families with no car, could 
fail to address the impact of the cost of public transport on low-income residents and 
families, might disadvantage those who are digitally isolated, and risks not 
maintaining parity in terms of the general requirements of children across the 
borough without sufficient mitigation. With this option, 24% of current active 
borrowers live within a two-mile buffer (straight line measurement) of the library with 
the remaining falling within approximately 6.5 miles.  
 

2.37 This option would also require a comprehensive asset management plan which 
considered the future use and options for each site as well as the residual 
mothballing costs whilst this work was undertaken. There could also be substantial 
public challenge from community and representative groups on the disposal or 
alternative use of our libraries, although Hoylake Library is currently the only site 
successfully nominated on the list of ‘Assets of Community Value’.  
 

2.38 With consideration for the lessons learnt as part of the previous Library Service’s 
Review and subsequent judicial review and inquiry (Charteris, 2009), this option is 
not preferred due to the risk of call-in by DCMS and risk of inquiry. This process 
would be lengthy, costly, and would ultimately impact on the deliverability of a new 
operating model. 
 

 
 

Option 2 – Four Central Libraries, Online Library, Home Reader Service, and New 
Mobile Library (See Appendix 9 for definitions of the services to be 
provided at each of these facilities) 

  
Reason for non-recommendation as preferred:  
May not provide an adequate service as per the Council’s statutory duty for those 
who want to use it notwithstanding the greater geographical spread of physical 
locations and the facilities in support of the four Central libraries. This option carries 
a risk of call in/inquiry from DCMS. 

 
 

2.39 This option considered and modelled the delivery of a library service with four 
Central libraries (Birkenhead, Wallasey, West Kirby, and Bebington Libraries) and 
the closure of the remaining library sites. Much like Option 1, this option aims to 
consolidate and focus available resources with the aim of providing a better quality 
and defined service from fewer sites. This would be supported with an enhanced 
digital online offer, Home Reader Service, and the investment in a new mobile library 
service.  

 
2.40 Table 3 details the proposed opening hours for this option (434-hour reduction in 

staffed hours from pre-COVID offer). Note, the online library offers 24/7 access and 
the mobile library hours offered are subject to the emerging programme although it’s 
anticipated that this will add significant access to residents: 
 

Page 193



 

 

Table 3: Option 2 Opening Hours 

Opening Hours Days Opening Hours Total Hour 

Centrals Mon, Tue, Wed, Thu 9am-1pm & 
2pm-7pm  

50 hours x 4 
200 hours to public 

a week 
Fri & Sat 9am-1pm & 

2pm-5pm  

  
Total 

200 hours a week to 
the public 

 
 

2.41 This represents a consolidation of the library asset portfolio to realign and focus 
resources into four excellent service points for the borough. This would allow the 
service to streamline its processes and staffing structure and develop a 
comprehensive programme of outreach to supplement one site. This would be 
supported with and enhanced digital online offer, Home Reader Service, and the 
investment in a new mobile library service. 
 

2.42 Much like Option 1 this option would generate significant savings for the Council (see 
Table 5) although still carries a risk of not delivering on the Councils statutory duty to 
provide a comprehensive and efficient service on geographic coverage and 
accessibility and reasons as stated in Option 1. 
 

2.43 A greater area is served through four library sites with 64% of active borrowers within 
a two-mile buffer (straight line measurement) although areas in mid, central, south-
east and south-west Wirral would be more distant from a physically located library so 
that geographic and social barriers might impede access to those locations. 

 
2.44 With consideration for the lessons learnt as part of the previous Library Service’s 

Review and subsequent judicial review and inquiry (Charteris, 2009), this option is 
not preferred due to the significant risk of call-in by DCMS and likely risk of an 
inquiry. This process would be lengthy, costly, and would ultimately impact on the 
deliverability of a new operating model.  
 

 
 

  

Page 194



 

 

Option 3 – Four Central Libraries, Four Community Libraries, Co-Located RFID 
(Radio Frequency Identification Kiosk) Only Sites (Unstaffed), Online 
Library, Home Reader Service, and New Mobile Library (See Appendix 
9 for definitions of the services to be provided at each of these facilities) 

 
Reason for recommendation as preferred option:  
This option provides the most viable balance between delivering on the Council’s 
statutory function of providing a ‘comprehensive and efficient’ library service in the 
context of available resources. This option also allows for the delivery of the vision 
and priorities within the emerging Library Strategy whilst not disadvantaging any one 
or more areas of the borough. Sufficient mitigation is offered to offset the loss of a 
physical Library where proposed and allows for an enhance programme of outreach 
to be developed and delivered.  

 
 

2.45 This option would retain the four main Central Libraries and four smaller community 
libraries which are (please see Appendix 4 Figure 1 for reference of locations): 
 

• Birkenhead Central, West Kirby, Wallasey Central, and Bebington Central 

• Eastham, Moreton, Upton, and Heswall 

 
2.46 Five additional sites would be established as unstaffed RFID sites giving residents a 

self-serviced library offer in a co-located venue. These are: 
 

• Leasowe – Millennium Centre 

• Beechwood – Co-located in community asset 

• Ridgeway – In school area identified  

• St James – St James Centre 

• Seacombe – Seacombe Children’s Centre 

 
2.47 Table 3 below details the proposed opening hours for this option (310-hour reduction 

in staffed hours from pre-COVID offer). Note, the online library offers 24/7 access 
and the mobile library hours offered are subject to the emerging programme although 
it’s anticipated that this will add significant access to residents. 
 
Table 4: Option 3 Opening Hours 

Opening 
Hours 

Days Opening Hours Total Hour 

Centrals Mon, Wed, Fri & Sat 9am-1pm & 
2pm-5pm  

46 hours x 4 
184 hours to the 

pubic a week 
Tue & Thu 9am-1pm & 

2pm-7pm  

Community 
Libraries 

Mon-Fri 9am-1pm & 
2pm-5pm 

35 hours x 4 
140 hours to the 

public a week 

  Total 324 hours a week 

 

Page 195



 

 

 
2.48 In addition to the thirteen libraries listed above the Digital Library Service will 

continue to be developed; this gives 24/7 access and functionality to an e-library 
of 20,000 items, including large print, spoken word, access to online databases, 
family history and reference materials.  

  

2.49 The Home Reader Service, delivering to housebound residents and those whose 
needs are greatest, will continue and opportunities to extend this service will be 
explored where current resources will allow. Appendix 4 Figure 3 demonstrates the 
scale of provision currently offered under the Home Reader Service. 

 
2.50 A new EV (electric vehicle) mobile library offer will be established with a 3000-book 

capacity to provide a flexible service in areas of need, where people wish to access 
it, mitigate loss of physical services in areas of the borough and support/enhance 
existing community services. Additional scope of services will be explored such as 
printing and digital access and will be tailored as and when the need arises. It is 
anticipated that the mobile library will strengthen and enhance a programme of 
outreach work, supported by new and existing partnerships with communities, 
businesses, and public sector partners. The Strategic Librarian Team will continue to 
develop and build on a programme of work that meets and exceeds the priorities 
within the Library Strategy. Please see Appendix 8 for further detail on the mobile 
library provision. The locations for a mobile library will be determined initially based 
on areas where a library closure/community owned/managed is proposed and will 
develop naturally through requests and emerging need as the service is rolled out 
(Please see Appendix 4 Figure 1 for reference of locations).  

 
2.51 This option represents the service consolidating its asset portfolio in support of 

realigning and focusing available resources to provide a quality, balanced, 
sustainable, and accessible service for all. Although the borough will lose a number 
of physical sites, the service is committed to ensuring a modernised and much 
improved service will remain. The service has been under resourced for many years, 
having an inevitable impact on service delivery. This will allow us to offer longer and 
consistent weekly opening hours at the remaining sites, provide investment in 
provision such as access to digital media and technology, and provides capacity to 
develop long term programmes of outreach and bring the service to the community 
via a mobile library. The unstaffed RFID sites will still benefit from outreach and 
events where appropriate, led by the Strategic Librarian Team. This option offers 
better value for money and supports the Councils overarching commitment of 
providing a balanced budget.  
 

2.52 For all the remaining libraries that have not been retained, further engagement with 
communities will be undertaken as part of the proposed consultation to explore 
interest in community owned/managed libraries. The arrangement for a community 
owned/managed library must be robust and assessment of viability will need to be 
defined with support from legal and asset services. It is important that any residual 
demand on council resources under any arrangement must be proportionate and 
should not adversely impact on the financial or operational sustainability of the 
service. This will be a key success factor in the assessment of any proposal. It is 
proposed where there is no interest, or no viable solution for community 
owned/managed agreement is identified then the library service will continue with the 

Page 196



 

 

closure of that site with mitigation where necessary since these sites are not required 
for a comprehensive and efficient library service 
 

2.53 This option would generate significant savings to the authority (see Table 5). 
 
 
Schools Library Service 
 

2.54 It’s important to note that the Schools Library Service will continue to operate as a 
de-delegated service primarily for Primary Schools although other schools can 
access on request. The service is funded via the School’s Forum, the equivalent of 
£8.78 per child from maintained schools (Academies can buy back as a service level 
agreement). The service has continued throughout the pandemic offering click and 
collect, and adapting their offer to supplement reading for pleasure, chess, artefact 
boxes and story boxes. This has been in response to the lack of access to libraries 
for many children and the impact on literacy levels. The service will continue to 
advise schools and provide training on managing and developing their own school 
libraries and teaching resources in schools, on teaching information literacy skills to 
enable children to become independent learners and to help schools create a 
reading culture. This service is vital in ensuring that literacy requirements of children 
are supported, and where possible attainment gaps are addressed. School’s Library 
Service is a key vehicle to delivering on the priorities within the emerging Library 
Strategy and support the delivery of a comprehensive and efficient service. 

 
 
Costs and Savings 
 

2.55 The table below details the cost and associated savings for each of the options in 
this report against the current operating costs (baseline).  
 
Table 5: Options costs and associated savings 

 Current 
(Baseline) Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

Staffing £2,250,400 £886,122 £1,846,702 £1,965,935 

Non-Staffing £1,622,300 £1,039,300 £1,257,100 £1,397,400 

Income -£194,100 -£179,200 -£179,200 -£191,100 

Recharge £936,300 £936,300 £936,300 £936,300 

Total £4,614,900 £2,374,522 £3,552,902 £3,800,535 

Saving N/A £2,240,378 £1,061,998 £814,365 

 
 

2.56 As detailed above the savings will be achieved primarily through reduction in staffing 
and non-staffing costs (e.g. building running costs). At this stage, the cost of change 
(e.g. mothballing) has not been factored in due to a yet unknown level of interest in 
community asset transfer. Those sites where a closure / community asset/owned 
library will be explored have also been presented to asset management so an 
options appraisal on future use can be undertaken, pending the outcomes of a full 
consultation. 
 
 

Page 197



 

 

Recharges 
 

2.57 Due to the current approach to how recharges are apportioned across Council 
services it has not been possible to model a commensurate saving on recharges in 
proportion to the proposed structural changes under each option. The Council is 
currently undertaking a review to establish a robust and defined approach to how 
central recharges are apportioned across its services. It is anticipated that there are 
additional significant savings to be made, and this will be reflected in future financial 
years.  
 
Implementation Plan 
 

2.58 If agreed for consultation, then the Library Service will consult on the above options 
and preferred Option 3. Pending the outcome of the consultation and subsequent 
agreement from Committee an implementation plan will be developed, outlining key 
timescales, milestones, cost of implementation, mitigation, and risk management 
approach. The plan will incorporate consideration of the Council’s agreed corporate 
service design principles and will be delivered with support from other council 
services to ensure benefit realisation. This will be managed and reported back to 
Committee at an agreed frequency.  

 
 

Needs Based Approach / Data Analysis and Profiles 
 

2.59 This section will outline the data and information that was gathered and analysed to 
develop options for a future operating model and preferred Option 3. 
  

2.60 An evidence base comprised of significant amounts of information and data has 
been gathered to support the development of the options as outlined in in this report. 
This includes data on usage and performance, costs, accessibility assessment and 
mapping, mapping of existing community services, socio-economic profiling, a needs 
assessment and ranking exercise, and benchmarking against LCR/Northwest library 
services.  

 
 
Performance and Costs 
 

2.61 Each year, Library Services provides performance data and comparators for national 
and regional benchmarking undertaken by the Charted Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA). This allows Wirral to benchmark its performance against 
comparable authorities, selected as the most analogous to Wirral’s geography and 
population. In summary the key outcomes of the CIPFA Public Libraries Profile 2020: 

 

• Wirral have a higher-than-average number of service points (Wirral 24, 

average 14) 

• Wirral has a lower-than-average visits per annum at its busiest service point 

(Wirral 146,731, average 231,748) 

• Wirral has an average proportion of active borrowers per 1000 population 

(Wirral 116, average 118)  

Page 198



 

 

• Wirral’s net expenditure per 1000 population is higher than average (Wirral 

£14,935, average £11,913, national average  

• Wirral’s total revenue income per 1000 population is below average (Wirral 

£456, average £949) 

• Wirral has a slightly above average book issue per 1000 population (Wirral 

2354, average 2119) 

 
2.62 The total footfall in Wirral’s libraries has decreased by 376,557 in the last five years 

representing a 28.7% drop. This is coupled with an almost 50% decline in active 
borrowers and a 57% decrease in book loans over the last decade (since 2012 and 
excluding COVID-19 impact). E-loans have increased by 2102% in the last decade 
experiencing a sharp rise in the last 18 months due to impacts of the COVID 
pandemic. Book loans and e-lending is more prevalent in the west of the borough. 
 

2.63 There are clear trends that suggest that the library service must realign its service 
offer to represent a more modern, fit for purpose need that still provides and supports 
those who want to experience a traditional offer. The decline in library access and 
engagement can be attributed, in part, to the way that people now access 
information and media as well as the accessibility and affordability of technology. 
Since 2012, smartphone usage amongst adults aged 65+ population has increased 
from just 3% to 65%, with almost 90% of all other adult age groups reporting that 
they personally use a smartphone2. Additionally, 96% of households in Britain have 
internet access, up from 57% in 2006 when the ONS began keeping comparable 
records. Internet access in adults ages 65+ is now 80% in Great Britain3. 
 
 
Accessibility and Coverage 
 

2.64 To assess accessibility and coverage several exercises have been undertaken 
including:  

 

• Mapping of preferred Option 3 sites against catchment of active borrowers  

• Mapping of preferred Option 3 sites against population of Wirral, IMD and car 

ownership 

• Mapping drive, cycle and waking 10-minute reachability catchments4 

• Mapping of public transport network (active bus stops) 

• Accessibility assessment for libraries where closure/community 

owned/managed libraries are proposed 

2.65 The car ownership data was derived from the 2011 census and represents the best 
and most complete data set available. The ‘Library Standards’ as adopted until 2008 
used 2 mile or 3.2km buffers for their catchment areas which has been adopted for 
purposes of determining a catchment area for this exercise.  
 

 
2 Ofcom Personal Smartphone Usage – 2012-2021 
3 Office for National Statistics – Internet access – households and individuals, Great Britain: 2020 
4 Travel time catchments derived from GIS OpenRouteSource (ORS) – travel times in excess of this average 
will occur due to variation in conditions, day and times. 

Page 199



 

 

2.66 Data from the National Transport Survey (NTS) 2019 has been used to identify 
average travel journey for different trip purposes (see Table 6)5. These relate to 
average travel times meaning travel times can and will occur in excess of this 
average.  
 

 
Table 6: Average travel times for different trip purposes (NTS 2019) 

Purpose Travel Time (mins) 

Commuting 31 

Business 42 

Education 21 

Escort education 14 

Shopping 16 

Other escort 17 

Personal business 19 

Visiting friends at private home 27 

Visiting friends elsewhere 22 

Entertainment / public activity 22 

Sport: participate 21 

Holiday: base 79 

Day trip 35 

Other including just walk 22 

All purposes 23 

 
 
2.67 Table 6 shows that average travel times range from 14 minutes (Escort education) to 

79 minutes (Holiday: base). Most travel times range from 21-23 with an all-purpose 
travel time of 23 minutes.  
 

2.68 Of particular relevance to libraries is ‘Personal business’ as it specifically refers to 
libraries. This is defined as: 

 
‘Personal business - visits to services, e.g. hairdressers, launderettes, dry-
cleaners, betting shops, solicitors, banks, estate agents, libraries, churches; or for 
medical consultations or treatment; or for eating and drinking, unless the main 
purpose was entertainment or social.’6 
 

2.69 The average travel time for Personal business is 19 minutes. Coupled with the all-
purpose average of 23 minutes it’s reasonable to suggest that a target time of 19-23 
minutes travel time for the majority of Library users is acceptable. This has been 
considered when considering accessibility impact of the new model and when 
mapping accessibility across three transport modes (driving, cycling, and walking).   
 
 
 

 
5 Methodology and approach adopted from East Sussex Libraries Strategic Commissioning Strategy – 
Accessibility Analysis 2017 
6 National Travel Survey 2018 Notes and Definitions (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

Page 200

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/906852/national-travel-survey-notes-and-definitions.pdf


 

 

2.70 To note, the Library Strategy consultation identified walking as the primary mode of 
transport (65%) followed by car (44%) (see Figure 1). This is an unsurprising result 
given the density of library provision in Wirral within such a relatively small area (i.e. 
opportunity exists rather than being the only mode of transport available). This does 
not suggest that active borrowers could not access a library provision via other 
means and has been considered with other socio-economic indicators to assess 
accessibility (e.g. car ownership, availability of public transport, IMD). 

 
 

 
Figure 1: Library Strategy consultation Q7. Response (mode of transport) 

 
 

2.71 All outputs from the accessibility mapping can be found in Appendix 4. The key 
findings are as follows: 
 

• The sites under the preferred Option 3 are well situated and located to provide 

sufficient geographic coverage across Wirral whilst taking into consideration 

areas of greatest need and/or those impacted by multiple barriers to access 

(e.g. car ownership, low income, deprivation) 

• All residents are within reasonable travel times as determined via the National 

Transport Survey (2019) for ‘Personal business’ either via car or public 

transport see section 2.69 

• 98% of active borrowers are within a 2 mile (3.2km) straight-line buffer of the 

preferred Option 3 sites 

• 99% of active borrowers and Wirral residents live within a 10-minute car 

journey of preferred Option 3 sites 

Page 201



 

 

• 27% of active borrowers lie within a 10-minute walking journey of preferred 

Option 3 sites (reduction of 23% from 50% of active borrowers for current 

library sites). 

• Wirral has a strong network of public transport that corresponds to the 

network of libraries in the preferred Option 3 sites 

• The preferred Option 3 sites are predominantly situated in areas with high 

densities of active borrowers with the exception of Greasby and Hoylake 

where sufficient provision exist within acceptable reach (Upton and West 

Kirby respectively) 

• Areas with high proportion of households with no car are well served with 

library access under the preferred Option 3 and with the mitigation proposed 

(i.e. Mobile library and outreach provision initially for those sites where 

proposed closure/community owned/managed libraries are proposed) 

 
2.72 Appendix 5 presents an accessibility assessment for those sites where a 

closure/community owned/managed library has been proposed under Option 3. This 
determined the residual access to a Library service for communities/active users who 
would normally use that Library. This has allowed for the identification of any adverse 
impacts to allow for an appropriate mitigation response. In summary, this 
assessment did not identify any residual adverse impact with mitigation due to 
sufficient provision existing within acceptable proximity through various modes of 
transport and/or the provision of a mobile library site to serve hard to reach 
communities where the needs are greatest and/or present a barrier to access (e.g., 
car access, low income). 
 
 
Socio-economic Profiles and Needs Assessment 
 

2.73 An assessment of need has been undertaken to support decision making when 
developing options for a future model. This data allows the service to undertake a 
‘needs based approach’ when determining where and how the library service should 
be delivered. It also ensures that any future decisions taken do not disproportionately 
disadvantage areas already displaying poor outcomes or in need of targeted 
interventions.  
 

2.74 The needs assessment lays the foundations for designing an approach in a way that 
meets the common design principles identified by the Libraries Taskforce1 for 
developing and transforming library services, which are: 

 

• Meeting legal requirements  

• Shaped by local needs  

• Focus on public benefit and deliver a high-quality user experience  

• Make decisions informed by evidence, building on success  

• Support delivery of consistent England-wide core offers  

• Promote partnership working, innovation and enterprise  

• Use public funds effectively and efficiently 

Page 202



 

 

2.75 The preferred Option 3 allows for available resources to be realigned and focused 
and allows capacity within the structure to develop a more targeted service based on 
need. For example, in areas where attainment gaps are more prevalent, shared 
programmed of work can be developed in targeted areas to support literacy and 
independent reading via enhanced reading challenges, class visits, storytelling, 
provision of technology, author visits, online resources, and reading activities/groups 
during holidays.  
 

2.76 The assessment also allows the service to respond to emerging trends, taking a pro-
active approach to how it can respond to future need across the borough. 
 

2.77 The assessment utilises various socio-demographic indicators that have been 
carefully selected and mapped against the four strategic priorities of the Library 
Strategy and Universal Offers to ensure their relevance and justification when 
influencing future decisions.  

 
2.78 Finally, the needs assessment represents the beginning of an iterative process that 

will inform service redesign and delivery in respect of local need, library users and 
non-library users. This resource is a key decision-making tool and will ensure that 
targeted interventions and services are developed to support the delivery of the 
emerging Library Strategy and its priorities, underpinned by the Universal Offers. 
Due to factors such as COVID-19 and external challenges such as reduction in 
available resources, any emerging future delivery model may impact local need and 
the indicators used within the assessment will be reviewed frequently to ensure they 
are relevant and will influence and drive future decision making. 

 
2.79 The full need assessment can be found in Appendix 6.  

 
 
Existing Community Services 
 

2.80 Wirral Council maintains a gold standard gazetteer (Local Land and Property 
Gazetteer - BS7666) of all building assets in Wirral (amongst other assets such as 
parks, address data and building numbers). This data set was used and filtered 
accordingly to identify existing community assets in any given catchment. Where 
appropriate, MSOA geographic level has been used as a representative sample of 
the community any one library serves. This data outlines the existing provision and 
opportunities for residents in areas and allows for a balanced decision against a 
backdrop of need and other socio-economic outcomes. For example, where a 
community group may use a library as a meeting space, a community hall or centre 
may be able to accommodate such need. The following were filtered and identified 
(not exhaustive): 
 

• Community Centres 

• Church Halls and Places of Worship 

• Doctors 

• Children’s Centres 

• Schools 

• Nurseries 

• Outdoor/Recreational/Green spaces 

Page 203



 

 

• Public Services 

• Gyms  

 
See Appendix 4 Figure 16 for an example of a community service profile. 

 
 
Regional Benchmarking 
 

2.81 A high-level benchmarking exercise was undertaken to objectively assess Wirral’s 
library offer against regional and north-west council library services. Table 7 details 
the comparative data used in this exercise. This data allowed the service to compare 
provision and understand a regional precedent for what is and has been accepted as 
a ‘comprehensive and efficient’ service in other authorities. The most comparable 
authority to Wirral is Sefton, with a similar borough size, demographic and socio-
economic divide which delivers its library service with six Libraries strategically 
placed across the borough to ensure broad accessibility and in areas of greatest 
need. Table 7 also shows that Wirral has the same library site provision as Cheshire 
West and Chester which covers an area almost six times bigger than Wirral and has 
a mobile library service to supplement hard to reach rural areas. Whilst this is an 
objective view it has been balanced against the need in Wirral which will vary from 
neighbouring authorities.   

Page 204



 

 

Table 7: Regional/Northwest Library Service Provision Benchmarking 

Council 
Area 

(Km2) Population 
No. 

Libraries 
Density 

(Lib/Area) 

Library / 
Population 

Ratio 
IMD 

Score 
Population 

65+* 
Mobile 
Library 

Online 
Library 

Home 
Reader 
Service 

Wirral 157 324011 24 0.15 14087 30 22% N Y Y 

Sefton 155 276410 6 0.04 46068 27 24% N Y Y 

Liverpool 112 498042 19 0.17 26213 42 15% N Y Y 

Halton 79 129410 4 0.05 32353 32 18% N Y Y 

Knowsley 87 150862 5 0.06 30172 43 17% N Y Y 

CWAC 916 343071 23 0.03 14916 18 22% Y Y Y 

Warrington 181 210014 12 0.07 17501 19 19% N Y N 

 *37% of Library Users (Needs Assessment – Appendix 3) and 41% of Library Consultation respondents were 65+ making it the 
most prevalent age group   

P
age 205



 

 

Corporate Design Principles  
 

2.82 The Council has developed a set of design principles that are to be applied to all 
services when undertaking significant change and transformation projects. This is to 
ensure a standard approach and alignment to broader strategic objectives and 
priorities and that all services strive for continuous improvement. The principles allow 
a service to assess their understanding, vision, and core service capabilities / 
competencies against the Wirral Plan priorities and to ensure that any forward 
planning is in line with the wider Council agenda. Appendix 7 details how the 
preferred option has considered these design principles during development. 
 
 
Risk Management and Proposed Mitigation 
  

2.83 The selection of the library sites under preferred Option 3 were based on geographic 
coverage, need and creating fair accessibility opportunities to all residents of Wirral. 
The service will still be provided above and beyond our statutory duty, striving for 
added value in the service and activities that libraries provide. This will be set against 
the four strategic priorities of the Interim Library Strategy and the development of a 
targeted programme of outreach and partnership work. The option in itself is a 
balance and mitigation to potential exclusion and disadvantaging any one or more 
areas of the borough. Using the methodology and approach as outlined in this report 
has provided a detailed evidence based on which decisions have been made.  

 
2.84 Library Services with support from the Strategic Librarian Team would develop a 

comprehensive outreach programme, developing and strengthening public and 
private sector partnerships to deliver engagement, events and services that meets 
and exceeds the Councils statutory duty.  
 

2.85 Library Services has committed to a significant investment in a mobile library that will 
offer an agile and flexible delivery model that could facilitate an ambitious outreach 
programme, engaging with hard-to-reach communities whilst providing new and 
exciting opportunities. This moves the focus away from the traditional ‘bricks and 
mortar’ model and places emphasis on the service being delivered, when and where 
it needs to be. As well as providing free access to books and printed materials, the 
scope of the offer will evolve with emerging need and demand, as will the locations it 
will visit. This could include digital provision (e.g., printing, copying). 
 
 
Risk Management Approach – WBC Judicial Review 

 
2.86 As referenced throughout this report, the Library Service has been cognizant of the 

findings of the Charteris report (2009) which found that Wirral council had acted 
unlawfully in the proposals put forward as part of the previous library review. During 
this process, the recommendations and findings as set out in that report have been 
iteratively reviewed. Balancing the Council’s statutory duty to both set a balanced 
budget and provide ‘comprehensive and efficient’ Library Service has been a key 
ensure the right decisions are made for both the service and Council as a whole. 
Table 8 below outlies how this process has addressed lessons learnt. 

 

Page 206



 

 

Table 8: Judicial review risk and actions/mitigation 

Recommendations Action/Mitigation 

The Council was in breach of its 
statutory duties because it failed 
to make an assessment of local 
needs therefore it could not 
identify reasonable options to 
meet needs 

12 weeks consultation on the Library Strategy 
and undertaken comprehensive needs 
assessment and socio-economic profiling of 
local communities to inform development of a 
preferred operating model. 
Full consultation will be undertaken for new 
operating model. 

The requirements for older and 
disabled people, unemployed and 
those living in deprived areas not 
considered 

Socio-economic profiling of communities was 
undertaken to determine areas of high need 
and appropriate service. Consideration within 
Equalities Impact Assessment. 
Full consultation will be undertaken for new 
operating model. 

The Council was not able to 
demonstrate it had regard for 
meeting general requirements of 
children 

Engagement with children and young people, 
Schools Library Service and Wirral Youth 
Collective as part of 12-week consultation. 
Specific indicators profiling attainment and 
literacy gathered as part of needs assessment. 
Schools Library Service continues to be a core 
provision. 
Full consultation will be undertaken for new 
operating model. 

The Council took a decision to 
close 11 libraries in the absence 
of a strategic plan for or review of 
the Library Service 

Interim Library Strategy presented as part of 
this report. 12-week consultation to inform 
Strategy and vision. Further consultation on 
options for new model to be undertaken. 
Full consultation will be undertaken for new 
operating model. 

The decision was made without a 
clear understanding of the extent 
and range of services which are 
core, not add on 

Clear approach to comprehensive and efficient 
and definition provided in this report. Core 
statutory function used as a key consideration 
throughout the process. 
Full consultation will be undertaken for new 
operating model. 

There was a further breach in 
relation to needs of deprived 
communities 

Socio-economic profiling and mapping has 
been undertaken to identify areas of highest 
needs and/or those affected by one or more 
indices of deprivation. 
Full consultation will be undertaken for new 
operating model. 

The Council displayed a “lack of 
logic” around closure decisions 

Clear methodology and approach as outlined 
in this report, using a suite of information and 
data to inform the development of a new 
operating model, including sites earmarked for 
closure and/or community asset transfer. 
Full consultation will be undertaken for new 
operating model. 

 

Page 207



 

 

3.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

Do Nothing Option 
 

3.1 The library service has been in a state of continuous scrutiny since 2009 when library 
closures were proposed as a result of a Strategic Asset Review. Since then, a 
number of options have been considered including creating a leisure and culture 
community interest company or charity, which was discounted on the grounds that 
the library service should be re-modelled before consideration could be given to 
handing over delivery to an arm’s length company.  
 

3.2 Maintaining the current provision ‘as is’ is not a viable option if we want to be able to 
deliver on the vision and priorities as set out in the emerging Library Strategy which 
seeks to reduce inequality across the borough. The service is expensive, many 
libraries are underused, staffing is stretched and there is a shortage of funding for 
books, IT facilities and building maintenance and modernisation. 
 

3.3 The preferred option (Option 3) presented in this report is the optimal balance 
between need and available resource and allows the Library Service to undertake 
vital service redesign and modernisation, divorcing itself from being just a physical 
location and focusing on the service delivered and innovative delivery models.  
 

3.4 The Council also has a statutory duty to set a balanced budget and the Library 
Service must commit to delivering an efficient, sustainable and value for money 
service that represents the need of Wirral’s residents and library users.  

  

Page 208



 

 

4.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

 

4.1 Wirral has 24 libraries which are supplemented by a Home Reader Service, an 
online Library, on site digital provision, IT suites and free Wi-Fi, which are aligned to 
the 4 Universal Library Offers and provide a statutory library offer. 

 
Pre COVID offer 
 

4.2 In addition to the above the service also offered a full calendar of activities and 
events (virtual and face to face) across the year at various sites. The service delivery 
was also supported on additional days by volunteers (“Library Express” offer) along 
with additional volunteer support at Wallasey Central Reference, Home Reader 
Service and some IT provision was supported with volunteers. The One Stop Shop 
service was also based in Heswall, Bebington, Eastham, Moreton, Rock Ferry and 
West Kirby libraries. 

 
4.3 The weekly opening hours offered via library staff were: 
 

Table 9: Pre-COVID Opening Hours 

Library Opening Hours 

Bebington Central 55 

Beechwood 18 

Birkenhead Central 48 

Bromborough 18 

Eastham 46 

Greasby 18 

Heswall 46 

Higher Bebington 18 

Hoylake 18 

Irby 18 

Leasowe 14 

Moreton 46 

New Ferry 0 

Pensby 18 

Prenton 18 

Ridgeway 0 

Rock Ferry 46 

Seacombe 18 

St James 18 

Upton 18 

Wallasey Central 48 

Wallasey Village 18 

West Kirby 51 

Woodchurch 18 

 

  

Page 209



 

 

Post COVID offer 
 

4.4 In August 2020 following the change in Government guidelines two Central libraries 
(Birkenhead and West Kirby) reopened for an Order and Collect service only, with 
the remaining two Central libraries at Bebington and Wallasey opening in December 
2020. Following the third lockdown the four Central Libraries reopened from May 
2021 adding browsing.to the Order and Collect Service 

 
4.5 From May to November 2021 a further eleven sites have reopened extending the 

service provision with all sites resuming the provision of IT facilities and the 
Reference service at Birkenhead Central Library. 
 

4.6 As of November 2021, there were 15 Libraries open with Wallasey Central Library 
also providing a One Stop Shop presence one day per week on an appointment 
basis. Options are still being developed to determine in what capacity the One Stop 
Shop service will return. However, plans are currently progressing to provide a One 
Stop Shop service at a number of sites with the frequency of their presence also still 
to be decided. 
 

4.7 The table below shows the current weekly hourly service provision via library staff 
along with those sites still to be mobilised as of November 2021: 
 
Table 10: Current Opening Hours (as of December 2021) 

Library Opening Hours 

Bebington Central 42 

Beechwood 7/11 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays)  

nb not yet reopened 

Birkenhead Central 42 

Bromborough 14/17 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays) 

Eastham 21/25 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays) 

Greasby 14/17 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays) 

Heswall 21/25 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays)  

nb not yet reopened as currently in use as a Testing Centre 

Higher Bebington 7/11 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays) 

Hoylake 14/17 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays)  

nb not yet reopened 

Irby 14/17 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays) 

Leasowe 7/11 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays)  

nb not yet reopened 

Moreton 21/25 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays) 

New Ferry 0 

Pensby 14/17 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays) 

Prenton 7/11 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays)  

nb not yet reopened 

Ridgeway 7/11 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays)  

nb not yet reopened 

Rock Ferry 21/25 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays) 

Seacombe 14/17 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays)  

Page 210



 

 

Library Opening Hours 

nb not yet reopened as currently in use as a Testing Centre 

St James 14/17 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays) 

Upton 14/17 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays) 

Wallasey Central 42 

Wallasey Village 14/17 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays) 

West Kirby 42 

Woodchurch 7/11 (due to opening on alternate Saturdays) nb not yet 

reopened 

 

 
4.8 With regards to library events and activities work is ongoing to safely reinstate these 

by considering advice from Asset Management, Public Health and Health and Safety 
colleagues, with regards to ventilation requirements which affects the numbers of 
attendees. Similarly, the service is looking to continue to engage with the volunteers 
that provided IT support, Reference Library (Wallasey Central), Home Reader 
Service, and Library Express so they can return in a safe manner. 

 
 
5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The Council is legally required to provide a balanced, sustainable, and legal budget 

as set out in the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP). The MTFP supports the 
delivery of the Wirral Plan and is key to ensuring the Council is financially 
sustainable. To support the setting of a balanced budget for 2021, the Council has 
had to apply to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) now the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) 
for a capitalisation directive also known as ‘Exceptional Financial Support’. In 
response, the Council must demonstrate what measures and interventions it will 
deliver to meet its statutory duty.  
 

5.2 The Library Service currently costs the Council £4,614,900 (see Table 5) with a 
higher-than-average cost per head of the population when compared with 
comparable authorities. In addition, the asset portfolio for Libraries is variable and 
complex requiring significant investment. It is not sustainable, neither does it 
represent value for money to continue delivering the Library Service in its current 
model. 

 
5.3 The preferred option (Option 3) currently represents the optimal balance between 

need and available resources whilst ensuring both the statutory duty to set a 
balanced budget and the provision of a comprehensive and efficient library service is 
met. This option will generate a saving of £814,365 if approved, pending the 
outcomes of a full consultation.  

 
 

  

Page 211



 

 

6.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 

6.1 Section 7 of the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 states: 
 
General duty of library authorities. 
 
(1) It shall be the duty of every library authority to provide a comprehensive and 

efficient library service for all persons desiring to make use thereof, . . .  

Provided that although a library authority shall have power to make facilities 

for the borrowing of books and other materials available to any persons it shall 

not by virtue of this subsection be under a duty to make such facilities 

available to persons other than those whose residence or place of work is 

within the library area of the authority or who are undergoing full-time 

education within that area. 

(2) In fulfilling its duty under the preceding subsection, a library authority shall in 

particular have regard to the desirability— 

(a) of securing, by the keeping of adequate stocks, by arrangements with other 

library authorities, and by any other appropriate means, that facilities are 

available for the borrowing of, or reference to, books and other printed matter, 

and pictures, gramophone records, films and other materials, sufficient in 

number, range and quality to meet the general requirements and any special 

requirements both of adults and children; and 

(b) of encouraging both adults and children to make full use of the library service, 

and of providing advice as to its use and of making available such 

bibliographical and other information as may be required by persons using it; 

and 

(c) of securing, in relation to any matter concerning the functions both of the 

library authority as such and any other authority whose functions are 

exercisable within the library area, that there is full co-operation between the 

persons engaged in carrying out those functions. 

 
6.2 In 2011, a court judgement (Bailey vs Brent) interprets the above as: 

 
“A comprehensive service cannot mean that every resident lives close to a library. 
This has never been the case. 'Comprehensive' has therefore been taken to mean 
delivering a service that is accessible by all residents using reasonable means, 
including digital technologies. An efficient service must make the best use of the 
assets available in order to meet its core objectives and vision, recognising the 
constraints on Council resources. Decisions about the Service must be embedded 
within a clear strategic framework which draws upon evidence about needs and 
aspirations across the diverse communities of the Borough.” 
 

6.3 Section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999 imposes a duty on the Council to make 
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way its functions are 
exercised having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
(the Best Value Duty).  
 

Page 212



 

 

6.4 To decide how to fulfil its Best Value Duty the Council must consult representatives 
of local taxpayers, users of the service in question and of persons who have an 
interest in the areas of the Borough likely to be affected by any proposed changes in 
policies and strategies underpinning the delivery of services to the public. 
 

6.5 Consultation must in law be done at a formative stage of the process, must set out 
clearly what the proposals are and the reasons for them, must allow sufficient time 
for the consultees to respond. The responses must be conscientiously considered by 
the decision maker when it reaches a decision which in turn must take into account 
only relevant considerations, disregard irrelevant factors and be within the bounds of 
reasonableness and not perverse. 
 

6.6 The Library Service must also be considerate of the following throughout the process 
of consulting on, developing, and delivering a new operating model: 

 

• 1964 Public Libraries and Museums Act 

• 2010 Equality Act – Public Sector Equality Duty (Section 149) 

• 1998 Human Rights Act 

• Best Value Duty 2011 

• Localism Act 2011 

 
 

6.7 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
Staffing 

 
Background and pre COVID 

 
6.8 The library service has seen a reduction in staff numbers over a number of years 

without any accompanying site closures. In 2014/15 following the Future Council 
savings exercise there was a reduction in staff numbers linked to the reduction of 
opening hours across a number of libraries. However, this model still had, for 
example, all sites open on Saturday morning’s and with the reduced staffing 
resource created an unrealistic expectation that all sites would be opened on a 
consistent basis.  
 

6.9 Since 2014/15 smaller numbers of staff have left the service as part of EVR 
exercises linked to corporate savings requirements.  During 2021/22, as part of the 
budget savings for Neighbourhoods, 7.2 FTE were released creating a saving of 
£256,000. There are currently a number of vacant posts in the service some of which 
predate COVID. 

 
 
  

Page 213



 

 

Current situation 
 
6.10 With the release of staff via EVR this financial year and vacancies not being filled the 

service has remobilised post Covid with a different interim operational model which 
utilises available staff resources to provide the best consistent service possible to 
users. This means that except for the Central Libraries where the offer has been 
amended to reflect a new six-day operation, the majority of smaller libraries are now 
open for a shorter duration during the week than they were previously. For example: 

 

• Sites are now open alternate Saturday mornings rather than every Saturday 

morning 

• Some libraries are open 3 days per week rather than 6 days 

• Some libraries are open 1 day a week instead of 2 

 
6.11 This approach ensures that a consistent service is offered to residents and greatly 

reduces the need for any ad hoc closures. 
 
 

Options for a new model 
 
6.12 There is a need to maintain sufficient staffing resource to try to provide resilience to 

the service i.e., to open and cover leave, training and sickness whilst also resourcing 
future development of the service and provide activities and events that are valued 
by residents. In an independent needs analysis carried out by Shared Intelligence in 
2017 these issues were highlighted. 
 

6.13 By reducing the number of libraries and making alternate provision such as a 
mobile/self-serviced library there will be an impact on staff resources and buildings 
required.  
 

6.14 The preferred option (Option 3) would have the least impact as it would require a 
greater number of staff and buildings. The exact impact and structure of the model 
will be assessed when the preferred option has been agreed and consulted on. It 
needs to be highlighted that even with EVR there may be the need for redeployment 
or potentially compulsory redundancies. Consultation on the proposals will include 
staff and any changes involving staff will be managed in consultation with the staff 
and Trade Unions.                                            
 
 

  

Page 214



 

 

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1 The following represent the key areas considered for potential risks during the 

development of a Library Strategy and options for a new operating model: 
 

• The impact of the Equality Act 2010  

• The Human Rights Act 1998  

• The possibility of judicial review on decisions that might be made by Members  

• The risk of complaints to the Ombudsman  

• Reputational risks to the Council  

• Ensuring that contractual (including employment) provisions and requirements 

are adhered to  

• The possibility of other legal proceedings, including employment tribunals 

 
7.2 The above has influenced decision making when balancing need in the context of 

available resource. In addition, Table 8 (Section 2) outlines how the 
recommendations from the previous judicial review have been considered.  

 
7.3 The proposals presented in this report represents the single most significant change 

in the history of the Library Service. There is a risk and a challenge in affording 
sufficient Council resource to manage and deliver this change. Library Services are 
engaged with corporate design and transformation support and there will need to be 
a commitment for this to continue throughout the consultation period and emerging 
model. 
 

7.4 A key mitigation is ongoing engagement with DCMS in their superintending role. A 
meeting is being held between Library Services and DCMS to discuss the library 
proposals (including preferred Option 3). Although DCMS cannot validate an option 
before formal procedure, this will provide critical feedback on our approach to date. 

 
7.5 Based on the previous Library Services review and subsequent inquiry in 2009 there 

is a likely risk of call in and challenge against the proposals as detailed. The Council 
should expect delays occurring through formal process and assurance review from 
DCMS and the Secretary of State. This process is to allow ‘minded to 
representations’ for the secretary of state from library users or interested persons. 
Based on recent notices this period can vary significantly and is case by case 
dependant (few months to a year - indicative) (see Ministerial letters regarding 
representations made about local library services - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)). 

 
 
  

Page 215



 

 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 As detailed in Section 6 (Legal Implications) the three options and preferred Option 

(Option 3) will be subject to a formal consultation with representatives of service 
users, residents, and stakeholders for an agreed and defined period. That period 
should not be less than 8 weeks or longer than 12 weeks. The outcomes of this 
consultation will inform and influence the preferred option and will be presented back 
to a meeting of this Committee at a future date.  
 

8.2 Consultation with staff and Trade Unions will also take place to address staffing 
impact and ensure staff are fully supported throughout this period of change.  
 

8.3 Engagement with the DCMS has been ongoing throughout the development of the 
emerging Library Strategy and development of options for a future operating model. 
A further meeting is being held with DCMS in January 2022. 
 

8.4 To address the asset implications of the preferred option, Asset Management 
Services have been consulted throughout this process to ensure future options and 
use are fully considered. 

 
 
9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 The equality impact assessment for this report can be found here: 

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments  
 

9.2 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 imposes a duty upon the Council when 
discharging its duty to provide a comprehensive and efficient library service to have 
due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity 
for, and foster good relations with, persons who have protected characteristics which 
include age, disability, race ,religion and belief and gender. 
 

9.3 The equality impact assessment seeks to identify any adverse impact of the 
proposals in options on persons with protected characteristics and to identify 
measures that can be taken to mitigate or eliminate such adverse impacts. The 
assessment will be refined following the public consultation on the options and will 
form part of the report which will be presented to the Committee before it reaches its 
final decision. 
 

9.4 In particular, the Council in delivering Library services must not discriminate against 
those with protected characteristics and must make reasonable adjustments to 
remove disadvantages that are suffered by disabled persons in gaining access to the 
services. 

 
 
  

Page 216

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments


 

 

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 

10.1 The environmental and climate implications on an emerging preferred option (post- 
consultation) will be iteratively reviewed against its impact and opportunities for 
driving best practice and efficiencies. Some areas of consideration will be: 
 

• Opportunities for external funding and investment for retrofit measure and 

interventions that increase the efficiency and sustainability of Libraries asset 

portfolio 

• Ensuring libraries are a key consideration under the Councils climate agenda 

and decarbonisation programme 

• Positive environmental impacts driven via digital efficiencies (e.g. reduced 

printing, increase access to digital media – online library) 

• Implications on increased car travel from users as a result of a new operating 

model (driving behaviour change and ensuring sustainable transport modes 

are available and accessible) 

 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 Under the Library Strategy and preferred operating model, libraries are seen as a 

key catalyst to physical development and opportunities for individuals and groups of 
residents in Wirral. This includes ensuring everyone has equal opportunities and 
skills to empower them from school readiness to employment and beyond. 
 

11.2 The Library Service will look to develop a shared programme of work with Life Long 
Learning to provide Essential Digital Skills for those transitioning between careers or 
as an entry route to employment. 
 

11.3 In addition, Birkenhead Library has just become an arm of the regional Business & 
Intellectual Property Centre (BIPC) which is designed to provide any individual or 
business with specialist help and support. They offer free to use databases which 
offer up to date business and market information, one-to-one business and 
intellectual property advice, dedicated workspaces, workshops and other events as 
well as access to a network of businesses and advisors.  

 
 
REPORT AUTHOR:  
 
Andrew McCartan 
Assistant Director – Leisure, Libraries and Customer Engagement 
andrewmccartan@wirral.gov.uk 
 
  

Page 217



 

 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Libraries Consultation Report 
Appendix 2 – PowerBI Dashboard Example 
Appendix 3 – Library Strategy 
Appendix 4 – Mapped Figures 
Appendix 5 – Libraries Accessibility Assessment 
Appendix 6 – Libraries Needs Assessment 
Appendix 7 – WBC Design Principles Assessment 
Appendix 8 – Mobile Library Provision  
Appendix 9 – Service Definitions 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Tourism, Communities, Cultures & Leisure Committee, Monday 23rd November 2020 – 
‘Library Strategy and New Library Model’ 
 
Tourism, Communities, Cultures & Leisure Committee, Wednesday 16th June 2020 – ‘Draft 
Library Strategy And New Library Model Consultation Update’ 
 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 
 

Council Meeting  Date 

Tourism, Communities, Culture & Leisure Committee 
 
Tourism, Communities, Culture & Leisure Committee 

Monday 23rd November 
2020  
Wednesday 16th June 2020 
 

 
 

Page 218



 

 

 

Wirral Libraries Strategy 

Public Consultation Report 

 

 
  

Consultation: 28 June to 20 September 2021 
Report: 5 November 2021 

Page 219



2 

 

 

Contents 
 

1.0 Executive Summary ....................................................................................... 6 

1.1 Key Findings .............................................................................................. 7 

1.1.1 The Questionnaire .............................................................................. 7 

1.1.2 Ideas Board ......................................................................................... 9 

1.1.3 Events and Stakeholder Sessions ...................................................... 10 

2.0 Methodology .............................................................................................. 11 

2.1 Summary of Engagement ........................................................................ 11 

2.2 Questionnaire ......................................................................................... 12 

2.3 Ideas Board ............................................................................................. 12 

2.4 Events and Stakeholder Sessions ............................................................. 12 

2.4.1 Engagement in Wirral Libraries Open During the Consultation ......... 13 

2.4.2 Engagement held near to Wirral Libraries Closed During the 

Consultation .............................................................................................. 13 

2.4.3 Specific Engagement with Young People ........................................... 14 

2.4.4 Engagement with Key Stakeholders .................................................. 14 

2.4.6 Staff Engagement ............................................................................. 15 

2.5 Direct Representations ............................................................................ 16 

2.6 Interpretation of Results ......................................................................... 16 

2.7 Communications ..................................................................................... 16 

3.0 Results ........................................................................................................ 18 

3.1 Questionnaire Results ............................................................................. 18 

Question 1. Who are you? ......................................................................... 18 

Question 2. If you live on the Wirral, which area of the borough do you live 

in? ............................................................................................................. 20 

Page 220



3 

 

 

Question 3. Are you a library member? ..................................................... 22 

Question 4. Do you, or have you, visited one of our library buildings, or 

used the home reader service? .................................................................. 23 

Question 5. Which of Wirral’s libraries do you use the most? .................... 24 

Question 6. How often do you use the library? .......................................... 26 

Question 7. How do you get to the library? ............................................... 28 

Question 8. Why do you visit the library? .................................................. 30 

Question 9. What other services would you like to access from this library?

 .................................................................................................................. 33 

Question 10. Why do you not use the library service? ............................... 36 

Question 11. What services could we offer that would make you want to 

use the library? ......................................................................................... 39 

Question 12. Do you use the online library? .............................................. 43 

Question 13. Why do you use the online library? ...................................... 44 

Questions 14 and 15. During the last year, did you use the online library 

more, and will you continue to use the online library? .............................. 46 

Question 16. What other services would you like to access from the online 

library? ...................................................................................................... 47 

Question 17. Why do you not use the online library? ................................ 50 

Question 18. What other services could we offer through our online 

library? ...................................................................................................... 53 

Question 19. What do you think about the service that Wirral Libraries 

provide? .................................................................................................... 57 

Question 20. We would like to know more about how you feel about the 

library service, please can you tell us how you feel about the following 

statements: ............................................................................................... 58 

Page 221



4 

 

 

Question 21. Rank which services are most important to you, from 1 (most 

important) to 4 (least important). ............................................................. 62 

Question 22. Which of the four different types of libraries in the draft 

library strategy would be most suitable for the library that you use the 

most? ........................................................................................................ 63 

Question 23. Who do you think could support the council to deliver the 

library service? .......................................................................................... 64 

Question 24. Would you like to be involved with running a library? .......... 67 

Question 25. How much time would you be able to give to the library 

service? ..................................................................................................... 68 

Question 26: What support would you need to get involved with a 

community managed library? .................................................................... 70 

Question 27: We would like to contact you further about your interest to 

be involved. If you are happy to be contacted by us about this, please 

provide your email address below. ............................................................ 71 

Question 28: Do you have any further comments or ideas about our draft 

Library Strategy or how we can improve the library service to meet your 

needs? ....................................................................................................... 72 

3.2 Ideas Board Responses ............................................................................ 77 

3.3 Events and Stakeholder Sessions ............................................................. 79 

3.3.1 Engagement Held Near to Wirral Libraries Closed During the 

Consultation .............................................................................................. 79 

3.3.2 Specific Engagement with Young People ........................................... 81 

3.3.3 Engagement with Key Stakeholders .................................................. 83 

3.3.4 Staff Engagement ............................................................................. 83 

4.0 Demographics and Site Traffic ..................................................................... 84 

4.1 Demographics ......................................................................................... 84 

4.2 Site Traffic ............................................................................................... 89 

Page 222



5 

 

 

5.0 Appendices ................................................................................................. 90 

Appendix 1: Feedback Summary Notes from Events Held in Venues Near 

Closed Libraries ............................................................................................. 90 

Appendix 2: Direct Representations .............................................................. 98 

Appendix 3: Locations for Posters Communicating the Engagement ........... 104 

 

  

Page 223



6 

 

 

1.0 Executive Summary 
Public libraries are trusted, free to enter and open to all, they are safe spaces and are gateways 

to literature, information, knowledge, and opportunities. They play a crucial role in ensuring the 

social, cultural, and economic wellbeing of individuals and communities. They help jobseekers 

find opportunities, offer courses and digital skills training, provide essential support to people 

applying for welfare benefits, and provide spaces in which people can be creative. They can act 

as venues for concerts, exhibitions, or performances, and enable groups with shared interests 

to meet. Public libraries can provide information about health and health services, and reading 

well programmes, as well as being neutral spaces for third sector organisations to provide 

information and advice. 

Wirral Council is developing a new Library Strategy with an aim to modernise our libraries to 

ensure that they meet today’s needs, targeting our resources to where the local need is 

greatest. We want to ensure that we deliver best value through pooling resources across the 

public and voluntary sector wherever possible. We will aim to create community hubs, with 

libraries as an integral part to enhance services for our communities and enrich resident’s lives. 

The Library Strategy consultation was designed to obtain the views and ideas of residents and 

stakeholders to inform the development of the new Library Strategy. 

The public consultation focused on a number of different themes. Information was requested 

about current libraries to find out what facilities and services worked for residents, and which 

don’t. People were asked what would improve the service including things such as better book 

collections, more eBooks and eAudio availability, event space, dedicated work and study pods 

or digital creative spaces for video editing or gaming suites. Residents could also feed in on 

ideas on who should run the library and if a community managed library is something they 

would like to be involved with. 

All feedback will be used to develop the final version of the Library Strategy for the next five 

years and help the council offer a sustainable library service that meets the needs of the 

community both now, and for future generations. 

A summary of key findings is set out below. 

  

Page 224



7 

 

 

1.1 Key Findings 

1.1.1 The Questionnaire 
 

• A total of 1,562 survey responses were received, 1,073 online responses to the survey, 
459 paper copies and 30 Easy Read forms. All the responses have been amalgamated 
and are reported on as a whole. 

• 90.8% of respondents stated that they were Wirral residents.  

• Bebington and Greasby, Frankby & Irby areas of Wirral were, equally, the most well 
represented areas of Wirral.   Clatterbridge & Claughton were least represented (0.9% 
each). 

o Amongst under 16-year-olds, Bebington (22.2%) was the most represented area.  

• 89.9% of respondents overall are library members. Of those respondents aged under 16, 
52.2% are library members. 

• 93.6% of all respondents and 71.4% of under 16s have visited one of Wirral’s libraries or 
used the Home Reader service.  

• The libraries that are most used by respondents are: 
o West Kirby Library (11.8%) 
o Wallasey Central (11.6%) 
o Bebington (11.2%) 
o Birkenhead Central (10.9%) 
o The libraries most used by under 16s are Birkenhead Central (37.5%) and 

Bromborough (18.8%). 

• The most common frequency to use the library is once a month (40.4%) followed by 
once a week (33.8%).  

o Under 16s were also most likely to visit the library once a month (31.6%). 

• The most popular mode of travel to the library was on foot (65.4%), followed by car 
(43.9%).  

o Under 16s were also most likely to travel to the library on foot (73.7%) and by 
car (57.9%).   

• The most prevalent reason by far to visit the library is to borrow and return books 
(89.9%), and this is also reflected amongst under 16s (80.0%). 

• A café (51.1%) was the most prevalent thing that respondents would like from their 
library both overall (51.1%) and amongst under 16s (53.3%).   

• Most respondents provided an ‘other’ reason that they do not use the library (40.9%) 
which was predominantly that their local library is closed due to Covid-19 restrictions 
(15.0%).   

o Most under 16s (44.4%) cited their main reason for not using the library service 
as that they do not live close enough to a library. 

• In common with question 9, The most popular service that would make respondents 
want to use the library are café facilities (54.5%), followed by events for adults (36.4%) 
such as talks or author events.  

Page 225



8 

 

 

o Under 16s would also like a café (50.0%), as well as creative spaces (40.0%). 
 

 
The online library 
 

• The majority of respondents both overall (70.5%) and under 16 (84.6%) do not use the 
online library. 

• Amongst those who do use the online library, the most common reason is to download 
e-books (64.3%).   

o Under 16s are most likely to use the online library for research purposes (75.0%). 

• The majority of respondents, both overall (61.1%) and aged under 16 (66.7%) used the 
online library more during the last year. 

• 74.9% of overall respondents will continue to use the online library, however the 
majority of under 16s (57.1%) stated they would not continue to do so. 

• The top services that people would like to access from the online library are a wider 
variety of book genres (53.9%) and an increase in the numbers of e-book titles available 
for loan (52.7%).   

o Under 16s would like archive information, a library service app and streamed 
film (40.0% each) from their online library. 

• The main reason that people do not use the online library is that they do not like to read 
e-books or listen to audio books (34.8%).  

o Amongst under 16s it is that they were unaware of what services they could 
access online (31.6%). 

• The most desired service on the online library is archive information (38.4%) such as old 
photographs & soundbites, followed by an increased availability of e-books – more 
items available to loan of each item (29.3%).   

o Under 16s wished for a wider variety of eBook genres to be available (30.0%). 
 

Libraries Service 
 

• The majority of respondents, 73.2% of respondents felt positively about the service 
provided by Wirral Libraries. Most under 16s thought that the service was good (50%) or 
very good (11.5%). 

• Most respondents either strongly agree (50.5%) or agree (37.7%) that the library staff 
are helpful and knowledgeable. Under 16s also agree (82.4%) or strongly agree (11.8%). 

• Most respondents either strongly agree (59.1%) or agree (31.0%) that they feel welcome 
and safe at the library. Under 16s also agree (41.2%%) or strongly agree (41.2%). 

• Most respondents either strongly agree (56.4%) or agree (34.0%) that they feel the 
library service is useful. Under 16s also agree (47.1%). 

• Most respondents either agree (32.2%) or strongly agree (24.7%) that the library 
opening hours are helpful. 

• Under 16s neither agree nor disagree that opening hours are helpful (37.5%). 

Page 226



9 

 

 

• Most respondents both overall (38.8%) and under 16 (43.8%) neither agree nor disagree 
that they feel confident accessing the online library. 

• Reading (reading groups/challenges/books) was deemed the most important service, 
gaining an average rank of 1.51 (where 1 is most important and 4 is least important), 
with 19.8% of overall respondents and 19.0% of under 16s ranking it as ‘most 
important’. 

• The type of library that most respondents felt would be most suitable for the library that 
they use the most is a Neighbourhood Library (48.8%).  Conversely, under 16s preferred 
the Central Library option (42.1%). 

• Respondents predominantly thought that community groups (58.9%) and volunteers 
(56.1%) could support the council to deliver the library service.  Under 16s though that 
volunteers, (46.2%) could support the council. 

• Most respondents both overall (70.6%) and aged under 16 (52.9%) would not like to be 
involved with running a library.  

• Most respondents felt that they would be able to help the library service a few times a 
month (42.8%) or once a week (36.3%).  Under 16s can mostly help once a week 
(40.0%). 

• The most prevalent type of support that people indicated that they would need to get 
involved with a community managed library both overall (47.3%) and amongst young 
people (50.0%) was additional facilities. 

• 360 people, including 2 under 16s, provided contact information to enable follow up 
discussion regarding volunteering, 23.0% of the total respondents. 

• Respondents were asked if they had any further comments or ideas about the draft 
Library Strategy or how the library service can be improved to meet their needs.   The 
top theme was to open libraries (32.0% of the comments).  Many respondents were 
requesting that libraries that have been closed due to the Covid-19 pandemic are 
opened, some were saying keep libraries open in general, and some were saying that 
local libraries are needed. 

 

1.1.2 Ideas Board 
 
71 contributors submitted or commented on 66 ideas to the ideas board tool. Visitors to the 
board were able to ‘vote’ for ideas that they liked. Common themes amongst the ideas were: 

• Events (41 Ideas) – respondents suggested events they wanted at libraries including: 
children’s events, more courses, guest speakers / authors 

• Facilities (17 ideas) – café facilities, agile workspaces, and to improve computer access 
and support 

• Staffing (13 ideas) – use some volunteers, paid staff needed 

• Open libraries (10 ideas) – open libraries after the Covid-19 closures, keep libraries open 
in general, local libraries needed 

• Community hub (10 ideas) – libraries should be community hubs 

• Books (9 ideas) – greater variety of books needed, concentrate on books, rotate books. 

Page 227



10 

 

 

 

1.1.3 Events and Stakeholder Sessions 
 
A number of events were held in the community and key stakeholders. The key findings are 
outlined here: 
 
Community Events Held Near Closed Libraries  
 
Key themes: 

• That libraries were seen as an essential service and important community hubs for social 
interactions and to support people including those experiencing loneliness and mental 
health issues.  

• Those involved would like libraries to be re-opened post Covid-19 and to stay open. They 
would like a greater variety of books available and better use of space within libraries.  

• That buildings were outdated, and some had poor appearance and that more funding was 
needed for libraries. 

• Respondents also noted that communication with communities about the libraries, their 
opening times, and the offer available in libraries could be improved. 

 
Specific Engagement with Young People  
 
At specific engagement sessions in two schools, key findings include: 

• 52% of those asked (14 out of 27 students) had never used a library. 

• 25% of those asked (18 out of 72 students) still used a library. 

• 14% of those asked (10 out of 72 students) were aware of the online library. 

• 4% of those asked (1 out of 27 students) used the online library. 
 
Engagement with Key Stakeholders 
 

• Public accessibility of libraries was important.  

• Public transport was important to users with disabilities, so libraries with good public 
transport links were key. 

• Wirral Evolutions model of work experience and employment for people with disabilities 
could be possible through Library cafes. 

• The Autism friendly libraries message was not being conveyed to the community and 
could be improved. 

• The value of the Home Reader Service was noted. 

• There may be potential for health partners in Wirral to link residents they worked with 
to library services, with a focus on supporting their health and wellbeing and to improve 
people’s use of digital technology.  

Page 228



11 

 

 

2.0 Methodology 
 
A range of engagement methods were developed to collect feedback through different routes 
to optimise the engagement approach and to enable access to all those who wanted to take 
part. 
 

2.1 Summary of Engagement 

To help shape the Library Strategy and delivery model options, a public consultation was carried 
out using Wirral Council’s ‘Have Your Say’ consultation portal at 
www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk.  
 
To inform people about the engagement key documents were published on the webpage and 
were available for download. These included an overview of the consultation and a set of 
Frequently Asked Questions, the Draft Library Strategy, and an easy read version of the survey.  
The questionnaire was published on the website to allow residents to answer the questions 
online. To ensure accessibility respondents were able to request paper copies of the survey and 
an easy read version. Paper copies were made available in different venues and any groups 
could request a set of copies as required. In addition, people could contact the team directly 
and submit additional comments via a dedicated email address, which was published on the 
Have Your Say site.  
 
An ideas board was available online where participants could both submit their own ideas and 
interact with other people’s ideas by ‘liking’ and commenting on them. 
 
In addition to these tools a series of events and key stakeholder sessions were offered and held 
to allow people to talk directly to Library Staff, get their questions answered and feedback their 
views and comments. This included sessions in the community, in schools, with Council staff 
and at specific stakeholder meetings. 
 
At six week and nine-week periods during the consultation the responses received were 
analysed in relation to the demographics of responses at those time points. Following this 
analysis communications were reviewed and targeted to specific areas and through different 
communication methods to different age groups. The aim was to maximise the reach of the 
engagement and ensure that all residents interested in providing feedback would be able to 
engage. 
 
Library Officers were in contact with the Department of Culture Media and Sport (DCMS). Two 
meetings took place with the DCMS on 21st May 2021 and 18th June 2021 to update on activity 
and to provide an informal check on the approach and methodology to the consultation.   
 

Page 229

http://www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/


12 

 

 

 

2.2 Questionnaire  

The consultation questionnaire was developed to enable participants to share their views about 
Wirral Libraries and the draft Library Strategy. 
 
The public consultation focused on several different themes. Information was requested about 
current libraries to find out what facilities and services work for residents, and which don’t. 
People were asked what would improve the service including things such as better book 
collections, more eBooks and eAudio availability, event space, dedicated work and study pods 
or digital creative spaces for video editing or gaming suites. Residents could also feed in on 
ideas on who should run the library and if a community managed library is something they 
would like to be involved with. 
 
Paper copies of the questionnaire were available at Wirral’s Libraries and could be provided on 
request as required.  Questionnaires were available for people to complete at all the planned 
events. All Home Readers that could be contacted within the engagement period were 
provided with a survey and letter explaining it. Direct engagement with all Wirral schools 
enabled young people to access paper copies as it was possible that they were less able to 
engage online due to the requirement to provide an email address. 
 
1,073 online questionnaires were completed and submitted. 489 paper copies of the 
questionnaire were received as well as 30 easy read forms. These responses were aggregated 
into the online survey results to ensure the views were represented in the final analysis. 
 

2.3 Ideas Board 

The Ideas Board was set up to allow respondents to submit their own ideas about the draft 
Library Strategy, these could be approved and commented on by other members of the public.  
The information provided was reviewed and coded based on content and a set of themes were 
identified to allow reporting. 71 contributors submitted or commented on 66 ideas to the ideas 
board tool.  
 

2.4 Events and Stakeholder Sessions  

The Library Strategy engagement approach utilised a range of different methods to ensure that 
all who wanted to engage would be able to be involved in the opportunity.  
 
Alongside the questionnaire and Ideas board, a range of events and opportunities for discussion 
were available. The planned events were spread across a wide range of venues throughout the 
Wirral to enable accessibility to residents and stakeholders from different areas. Opportunities 
for meetings were offered to a range of key stakeholders to enable residents and stakeholders 

Page 230



13 

 

 

to be involved in discussions, ask questions, and provide their views. The events and planned 
sessions included: 

• In Libraries that were open staff raised awareness of the engagement, could answer any 
questions, and provide questionnaires. 

• Events were planned across the Wirral near to closed Libraries (see Table 1). 

• Young People engagement with a specific focus on schools. 

• External Key Stakeholder Meetings were offered and held (see Table 2). 

• Library Staff and other Council Staff engagement. 
 

2.4.1 Engagement in Wirral Libraries Open During the Consultation 
Some of Wirral’s Libraries were open during the engagement period. In these Libraries staff 
were able to raise awareness of the engagement with Library users. They signposted people to 
the online tools, provided paper copies of the questionnaire as requested and were able to 
answer any questions raised. All the questionnaires completed in Libraries were collated with 
the online responses. 
 

2.4.2 Engagement held near to Wirral Libraries Closed During the Consultation 
Due to Covid-19 several Libraries were closed during the engagement timescales. As a result, a 
series of other venues near to closed Libraries across Wirral were used to hold engagement 
events. Table 1 lists the venues and dates events were held. The aim was to ensure all who 
wanted to engage would be able to be involved in the opportunity. The events were publicised 
through numerous communication channels.  
 
Each event allowed discussion of the draft Library Strategy, people to raise any questions, to 
discuss options and ideas for libraries in the community and to input their ideas on the future of 
Wirral’s libraries. Questionnaires were also made available for people to complete. At each 
event notes were taken, and key themes were identified and collated. The notes from each 
meeting are included in Appendix 1 and the key themes outlined in the Results section of this 
report. 
 

Location Date 

Pyramids Shopping Centre, Birkenhead 09/09/2021 

Cherry Tree Shopping Centre, Liscard 31/08/2021 

Little Beechwood Centre  20/08/2021 

St James Centre, Birkenhead 20/08/2021 

Heswall (outside library) 19/08/2021 

Seacombe Children's Centre  23/08/2021 

Heart of Egremont   24/08/2021 

Pensby - Kylemore Community Centre 06/09/2021 

Leasowe Leisure Centre 28/08/2021 

Page 231



14 

 

 

Irby - St Chad's Church 03/09/2021 

Moreton - Lingham Park 04/09/2021 

Hoylake - Melrose Hall 08/09/2021 

Upton - Victory Hall 17/09/2021 

Noctorum - St Andrews Church 13/09/2021 

Table 1: Community Events Held in the areas of closed libraries. 

 

2.4.3 Specific Engagement with Young People 
Alongside community events, to ensure that the views of young people were captured to help 
develop our future Library Strategy a range of activities were held involving schools and young 
people. In addition to this young people were able to submit their feedback through the online 
portal and to engage in the community meetings.  
 
In July 2021 communication, supported by Wirral Schools Library Service, was carried out with 
all Wirral schools to ask them to advise students of the library consultation and encourage their 
involvement and to ensure schools could also engage. The Merseyside School Librarian 
Association Branch were also provided with an engagement process with an offer of Library 
staff to visit schools and for paper copies to be provided.  
 
To enhance the engagement with young people Wirral Council Library staff offered to attend 
schools to talk to students. Upton Hall’s School Librarian facilitated dedicated engagement 
sessions with pupils and St. John Plessington took up the offer and discussion groups were held 
with students in the school and some students completed the survey.  
 
The Hive was contacted to organise sessions with young people, however due to Covid-19 in 
person meetings were paused for a while and no direct meetings were able to be held. The Hive 
staff were provided with information about the engagement and how to access it to enable 
them to share this with young people. Library staff also attended the online Youth Collective to 
increase awareness of the consultation. 
 

2.4.4 Engagement with Key Stakeholders 
In planning the engagement, a stakeholder analysis was undertaken with the aim to ensure that 
communication was held with all stakeholders who could enhance the findings from the 
engagement to aid evidence-based decision making.  
 
All identified key stakeholder groups were offered meetings to discuss the library engagement. 
Key stakeholders included those that were already engaged in delivery of Library services such 
as Library Friends and Express groups, strategic leaders in Wirral who may provide information 
in relation to possible co-location options including health and wellbeing partners, and 
organisations specifically representing key groups such as Together We Are Able. 

Page 232



15 

 

 

 
Library ‘Friends’ and Library ‘Express’ Groups were invited to live events at the Floral Pavilion 
on the morning and afternoon of 27 July 2021. Questions could be submitted to Library Officers 
prior to the event or raised on the day. If groups were unable to attend these sessions online 
sessions were also offered to ensure there was an opportunity for all those who wanted to 
directly engage to do so. 
 
At each event notes were taken, and key themes were identified and collated. The key themes 
are outlined in the Results section of this report. Those involved were also signposted to the 
questionnaire to submit their views and any further thoughts after the sessions. 
 

Stakeholder Group Date 
Delamere Centre 16/07/2021 

Wirral Development Trust (Leasowe) 03/09/2021 

North Birkenhead Development Trust (St James) 07/09/2021 

Together We Are Able 09/08/2021 

Supported Living Forum 21/04/2021 

Residential Forum 28/04/2021 

Domiciliary Care Event 07/05/2021 

CCG System Inequalities Group 11/05/2021 

Wirral Health and Care Implementation Group 25/05/2021 

Bromborough Library Friends Group 27/07/2021 

Bromborough Library Express Group 27/07/2021 

Birkenhead Friends Group 27/07/2021 

Greasby Friends Group 27/07/2021 

Greasby Library Express Group 27/07/2021 

Irby Friends Group 27/07/2021 

Irby Library Express Group 27/07/2021 

Pensby Express Group 27/07/2021 

Wallasey Central Library Friends Group 27/07/2021 

  

  

Table 2: Key Stakeholder Engagement and dates of events. 

2.4.6 Staff Engagement  
A staff programme was developed to ensure meaningful engagement and ensure Library staff 
were fully briefed on the draft strategy. It also provided an opportunity for staff to get any 
questions answered, contribute ideas and complete questionnaires. 
 

Page 233



16 

 

 

For Library staff an online session was held, which was recorded. 73 library staff attended the 
session. A range of questions were asked by staff and questions were answered. There was an 
opportunity for all staff to email further questions following the event which were answered. 
Staff were asked to feed in their thoughts and ideas through completion of the questionnaire.  
 
All Council staff were advised of the library engagement through a range of internal 
communications. Library officers attended all Directorate Management Team Meetings to raise 
awareness and Library officers were available to speak to groups of staff if requested. Council 
staff were asked to feed in their thoughts and ideas through completion of the questionnaire. 
 

2.5 Direct Representations  

Alongside questionnaire submissions three direct representations were received from specific 
groups (1) and individuals (2) by email or post. These were specifically about Upton Library and 
the Birkenhead Reference Service. These representations were reviewed and used to inform 
decision making by the Library Team. The text of the representations is available in Appendix 2.  
 

2.6 Interpretation of Results 

In terms of the results, it is important to note that: 

• Percentages have been calculated using the number of respondents to each question as 
the denominator. 

• Some questions are multi-coded, meaning respondents can choose more than one option.  
Due to this, where a question is multi-coded there are more responses than respondents, 
meaning total percentages will exceed 100%.  Where this is the case the total percent 
figure is omitted from data tables to avoid confusion. 

• Many questions provide an ‘Other (please specify)’ free text field.  Where percentages are 
stated in relation to ‘other’ comments, they have been calculated using the number of 
respondents to the relevant question as a denominator. 

• All free text questions that invited respondents to write in comments are multi-coded and 
therefore add up to more than 100 percent. 

• In order that they can be summarised, all free text responses to the public consultation 
have been categorised using a ‘tagging’ system based on the main themes arising from the 
comment.  Comments may cover multiple themes, therefore there are more comment 
categories than comments. 

• Young people’s (under 16s) responses are highlighted within the narrative. 
 

2.7 Communications 

The consultation was promoted in several ways both generally and by signposting specific 
groups to the part of the consultation most relevant to them. The Covid-19 virus continues to 
place limitations on our efforts to engage with our local communities however, to raise 

Page 234



17 

 

 

awareness amongst as many residents, stakeholders, and business as possible, a full 
communications campaign, utilising a variety of communications channels, was delivered. This 
included: 

• Organic social media (mix of platforms for corporate and Wirral Libraries)  

• Paid for social media (mix of corporate platforms and some posts were specifically 
targeted areas with low response rate) 

• Paid for newspaper ad (ad placed in Wirral Globe newspaper) 

• Resident Email (inclusion in 12 editions)  

• Press/ Content media releases 

• Updates on Wirral View  

• Updates to Partners/ Stakeholders 

• Outreach through established Covid-19 response cells and Champions Network 

• FAQ document 

• Artwork (posters, banners, postcards and bookmarks at library sites and community 
buildings)  

• Posts on Staff Facebook Page  

• Exec View (Staff Newsletter)  

• Staff Intranet  
 
In addition to this, paper copies of the consultation were placed into Wirral’s libraries. In areas 
where the local library was not open for residents to access paper copies, engagement events 
were set up. These events took place in areas including Heswall, Bidston and St James, 
Seacombe, Liscard and Leasowe. These sessions were another way to reach non-digital 
audiences and provide them with a platform to ask questions and collect a paper copy of the 
survey so they could have their say.  
 
Engagement sessions were promoted using the council’s channels – Wirral View, social media, 
information sent to local press contacts and the residents e-newsletter. Schools were also 
directly contacted to help increase engagement with the young people. Library engagement 
posters were placed in several venues to help broaden the reach of the engagement and 
identified stakeholders were asked to support the promotion and awareness of the 
consultation. Appendix 3 lists the locations of the posters. 
 

 
  

Page 235



18 

 

 

3.0 Results 

3.1 Questionnaire Results 

Where questions allowed multiple selections, percentages relate to the prevalence of the 
selected option, rather than as a percentage of respondents.  As a result, percentage totals will 
add up to more than 100% and to avoid confusion, total percentage figures are omitted from 
tables. 
Where questions are single select, where only one option is available to choose, percentages 
are calculated based on the number of people who responded to that question. 
 

Question 1. Who are you? 
90.9% of respondents were Wirral residents. 
 

 
Figure 1: Who are you? 

Other respondents included Students (0.7%), those employed, but not living in Wirral (0.1%), 
‘Friends of’ library group members (0.1%) and local councillors (0.1%).  

9
0

.9
%

2
.6

%

1
.5

%

1
.4

%

1
.1

%

1
.0

%

0
.9

%

0
.4

%

0
.2

%

Page 236



19 

 

 

 

Q1. Who are you?  % Count 

Resident 90.9% 1372 

Library volunteer 2.6% 39 

Other 1.5% 23 

Library staff member 1.4% 21 

School 1.1% 17 

Community group 1.0% 15 

Voluntary organisation 0.9% 13 

Public sector organisation/partner 0.4% 6 

Local business 0.2% 3 

Table 3: Who are you? 

Category % of Q1 respondents Count 

Student 0.7% 10 

Voluntary Organisation 0.2% 3 

Employed in Wirral 0.1% 2 

‘Friends of' library group member 0.1% 2 

Local councillor 0.1% 2 

Community group 0.1% 1 

Heritage Canada 0.1% 1 

Library staff member 0.1% 1 

Local club/group member 0.1% 1 

Resident 0.1% 1 

Uncategorised 0.1% 1 

Table 4: Categorised ‘other’ responses. 

1,509 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

Page 237



20 

 

 

Question 2. If you live on the Wirral, which area of the borough do you live in? 
 
Bebington and Greasby, Frankby & Irby areas were, equally, the most well represented areas of 
Wirral.   Clatterbridge & Claughton were least represented (0.9% each). 
Amongst those aged under 16, Bebington (22.2%) was the most represented area.  
 

 

Figure 2: Which area of the Wirral do you live in?  

11.10%

11.10%

10.51%

7.65%

7.65%

5.78%

5.19%

5.12%

4.99%

4.79%

3.26%

3.26%

3.19%

3.13%

2.86%

2.06%

1.93%

1.73%

1.60%

1.33%

0.93%

0.86%

Bebington

Greasby, Frankby and Irby

Wallasey

Hoylake and Meols

West Kirby and Thurstaston

Heswall

Upton

Birkenhead and Tranmere

Bromborough

Pensby and Thingwall

Eastham

New Brighton

Prenton

Moreton West and Saughall Massie

Oxton

Liscard

Leasowe and Moreton East

Rock Ferry

Seacombe

Bidston and St. James

Claughton

Clatterbridge

Page 238



21 

 

 

Q2. If you live on the Wirral, which area of the borough do you live in? % Number 

Bebington 11.10% 167 

Greasby, Frankby and Irby 11.10% 167 

Wallasey 10.51% 158 

Hoylake and Meols 7.65% 115 

West Kirby and Thurstaston 7.65% 115 

Heswall 5.78% 87 

Upton 5.19% 78 

Birkenhead and Tranmere 5.12% 77 

Bromborough 4.99% 75 

Pensby and Thingwall 4.79% 72 

Eastham 3.26% 49 

New Brighton 3.26% 49 

Prenton 3.19% 48 

Moreton West and Saughall Massie 3.13% 47 

Oxton 2.86% 43 

Liscard 2.06% 31 

Leasowe and Moreton East 1.93% 29 

Rock Ferry 1.73% 26 

Seacombe 1.60% 24 

Bidston and St. James 1.33% 20 

Claughton 0.93% 14 

Clatterbridge 0.86% 13 

Table 5: Which area of Wirral do you live in? 

1,493 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

Page 239



22 

 

 

Question 3. Are you a library member? 
89.9% of respondents are library members.   
When it comes to respondents who are aged under 16, a lower proportion (52.2%) are 
members.  

 
Figure 3: Are you a library member? 

Question 3. Are you a library member? % Count 

Yes 89.85%           1,372  

No 10.15%             155  

Table 6: Are you a library member? 

1,527 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

Yes
89.9%

No
10.2%

Page 240



23 

 

 

Question 4. Do you, or have you, visited one of our library buildings, or used the home reader 
service? 
 
93.6% of respondents do or have visited one of Wirral’s libraries or used the Home Reader 
service. 

 

Figure 4: Do you or have you used a Wirral library or the home reader service? 

Of those aged under 16, 71.4% had visited a library, or used the Home Reader Service. 
 

Question 4. Do you, or have you visited one of our library buildings or 
used the Home Reader Service? % Count 

Yes 93.61%          1,422  

No 6.39%              97  

Table 7: Do you or have you used a Wirral library or the home reader service? 

1,519 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

Yes
93.6%

No
6.4%

Page 241



24 

 

 

Question 5. Which of Wirral’s libraries do you use the most? 

The libraries that are most used by respondents are: 

• West Kirby Library (11.8%) 

• Wallasey Central (11.6%) 

• Bebington (11.2%) 
 
The libraries most used by under 16s are Birkenhead Central (37.5%) and Bromborough 
(18.8%). 
 

 
Figure 5: Which of Wirral’s libraries do you use the most? 

11.8%

11.6%

11.2%

10.9%

7.0%

5.6%

4.9%

4.7%

4.5%

4.3%

4.2%

3.7%

3.6%

3.3%

2.1%

1.7%

1.5%

0.9%

0.8%

0.4%

0.4%

0.4%

0.4%

0.3%

West Kirby

Wallasey Central

Bebington

Birkenhead Central

Greasby

Heswall

Bromborough

Irby

Hoylake

Upton

Wallasey Village

Moreton

Pensby

Eastham

Home Reader Service

Seacombe

Rock Ferry

Prenton

Higher Bebington

Woodchurch

Leasowe

Ridgeway

St. James

Beechwood

Page 242



25 

 

 

Question 5. Which of Wirral's libraries do you use the most? % Count 

West Kirby 11.8% 170 

Wallasey Central 11.6% 167 

Bebington 11.2% 161 

Birkenhead Central 10.9% 157 

Greasby 7.0% 101 

Heswall 5.6% 80 

Bromborough 4.9% 70 

Irby 4.7% 67 

Hoylake 4.5% 64 

Upton 4.3% 62 

Wallasey Village 4.2% 61 

Moreton 3.7% 53 

Pensby 3.6% 51 

Eastham 3.3% 48 

Home Reader Service 2.1% 30 

Seacombe 1.7% 24 

Rock Ferry 1.5% 21 

Prenton 0.9% 13 

Higher Bebington 0.8% 12 

Woodchurch 0.4% 6 

Leasowe 0.4% 5 

Ridgeway 0.4% 5 

St. James 0.4% 5 

Beechwood 0.3% 4 

Table 8: Which of Wirral's libraries do you use the most? 

1,437 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

Page 243



26 

 

 

Question 6. How often do you use the library? 
 
The most common frequency to use the library is once a month (40.4%) followed by once a 
week (33.8%). 
This is reflected amongst the under 16s who also most commonly visit the library once a month 
(31.6%). 
 

 
 

Figure 6: How often do you use the library? 

The most common frequency of visits outside of the above categories was ‘fortnightly’, 
accounting for 3.1% of the overall responses.  This is followed by ‘Every few months’ (2.4%) and 
‘two to three times a week’ (2.0%). 
3.5% of the respondents also referenced Covid-19, and the fact that this reduced their library 
use and/or that their local library remains closed. 
 

Q6. How often do you use the library? % Count 

Every day 1.8% 26 

Once a week 33.8% 484 

Once a month 40.4% 578 

Once a year 6.2% 88 

Other 17.9% 256 

Table 9: How often do you use the library? 

  

1
.8

%

3
3

.8
%

4
0

.4
%

6
.2

%

1
7

.9
%

Every day Once a week Once a month Once a year Other

Page 244



27 

 

 

 

Category % of Q6 respondents Count 

Impacted by COVID-19 3.5% 49 

Fortnightly 3.1% 44 

Every few months 2.4% 35 

2-3 times a week 2.0% 29 

Rarely 1.9% 27 

Ad-hoc 1.5% 21 

Once a month 1.3% 18 

Irregularly 1.2% 17 

Online Service 0.7% 10 

Once a week 0.6% 9 

2-3 times a year 0.6% 8 

Inconvenient opening 0.4% 6 

Uncategorised 0.3% 23 

Specific events 0.3% 4 

Unable 0.1% 2 

Daily 0.1% 1 

Home Reader/Delivery 0.1% 1 

Never 0.1% 1 

Often 0.1% 1 

Table 10: Categorised ‘Other’ responses to ‘How often do you use the library?’ 

1,432 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

Page 245



28 

 

 

Question 7. How do you get to the library? 
 
The most popular mode of travel to the library was on foot (65.4%), followed by car (43.9%). 
The train was the least use mode of travel (2.2%). 
Under 16’s were also most likely to travel to the library on foot (73.7%) and by car (57.9%).   
 

 
Table 11: How do you get to the library? 

The most prevalent ‘other’ comment was to specify that library books were delivered, either by 
the Home Reader service, or a friend or relative (0.8%). Other modes of transport were taxi 
(0.3%), wheelchair or mobility scooter (0.2%) or motorcycle (0.1%). 
 
 

Question 7. How do you get to the library? % Respondents Count 

On foot (walking) 65.4% 934 

Car 43.9% 627 

Bus 8.1% 116 

On bike (cycling) 5.3% 76 

Train 2.2% 31 

Other 2.2% 31 

Table 12: How do you get to the library? 

  

6
5

.4
%

4
3

.9
%

8
.1

%

5
.3

%

2
.2

%

2
.2

%

On foot
(walking)

Car Bus On bike
(cycling)

Train Other

Page 246



29 

 

 

 

Category % of Q7 respondents Count of Category 

Home Reader/Delivered 0.8% 11 

Taxi 0.3% 4 

Unable to Travel 0.2% 3 

Wheelchair or mobility scooter 0.2% 3 

Car 0.1% 2 

Motorcycle 0.1% 2 

Varies 0.1% 2 

On foot 0.1% 1 

Online Service 0.1% 1 

Open my local library 0.1% 1 

Use school library 0.1% 1 

Table 13: Categorised ‘Other’ responses to ‘How do you get to the library?’ 

Respondents were able to select more than one option for this question.  Therefore, percentages 
will add up to more than 100% 

1,429 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

Page 247



30 

 

 

Question 8. Why do you visit the library? 
 
The most prevalent reason by far to visit the library is to borrow and return books (89.9%). 
After this, most respondents visit the library for leisure and relaxation (26.5%), to use a 
photocopier or printer (26.1%) and to attend events for adults, such as talks or author events 
(25.9%). 
The least prevalent reason to visit the library were to complete job applications (2.9%), hire a 
room (3.1%) or as a representative of a partner organisation (3.1%). 
 
Under 16s also visit the library primarily to borrow/return books (80.0%), and then to study and 
to borrow and return CDs and DVDs (20.0% each). 
 

 
Figure 7: Why do you visit the library? 

89.9%

26.5%

26.1%

25.9%

21.9%

19.8%

18.8%

14.6%

14.3%

13.6%

13.2%

13.0%

12.5%

11.1%

9.6%

8.6%

8.5%

8.4%

6.3%

6.1%

3.7%

3.1%

3.1%

2.9%

Borrow/ return books

Leisure / relaxation

Photocopier/ printer use

Events for adults

Research

Children's events

Computers/ internet/ scanner

Study or work

Organised group

Newspapers

Family History

Meet with friends

Hire / return CDs or DVDs

Access other council services

Seasonal Challenges

Information sessions

Other

Wi-fi

Volunteer

Courses

Access help and support

As a representative of a partner organisation

Hire a room

Job applications

Page 248



31 

 

 

The top ‘other’ stated reasons to visit the library are to take children or grandchildren (0.8%), 
visit exhibitions (0.7%) or attend events (0.6%), access information boards (0.5%) and for social 
interaction (0.5%). 
 
 

Question 8. Why do you visit the library? 
Q8. % 

respondents Count 

Borrow/ return books 89.90% 1,291  

Leisure / relaxation 26.50% 381  

Photocopier/ printer use 26.10% 375  

Events for adults (talk or author events) 25.90% 372  

Research 21.90% 315  

Children's events (Storytime/ Bounce & Rhyme / Lego Club) 19.80% 284  

Computers/ internet/ scanner 18.80% 270  

Study or work 14.60% 209  

Organised group (reading group/ knit & natter) 14.30% 205  

Newspapers 13.60% 195  

Family History (find my past and birth records) 13.20% 190  

Meet with friends 13.00% 186  

Hire / return CDs or DVDs 12.50% 179  

Access other council services (One Stop Shop Services) 11.10% 159  

Seasonal Challenges (Summer Reading Challenge) 9.60% 138  

Information sessions (health and wellbeing marketplace) 8.60% 123  

Other 8.50% 122  

Wi-fi 8.40% 121  

Volunteer 6.30% 90  

Courses (computing/ maths/ creative writing courses) 6.10% 87  

Access help and support (IT computer help, Job seeking support) 3.70% 53  

As a representative of a partner organisation (course tutor/ 
group activity leader) 3.10% 45  

Hire a room 3.10% 45  

Job applications 2.90% 42  

Table 14: Why do you visit the library? 

  

Page 249



32 

 

 

 

Category % of Q8 respondents Count of Category 

With children or grandchildren 0.8% 11 

Exhibition(s) 0.7% 10 

Events 0.6% 8 

Information boards 0.5% 7 

Social interaction 0.5% 7 

Children's events 0.4% 6 

‘Friends of’ member 0.3% 5 

Peace & quiet 0.3% 5 

Volunteer 0.3% 5 

A club 0.3% 4 

Audio books 0.3% 4 

Borrow books 0.3% 4 

Educational visit 0.3% 4 

Film Club 0.3% 4 

Fitness classes 0.3% 4 

Archives 0.2% 3 

Courses 0.2% 3 

Impacted by COVID-19 0.2% 3 

Job search/job club 0.2% 3 

Uncategorised 0.2% 3 

Community meetings 0.1% 2 

Councillors surgery 0.1% 2 

Family History 0.1% 2 

Jigsaws 0.1% 2 

Litter picking 0.1% 2 

Purchase cards 0.1% 2 

Room Hire 0.1% 2 

Safe space 0.1% 2 

Table 15: Top categorised ‘Other’ responses to ‘Why do you visit the library?’ 

Respondents were able to select more than one option for this question.  Therefore, percentages 
will add up to more than 100% 

1,436 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

Page 250



33 

 

 

Question 9. What other services would you like to access from this library? 
 
A café (51.1%) was the most prevalent thing that respondents would like from their library, 
followed by events for adults (47.7%), such as talks or author events.   
The least popular things were access to help and support (14.2%) such as IT help, or job seeking 
support. 
 
53.3% of under 16s would also like to see a café in their library, followed by a family history 
zone (33.3%) bookable spaces for study or work, children’s events and a children’s play area 
(26.7% each). 
 

 
Figure 8: What other services would you like to access from this library? 

51.1%

47.7%

37.5%

36.6%

34.2%

29.7%

29.0%

27.0%

23.7%

22.1%

21.6%

21.4%

19.7%

19.2%

18.6%

18.5%

17.5%

17.1%

16.6%

15.0%

15.0%

14.2%

7.6%

Café facilities

Events for adults

Organised groups

Event / exhibition space

Creative spaces

Council services based at the library

Courses

Family history zone

Information sessions

Better technology

Bookable spaces for communities

Children's events

Wi-fi Printing

Live gigs

Sanctuary / wellbeing room

Computers/ internet/ scanner

Children's play pod area / soft play

Performance space

Bookable spaces for working

Access to council services on library computers

Digital creative spaces

Access help and support

Other

Page 251



34 

 

 

‘Other’ services that respondents stated they would like to access from the library were events 
encouraging social interaction (0.4%) such as coffee mornings/afternoon teas, social events for 
the elderly or recipe swaps. Local history resources and more recent releases (0.3% each) were 
also popular ‘other’ suggestions. 
 

Question 9. What other services would you like to access from this 
library? 

% 
Respondent

s Count 

Café facilities 51.1% 656 

Events for adults (talk or author event) 47.7% 612 

Organised groups (reading groups/ exercise/ wellbeing classes) 37.5% 481 

Event / exhibition space 36.6% 469 

Creative spaces (crafting resources/ space for art) 34.2% 439 

Council services based at the library (leisure facilities/ One Stop Shop 
Services) 29.7% 381 

Courses (computer course/ maths course/ creative writing course) 29.0% 372 

Family history zone 27.0% 346 

Information sessions (health and wellbeing marketplace) 23.7% 304 

Better technology (computers/ laptops/ tablets/ hi speed wi-fi) 22.1% 284 

Bookable spaces for communities (room hire) 21.6% 277 

Children's events (Storytime/ Bounce & Rhyme) 21.4% 275 

Wi-fi Printing 19.7% 253 

Live gigs 19.2% 246 

Sanctuary / wellbeing room 18.6% 239 

Computers/ internet/ scanner 18.5% 237 

Children's play pod area / soft play 17.5% 224 

Performance space 17.1% 220 

Bookable spaces for working (hot desks/ office space/ meeting 
rooms) 16.6% 213 

Access to council services on library computers 15.0% 192 

Digital creative spaces (3D printers/ audio production/ video editing/ 
virtual reality/ makerspace/ gaming suite) 15.0% 192 

Access help and support (IT computer help/ job seeking support) 14.2% 182 

Other 7.6% 98 

Table 16: What other services would you like to access from this library? 

 
 
 
 

Page 252



35 

 

 

Q9. What other services would you like to 
access from this library? (Other) 

% of Q9 respondents Count of Category 

Social interaction events 0.4% 5 

Work/study space 0.4% 5 

Courses 0.3% 4 

Local History hub 0.3% 4 

Recent releases 0.3% 4 

Autism friendly sessions 0.2% 3 

Book shop 0.2% 3 

Community garden 0.2% 3 

Late night opening 0.2% 3 

No other services required 0.2% 3 

None 0.2% 3 

Reference library 0.2% 3 

Uncategorised 0.2% 3 

Wider selection (books) 0.2% 3 

Table 17: Top categorised ‘Other’ responses to What other services would you like to access 
from this library? 

Respondents were able to select more than one option for this question.  Therefore, percentages 
will add up to more than 100% 

1,283 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

Page 253



36 

 

 

Question 10. Why do you not use the library service? 
 
Most respondents provided an ‘other’ reason that they do not use the library (40.9%) which 
was predominantly that their local library is closed due to COVID-19 restrictions (15.0%).   
 
An equal proportion of people do not use the library because they are: 

• Too busy with family/ work/ other responsibilities (18.9%) 

• Use another book service such as Audible/ Kindle/ Amazon (18.9%) 

• Library opening hours are inconvenient (18.9%) 
 
Most under 16s (44.4%) cited their main reason for not using the library service as being that 
they do not live close enough to a library. 

 
Figure 9: Why do you not use the library service? 

40.9%

18.9%

18.9%

18.9%

13.4%

11.0%

8.7%

8.7%

7.1%

5.5%

5.5%

2.4%

1.6%

Other

I am too busy

I use another book service

Inconvenient opening hours

I don’t know what services I can access

Does not have the services that I want

I don’t think the library service is useful to 
me

I don't live close enough to a library

I don’t think the service is good

I don’t like the atmosphere of the library

I don’t like the book selection available

I don’t know where my local library is

I think the library close to me is too small

Page 254



37 

 

 

 

Question 10. Why do you not use the library service? % Respondents Count 

Other 40.9% 52 

I am too busy with family/ work/ other responsibilities 18.9% 24 

I use another book service (Audible/ Kindle/ Amazon) 18.9% 24 

Library opening hours are inconvenient for me 18.9% 24 

I don’t know what services I can access other than borrowing books 13.4% 17 

The library does not have the services that I want (Wi-Fi printing/ music/ films) 11.0% 14 

I don’t think the library service is useful to me 8.7% 11 

I don't live close enough to a library 8.7% 11 

I don’t think the service is good 7.1% 9 

I don’t like the atmosphere of the library 5.5% 7 

I don’t like the book selection available 5.5% 7 

I don’t know where my local library is 2.4% 3 

I think the library close to me is too small 1.6% 2 

Table 18: Why do you not use the library service?  

Page 255



38 

 

 

 

Q10. Why do you not use the library service (other) % of respondents Count of Category 

My local library is closed 15.0% 19 

Uncategorised 3.1% 4 

Doesn't serve modern needs 2.4% 3 

Inconvenient opening hours 2.4% 3 

Not yet joined 2.4% 3 

Too busy 2.4% 3 

More convenient to purchase books 1.6% 2 

Unaware of services available 1.6% 2 

Use libraries in another authority 1.6% 2 

Didn't know about libraries 0.8% 1 

Don't know where the libraries are 0.8% 1 

Forget about libraries 0.8% 1 

Home Reader Service 0.8% 1 

I live out of the area 0.8% 1 

Inconvenient 0.8% 1 

Kindle 0.8% 1 

Limited selection 0.8% 1 

Not accessible 0.8% 1 

Not enough children's activities 0.8% 1 

Not user friendly 0.8% 1 

Online Service 0.8% 1 

Run down 0.8% 1 

Services not required 0.8% 1 

Too far away 0.8% 1 

Too young to go alone 0.8% 1 

Unclean 0.8% 1 

Unwelcoming 0.8% 1 

Table 19: Categorised ‘Other’ responses to ‘Why do you not use the library service?’ 

Respondents were able to select more than one option for this question.  Therefore, percentages 
will add up to more than 100% 

127 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.    

Page 256



39 

 

 

Question 11. What services could we offer that would make you want to use the library? 
 
The most popular service that would make respondents want to use the library are café 
facilities (54.5%), followed by events for adults (36.4%) such as talks or author events. Council 
services based at the library and the availability of creative spaces were equally popular 
(35.9%). The least popular of the suggested services were performance space (13.2%) and study 
support (13.6%). 
Under 16s would also like a café (50.0%), as well as creative spaces (40.0%). 
 

 
Figure 10: What services could we offer that would make you want to use the library? 

‘Other’ services that would make people want to use the library were better customer service 
(1.4%), access to the archive and local history resources (0.9%) each.   

54.5%

36.4%

35.9%

35.9%

32.3%

30.9%

30.9%

30.9%

29.1%

27.7%

25.5%

24.1%

23.2%

22.7%

22.7%

21.8%

20.9%

20.0%

20.0%

18.2%

14.1%

13.6%

13.2%

Café facilities

Events for adults

Council services based at the library

Creative spaces

Organised group

Better technology

Courses

Event / exhibition space

Children's events

Family history zone

Wi-fi printing

Information sessions

Access to council services on library computers

Bookable spaces for communities

Children's play pod / soft play

Digital creative spaces

Bookable spaces for working

Live gigs

Sanctuary / wellbeing room

Access to help and support

Study support

Performance Space

Other

Page 257



40 

 

 

 

Question 11. What services could we offer that would make you 
want to use the library? % Respondents Count 

Café facilities 54.5% 120 

Events for adults (talk or author events) 36.4% 80 

Council services based at the library (leisure facilities/ One Stop 
Shop Services) 35.9% 79 

Creative spaces (crafting resources/ space to do art) 35.9% 79 

Organised group (reading groups/ exercise and wellbeing classes) 32.3% 71 

Better technology (computers/ laptops/ tablets/ high speed wi-fi) 30.9% 68 

Courses (computer course/ maths course/ creative writing course) 30.9% 68 

Event / exhibition space 30.9% 68 

Children's events (Storytime/ Bounce and Rhyme) 29.1% 64 

Family history zone 27.7% 61 

Wi-fi printing 25.5% 56 

Information sessions (health and wellbeing marketplace) 24.1% 53 

Access to council services on library computers 23.2% 51 

Bookable spaces for communities (room hire) 22.7% 50 

Children's play pod / soft play 22.7% 50 

Digital creative spaces (3D printers/ audio production/ video 
editing/ virtual reality/ makerspace/ gaming suite) 21.8% 48 

Bookable spaces for working (hot desks/ office space/ meeting 
rooms) 20.9% 46 

Live gigs 20.0% 44 

Sanctuary / wellbeing room 20.0% 44 

Access to help and support (IT computer help/ job seeking support) 18.2% 40 

Study support 14.1% 31 

Performance Space 13.6% 30 

Other 13.2% 29 

Table 20: What services could we offer that would make you want to use the library?  

Page 258



41 

 

 

 

Q11. What services could we 
offer that would make you 
want to use the 
library?  (Other) 

% of Q11 
respondents 

Count of Category 

Better customer service 1.4% 3 

Courses 1.4% 3 

Uncategorised 1.4% 3 

Archive 0.9% 2 

Local History hub 0.9% 2 

Bespoke book recommendations 0.5% 1 

Bingo 0.5% 1 

Borrow audio-books 0.5% 1 

Borrow books 0.5% 1 

Borrow film 0.5% 1 

Borrowing history 0.5% 1 

Broader opening hours 0.5% 1 

Carers group 0.5% 1 

Children's activities 0.5% 1 

Children's section 0.5% 1 

Choir 0.5% 1 

Community centre 0.5% 1 

E-books 0.5% 1 

Gaming club 0.5% 1 

Home reader 0.5% 1 

Little Aloud books 0.5% 1 

Lounge area 0.5% 1 

New bookshelves 0.5% 1 

Pensioner social events 0.5% 1 

Research 0.5% 1 

Reward 0.5% 1 

Social Supermarket 0.5% 1 

Tool library 0.5% 1 

Tuition 0.5% 1 

Table 21: Categorised ‘Other’ responses to ‘What services could we offer that would make you 
want to use the library?’ 

Page 259



42 

 

 

Respondents were able to select more than one option for this question.  Therefore, percentages 
will add up to more than 100%. 

220 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

Page 260



43 

 

 

Question 12. Do you use the online library? 
 
The majority of respondents both overall (70.5%) and under 16 (84.6%) do not use the online 
library. 

 
Figure 11: Do you use the online library? 

 

Question 12. Do you use the online library % Count 

No 70.50%          1,066  

Yes 29.50%            446  

Table 22: Do you use the online library? 

1,512 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

No
70.5%

Yes
29.5%

Page 261



44 

 

 

Question 13. Why do you use the online library? 
 
Amongst those who do use the online library, the most common reason is to download e-books 
(64.3%); the least popular use was for COBRA business support information (0.9%). 
Under 16s are most likely to use the online library for research purposes (75.0%). 

 
Figure 12: Why do you use the online library? 

The top ‘other’ reasons that people use the online library are to renew books, and to reserve or 
order books (4.7% each) followed by checking availability of books using the catalogue (4.5%).  
2.9% of respondents are using the online library because their local library is closed.   
 

Question 13. Why do you use the online library? % Count 

Download e-books 64.3% 288 

Download eAudio 29.0% 130 

Research (information sources - Encyclopaedia Britannica) 20.3% 91 

Other 18.3% 82 

Family history (Find My Past) 17.6% 79 

Newspapers 8.9% 40 

Organised groups (reading group) 4.9% 22 

Business Support Information (Cobra) 0.9% 4 

Table 23: Why do you use the online library?  

6
4

.3
%

2
9

.0
%

2
0

.3
%

1
8

.3
%

1
7

.6
%

8
.9

%

4
.9

%

0
.9

%

Download e-
books

Download
eAudio

Research Other Family
history

Newspapers Organised
groups

Business
Support

Information
(Cobra)

Page 262



45 

 

 

Q13. Why do you use the online library? 
(Other) 

% of Q13. 
respondents 

Count of 
Category 

Renew books 4.7% 21 

Order & reserve books 4.7% 21 

Check catalogue 4.5% 20 

My local library is closed 2.9% 13 

Browse 1.8% 8 

Uncategorised 0.7% 3 

Magazines 0.4% 2 

Archives 0.2% 1 

Borrow books 0.2% 1 

British Newspaper Archive 0.2% 1 

Chat function 0.2% 1 

Enquiries 0.2% 1 

I use another LA's online library 0.2% 1 

Inconvenient opening times 0.2% 1 

Research 0.2% 1 

Unable to travel to library 0.2% 1 

Table 24: Categorised ‘Other’ responses to ‘Why do you use the online library?’ 

Respondents were able to select more than one option for this question.  Therefore, percentages 
will add up to more than 100%. 

448 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

Page 263



46 

 

 

Questions 14 and 15. During the last year, did you use the online library more, and will you 
continue to use the online library? 
 
The majority of respondents, 61.1% used the online library more during the last year and 74.9% 
will continue to use the online library. 
66.7% of under 16 stated that they used the library more, however most (57.1%) said they 
would not continue to use the online library. 
 

 
Figure 13: Proportions of respondents who used the online library more during the last year, and 
who will continue to use it. 

 
 

Question 14. During the last year did you use the online library more? % Count 

Yes 61.1% 306 

No 38.9% 195 

Question 15. Will you continue to use the online library? % Count 

Yes 74.9% 370 

No 25.1% 124 

Table 25: Question 14 and Question 15 Proportions of respondents who used the online library 
more during the last year, and who will continue to use it. 

501 people answered question 14 and 494 answered question 15. These numbers are used as 
the denominator when calculating percentages.  

6
1

.1
% 7

4
.9

0
%

3
8

.9
%

2
5

.1
0

%

Q14 - Did you use the library more
during the last year?

Q15 - will you continue to use the
online library

Yes No

Page 264



47 

 

 

Question 16. What other services would you like to access from the online library? 
 
The top services that people would like to access from the online library are a wider variety of 
book genres (53.9%) and an increase in the numbers of e-book titles available for loan (52.7%).   
Dance videos (5.0%) and opera videos (7.1%) were the least desired services. 
 
Under 16s would like archive information, a library service app and streamed film (40.0% each) 
from their online library. 
 

 
Figure 14: What other services would you like to access from the online library? 

‘Other’ services that respondents to this question would like to from the online library include 
access to magazines.  

53.9%

52.7%

34.9%

27.3%

25.4%

24.5%

24.2%

22.3%

17.8%

15.9%

13.5%

7.1%

5.0%

More variety of eBooks (genre)

Increased availability of eBooks

Archive information

increased availability of eAudio

Streamed film

More variety of eAudio (genre)

Library service app

Academic Journals

Access to other council services

Streamed music

Other

Opera videos

Dance videos

Page 265



48 

 

 

Question 16. What other services would you like to access 
from the online library? %  Count 

More variety of eBooks (genre) 53.9% 227 

Increased availability of eBooks (more to loan of each item) 52.7% 222 

Archive information (old photographs/ soundbites) 34.9% 147 

increased availability of eAudio (more to loan of each item) 27.3% 115 

Streamed film 25.4% 107 

More variety of eAudio (genre) 24.5% 103 

Library service app 24.2% 102 

Academic Journals 22.3% 94 

Access to other council services (One Stop Shop Services online) 17.8% 75 

Streamed music 15.9% 67 

Other 13.5% 57 

Opera videos 7.1% 30 

Dance videos 5.0% 21 

Table 26: What other services would you like to access from the online library?  

Page 266



49 

 

 

Category Q16 Other % all respondents Count of Category 

Uncategorised 1.7% 7 

Magazines 1.4% 6 

Fitness classes 0.5% 2 

More variety of eBooks 0.5% 2 

Access to Mintel 0.2% 1 

Better search facility 0.2% 1 

Clearer blue badge process 0.2% 1 

Courses 0.2% 1 

Entire book series 0.2% 1 

Family history resources 0.2% 1 

Fewer music/video - available elsewhere 0.2% 1 

Guidance to use e-books 0.2% 1 

Home Reader Service 0.2% 1 

Links to other council services 0.2% 1 

Links to support services 0.2% 1 

Local History resources 0.2% 1 

More non-fiction 0.2% 1 

None 0.2% 1 

None - happy with service 0.2% 1 

None - I prefer physical library 0.2% 1 

One Stop Shop services 0.2% 1 

School book readings 0.2% 1 

Trade journals 0.2% 1 

Table 27: Categorised other responses to ‘What other services would you like to access from the 
online library?’ 

 
Respondents were able to select more than one option for this question.  Therefore, percentages 
will add up to more than 100%. 

421 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

Page 267



50 

 

 

Question 17. Why do you not use the online library? 
 
The main reason that people do not use the online library is that they do not like to read e-
books or listen to audio books (34.8%). This is followed by not knowing what services can be 
accessed online (27.7%). The main reason for under 16s not using the online library is that they 
were unaware of what services they could access online (31.6%). 
 

 
Figure 15: Why do you not use the online library? 

‘Other’ reasons that respondents do not use the online library are that they enjoy the 
experience of visiting a physical library (6.0%) and that they did not know that the online library 
existed (3.9%)  

34.8%

27.7%

18.5%

18.1%

13.9%

10.5%

10.0%

5.8%

5.0%

4.5%

4.0%

3.5%

2.7%

2.3%

I don’t like to read eBooks or listen to eAudio

I don’t know what services I can access online

I don’t think the service is useful to me

Other

I use another online book service

I am too busy with family/work/ other

I don’t feel confident accessing the library online

I don’t have the technology to access it

I don't have access to the internet to use it

I find it  difficult to access and navigate

It does not have the services that I want

I don’t think the online service is good

I don’t like the eBook/eAudio selection available

The items I want to borrow are already on loan

Page 268



51 

 

 

 

Question 17. Why do you not use the online library? %  Count 

I don’t like to read eBooks or listen to eAudio 34.8% 364 

I don’t know what services I can access online 27.7% 290 

I don’t think the online library service is useful to me 18.5% 194 

Other 18.1% 189 

I use another book service (Audible/ Kindle/ Amazon) 13.9% 145 

I am too busy with family/work/ other responsibilities 10.5% 110 

I don’t feel confident accessing the library online 10.0% 105 

I don’t have the technology (laptop/ computer/ tablet) to access 
the library from home 5.8% 61 

I don't have access to the internet to use the online library 5.0% 52 

I find the online library difficult to access and navigate 4.5% 47 

The online library does not have the services that I want 4.0% 42 

I don’t think the online service is good 3.5% 37 

I don’t like the eBook or eAudio selection available 2.7% 28 

The eBooks or eAudio I want to borrow are always already on 
loan 2.3% 24 

Table 28: Why do you not use the online library?  

Page 269



52 

 

 

Q17. Why do you not use the online 
library? (Other) 

% of Question 17 
Respondents 

Count of Category 

Enjoy visiting physical library 6.0% 63 

I don't like to read eBooks 4.6% 48 

Unaware of service 3.9% 41 

Uncategorised 0.8% 8 

Lack of computer 0.6% 6 

Use another online library 0.6% 6 

Limited selection 0.5% 5 

Not confident using 0.5% 5 

Yet to try 0.5% 5 

I don't want physical libraries to 
become obsolete 0.2% 2 

Disabilities prevent use 0.1% 1 

I don't understand how to use it 0.1% 1 

Libraries are obsolete 0.1% 1 

Memory boxes not online 0.1% 1 

Not a library member 0.1% 1 

Not required 0.1% 1 

Too young 0.1% 1 

Use CD audiobooks 0.1% 1 

Table 29: Categorised ‘other’ responses ‘Why do you not use the online library?’ 

Respondents were able to select more than one option for this question.  Therefore, percentages 
will add up to more than 100%. 

1,047 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

Page 270



53 

 

 

Question 18. What other services could we offer through our online library? 
 
The most desired service on the online library is archive information (38.4%) such as old 
photographs & soundbites, followed by an increased availability of e-books – more items 
available to loan of each item (29.3%). The least desired service is dance videos (4.8%) and 
Opera videos (6.9%). 
Under 16s wished for a wider variety of eBook genres to be available (30.0%). 
 

 
Figure 16: What other services could we offer through our online library? 

  

38.4%

29.3%

26.2%

25.9%

25.0%

24.9%

21.1%

15.8%

15.7%

11.7%

9.1%

6.9%

4.8%

Archive information

Increased availabiliy of eBooks

Library service app

Access to other council services

More variety of eBooks (genre)

Streamed film

Academic journals

Streamed music

Increased availability of eAudio

More variety of eAudio (genre)

Other

Opera videos

Dance videos

Page 271



54 

 

 

1.3% of respondents stated, in the ‘other’ category that there are no additional services that 
could be offered as they have no interest in using the online library. 
 

Question 18. What other services could we offer through our 
online library? %  Count 

Archive information (old photographs/ soundbites) 38.4% 233 

Increased availability of eBooks (more to loan of each item) 29.3% 178 

Library service app 26.2% 159 

Access to other council services (One Stop Shop Services online) 25.9% 157 

More variety of eBooks (genre) 25.0% 152 

Streamed film 24.9% 151 

Academic journals 21.1% 128 

Streamed music 15.8% 96 

Increased availability of eAudio (more to loan of each item) 15.7% 95 

More variety of eAudio (genre) 11.7% 71 

Other 9.1% 55 

Opera videos 6.9% 42 

Dance videos 4.8% 29 

Table 30: What other services could we offer through our online library?  

Page 272



55 

 

 

Q18. What other services could we offer 
through our online library?  (Other) 

% of Q18 
respondents 

Count of 
Category 

Nothing; not interested in online services 1.3% 8 

I don't know 0.5% 3 

Nothing 0.5% 3 

All of the above 0.3% 2 

Cooking classes 0.3% 2 

Courses 0.3% 2 

Family history resources 0.3% 2 

Information as to what's available online 0.3% 2 

Magazines 0.3% 2 

Open my local library 0.3% 2 

Social element - groups 0.3% 2 

Uncategorised 0.3% 2 

Wider children's selection 0.3% 2 

Wider selection 0.3% 2 

Access to a computer 0.2% 1 

Café 0.2% 1 

Charities area 0.2% 1 

Comic books 0.2% 1 

Guidance on use 0.2% 1 

Homework hub 0.2% 1 

International films 0.2% 1 

Kindle compatibility 0.2% 1 

Large Print materials 0.2% 1 

Local History resources 0.2% 1 

Music streaming 0.2% 1 

Newspapers 0.2% 1 

Offline access 0.2% 1 

One to one support 0.2% 1 

Online one-stop-shop sessions 0.2% 1 

Online theatre productions 0.2% 1 

Physical books 0.2% 1 

Printed guidance 0.2% 1 

Simplified renewal 0.2% 1 

Up to date selection 0.2% 1 

Which' reports 0.2% 1 

Page 273



56 

 

 

Q18. What other services could we offer 
through our online library?  (Other) 

% of Q18 
respondents 

Count of 
Category 

Wider music selection 0.2% 1 

Wider non-fiction selection 0.2% 1 

Table 31: Categorised ‘other’ responses ‘What other services could we offer through our online 
library?’ 

Respondents were able to select more than one option for this question.  Therefore, percentages 
will add up to more than 100%. 

607 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

Page 274



57 

 

 

Question 19. What do you think about the service that Wirral Libraries provide? 
 
The majority of respondents, 73.2% of respondents felt positively about the service provided by 
Wirral Libraries; 28.2% thought the service was good and 48.2% very good.  
6.0% did not feel that a good service is provided, 5.2% thought it was bad, and 0.9% very bad. 
Most under 16s thought that the service was good (50%) or very good (11.5%). 
 

 
Figure 17: What do you think about the service that Wirral Libraries provide? 

 

Question 19. What do you think about the service that Wirral Libraries 
provide? % Count 

Very Good 25.0% 381 

Good 48.2% 736 

Neutral 20.8% 317 

Bad 5.2% 79 

Very Bad 0.9% 13 

Table 32: What do you think about the service that Wirral Libraries provide? 

1,526 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

2
5

.0
%

4
8

.2
%

2
0

.8
%

5
.2

%

0
.9

%

Very Good Good Neutral Bad Very Bad

Page 275



58 

 

 

Question 20. We would like to know more about how you feel about the library service, 
please can you tell us how you feel about the following statements: 
 

Question 20a. The library staff are helpful and knowledgeable: 
 
Most respondents either strongly agree (50.5%) or agree (37.7%) that the library staff are 
helpful and knowledgeable.  Under 16s also agree (82.4%) or strongly agree (11.8%). 

 
Figure 18: The library staff are helpful and knowledgeable 

1,492 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages. 

Question 20b. I feel welcome and safe at the library: 
 
Most respondents either strongly agree (59.1%) or agree (31.0%) that they feel welcome and 
safe at the library. Under 16s also agree (41.2%%) or strongly agree (41.2%). 

 
Figure 19: I feel welcome and safe at the library 

1,471 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages. 

 
 
 

50.5%

37.7%

10.7%
0.9% 0.1%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Disagree Strongly disagree

59.1%

31.0%

8.7%
1.0% 0.1%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree

Page 276



59 

 

 

 
 

Question 20c. I find the library service useful: 
 
Most respondents either strongly agree (56.4%) or agree (34.0%) that they feel welcome and 
safe at the library.  Under 16s also agree (47.1%). 
 

 
Figure 20: I find the library service useful 

1,474 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages. 

 

Question 20d. The library opening hours are helpful: 
 
Most respondents either agree (32.2%) or strongly agree (24.7%) that the library opening hours 
are helpful.  Under 16s neither agree nor disagree that opening hours are helpful (37.5%). 

 

Figure 21: The library opening hours are helpful 

 
1,453 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages. 

 
 

56.4%

34.0%

7.6%
1.6% 0.5%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree

24.7%
32.2%

21.8% 16.6%
4.7%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Disagree Strongly disagree

Page 277



60 

 

 

Question 20e. I feel confident accessing the online library: 
 
Most respondents both overall (38.8%) and under 16 (43.8%) neither agree nor disagree that 
they feel confident accessing the online library.

Figure 22: I feel confident accessing the online library 

 
1,388 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages. 

  

19.3% 20.7%

38.8%

13.1% 8.1%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree

Page 278



61 

 

 

 

Question 20a. The library staff are helpful and knowledgeable %  Count  

Strongly agree 50.5%               754  

Agree 37.7%               563  

Neither agree nor disagree 10.7%               160  

Disagree 0.9%                 14  

Strongly disagree 0.1%                    1  

Question 20b. I feel welcome and safe at the library %  Count  

Strongly agree 59.1%               870  

Agree 31.0%               456  

Neither agree nor disagree 8.7%               128  

Disagree 1.0%                 15  

Strongly disagree 0.1%                    2  

Question 20c. I find the library service useful %  Count  

Strongly agree 56.4%               831  

Agree 34.0%               501  

Neither agree nor disagree 7.6%               112  

Disagree 1.6%                 23  

Strongly disagree 0.5%                    7  

Question 20d. The library opening hours are helpful %  Count  

Agree 32.2%               468  

Disagree 16.6%               241  

Neither agree nor disagree 21.8%               317  

Strongly agree 24.7%               359  

Strongly disagree 4.7%                 68  

Quesiton 20e. I feel confident accessing the online library %  Count  

Agree 20.7%               287  

Disagree 13.1%               182  

Neither agree nor disagree 38.8%               539  

Strongly agree 19.3%               268  

Strongly disagree 8.1%               112  

Table 33: Questions 20 a-e 

 
  

Page 279



62 

 

 

Question 21. Rank which services are most important to you, from 1 (most important) to 4 
(least important). 
 
Reading (reading groups/Challenges/books) was deemed the most important service, gaining 
an average rank of 1.51, with 19.8% of overall respondents and 19.0% of under 16s ranking it as 
‘most important’. 
Health and wellbeing was ranked as most important by the fewest people (2.0%) with an 
average rank of 2.88. 
 

 
 

Service 
Rank 

1 
Rank 

2 
Rank 

3 
Rank 

4 
Average 

rank 

Reading (reading groups/ reading challenges and books) 1043 177 120 109 1.51 

Information & Digital (IT facilities/ computer use/ 
research) 168 407 307 414 2.75 

Culture & Creativity (live events and gigs/ arts and crafts) 127 390 403 317 2.74 

Health & Wellbeing (events to meet new people/ health 
information/ support groups) 104 302 425 364 2.88 

Table 34: Table showing rank and average rank of each service. 

  

1.51

2.75

2.74

2.88

Reading (reading groups/ reading challenges
and books)

Information & Digital (IT facilities/ computer
use/ research)

Culture & Creativity (live events and gigs/
arts and crafts)

Health & Wellbeing (events to meet new
people/ health information/ support groups)

Average rank of services (1- most important, 4- least important)

Page 280



63 

 

 

Question 22. Which of the four different types of libraries in the draft library strategy would 
be most suitable for the library that you use the most? 
 
The type of library that most respondents felt would be most suitable for the library that they 
use the most is a Neighbourhood Library (48.8%).  The next most popular option is a Central 
Library (28.6%).   
 
Conversely, under 16s preferred the Central Library option (42.1%) over a Neighbourhood 
Library (26.3%). 
 

 
Figure 23: Which of the four different types of libraries in the draft library strategy would be 
most suitable for the library that you use the most? 

Q22. In our draft library strategy, we have thought of four different 
types of libraries, which of these do you think would be most suitable 
for the library you use the most? % Count 

Neighbourhood Library  48.8% 712 

Central Library 28.6% 417 

Community Library Hub 18.0% 263 

Community Managed Library 4.7% 68 

Table 35: Which of the four different types of libraries in the draft library strategy would be 
most suitable for the library that you use the most? 

1,460 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages.  

4
8

.8
%

2
8

.6
%

1
8

.0
%

4
.7

%

Neighbourhood Library Central Library Community Library Hub Community Managed
Library

Page 281



64 

 

 

Question 23. Who do you think could support the council to deliver the library service? 
 
Respondents predominantly thought that community groups (58.9%) and Volunteers (56.1%) 
could support the council to deliver the library service. Under 16s though that volunteers, 
(46.2%) could support the council. 
 

 
Figure 24: Who do you think could support the council to deliver the library service? 

Amongst the ‘other’ suggestions as to who should support delivery of the library service 4.0% of 
respondents felt that the council itself should be delivering the service without reliance on 
outside parties.  3.1% felt that professional librarians and trained library staff should be 
delivering the library service.  0.9% thought that schools and colleges could support the service 
by allowing pupils to assist at libraries or complete work experience there. 
 

Question 23. Who do you think could support the council to 
deliver the library service? % Respondents Count 

Community group 58.9% 804 

Volunteers 56.1% 766 

Partner organisation 38.4% 525 

Local business 31.8% 435 

Other 14.5% 198 

Table 36: Who do you think could support the council to deliver the library service? 

 

5
8

.9
%

5
6

.1
%

3
8

.4
%

3
1

.8
%

1
4

.5
%

Community group Volunteers Partner
organisation

Local business Other

Page 282



65 

 

 

Q23. Who do you think could support the council to deliver the 
library service? (Other) 

% of Q23 
respondents 

Count of 
Category 

Council 4.0% 54 

Professional librarians/ trained staff 3.1% 42 

Schools/colleges (work experience) 0.9% 12 

Uncategorised 0.9% 12 

Volunteers 0.7% 9 

Central Government 0.4% 6 

Funding/revenue 0.4% 5 

No privatisation 0.3% 4 

Against  the use of volunteers 0.2% 3 

All of the above 0.2% 3 

Community Groups 0.2% 3 

Existing staff 0.2% 3 

Liverpool City region library service 0.2% 3 

Local business 0.2% 3 

Against local business 0.1% 2 

Charities 0.1% 2 

Local Councillors 0.1% 2 

NMGM 0.1% 2 

Advertising/promotion 0.1% 1 

Against Community Groups 0.1% 1 

Against Partner Organisations 0.1% 1 

Any willing organisation 0.1% 1 

Arts Director (Council) 0.1% 1 

Children's Services 0.1% 1 

Churches 0.1% 1 

Community group 0.1% 1 

Elected, representative board 0.1% 1 

Family History experts 0.1% 1 

Focus on online service 0.1% 1 

HMG 0.1% 1 

Leisure Services 0.1% 1 

NGOs 0.1% 1 

None of above 0.1% 1 

Partner Organisation 0.1% 1 

Police 0.1% 1 

Page 283



66 

 

 

Q23. Who do you think could support the council to deliver the 
library service? (Other) 

% of Q23 
respondents 

Count of 
Category 

Self- employed entrepreneurs 0.1% 1 

Third sector co-operatives 0.1% 1 

Universities 0.1% 1 

UUCG 0.1% 1 

Volunteer librarians 0.1% 1 

Youth groups 0.1% 1 

Table 37: Categorised ‘other’ comments ‘Who do you think could support the council to deliver 
the library service?’ 

Respondents were able to select more than one option for this question.  Therefore, percentages 
will add up to more than 100%. 

1,366 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages. 

 
  

Page 284



67 

 

 

Question 24. Would you like to be involved with running a library? 
 
Most respondents both overall (70.6%) and aged under 16 (52.9%) would not like to be 
involved with running a library. Of those who would like to be involved, 25.9% would like to be 
involved as a volunteer/member of the community, and 3.5% as a community 
group/organisation. 

 
Figure 25: Would you like to be involved with running a library? 

Q24. Would you like to be involved with running a library? % Count 

No 70.6% 1018 

Yes - as a community group / organisation 3.5% 50 

Yes - as a volunteer / member of the community 25.9% 374 

Table 38: Would you like to be involved with running a library? 

1,442 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages. 

 
  

7
0

.6
%

3
.5

%

2
5

.9
%

No Yes - as a community group /
organisation

Yes - as a volunteer / member
of the community

Page 285



68 

 

 

Question 25. How much time would you be able to give to the library service? 
 
Most respondents felt that they would be able to help the library service a few times a month 
(42.8%) or once a week (36.3%).  Under 16s can mostly help once a week (40.0%). 
 

 
Figure 26: How much time would you be able to give to the library service? 

Other comments include those who would like to help but are unable to say how much time 
they would be able to give (2.2%). 
 

Q25. How much time would you be able to give to the library service? % Count 

A few times a month 42.8% 170 

Once a week 36.3% 144 

For large scale events 10.6% 42 

Other 8.8% 35 

Every day 1.5% 6 

Table 39: How much time would you be able to give to the library service?  

4
2

.8
%

3
6

.3
%

1
0

.6
%

8
.8

%

1
.5

%

A few times a
month

Once a week For large scale
events

Other Every day

Page 286



69 

 

 

 

Q25. How much time would you be able to give to the 
library service? (Other) 

% of Q25 
respondents 

Count of 
Category 

Unable to say 2.2% 9 

Once a week 1.0% 4 

Uncategorised 0.7% 3 

2-3 times a week 0.5% 2 

A few times a month 0.5% 2 

A few times a year 0.5% 2 

Ad-hoc 0.5% 2 

Currently unable 0.5% 2 

Once a month 0.5% 2 

Rarely 0.5% 2 

1- 2 hours a week 0.2% 1 

A few hours a month 0.2% 1 

As a group 0.2% 1 

Comms & digital marketing 0.2% 1 

Evenings 0.2% 1 

For large scale events 0.2% 1 

Once a week 0.2% 1 

Table 40: Categorised ‘other’ comments ‘How much time would you be able to give to the 
library service?’ 

397 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when 
calculating percentages. 

  

Page 287



70 

 

 

Question 26: What support would you need to get involved with a community managed 
library? 
 
The most prevalent type of support that people indicated that they would need to get involved 
with a community managed library both overall (47.3%) and amongst young people (50.0%) 
was additional facilities. 
 

 
Figure 27: What support would you need to get involved with a community managed library? 

Other types of support that respondents felt would be useful were funding (1.7%), training 
(0.8%), ongoing support, and good organisation/management (0.6% each). 
 

Q26. What support would you need to get involved with a 
community managed library? 

Q26. % 
Respondents 

Cou
nt 

Additional facilities 47.3% 43 

Recruit volunteers 38.5% 35 

Recruit staff 35.2% 32 

Other 26.4% 24 

Table 41: What support would you need to get involved with a community managed library?  

4
7

.3
%

3
8

.5
%

3
5

.2
%

2
6

.4
%

Additional facilities Recruit volunteers Recruit staff Other

Page 288



71 

 

 

Q26. What support would you need to get involved with a 
community managed library? (Other) % of Q26 respondents Count 

Uncategorised 1.9% 7 

Funding 1.7% 6 

Training 0.8% 3 

Good organisation/management 0.6% 2 

Ongoing support 0.6% 2 

Expenses 0.3% 1 

Professional librarian 0.3% 1 

Salary 0.3% 1 

True partnership 0.3% 1 

Unable to say 0.3% 1 

Table 42: Categorised other comments 'What support would you need to get involved with a 
community managed library?’ 

Respondents were able to select more than one option for this question.  Therefore, percentages 
will add up to more than 100%. 

91 people answered this question, and this number is used as the denominator when calculating 
percentages. 

 

Question 27: We would like to contact you further about your interest to be involved. If you 
are happy to be contacted by us about this, please provide your email address below. 
 
360 people, including 2 under 16s, provided contact information here: 23.0% of the total 
respondents.  Email addresses have been made available separately to the Libraries Project 
Team. 
  

Page 289



72 

 

 

Question 28: Do you have any further comments or ideas about our draft Library Strategy or 
how we can improve the library service to meet your needs? 
 
Respondents were asked if they had any further comments or ideas about the draft Library 
Strategy or how the library service could be improved to meet their needs.  
 
There were 603 comments from Engagement HQ and 270 from the paper copies, which were 
categorised into themes; many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add 
up to 100%, nor will they match the figures in the previous questions.   
 
The chart below shows the top 20 themes: 
 

 
Figure 28: Top 20 themes from the question “Do you have any further comments or ideas about 
our draft Library Strategy or how we can improve the library service to meet your needs?” 

 
 
Open Libraries 
279 (32.0%) of the comments were people saying that they wanted the libraries to be open: 

32.0%

17.8%

17.4%

17.1%

15.7%

14.3%

13.1%

12.4%

9.9%

7.0%

6.8%

5.8%

4.2%

4.2%

3.8%

3.3%

3.0%

2.8%

2.2%

2.1%

Open libraries

Facilities

Events

Importance of libraries

Staffing

Services

Community hub

Books

Extend opening hours

Health and wellbeing

Building

Library structure

Accessibility

Promotion

Funding

N/A

Travel

Consultation

Atmosphere

Offer

Q28: Do you have any further comments or ideas about our draft Library 
Strategy or how we can improve the library service to meet your needs?

Page 290



73 

 

 

o Open libraries (Covid-19) 125 respondents (14.3%) were requesting that libraries that have 
been closed due to the covid-19 pandemic are re-opened 

o Keep libraries open 99 comments (11.3%) said that they want the libraries to stay open 
o Local libraries needed 51 comments (5.8%) said that local libraries are needed and that 

they should stay open 
 
Facilities 
155 (17.8%) of the comments were about the facilities available in the libraries: 
o Café facilities 35 respondents (4.0%) said it would be nice to get a hot drink while browsing 

the books in the library, and felt that a café area would provide space for people to meet 
up and socialise 

o Like access to computers 30 people (3.4%) felt that access to computers at libraries was 
useful, especially for those who don’t have access to computers or the internet.  People 
thought that having access to computers could help people in poverty to access services 
that they wouldn’t otherwise be able to access. 

o Make reference resources more accessible 21 respondents (2.4%) wanted reference 
resources to be more easily accessible 

o Like rooms and facilities available for groups 21 comments (2.4%) said they liked the 
rooms and facilities available for groups 

o Improve computer access and support 17 people (1.9%) said it they would like the access 
to computers and support for using the computers to be improved 

o Like space to study 12 respondents (1.4%) said that they liked the space available for study 
o Improve access to printers 10 people (1.1%) said they wanted the access to printers to be 

improved 
 
Events 
152 (17.4%) of the comments were people talking about events that the libraries already hold, 
or events they would like to see in the future: 
o Like children’s events 38 respondents (4.4%) like the children’s events that the libraries 

run, including Bounce and Rhyme, Storytime, Rhyme time and the Summer Reading 
Challenge.   They say the events are so important to try and encourage children to read and 
to help social interactions 

o More children’s events 31 comments (3.6%) said there are not enough children’s events 
and that more events would benefit children and the whole community 

o Arts and crafts 19 comments (2.2%) suggested that more arts and crafts sessions are run 
o More events 15 comments (1.7%) said that they would generally like more events  
o Link with schools 15 comments (1.7%) suggested linking with schools to help encourage 

reading 
o Guest speakers / authors 12 comments (1.4%) said they would like to see more guest 

speakers and author events 
o More courses 10 comments (1.1%) said they would like more courses 
o More reading groups 10 comments (1.1%) said that they would like more reading groups 

Page 291



74 

 

 

 

Importance of Libraries 
149 (17.1%) of the comments were about the importance of libraries: 
o Essential service 122 of respondents (14.0%) said that the library service is an essential 

service as it is so important to them and the local community  
o Like - encourage reading 15 people (1.7%) said they liked the fact libraries encourage 

reading 
o Like - encourage literacy 15 people (1.7%) said they liked the fact libraries encourage 

literacy 
o Like - create a love of reading 13 people (1.5%) said they liked the fact that libraries create 

a love of reading 
 
 
Staffing 
137 (15.7%) of the comments were about the staffing in the library: 
o Paid staff needed 48 people (5.5%) talked about the importance of paid staff in the 

libraries, rather than the libraries being completely/partly run by volunteers.  Respondents 
feel that paid staff are important to make sure they have all the expertise and experience 
to properly serve the community and ensure continuity of service. 

o Use some volunteers 26 respondents (3.0%) said using some volunteers (not completely 
run by volunteers) would help improve and extend the library service 

o Qualified librarians needed 25 of the comments (2.9%) said that qualified librarians were 
needed to maintain the good service that the libraries currently provide 

o Like hard work of library staff 16 people (1.8%) said they like the hard work of the library 
staff 

o Volunteers not wanted 10 respondents (1.1%) said they do not want volunteers working in 
the library 

o Staff friendly 9 respondents (1.0%) said that the staff that work in their libraries are 
friendly 

 
Services 
125 (14.3%) of the comments were about the services that the libraries provide: 
o Like Home Reader service 13 people (1.5%) said that they like the Home Reader service. 
o Provide more services 13 people (1.5%) said that they wanted more services to be 

provided within the library 
o Like online catalogue 8 people (0.9%) said that they like the online catalogue 
o Like one stop shop 7 respondents (0.8%) said that they like the one stop shop services that 

are available within the library 
o Ability to order books 6 comments (0.7%) said that they liked the ability to order books 
o Like sharing information 6 people (0.7%) said that they liked the fact that the libraries 

were there to share information 
 

Page 292



75 

 

 

Community hub 
114 (13.1%) of the comments were about libraries being community hubs: 
o Important community hub 59 people (6.8%) said that the libraries are important 

community hubs: places for people to get information, meet, places for community groups 
to meet and places for courses to be run 

o Become a community hub 42 people (4.8%) said that the libraries need to become more of 
a community hub by having more places to meet up, more services provided, more courses 
run and space for groups to meet up 

o Place to meet/socialise 25 people (2.9%) said that the libraries are a place to meet and 
socialise 

 
Books 
108 people (12.4%) commented about books: 
o Greater variety of books needed 58 comments (6.6%) said that a greater variety of books 

are needed in our libraries 
o Concentrate on books 29 people (3.3%) said that the library should concentrate on books 

and not look to change too much 
o Maintain good stock of books 6 respondents (0.7%) said that the libraries need to maintain 

a good stock of books to maintain their current service 
o More new books 5 people (0.6%) said that they would like to see more new books in the 

libraries 
o Rotate books 4 people (0.5%) said they would like to see a book rotation system between 

different libraries to increase the variety of books available 
 
Extend opening hours 
86 (9.9%) of the comments were about the library opening hours: 
o Longer opening hours in general 38 respondents (4.4%) wanted longer opening hours in 

general. Many said that the current opening hours make it difficult for people who work 
full time to get to the library and opening in the evenings or weekends would make it 
easier for more people to access the library 

o Evenings 24 people (2.7%) would like libraries to be open more in the evenings 
o Evenings and weekends 10 respondents (1.1%) wanted libraries to be open more in 

evenings and weekends 
 
Health and wellbeing 
61 (7.0%) of the comments were about people’s health and wellbeing: 
o Social interactions help mental health/loneliness 40 people (4.6%) felt that the libraries 

provide places for people to go, where they can bump into people or chat to librarians, and 
that those social interactions are so important to people, to prevent loneliness and help 
people’s mental health.  This was mentioned as being particularly important to the elderly 
as well as new parents 

Page 293



76 

 

 

o Like – improves mental and physical wellbeing 13 people (1.5%) said that libraries improve 
people’s mental and physical wellbeing 

o Like - safe place 10 respondents (1.1%) said that the libraries were a safe place for anyone 
to go and feel safe and comfortable  

 
 
 
 
  

Page 294



77 

 

 

 

3.2 Ideas Board Responses 

71 contributors submitted an idea (66 ideas) or comment (33 comments) on the ideas board 
tool.  Other visitors to the board were able to ‘vote’ for ideas that they liked. 
 
The 2 most popular ideas, that received the most ‘votes’ were: 

 
 
And 

 
 
Common themes amongst the ideas were identified and categorised.  The combined number of 
‘likes’ that ideas in each category were calculated to identify the most popular categories of 
idea.  Submissions sometimes contained ideas relating to more than one category, hence there 
may be more ‘ideas’ identified below than submissions. 
 
Events – 41 ideas 
41 of the ideas were about events that libraries could hold: 
o More children’s events (8 ideas, 17 likes) or that they liked children’s events (2 ideas, 6 

likes) 
o More courses (4 ideas, 16 likes) 
o Guest speakers / authors (4 ideas, 3 likes) 
o Libraries should link with schools (2 ideas, 6 likes) 
o Use the library as a cinema (2 ideas, 5 likes) 
o More IT training (2 ideas, 4 likes)  
o A human library (2 ideas, 2 likes) 

 

“Why are the branch libraries still closed? Is there an agenda to close some or all of them 
permanently and claim that folk prefer to go online? If the central libraries can reopen then why 
not the branches. Will they all reopen in July if the coronavirus restrictions are lifted? Or is the 
situation seen as an opportunity to carry out the closures that the council proposed some years 
ago?” 9 votes 

 

“A cafe in each of the main libraries and medium or smaller ones if there is the capacity.  
It would be a meeting point and encourage browsing and use of other library services, e.g., 
attending events and exhibitions or classes.” 8 votes 

 

 

 

Page 295



78 

 

 

 
Facilities – 17 ideas 
17 of the ideas were about facilities in the library: 
o Café facilities wanted (4 ideas, 16 likes) 
o Create agile workspaces (2 ideas, 6 likes) 
o Improve computer access and support (2 ideas, 6 likes) 
o Improve access to printers (2 ideas, 0 likes) 
o Like study space (1 idea, 3 likes) 

 
Staffing – 13 ideas, 22 likes 
13 of the ideas were about staffing: 
o Use some volunteers (3 ideas, 3 likes) 
o Paid staff needed (3 ideas, 3 likes) 
o Volunteers – give more responsibility (2 ideas, 1 like) 
o Increase librarians’ autonomy (1 idea, 4 likes) 
o Volunteers not wanted (1 idea, 3 likes) 
o Train staff properly (1 idea, 3 likes) 

 
Open libraries – 10 ideas, 29 likes 
10 of the ideas were about opening the libraries: 
o Open libraries after the Covid-19 closures (8 ideas, 29 likes) 
o Keep libraries open in general (1 idea, 5 likes) 
o Local libraries needed (1 idea, 5 likes) 

 
Community hub – 10 ideas, 34 likes 
10 of the ideas were about how the libraries should become a community hub, a space to meet 
and mix, and spaces that community groups can use. 
 
Books – 9 ideas, 23 likes 
9 of the ideas were about books: 
o Greater variety of books needed (4 ideas, 11 likes) 
o Concentrate on books (1 idea, 4 likes) 
o Rotate books (1 idea, 4 likes) 
o Allow donation of books (1 idea, 0 likes) 
o Dyslexic friendly books and reading schemes (1 idea, 0 likes) 

 
 

  

Page 296



79 

 

 

3.3 Events and Stakeholder Sessions 

3.3.1 Engagement Held Near to Wirral Libraries Closed During the Consultation 
 
Fourteen sessions were held in the community at venues close to those Libraries closed at the 
time of the engagement. At these events 382 people engaged in discussions and 323 
questionnaires were given out. From these events 91 questionnaires were completed and 
submitted on the day and the details for people to submit their questionnaires following the 
event were provided. The information from all questionnaires submitted is included in with the 
other questionnaire analysis. Table 43 indicates the engagement at each of the sessions.  
 

Location Date 
Number of 

People 
Engaged 

Questionnaires 
Given Out 

Questionnaires 
Completed on the 

day 

Pyramids Shopping 
Centre, Birkenhead 

09/09/2021 27 12 0 

Cherry Tree Shopping 
Centre, Liscard 

31/08/2021 42 24 8 

Little Beechwood 
Centre  

20/08/2021 15 4 1 

St James Centre, 
Birkenhead 

20/08/2021 20 5 2 

Heswall (outside 
library) 

19/08/2021 22 17 2 

Seacombe Children’s 
Centre  

23/08/2021 16 27 7 

Heart of Egremont   24/08/2021 15 4 4 

Pensby - Kylemore 
Community Centre 

06/09/2021 12 45 6 

Leasowe Leisure 
Centre 

28/08/2021 25 2 0 

Irby - St Chad’s Church 03/09/2021 70 51 15 

Moreton - Lingham 
Park 

04/09/2021 64 49 15 

Hoylake - Melrose Hall 08/09/2021 25 23 12 

Upton - Victory Hall 17/09/2021 16 20 12 

Noctorum - St Andrews 
Church 

13/09/2021 13 40 7 

Total   382 323 91 

Table 43: Summary of Engagement at Community Events. 

Page 297



80 

 

 

From the event discussions the key themes raised across the events have been identified and 
are summarised here. The discussions were noted on the day and further information for 
individual events is available in Appendix 1. 
 
Key themes that were mentioned several times at the community events included the 
importance of Libraries, that they were seen as an essential service and important community 
hubs and that they were valued as part of individual communities. There was a desire for 
Libraries to be re-opened following Covid-19 closures and for libraries to be kept open. They 
were also seen as important for social interactions to impact on loneliness and mental health 
and that services run from Libraries including, One Stop Shops, events for adults and children 
were valued and that more could be provided. 
 
The feedback also noted that Library buildings were outdated and had a poor appearance and 
that more funding was required for the service. There was also the view that Libraries could 
make better use of the space they had including interior design and room hire. A greater variety 
of books was required, and better computer access and support were noted. Feedback noted 
that there was an opportunity for Libraries to improve their communication with communities, 
including what is locally on offer in the library and to be clear on opening times. Comparison 
with Liverpool Central Library and its service offer was also noted on several occasions. 
 
Key themes arising from the community events: 
 

Theme Count 

Libraries are an essential service 11 

Buildings outdated /poor appearance 11 

Open libraries (COVID-19) 9 

Important community hub 8 

More funding needed 7 

Greater variety of books needed 5 

Better use of space 5 

Keep libraries open 4 

Liverpool Library model is excellent 4 

Improve communication with community 4 

Opening hours confusing 3 

Important for social interactions help mental health/loneliness 3 

One Stop Shops important 3 

Improve computer access and support 3 

Communicate what is on offer better 3 

Local libraries needed 2 

Like Borrowbox 2 

Like children's events 2 

Toddler groups 2 

Page 298



81 

 

 

Theme Count 

More events required 2 

More children's events required 2 

Reference resources site important 2 

Table 44: Key themes recorded more than once at Community Events. 

 

3.3.2 Specific Engagement with Young People 
 
Specific events were held at St John Plessington and Upton Hall schools. In each school the 
events were held with a number of classes and questions were asked whilst allowing the young 
people to discuss Wirral Libraries and submit their own thoughts and ideas about the future of 
Libraries. A set of questions were provided to each school although not all questions were 
asked in each session in the schools. For the questions not asked routinely information is 
provided based on the number of young people who were asked the question not the total 
number of students involved.   
 
In both schools a total of 72 year 7 and year 8 young people were involved in the discussions. 

• 14 out of 27 students had never used the library - 52% of those asked. 

• 18 out of 72 students still used the library – 25% of those asked. 

• 10 out of 72 students were aware of the online library – 14% of those asked. 

• 1 out of 27 students used the online library – 4% of those asked. 
 
For those that visited the libraries the reasons included: 

• Borrow books 

• Private study 

• Coding club 

• For a meeting 

• Use computers 

• Relax 

• Meet friends/family 
 
When asked why they did not use the library the reasons were: 

• They used the school library 

• Already have access to books at home 

• They were reading less / don’t enjoy reading 

• Covid-19 closures and unsure of opening times 

• I don’t know where my library is 

• Too busy 

• I don’t think the library service is useful 

• I use another book service 

• I don’t like the book selection 

Page 299



82 

 

 

• The library is boring 

• I buy books online 
 
When asked what they would like to see in the library the students suggested: 

• Home delivery 

• Longer opening times 

• Recommendations by genre 

• Author events 

• A trip to the library with school 

• Graphic novels 

• Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, intersex and asexual (LGBTQIA+) resources 

• Better website 

• A library app 

• Newer books- the books available are dated and don’t relate to me. 

• Quick reads (these are books that are shorter stories but age appropriate i.e. not for 
younger readers) 

• An age specific section 

• Horror books 

• Headphones and quiet space -soundproof section for gaming 

• Books for our age only 

• Books that relate to my life/circumstances 

• Comic books 

• Language learning books 

• Wi-fi printing 

• Café 

• Escape rooms 

• Plants/green space 

• Games room (non-digital) 

• Magazines 
 
For those that used the online library they were asked why they used it: 

• Used it because her family did. 
 
When asked why they did not use the online library: 

• Pupils were not aware of it 

• Want to read physical books 
 
When asked what they would like to see in the online library the students suggested: 

• LGBTQIA+ books 

• Graphic novels 

• Comedy books 

Page 300



83 

 

 

 
 

3.3.3 Engagement with Key Stakeholders 
 
The key stakeholder meetings provided an opportunity for individuals and groups to learn more 
about the engagement, get questions answered and offer their feedback and thoughts on 
developing a new Library model. Library Officers attended each event and information was 
collected. The key feedback from the sessions included: 

• Accessibility of Libraries was important. Upstairs accessibility is an issue at Birkenhead 
Central Library. It needs improving or services/collections need to be brought 
downstairs 

• Public transport was important to users with disabilities, so libraries with good public 
transport links were key. 

• Evolutions model of work experience and employment for people with disabilities could 
be possible through a Library café and was there opportunity for this. 

• The Autism friendly libraries message was not being conveyed to the community and 
could be improved. 

• In Birkenhead there was positive feedback around the collaborative work around 
literacy linked to the Cradle to Career initiative and with the Dolly Parton Imagination 
Library. 

• North Birkenhead Development Trust (St James Library) suggested that the community 
managed model opportunity was not a likely option for them as the current model 
provided rental income. 

• The value of the Home Reader Service was noted by the Residential Forum. 

• There may be potential for the Wirral CCG digital champions to improve digital exclusion 
and make connections for people with the library offer. 

• There may be opportunities for community-based health services to support residents 
to use the Library or the Digital Library. 

• There may be opportunities for linkages between health colleagues and Library services 
to provide people with information the library offer including Home Reader to people 
on discharge from hospital. 

• The new Library model could be linked to the Age Friendly City project that Wirral is a 
part of. 

 

3.3.4 Staff Engagement 
 
The Staff Engagement events allowed all staff to engage in the consultation and ensure their 
questions were answered. Staff were requested to provide feedback through the completion of 
questionnaires and this information is captured in the questionnaire section of this report.  

 

Page 301



84 

 

 

4.0 Demographics and Site Traffic 

4.1 Demographics  

Information regarding demographics was required to complete the survey, however not all 
questions in the registration form were compulsory.  Only the question requesting the 
participant’s postcode was mandatory, the remaining questions users could choose to select 
‘prefer not to say’ or skip the question altogether. 
 
Participant location by ward and IMD decile 
 
Most respondents described themselves as a local resident (95.5%).  4.2% are members of a 
voluntary or community organisation, 3.5% are employees of Wirral Council. 
 

 
Figure 29: Chart showing respondents’ connection with Wirral 

The most represented Wirral ward, based on postcode, was Greasby, Frankby and Irby ward 
(10.1%), followed by Hoylake and Meols (8.5%). 
The least well represented wards were Bidston and St. James (1.1%) and Rock Ferry (1.7%), 
which also correlate to some of the most deprived areas of Wirral. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9
5

.5
%

4
.2

%

3
.5

%

1
.1

%

0
.9

%

0
.4

%

A local
resident

A member of a
voluntary or
community
organisation

An employee
of Wirral
Council

Other A local
Business

An elected
Member of

Wirral Council

Are you registering as:

Page 302



85 

 

 

The most represented Wirral ward, based on postcode, was Greasby, Frankby and Irby ward 
(10.1%), followed by Hoylake and Meols (8.5%). 
The least well represented wards were Bidston and St. James (1.1%) and Rock Ferry (1.7%), 
which also correlate to some of the most deprived areas of Wirral. 
 

 
Figure 30: Chart showing the respondent's location by IMD decile. 

 
  

10.1%

8.5%

6.8%

5.9%

5.8%

5.7%

5.4%

4.9%

4.7%

4.4%

4.0%

3.7%

3.6%

3.5%

3.2%

3.0%

3.0%

2.7%

2.7%

2.6%

2.2%

1.7%

1.1%

0.6%

0.2%

0.1%

0.1%

Greasby, Frankby and Irby

Hoylake and Meols

Wallasey

Bebington

West Kirby and Thurstaston

Pensby and Thingwall

Clatterbridge

Heswall

Eastham

Upton

New Brighton

Uncategorised

Oxton

Moreton West and Saughall Massie

Liscard

Birkenhead and Tranmere

Claughton

Leasowe and Moreton East

Seacombe

Bromborough

Prenton

Rock Ferry

Bidston and St. James

Cheshire

Liverpool

North Wales

Wolverhampton

Participant location by ward

Page 303



86 

 

 

11.6% of respondents provided a postcode in the first decile (where first in most deprived and 
10th is least deprived) of the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD), predominantly in Birkenhead 
& Tranmere, Seacombe and Rock Ferry wards. 
 
The eighth (15.0%) and sixth (14.1%) IMD deciles are the most represented amongst 
participants.  

 

 
Figure 31: Chart showing the respondent's location by IMD decile. 

Most of the respondents (72.0%) were female. 26.0% were male, 1% chose not to say and 0.5% 
prefer to use their own term. 

1
1

.6
%

6
.3

%

6
.5

% 8
.5

%

4
.2

%

1
4

.1
%

1
1

.4
%

1
5

.0
%

1
1

.5
%

6
.3

%

4
.6

%

Page 304



87 

 

 

 
Figure 32: Chart showing residents' gender 

 
The most common age groups were 65-74 years (25.8%) and 55-64 years (20.8%).  Only 1.7% 
were aged under 16 years and 1.8% aged 16-24 years. 
 

 
Figure 33: Age group of respondents 

94% of respondents were white British. Non-white ethnicities accounted for 2.8% of 
respondents, combined. 
 

7
2

.0
%

2
6

.0
%

1
.6

%

0
.5

%

Female Male Prefer not to say Prefer to use own term

What is your gender?

1
.7

%

1
.8

%

7
.5

%

1
3

.8
%

1
2

.9
%

2
0

.8
% 2

5
.8

%

1
5

.6
%

Under 16 16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+

Which age group do you fall in to?

Page 305



88 

 

 

 
Figure 35: Ethnicity of respondents 

 
Most respondents who answered this question were heterosexual (84.6%) 
 

 

Figure 34: Sexual orientation of respondents 

  

94.0%

1.9%

1.5%

1.3%

0.3%

0.3%

0.2%

0.2%

0.1%

0.1%

0.1%

White - English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern…

White - Any other White background

Other ethnic group - Other ethnic group

White - Irish

Asian or Asian British - Any other Asian…

Mixed - Any other Mixed background

Asian or Asian British - Chinese

Mixed - White and Black African

Travelling community - Gypsy/Roma

Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi

Asian or Asian British - Indian

Which of these groups do you consider you belong to? 

1
.5

%

1
.1

%

8
4

.6
%

1
2

.7
%

Bisexual Gay/Lesbian Heterosexual Prefer not to say

What is your sexual orientation?

Page 306



89 

 

 

 

4.2 Site Traffic 

6,622 people visited the libraries consultation page, 1,073 of whom participated in the survey 
and 71 contributed to the ideas board. 
 
The highest engagement rates were from direct visits to the site (23.9%), visits from emails 
(21.6%) and from search engines (19.0%).   
 
Although social media generated a relatively high level of visits to the site (x1,952) this channel 
had the lowest rate of engagement, with only 11.4% going on to take the survey. 
 

Channel Aware visits Engaged visits Engagement rate 

.GOV sites 102 16 15.7% 

Direct 2666 638 23.9% 

Email 185 23 12.4% 

Referrals 1354 293 21.6% 

Search Engine 363 69 19.0% 

Social 1952 222 11.4% 

Total 6,622 1,261 19.0% 

Table 45: Traffic and engagement by channel 

  

Page 307



90 

 

 

5.0 Appendices 

Appendix 1: Feedback Summary Notes from Events Held in Venues 
Near Closed Libraries 

Location: Little Beechwood Centre 
Date: 20 August 2021  
Number of people engaged: 15  
Number of questionnaires given out: 4  
Number of questionnaires completed: 1  
 
Comments received:  

• Met with Councillor McManus who will continue to promote the consultation to users of the 
Centre.  

• Conversation with Headteacher at St Paul’s Primary School on working together 
once Beechwood Library has re-opened.  

• Conversation with Citizen’s Advice Bureau about returning sessions at Moreton Library.  

• Invited to a stakeholder event at Beechwood Recreation Centre on Tuesday 7th September 
about wider development of offer out of the Recreation Centre with other key partners.  

 
 
Location: Cherry Tree Shopping Centre in Liscard 
Date: 31st August 2021  
Number of people engaged: 42  
Number of questionnaires given out: 24  
Number of questionnaires completed: 8  
 
Comments received:   

• Libraries were a lifesaver when I was a young mum.  

• Would like to see tablet/computer courses in libraries. 

• Use to like the coffee mornings, film nights, CD’s, and Ukulele events in Wallasey Central.  

• Young person: Only reads ‘at home’ – doesn’t use library  

• Went to library to carry out a job search and was moved from the computer as required by 
a partner organisation. Was noisy too. Libraries used to be quiet. Won’t use the library 
again due to this happening to her.  

• Has to get the bus to Wallasey Central. Only wants to use Seacombe Library as this is within 
walking distance.   

• One person said they filled the questionnaire online.  

• My children used to use the library when they were young, but they’re too old now.  
 
Location: Melrose Hall, Hoylake (Plus a visit to a coffee morning at St Luke’s Church Hall) 

Page 308



91 

 

 

Date: Wednesday 8th September 
Number of people engaged: 13 at Melrose & 12 at St Lukes Church Hall 
Number of questionnaires given out: 23  
Number of questionnaires completed: 12  
 
Comments received:   

• There was a coffee morning on at St Luke’s Church Hall, so officer spoke to those there and 
handed out forms.  

• We left an additional 20 forms for the Friday Club.   

• Concerns about the state of the building (Hoylake) and some mentioned the books near 
the windows looked like they were being bleached by the sun.  

• Keen to have a date for reopening.   

• Pleased it would be reopening after Covid closure.  

• Retired librarian told us Wirral was the worst library authority ever.  

• Lots of interest in volunteering.  

• One customer extremely complimentary about BorrowBox – said it kept her going during 
lockdown.  

 

Location:  St Andrew’s Church, Noctorum  
Date: 13th September 2021 
Number of people engaged: 10 including 3 Councillors 
Number of questionnaires given out:   10 + 20 for bingo club + 20 for the social supermarket  
Number of questionnaires completed: 7  
 
Comments received:   

• Councillors Gill Wood, Steve Foulkes and George Davies, Mayor of Wirral attended.  

• Residents very keen to have a community facility to replace the Community Centre that 
had been in the grounds of Ridgeway School.  

• Would like Ridgeway Library to reopen so it can become a community hub.  

• Limited interest in library services.  

• Ladies in attendance took forms to distribute at bingo and at the social supermarket. Cllr 
Wood will collect and return to Birkenhead Library.  

 

  

Page 309



92 

 

 

Location: Heart of Egremont  
Date: 24 August 2021 
Number of people engaged: 15  
Number of questionnaires given out: 4  
Number of questionnaires completed: 4  
 
Comments received:  

• Child: Chess club would be good, or a games group. Not interested in books.  

• We did visit the library pre Covid but it's not open now. 

• We would visit if you ran the group (toddler group) at the library.  

• Be good if the library did sessions here, can you come on a regular basis?  

• Use Wallasey Central good for groups and I hope you aren’t closing it.  

• Are you going to offer libraries to volunteers?  

• We use Wallasey Central and Seacombe, don’t mind which.  

• Seacombe Library looks awful, are you knocking it down?  

• Seacombe Library needs money spent on it.  

• Seacombe Library doesn’t offer me anything I want.   
 
 
Location: Heswall - outside library  
Date: 20 August 2021  
Number of people engaged: 22  
Number of questionnaires given out: 17  
Number of questionnaires completed: 2  
 
Comments received:  

• University of the Third Age (U3A) classes not being available across the network of 
libraries is a devastating social loss.  

• Volunteer at Beanstalk- baby and toddler groups very important for all as its start their 
reading journey.  

• Heswall library is the only civic building available, and its loss is felt greatly. Getting 
books to those most in need is crucial.  

• We can’t travel to West Kirby Library, we need our local library back. Public transport 
not good.  

• Qualified librarians are very important, the loss of so many is detrimental to the service.  

• Is Heswall going to close?  

• You have Heswall earmarked to close already, why bother with a consultation.  

• We need Heswall library open again, it is the only public building in the area, residents 
are predominately elderly who cannot travel.  

• Nothing else in the area.  

Page 310



93 

 

 

• The important things about it (Heswall) is the One Stop Shop. No other way to contact 
and we can’t go online. Phone service is useless no one picks up and you need an hour 
to spare.  

• Moreton One Stop Shop is very important. 

• I use Moreton Library for respite – I get a carer in for 1 hour a week and the book group 
is so important to me and many of the attendees who are on their own. Loneliness is a 
big problem and Moreton Library used to have so many activities and events, but they 
stopped well before Covid.  

• Heswall space should be rented out - the upstairs space should be used more- room 
hire.  

• Heswall One Stop Shop was so useful- please bring it back.   

• It was good to see the space in Heswall being used by the Police, there should be more 
of that.  

 
Location: Kylemore Community Centre, Pensby  
Date: 6 September 2021 
People engaged: 12  
Questionnaires handed out: 45  
Questionnaires returned: 6  
 
Comments:  

• Why is Heswall Library closed when Greasby Library is open. Should have either Heswall 
Library or Pensby Library open   

• Pensby Library is outdated and needs re-decoration and modernising. There are far too 
many leaflets and its needs a de-clutter.  

• Space is not utilised properly.  

• Back-office space would make a great meeting room.   

• Shelves need to be on wheels, so space is more flexible.  

• Can groups purchase furniture on behalf of the library?  

• Staff/volunteers/friends do not get on, they should be working collectively.  

• Pensby Library is a great community asset and fully accessible.  

• Keep the community events going like bingo, Gamblers Anonymous, storytimes.  

• More content for Borrowbox please.  

• We don’t want to lose Pensby Library, but the library needs a revamp to make it a better 
- community, multifunctional space. Yes, books are important but it’s a community hub 
and the space needs to reflect that with all the groups that meet there.  

• Spend some money on it- needs modernising as it’s a great library.  

• Very important to the older isolated community- loneliness.   

• Volunteers were doing great work there and need to be able to do more.  

• Higher Bebington- user came to this session to complete survey.  
 

Page 311



94 

 

 

Location: Leasowe Leisure Centre  
Date: 28 August 2021  
Number of people engaged: 25  
Number of questionnaires given out: 2  
Number of questionnaires completed: 0  
 
Comments received:  

• Visit specifically for community session (Seacombe Library User). Believes the library is 
invaluable to the community it serves given high level of deprivation. Wanted to know 
when Seacombe Library was due to open (signposted to email inbox so we could 
forward to management).    

• We used to visit Birkenhead Library as a family, but we go to Liverpool Central now, 
much better facilities and it’s a better space (E.g. not dated, has a café and a large area 
for the kids to enjoy).  

• Wallasey is looking very tired, and we use to go when the kids were little, but it just 
needs some money spent on it.  

• The free bags (Book Trust) bags are great but after the first few years (under 5s) the 
library isn’t really appealing to us. You need to upgrade the buildings. Look at Liverpool’s 
library.  

 
 
Location: Lingham Park in Moreton  
Date: 4 September 2021  
Number of people engaged:     64  
Number of questionnaires given out:   49  
Number of questionnaires completed: 15  
 
Comments received:   

• Lady said she would like to see help for online consultations for her GP.  

• A great deal of people did not know Moreton Library was open.  

• Comments that the opening hours were confusing for Moreton Library.  

• Someone commented that the lack of children’s space in the ‘new’ library in Moreton 
would be too small.   

• Friend of Moreton Library said it was very hard to engage other members to join the 
‘Friends of Moreton’ but hoping that Moreton in Bloom may encourage new members.  

• Councillor Max Booth, said libraries were a vital service, and was interested to know that 
we were engaging with the public.     

 
 
  

Page 312



95 

 

 

Location: Pyramids Shopping Centre, Birkenhead 
Date: 9 September 2021  
Number of people engaged: 27  
Number of questionnaires handed out: 12  
Number of questionnaires completed: 0 
 
Comments:  

• When is Prenton Library re-opening?  

• I have no need of the library - physical site or digital.  

• Don’t use libraries as I buy books. Asked if they had a kindle/tablet- signposted to e-
resources.  

• Used to use Birkenhead Library but can’t since cataract problems so don’t read much 
now. Said service had been brilliant though.  

• Don’t read, no relevance.  

• Have enough books at home and not interested in other services in libraries.  

• You need to buy more books- your stock is old and dated.  

• Buy more books.  

• Need to replicate Liverpool Central, the pc offer is great. Sometimes you can’t get a pc 
as its too busy. The whole space is good to use and very user friendly and a great 
environment. It is a destination.  

• Some libraries are scruffy and dated- you need to invest in them. They haven’t changed 
for years. They are neglected buildings and look it.  

• Students (A-level and Uni) will go to Liverpool to study and use pcs you need better 
facilities. When I was a Sixth Former we would go to Liverpool as a group to study, it was 
great. We could meet and use the pcs with other people our age. Why do we need to go 
to Liverpool to get that service? Nothing like that on Wirral.  

• St James Library needs security, teenagers can be a problem.  

• St James is very important to the local schools and nurseries. The storytimes etc. and 
engagement with schools is great you need to continue and build on it.  

• Seacombe Library is so important to my mental wellbeing. Books are key to this and the 
social interaction of the groups that use to meet there was so valuable. It is the heart of 
that community.  

• Wallasey Village Library has old stock, needs lots of new books.  

• Greasby Library I loved to use this but never know when it’s open. The opening hours 
are confusing. You need better advertising of the library services and opening hours.  

• Never see anything about libraries, you don’t promote what you do. I don’t know what 
you offer other than books.   

• Lack of investment over many years, buildings look tired and facilities old and poor. If 
you don’t invest in them people won’t use them.  

• We go to Liverpool, it’s in the right place with other attractions and looks great.  

• Didn’t know you did e-books, you need to tell people.  

Page 313



96 

 

 

• Book stock is old, you need more books to encourage people to visit.  

• Are you going to invest in libraries after this consultation? That’s what is needed, it’s a 
managed decline of buildings and services.  

 
 
Location: Seacombe Children’s Centre  
Date 23 August 2021 
Number of people engaged: 16  
Number of questionnaires given out: 27 (20 left on site)  
Number of questionnaires completed: 7  
 
Comments received:   

• Some didn’t use Seacombe Library, no need or too far to walk to.  

• Plan for relocating into St John’s Church in Liscard suggested.  
 
 
Location: St Chad’s Church Irby  
Date: 3 September 2021  
Number of people engaged: 70 approximately.  
Number of questionnaires given out: 48 + 3 easy read versions.  
Number of questionnaires completed: 15  
 
Comments received:   

• Why aren’t there any evening engagement sessions?  

• Why isn’t this in the library?  

• How much has it cost to hire the hall?  

• We were expecting a meeting with a presentation, senior staff, and Councillors, we’ve 
been fobbed off.  

• Why weren’t posters put up on the community notice boards?  

• How is it that senior Library Officers can go into Irby this morning but not be here, or us 
in the library?  

• Many attending thought Irby had closed for good, and we spent a lot of time explaining 
that there was a schedule to open all sites after the Covid shut down and that the 
Consultation was looking at longer term plans.  

 
  

Page 314



97 

 

 

Location: St James Centre, Birkenhead - North Birkenhead Development Trust  
Date:  20 August 2021  
Number of people engaged: 20  
Number of questionnaires given out: 5  
Number of questionnaires completed: 2  
 
Comments received:  

• Met with Trust Manager to discuss timetable about reopening of St James Library.  

• Trust Manager to continue to promote the consultation.  
 
 

Location: Upton Victory Hall 
Date: 17 September 2021  
Number of people engaged: 16  
Number of questionnaires handed out: 20  
Number of questionnaires returned: 12  
 
Comments received:  

• Most comments received were around the reopening of Upton Library as many 
attendees thought that the library was not reopening.  

• Common themes of discussion were why was Upton Library not open yet, what was the 
delay.  

• We want a library for Upton, Greasby and Moreton are not our community, we are our 
own community of Upton.  

• Need something for the children at Upton Library.  

• Its great having a separate children’s library.  

• Local history/history of Upton important for Upton Library, good to have something 
based at Upton Library.   

• Wallasey Central Library does not need a reference library, it should all be at Birkenhead 
Library. It seems ridiculous that you have to go to Wallasey Central for street directories 
when every other area is at Birkenhead Central reference library. Need the ref library 
open asap.  

• Nearly all attendees completed and returned a survey at the session, so more feedback 
is contained within paper questionnaires.  

 
 

 

  

Page 315



98 

 

 

Appendix 2: Direct Representations 

 
Upton Village Community Group 
Upton Library  
 
We have heard via xxx, that discussion at the ‘Humanitarian Cell’ has included reference to the 
fact that the Council’s ‘One Stop Shops’ have still not opened up following Covid Lockdown. 
 
People with problems or needs have been expected to telephone to arrange a telephone 
appointment to speak to an adviser and then possibly be offered a Face2Face appointment. 
This is often too cumbersome for people who are distressed by the difficulties, or problems 
they need help with. Thy want easier access. They want somewhere they can go to see 
someone. A safe space. It has been suggested that ‘One Stop Shop’ Managers are looking for 
venues around the Community through which they can offer Face2Face services. 
The suggestion woven into the Library Consultation process is that some Libraries are likely to 
be lost, closed, never to re-open. That is not what Upton & Woodchurch people want, nor is 
that they need! 
 
Given that there has been no ‘One Shop Stop’ provision in this area, or indeed for several miles 
around. The Conway Centre, in Birkenhead, is probably the closest, but hardly accessible to 
people with limited mobility, at a time of distress. 
 
Would the Council (Library Service, working with other departments and the Community) 
consider developing a mixed economy approach to providing an accessible service for the 
residents of Upton and Woodchurch, based in Upton Library, delivered by a team of paid staff 
supported by Volunteer helpers? 
 
The venue found at Upton Library is accessible on foot, by bicycle, by car, or by bus as the 437 
and 418 buses stop outside and visitors could connect with other routes which cross through 
the Village, travelling between Arrowe Park Hospital and Moreton. 
 
The Library is of Historical and Architectural interest locally. It was awarded a Grade II Listing for 
that very reason. Shouldn’t the Local Authority be proud of such a building and want to see it 
flourish? It is situated on one of the entrance routes into a Village with a rich historical past. 
We are dismayed to hear that the building has fallen into some disrepair during the time it was 
abandoned during lockdown and there has been water damage to contents. We hope that the 
damage will be remedied. This significant building could help Upton to be recognised as the 
‘Historical Village’ it is, at the crossroads in the heart of Wirral. It could provide a base for 
exploring and promoting local heritage and history, family records, memory groups. Alzheimer 
support groups etc some of which has done previously. 
 

Page 316



99 

 

 

The Library could enable Upton to be recognised as a ‘Healthy Village’ – its close proximity to 
Upton Group Practice, across Ford Road, could provide opportunities for developing health 
related activities, such as hosting talking/listening therapy groups, diabetes management 
groups, smoking cessation, chair based exercise classes etc. 
 
I’ve run out ‘H’ words, but The Library should be venue which promotes literacy, numeracy and 
digital skills for people of all ages, stages and abilities in the Community. Its absence is felt 
amongst those who don’t have internet access in their own homes as more and more activity 
and services seem only to be available to people who can access them online. 
 
Upton Library stands close to one of the ‘gateways’ to the Village, not far from the entrance to 
Ford Road, the main route through. For it to appear dilapidated, closed and unwanted does not 
provide the impression of a good ‘Welcome’ to people coming into the Village nor to people 
passing through on the main bus route from Liverpool to the Wirral Coastline. 
 
Upon Village Community Group was established in 2019, to raise the profile of the Village, to 
make it more attractive, to encourage Visitors and thereby Customers to use the local 
businesses. Volunteers have done this through a combination of securing investment via grants 
from the local authority, trusts, local donations and fundraising and through the commitment 
of local residents and traders to work together for the greater good. 
 
We believe the same could happen if a partnership, a working together, a mixed economy 
approach could be developed and adopted to give new life to Upton Library. 
 
The Community Group includes a local historian who has written about the Library & the 
history of the Village. We have explored finding a space where the history of Upton could be 
displayed, where people could come to find out more, whether they be school children from 
local schools, or adults with a local history or family interest. Thus far we have not found 
somewhere. Upton Library could provide just such a venue. If the Council has the willingness to 
be creative in approach, to think outside the box and to put the interests of the local 
Community first. 
 
XXX 
Local Resident & Treasurer, Upton Village Community Group 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 317



100 

 

 

Wirral Library Strategy Consultation September 2021 

I am responding to your request for comments on your Wirral Library Strategy. 

I am a male resident of Upton aged 75 years and until the lockdown in March 2020 I used the 

Upton Library extensively for family history research. I particularly use the access to the 

FindMyPast website. I probably used the Upton library twice a week every week in 2019. 

However, I also occasionally borrow other more general books to read at home if I spot 

something of interest. 

I have always found the staff at Upton, notably XXX, extremely helpful, polite and efficient in 

the way they run the library. They take an interest in every customer and know many by name. 

I would want to see this standard of service continued. 

I have always found the computer facilities at Upton to be well used and occasionally I have had 

to wait for access to a terminal. However, I don’t recall anyone else researching family history 

at Upton. As a consequence to lockdown I have taken out my own subscription to FindMyPast 

so I would not return to use that service. 

As well as using the Upton library, I am a regular visitor to the Birkenhead Reference Library 

where I am well known to the staff. At the Reference Library I research my family history and 

make extensive use of the cemetery microfilms, particularly for Flaybrick cemetery, and also 

the Trade Directories. These resources are essential to me. 

I have absolutely no problem using the microfilm and microfiche readers you have. They were 

new technology when I first started in Local Government but I imagine I may be in a small 

minority nowadays. However I hope you keep at least one reader available although you 

certainly don’t need all the readers you currently have. 

If in your stated objective on page 14 of the strategy [Section 4.2] you aim to digitise these 

resources [microfilm, directories], then I support you, especially if it meant I could access them 

at home. It is vital to retain access to these resources – they are so useful. I could give you many 

reasons why. A simple reason is to trace a grave number at Flaybrick and then go there actually 

find the plot. A more extreme reason is as follows. My 2x Great Grandfather is buried in the 

Non-Conformist Section of Flaybrick and without access to the microfilm and to the column in 

the burial register that names the minister who conducted the funeral how else might I learn 

which branch of Non-Conformist he was? Yes, I know I could ring Landican Cemetery but is that 

really what the staff there are for? I think not. Would you use a partner to digitise the burial 

and grave registers? 

Digitising the Trade Directories could be an enormous exercise but no doubt one that could be 

shared with the other Merseyside & Cheshire Authorities or carried out by partners such as 

Page 318



101 

 

 

FindMyPast. The few Directories currently available online are very useful but obviously limited 

to only a few selected years. Whatever the way forward, I feel you need to overcome the 

current situation where both Birkenhead and Wallasey have extensive collections of Trade 

Directories but neither have a complete set. In one past line of research I had to pay 2 visits to 

Wallasey simply to consult an 1848 Directory and on both occasions the volunteers there could 

not find it for me (until I showed them where it was that is). 

I would support concentrating all local family history resources in one place, preferably in 

Birkenhead, including all the various books that you have. 

I find the staff at Birkenhead Reference Library very helpful and not only on my own account. I 

recall an occasion in 2019 when 4 ladies came in seeking help. All were obviously born in 

Birkenhead but three had moved away. They came in to see what they could find about their 

ancestors but with an air of hopelessness and desperation that this was their last chance. The 

lady-in-charge, who I believe is XXX, sat them down, calmed them down, and proceeded to 

tackle the problem. After half an hour, she had made headway and had the 4 ladies purring 

with delight. They later left the library very impressed with the level of service they had 

received. This is an aspect of the service that should be retained. 

At the same time I cannot why XXX has to spend so much time showing the public the latest 

Electoral Register. It must be a diversion from her main purpose. I understand that she has all 

the previous Registers in her control and I understand the need to ensure that copies of the 

current Register are not secretly taken but I would have thought this was something a more 

junior member of staff could carry out downstairs in the main library. 

Finally, for those who wish to visit the Birkenhead Library in person, I think you should do more 

to advertise the excellent free parking that is available at the site at the bottom of Ball Road 

East. I also use the Archives Service and find that service acceptable but clearly they could do 

with better accommodation and a couple of designated car park spaces for visitors.  

XXXX 
 
  

Page 319



102 

 

 

 
From:  
Sent: 16 September 2021 21:14 
To:  
Subject: Upton Library 
 
Hi XX, 
Some thoughts in advance of the event tomorrow…they’re rather more random than is ideal; 
time is short. 
 
As you’ll well know, Upton library is listed Grade 2, and that listing covers the building as well as 
its interior fitting out - including the checking in / checking out counters. The provision of a 
public library in Upton pre-dates the current building, and links to the important role played by 
shipping magnate Inman in the evolution of Upton, and indeed of Wirral. Heritage is important, 
and features prominently in Wirral’s Economic Strategy Consultation Framework. However, we 
also need to make sure that heritage doesn’t suffocate, and if I were to be a little critical of 
Wirral libraries generally, and I guess of Upton library specifically, I might say that there has 
been little progress beyond the very traditional library offer, as it has been for many years. They 
basically lack energy, lack appeal for important age groups and are not bastions of innovation. 
Although it’s an unfair comparison - because of scale and location amongst other things - look 
at somewhere like Peckham Library in South London. I was on a bus, and saw the building; I 
didn’t know what it was so I abandoned my journey and went to find out - and was intrigued by 
the sheer vitality and energy of what was going on there. Of course, different circumstances, 
but my view is that we need to think beyond the traditional when considering the future for 
Upton Library.  
 
Clearly Wirral Council has financial problems, and we can debate whether those are the 
product of poor management by the Council over the years, or whether they are the product of 
destructive neoliberal policies pursued by a distant London-based government. Whatever the 
cause, the reality is there are very limited resources, 
 
The provision of library services have been pretty central to what local authorities have done 
for may years. Libraries have been community hubs; they have played an important role in 
improving literacy and in education; they have been a conduit for community information; they 
have been hubs for community activities; they have been a means for people, especially older 
people- to tackle loneliness; they have provided leisure resources. So much. So in the current 
circumstances, how and in what form can they be maintained? 
 
Upton Library provides a ’nice’ comfortable space; it’s a relaxing place to go to, and it is I think 
highly valued by parts of the community because of that. It’s a facility that contributes to the 
sense of ‘place’ that underpins Upton. The local library is important in terms of ‘placemaking’ , 
a term that I note features in the Council’s Economic Strategy. Placemaking is important in 

Page 320



103 

 

 

terms of securing and holding on to businesses and the labour that business needs. Having said 
that, Upton Library’s offer is in my view a little tired. It needs new energy. 
 
What’s the ‘rescue’ strategy? Possibilities: 

• Cut costs. Is there an appetite for more volunteer input? 
• Make the library more central to delivering key Council economic and community 

priorities. 
• Strengthen relationships with local schools. 
• Strengthen the digital offer to attract younger people 
• Look at the library as a community asset that could be used to provide other services on 

days when it’s not functioning primarily as a library. My main thought here is that 
directly opposite we have a busy GP surgery…with limited space. Could the library be 
used for talking and listening therapies? For health and wellbeing groups such as the 
NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme. For the delivery of health and wellbeing 
promotion advice which requires a bigger venue than can be provided in the surgery 
setting. Sure - space compromises may have to be reached but if that would help the 
building fulfil an enhanced function, that wouldn’t necessary be a bad thing. 

 
Random thoughts - tossed into the pond. 
Regards 
XXXX 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 321



104 

 

 

Appendix 3: Locations for Posters Communicating the Engagement 

 

Train stations Community Centres 

New Brighton Delamere 

Wallasey Village Windsor Close (NF) 

Birkenhead Conway St James Centre (North Birkenhead) 

Bebington Little Beechwood 

West Kirby The Parade (HO) 

 CarrBridge (WO) 

Supermarkets Leasowe Millennium Centre 

Asda Liscard Leasowe Community Centre 

Morrison New Brighton  

Sainsburys Upton Children's Centres 

Tesco Heswall Seacombe 

Tesco Bidston Moss Brassey Street 

Asda Bromborough Bromborough 

  

Health Centres/Hospitals Leisure Centres 

Eastham Oval 

New Ferry- Parkfield Concourse 

Miriam- Birkenhead Bidston Tennis Centre 

St Catherines Ginuea Gap 

Moreton Medical Centre Leasowe 

Orchard Surgery - BR Woodchurch Leisure 

Eastham Group Practice  

Allport Rd Surgery Other locations 

 The Lauries 

Council Building Wirral Change 

Williamson (via FOBCL) Involve NW- (Lauries) 

Floral Tomorrows Women 

 Tam O'Shanter 

 Deen Centre 

 Involve NW - Royal Standard House 
  

  

Table 46: Locations for Posters Communicating the Engagement. 

 

Page 322



Survey: Participants were invited to complete a survey, the finding of which would be used to develop the final version of the Library Stratey for the next 5 years. 
The survey was available online and as a physical paper or simplified easy read copies according to preference.

1,562 responses were received consisting of:

·        1,073 via the online survey
·        459 paper copies
·        30 Easy Read copies

Responses were amalgamated and are reported as a whole within this report.

Ideas Board: participants were invited to submit ideas about the library service, and were able to vote for (like) or comment upon other people's ideas.

71 contributors submitted, voted for, or commented on 66 ideas.

Ideas were categorised into themes, in order to identify those types of idea with the highest number of submissions and 'likes'.

About the Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
28th June - 20th September 2021

How to use this report

This report is designed to enable you to view the findings as a whole, by Wirral ward, or by the participants’ most used library. Use the drop-down options at the top of each page to 
filter as desired.  The filters will sync across the whole report.
 
Hover the mouse over parts of a graph to display further information – such as percentages.

Where a question is free text (these are the charts in green), right clicking with the mouse on a bar within the chart will present a ‘drill through’ option.  This will enable you to read the full 
free text comments made by participants in relation to the selected category.  Then click the back button to return to the report page you were originally on.

P
age 323



Are you registering as:

A local resident A member of a
voluntary or
community
organisation

An employee of
Wirral Council

96

4 2

Count of Postcode and Partcipants by Ward name

Greasby, Frankby and Irby

Moreton West and Saughall Massie

Uncategorised

Upton

West Kirby and Thurstaston

Hoylake and Meols

Leasowe and Moreton East

Oxton

Pensby and Thingwall

79

4

3

3

3

2

1

1

1

Count of Postcode and Participants by IMD Decile (from 1 - most deprived to 10 - least
deprived)

IMD Decile (from 1 - most deprived to 10 - least deprived)
(Blank) 2 5 6 7 8 9

3 1 1

11 13
16

52

Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Registration questions - participant location

P
age 324



What is your age?

16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+

1 2

8 8

23

35

20

Which of these groups do you consider yourself to belong to?

White - English/Welsh/Scottish/…

Other ethnic group - Other ethn…

92

3

What is your sexual orientation??

Heterosexual Prefer not to
say

80

12

What is your gender?

Female 59

Male 33

1
Prefer not to say

Female Male Prefer not to say Prefer to use own term

Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Registration questions - participant demographics

P
age 325



Q1. Who are you?

Resident

Library volunteer

Community group

Other

94

5

1

1

Q2. Which area of the Wirral do you live in?

Greasby Frankby and Irby

Upton

Hoylake and Meols

Moreton West and Saughall Massie

West Kirby and Thurstaston

Leasowe and Moreton East

Oxton

Pensby and Thingwall

86

5

2

2

2

1

1

1

Count of Category and % of Q1 'other' respondents by Category

Friends of' library group
member

1

Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Question 1 and 2

P
age 326



Q5. Which of Wirral's libraries do you use the most?

Greasby 101

Q4. Do you, or have you, visited one
of our library buildings or used the
Home Reader service

Yes 99

No 1

Q3. Are you a library member?

Yes 96

No 4

Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Questions 3 to 6

Q6. How often do you use the library?

Once a week Once a month Other Every day Once a year

42

35

16

4 3

Count of Category and % of Q6 'other' respondents by Category

2-3 times a week

Impacted by COVID-19

Every few months

Fortnightly

Irregularly

Once a month

2-3 times a year

Online Service

Rarely

5

3

2

2

2

2

1

1

1

P
age 327



Q7. How do you get to the library?

On foot
(walking)

Car Bus On bike
(cycling)

Other

76

34

5 4 1

Count of Category and % of Q7 'other' respondents by Category

Home Reader/Delivered 1

Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Questions 7 to 8

Q8. Why do you visit the library?

Borrow/ return books
Photocopier/ printer use

Events for adults (talk or author events)
Leisure / relaxation

Research
Children's events (Storytime/ Bounce & Rhyme / Le…

Newspapers
Computers/ internet/ scanner

Family History (find my past and birth records)
Volunteer

94

38

36

31

29

28

26

22

22

18

Count of Category and % of Q8 'other' respondents by Category

Archives

Borrow books

Family History

Online library

Safe space

With children or grandchildren

1

1

1

1

1

1

P
age 328



Q9. What other services would you like to access from this library?

Café facilities
Event / exhibition space

Events for adults (talk or author event)
Creative spaces (crafting resources/ space…

Family history zone
Organised groups (reading groups/ exerci…
Council services based at the library (leisu…
Courses (computer course/ maths course/…
Better technology (computers/ laptops/ t…

Bookable spaces for communities (room h…
Wi-fi Printing

Children's play pod area / soft play

43

40

35

31

29

29

28

23

22

21

21

20

Count of Category and % of Q9 'other' respondents by Category

Activities for all ages

Borrowing books

More paperbacks

Social interaction events

Uncategorised

Wider selection (books)

1

1

1

1

1

1

Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Questions 9 to 10

Q10. Why do you not use the library service?

I don’t like the atmosphere of the library

I don’t like the book selection available

I don’t think the service is good

The library does not have the services tha…

1

1

1

1

Count of Category and % of Q10 'other' respondents by Category

P
age 329



Q11. What services could we offer that would make you want to use the library?

Better technology (computers/ laptops/ tablets/ high speed wi-fi)
Café facilities

Creative spaces (crafting resources/ space to do art)
Council services based at the library (leisure facilities/ One Stop …

Event / exhibition space
Access to council services on library computers

Access to help and support (IT computer help/ job seeking supp…
Children's events (Storytime/ Bounce and Rhyme)

Courses (computer course/ maths course/ creative writing course)
Events for adults (talk or author events)

4

4

4

3

3

2

2

2

2

2

Count of Category and % of Q11 'other' respondents by Category

Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Questions 11 to 12

Q12. Do you use the online library?

No 69.4%

Yes 30.6%

P
age 330



Q14. During the last year , did you use the
online library more?

Yes 20.0

No 12.0

Q15. Will you continue to use the online
library?

Yes 26.0

No 6.0

Count of Category and % of Q13 'other' respondents by Category

Check catalogue

British Newspaper Archive

My local library is closed

Order & reserve books

Renew books

Uncategorised

4

1

1

1

1

1

Q13. Why do you use the online library?

Download
e-books

Family history
(Find My Past)

Research
(information

sources -
Encyclopaedia Br…

Download eAudio Other Newspapers

18

13
11

7 7 6

Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Questions 13 to 15

P
age 331



Q16. What other services would you like to access from the online library?

Archive information (old photographs/ sou…
Increased availability of eBooks (more to lo…

Library service app
More variety of eBooks (genre)

Streamed film
More variety of eAudio (genre)

increased availability of eAudio (more to lo…
Streamed music

Access to other council services (One Stop …
Academic Journals

14

14

12

11

11

9

8

8

7

6

Count of Category and % of Q16 'other' respondents by Category

None - happy with service

Wider selection of e-books

1

1

Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Questions 16 to 17

Q17. Why do you not use the online library?

I don’t like to read eBooks or listen to eAudio
I don’t know what services I can access onli…
I don’t think the online library service is use…
I don’t feel confident accessing the library …
I am too busy with family/work/ other resp…
I use another book service (Audible/ Kindle…

Other
I don’t think the online service is good

I find the online library difficult to access an…
I don’t like the eBook or eAudio selection a…

29

17

14

9

7

7

7

5

5

4

Count of Category and % of Q17 'other' respondents by Category

Enjoy visiting physical library

Prefer physical books

Not confident using

Use another online library

Yet to try

2

2

1

1

1

P
age 332



Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Question 18

Q18. What other services could we offer through our online library?

Archive information (old photographs/ soun…

Library service app

Access to other council services (One Stop S…

Increased availability of eAudio (more to loa…

Streamed film

Increased availabiliy of eBooks (more to loa…

More variety of eBooks (genre)

Academic journals

More variety of eAudio (genre)

Streamed music

Opera videos

Other

Dance videos

15

14

12

11

11

10

10

8

6

6

4

2

1

Count of Category and % of Q18 'other' respondents by Category

Large Print materials

Nothing; not interested in online services

1

1

P
age 333



Q19. What do you think about the service that Wirral libraries provide?

Very Good Good Neutral Bad Very Bad

26

43

19

6
2

Q20a. The library staff are helpful & knowledgeable:

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree

52
39

6 1

Q20b. I feel welcome & safe in the library:

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor
disagree

63

32

3

Q20d. The library opening hours are helpful:

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

22
26

17
21

11

Q20e. I feel confident accessing the online library:

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

17 16

32

15 13

Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Questions 19 to 20

Q20c. I find the library service useful:

Strongly agree Agree

65

33

P
age 334



Q21. Rank which services are most important to you (1: most important, 4: least important)

Reading (reading groups/ reading
challenges and books)

Information & Digital (IT facilities/
computer use/ research)

Culture & Creativity (live events and
gigs/ arts and crafts)

Health & Wellbeing (events to meet
new people/ health information/

support groups)

68

14 11

2
9

25 24 26

10

25 22
30

8

22
27 26

Rank 1 2 3 4

The vision of our draft Library Strategy is to “provide first-rate reading, digital, learning and cultural opportunities for our residents; creating vibrant community hubs to inspire and enrich 
our residents’ lives and enhance community belonging and wellbeing."

Reading services

1.51
Average rank

Culture & Creativity services

2.74
Average rank

Information & digital services

2.75
Average rank

Health & wellbeing services

2.88
Average rank

Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Question 21

P
age 335



Q22. Which of the 4 types of library outlined in the draft strategy is most suitable for the library
you use the most?

Neighbourhood
Library (smaller

library/ managed
by the council)

Community
Library Hub

(involves
community part…

Central Library
(main library/

central location of
Wirral/ managed…

Community
Managed Library

(involves
community part…

58

34

4 3

Q23. Who do you think could support the council to deliver the library service?

Community
group

Volunteers Partner
organisation

Local business Other

58 57

24 22

6

Count of Category and % of Q23 'other' respondents by Category

Professional librarians/ trained staff

Council

Focus on online service

3

2

1

Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Question 22 to 24

Q24. Would you like to be involved with running a library?

No 63

31

Yes - as a com… 3
Yes - as a voluntee…

P
age 336



Q25. How much time do you think you would be able to give to the library
service?

A few times
a month

Once a
week

For large
scale events

Every day Other

14

11

3
2

1

Count of Category and % of Q25 'other' respondents by Category

Weekly 1

Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Questions 25 to 27

Q26. What support would you need to get involved with a community managed library?

Additional facilities Other Recruit staff Recruit volunteers

2

1 1 1

Count of Category and % of Q26 'other' respondents by Category

True partnership 1

Q27. Number of people who provided an email address to be contacted about being involved in the library
service:

27

P
age 337



Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Question 28

Q28. Do you have any further comments or ideas about our draft Library Strategy or how we
can improve the library service to meet your needs?

Open libraries
Events
Books

Extend opening hou…
Importance of librar…

Community hub
Facilities

Library structure
N/A

Services
Ebooks

Health and wellbeing
Accessibility

Staffing
Atmosphere
Audio books

Building
Consultation

Funding
Offer

Strategy
Travel

17

12

10

10

10

7

7

7

5

4

3

3

2

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

Q28. Sub category

Essential service
Keep libraries open

Greater variety of b…
Important communi…

N/A
Open libraries (Covi…
Like children's events
Local libraries needed
Longer opening ho…

Concentrate on boo…
Don't like - idea of …

Evenings and weeke…
Social interactions h…
All need to be able …

Arts and crafts
Book sales

Ebooks for kindles
Evenings

Improve access to p…
Improve computer …
Like - encourage re…

Like - Talking table
Like access to comp…

More courses
Run by council

As many days as po…

8
8

6
5
5
5

4
4
4

3
3
3
3

2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2

1

P
age 338



Filter by most used library

Greasby 

Filter by Wirral ward

All 

Wirral Libraries Strategy Consultation
Ideas Board

Ideas Board: Ideas by Category

Events

Facilities

1

1

Ideas Board: Ideas by Sub-Category

Create agile work space

Human library

1

1

P
age 339



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2020-2025

1

LIBRARY SERVICE  
STRATEGY 2021-2026

Page 341



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

2

  Foreword    3 
                                                           
1  Introduction    4

2  What we know    5
2.1 Data    5
2.2 Context    7

3  The Strategy    8
3.1 Our vision
3.2 Our values
3.3 Our design principles
3.4	 Our	strategic	priorities

4  Strategic priorities    9
4.1 Strategic priority one:     Reading 10
4.2 Strategic priority two:    Information	and	Digital	 12
4.3 Strategic priority	three:		 Culture	and	Creativity	 14
4.4 Strategic priority four:     Health and Wellbeing 16  
 

5  What next and how will we know if we are getting it right? 18

6  References    19

Contents

Page 342



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

3

Foreword
Public libraries are trusted, free to enter and open to all, they are safe spaces and are 
gateways to literature, information, knowledge, and opportunities. Public libraries play a 
crucial role in ensuring the social, cultural, and economic wellbeing of individuals  and 
communities. They help jobseekers find opportunities, offer courses and digital skills 
training, provide essential support to people applying for welfare benefits, and provide 
spaces in which people can be creative. They can act as venues for concerts, 
exhibitions, or performances, and enable groups with shared interests to meet. Public 
libraries can provide information about health and health services, and reading well 
programmes, as well as being neutral spaces for third sector organisations to provide 
information and advice. 

In October 2019 the Council Plan 2025 was agreed, that set out what we would do to 
make Wirral a place that residents were proud of and deliver better outcomes for local 
people. In light of the impact the Covid-19 pandemic has had on the borough a radically 
refreshed Wirral Plan 2021-2026 – Equity for People and Place was developed. The 
focus of this plan will be to ensure the people of Wirral receive the services they need 
and want, based on what people said matters most to them.

Wirral Libraries is central to this plan and it will underpin future service developments. 
We have plans to modernise our libraries to ensure that they meet today’s needs, whilst 
looking towards the future. We want to ensure that we deliver best value through 
pooled resources across the public and voluntary sector wherever possible, creating 
community hubs where the library plays a key role, working with our public sector 
partners, communities and third sector organisations. In the context of a significant 
reduction in Council resources in future years, we need to transform services to make 
them sustainable and fit for the future. We need to think differently about how we 
operate, and as plans develop we will seek to operate more innovatively and be more 
commercially minded. This strategy is about the service as a whole, not just the 
buildings, but we know that library buildings are seen as a valuable community asset 
and people could be concerned about their future use. We will explore co-locations, 
community supported libraries, community owned/managed and outreach services 
where appropriate; a mixed approach addressing local needs. Library staff, partners and 
volunteers have worked fantastically to support communities and deliver the library 
service throughout the pandemic and will continue to do so. However, the pandemic 
has regrettably opened up some of the inequalities that the library service strategy 
seeks to address and accelerated changes in the way many of us use the library service. 
Wirral Libraries will also need to meet these additional  challenges of a post-pandemic 
landscape, continuing to build relationships with service users and partner organisations, 
whilst contributing to community recovery through a sustainable library service. 

We are proud of our library service and our new strategy reflects our ambition  and 
commitment to deliver a sustainable library service that reflects local priorities.

Page 343



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

4

1.1   In	response	to	the	Libraries	Connected	review	of	the	Universal	Offers	in	
2019, we have refreshed our library strategy and taken the opportunity to align it 
to the Wirral Council Plan. This new strategy will ensure that the service 
continues	to	provide	relevant	services	that	meet	the	needs	of	local	people	and	
support	the	Council	to	deliver	its	priorities.	

1.2			In	2017	we	carried	out	significant	research	and	developed	a	detailed	needs	
analysis and strategic analysis. It provided us with local evidence and insight to 
help shape our previous strategy. In 2021 we completed a new needs analysis 
and	internal	and	public	consultation	to	further	inform	our	strategic	decision	
making. We recognise that a number of our libraries are vibrant community 
facilities	but	others	are	underutilised	and	in	need	of	investment	and	revitalisation.	
Wirral’s libraries, like many others across the UK, have seen a decline in the 
traditional	usage	of	book	issues	and	visits,	whilst	e-lending	has	increased.

1.3			Increasing	access	to	the	services,	facilities	and	opportunities	on	offer	at	our	
libraries	is	a	key	part	of	improving	outcomes,	particularly	amongst	some	of	our	
most	vulnerable	communities	and	groups.	As	previously	noted,	variety	in	resident	
usage of libraries across Wirral persists. To deliver the outcomes we want to 
achieve,	we	need	to	do	things	differently;	adapting	what	we	do	to	meet	the	
needs	of	different	communities	in	Wirral	and	modernising	the	way	in	which	we	
work	to	reflect	the	impact	of	COVID-19	and	the	changing	world	in	which	we	live	
in. 

1.4   Over	the	last	ten	years	there	have	been	substantial	changes	to	how	libraries	
are commissioned across England. These changes have been driven by factors 
including	financial	austerity,	technological	change,	local	need	and	community	
empowerment.

1.5   We have developed our partnership and community networks in recent 
years	and	we	want	to	build	upon	those	relationships	to	encourage	increased	
participation	in	the	delivery	of	the	service.	This	will	support	the	development	of	
an increasingly strategic and responsive library service; listening more carefully 
and	using	data	and	intelligence	in	more	sophisticated	ways	to	deliver	improved	
outcomes	and	opportunities	for	residents.	The	service	intends	when	appropriate,	
to	explore	and	provide	alternative	delivery	models	and	we	will	continue	to	review	
options	over	the	strategy	period.

1.6 		This	strategy	sets	out	our	priorities	and	objectives	for	the	service,	outlining	
the key elements for residents and partners.

1. Introduction

Page 344



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

5

24
LIBRARIES

33,440
OPENING HOURS

782,386
ITEM ISSUES

52,891
E-LENDING DOWNLOADS

6,942
TALKING BOOK ISSUES

37,631
ACTIVE BORROWERS 
(minimum	one	item	in	the	year)

933,369
PHYSICAL VISITS TO A 

WIRRAL LIBRARY

110,663
WEBSITE SESSIONS

OF WIRRAL RESIDENTS 
ARE ACTIVE BORROWERS

11.6%

6,400 180

323
PEOPLE USING THE  

HOME READER SERVICE

2. What we know
2.1  Data

Wirral Libraries is a statutory service of 24 libraries, virtual library and a home 
reader service.
Benchmarking data provided by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy	(CIPFA)	shows	that	Wirral’s	library	service	has	an	above	average	
cost per head of population and has more service points per head of population 
than the national average. Wirral’s opening hours at the busiest library are below	
the	national	average and visits	per	annum	at	the	busiest	service	point	are	also	
below the average visits per annum figure at the busiest service points nationally. 
Wirral's library service also has a slightly above average number of active library 
borrowers per head of population. 

KEY FACTS FOR APRIL 2019 TO MARCH 2020

LIBRARY EVENTS HELD VOLUNTEERS

Page 345



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

6

The way customers use the library service is changing and this has been 
accelerated	by	the	Covid-19	pandemic.	Books	are	still	the	mainstay	of	the	
service, but physical loans are declining, whilst downloading digital e-lending 
material	continues	to	rise.	Furthermore,	digital	usage	within	our	libraries	varies	
across the borough and we are also seeing some libraries increasingly be used as 
a	community	space	for	groups	and	organisations,	demonstrating	that	the	need	
for	the	service	is	continually	evolving	to	meet	a	changing	local	need.	

The service is now able to rebuild from the impact of Covid-19. This will present 
challenges	as	we	continue	to	keep	users	and	staff	safe,	but	we	recognise	the	key	
role libraries will play in community recovery from the pandemic.

90,000
80,000
70,000
60,000
50,000
40,000
30,000
20,000
10,000

0
2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

N
um

be
r o

f e
-L

en
di

ng
 Is

su
es

Total Annual e-Lending Issues

Financial Year

3,711

20,432
25,634 30,067 30,926

36,523
42,111

47,156

81,714

200,000
400,000
600,000
800,000

1,000,000
1,200,000
1,400,000
1,600,000
1,800,000

0
2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

N
um

be
r o

f L
oa

n 
Tr

an
sa

cti
on

s

Total Loan Transactions

Financial Year

1657121
1470528

1071226
974152 887598

826836 782386

364503

1256538

Page 346



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026 LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

7 7

2.2  Context

Local	Authorities	have	a	statutory	duty	to	deliver	a	public	library	service.	The	main	
obligation	is	to	provide	a	‘comprehensive	and	efficient’	service	available	to	everyone,	
to	promote	this	service,	and	to	lend	books	and	other	written	materials	free	of	charge.

The	national	development	agency	for	libraries	is	Arts	Council	England	(ACE)	and	
Libraries Connected provides strategic support to the library sector. In 2013, The 
Society	of	Chief	Librarians	(SCL)	launched	the	Universal	Offers	to	demonstrate	the	
power of public libraries and their ability to enrich the lives of individuals and the 
communities	they	serve.	Furthermore	in	2016,	the	national	Libraries	Taskforce	
published	“Libraries	Deliver:	Ambition	for	Public	Libraries	in	England	2016-2021”	in	
which it set out the strategic vision and commitment for public libraries in England, 
recognising	the	challenge	councils	face	running	library	services,	calling	for	a	different	
way	of	thinking	and	acting	to	transform	library	services.	The	Universal	Offers	were	
reviewed	and	relaunched	in	2019	by	Libraries	Connected	(formerly	SCL)	to	create	a	
new	framework.	In	addition,	“The	Children’s	Promise”	developed	with	The	Association	
of	Senior	Children’s	and	Education	Librarians	(ASCEL)	underpins	the	Universal	Offers,	
with	Libraries	Connected	also	developing	the	“Six	Steps	Promise”	with	RNIB	(Royal	
National	Institute	of	Blind	People)	and	Share	the	Vision	to	ensure	libraries	support	
people with reduced vision.

The	new	Universal	Library	Offers	are	outlined	in	the	second	column	of	the	diagram	
below.

Together	the	outcomes	and	offers	outlined	by	Libraries	Connected	provide	a	robust	
framework	for	the	development	of	an	efficient	and	strategic	library	service	that	is	
relevant and accessible. 

What societal needs  
do libraries meet - mission 

What societal needs  
do libraries meet - mission 

What societal needs  
do libraries meet - mission 

Reading

Information and Digital

Culture and Creativity

Health and Wellbeing

Connecting communities,
improving wellbeing and  

promoting equality through 
 learning, literacy and  
cultural participation

Improve digital 
access and 

literacy

Helping everyone 
acheive their full 

potential

Healthier and 
happier lives

Cultural  
and creative 
enrichment

Greater 
prosperity

Increased reading 
and literacy

Stronger and 
more resilient 
communities

Universal Library Offer Framework

Page 347



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

8

3.1 Our vision

“Our vision is to provide first-rate reading, digital, learning and cultural 
opportunities for our residents; creating vibrant community hubs to inspire and 
enrich	our	residents’	lives	and	enhance	community	belonging	and	wellbeing”

3.2 Our values

Wirral Council staff work to a clear set of values. Our values define how we work 
with each other, how we work with members and residents, and how we go 
about our daily business to give Wirral residents the best possible service.

We are: 
•  Customer focused - We put our customers’ needs first and listen to their 

views to make informed decisions
•  Accountable - We are answerable for our actions and the actions of our 

team and will be accountable for the delivery of this strategy
•  Ambitious - We strive to innovate and focus on the best ideas to deliver 

exciting, relevant and varied programmes and services that raise the 
aspirations of our users

•  Professional - We are open, honest and respectful with our colleagues, 
customers and stakeholders. We are enthusiastic and optimistic about our 
service

3.3  Our design principles

In developing our future library service, we will use the following design 
principles	identified	by	the	Libraries	Taskforce	(DCMS - Libraries Taskforce, 2016):

• meet legal requirements
• are shaped by local needs
• focus on public benefit and deliver high quality user experience
• make decisions informed by evidence, building on success
• support delivery of consistent England-wide core offers
• promote partnership working, innovation and enterprise
• use public funds effectively and efficiently

3. The Strategy

Page 348



9

LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2020-2025

i

4. Strategic Priorities
In 2021, we completed an internal consultation, a 12-week Wirral Libraries public 
consultation and needs analysis. This gave us further insight and demonstrated 
what services you value the most and would like to access from the library service, 
whilst meeting local need in the context of available resources. This evidence has 
strengthened our new 5-year strategy, whilst being able to deliver a sustainable 
service in radically changing circumstances.

 A set of four key priorities underpin this strategy and are designed to ensure a 
modernised library service which seeks to respond and align to the Universal 
Library Offers and the Wirral Council Plan.

Page 349



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

10

4.1  Strategic priority one
Reading

Engage, Imagine, Discover

We will deliver resources and activities to build literacy skills at all levels and ages 
and promote a love of reading within libraries, community settings and via online 
platforms. 

We know that lacking vital literacy skills holds a person back at every stage of 
their life, and we want our service to support children and adults to develop 
reading skills for school, leisure and work. 

Research also suggests that children and adults who read are healthier, happier 
and more confident than those who do not, whilst reading for pleasure has been 
found to be important for children’s cognitive development.  

Page 350



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

11

Objective: Offer children of all ages an opportunity to read and discover

Actions: 
• Provide affordable and engaging interactive activities and resources aimed at

supporting language, communication, and developmental opportunities for
pre school children

• Work in partnership with schools, focusing resources where uptake and
attainment levels are lower, to demonstrate the value of creative reading
activities and supported programmes that impact on literacy attainment and
wellbeing

• Design, develop and review, with key partners, diverse and inclusive literacy
resources, supporting programmes of work virtually, within libraries and
communities, with a specific focus on targeted audiences

Objective: Provide affordable and engaging resources and activities to promote 
and celebrate reading for pleasure for adults

Actions: 
• Use national and regional initiatives to promote reading for pleasure
• Work with community volunteers and reader development organisations to

grow reading for pleasure activities and initiatives in accessible community
places, ensuring they are appealing and relevant, whilst supporting resident
led groups and community adhesion

Objective: Provide an engaging and diverse book stock and reading focused 
materials for all ages and abilities 

Actions:
• Encourage resident involvement in book selection and ensure that the book

stock is managed effectively to ensure greatest value and evolves to reflect
local need

• Provide	access	(physically	and	remotely)	to	a	range	of	inclusive	and	diverse
books in accessible formats to allow engagement with reading, and work with
partners to support adults to engage in reading

• Implement inspiring, imaginative book and reading-focused promotions within
our libraries and community settings, whilst employing complementary social
media campaigns

Page 351



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

12

Inform, Inspire and Innovate

We	will	support	digital	skills	learning	and	deliver	activities	and	resources	to	
ensure	that	all	residents	have	access	to	quality	information	and	digital	services.

Information	literacy	has	relevance	for	everyday	life,	citizenship,	health,	education	
and	the	workplace	and	libraries	have	a	key	role	to	play	in	supporting	individuals	
to	access	accurate	and	unbiased	information.

As	individuals	increasingly	use	digital	devices	and	the	internet,	not	all	individuals	
will	be	able	to	go	online.	Some	may	also	lack	the	skills,	confidence	and	motivation	
to use such devices. Libraries can break down some of these barriers to increase 
digital inclusion, by increasing awareness, improving the design of its digital 
services	and	enable	users	to	have	the	skills	and	motivation	to	confidently	go	
online	and	unlock	more	opportunities.

4.2  Strategic priority two
Information and Digital

Page 352



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

13

Objective: Provide a range of resources and activities that promote digital 
inclusion and support residents with their learning and digital skills

Actions:
• Use local and national programmes to offer digital activities to encourage

digital inclusion and digital literacy, particularly in areas of identified need,
using our network of staff, partners, volunteers and online resources

• Work with partners and those that have an existing presence within
communities to enable individuals and communities to develop inspiring
learning offers

• Seek opportunities when appropriate that invest in technological
improvements for users

Objective: Provide access to quality information and digital services

Actions:
• Develop and refine our online services to ensure they are relevant and 

accessible
• Work with partners to assist users to choose the right sources of 

information
• Explore opportunities to develop and implement a digital programme to 

increase accessibility to local history resources
• Continue to develop an imaginative programme of workshops and 

exhibitions with other public services and partner organisations
• In partnership with the British Library offer a Business and IP 

(Intellectual Property) Centre to provide local residents and businesses 
free access to relevant databases and business advice

Page 353



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

14

Explore, Create, Participate

We	will	support	an	increase	in	cultural	and	creative	experiences	bringing	culture	
to	communities	and	inspire	residents	to	connect	with	culture.

A	report	by	Wirral	Public	Health	(2019)	supported	the	case	that	engagement	and	
participation	in	arts	and	culture	supports	health	and	wellbeing.	Libraries	can	
reach audiences from all backgrounds and ages and provide a focal point for 
cultural	and	creative	activities	within	local	communities,	whilst	also	supporting	
the development of the local cultural economy.

4.3  Strategic priority three
Culture and Creativity 

Page 354



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026 LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

15 15

Objective: Provide opportunities for residents to engage in inclusive cultural 
and creative experiences, relevant to the local community

Actions: 
•  Work with partners and volunteers to develop new ways of engaging targeted
groups	through	cultural	and	creative	activities	and	events

• 	Explore	opportunities	which	will	support	young	people’s	participation	and
talent development

• 	Develop	a	marketing	strategy	that	includes	service	promotion	of	activities	and
events,	and	the	library	space,	to	encourage	cultural	and	creative	participation
by users and the wider community

• 	Support	local	cultural	groups	to	grow	by	curating	and	promoting	information
about	their	cultural	and	creative	community	activities	and	events

• 	Being	aware	of	opportunities,	and	when	appropriate,	support	the
development	of	creative	spaces	within	libraries

Objective: Develop strong partnership working to deliver joined up working 
around culture and creativity

Actions: 
• Share programmes of work with key partners including Wirral’s Culture team
and	Liverpool	City	Region	library	authorities	to	identify	areas	of	collaboration

• 	Being	aware	of	opportunities	for	Wirral	Libraries	to	participate	in	national	and
regional	cultural	initiatives	and	identify	and	maximise	external	funding
opportunities

• 	Forge	new	partnerships	with	health	services,	further	and	higher	education,
third	sector	organisations	and	technological	and	commercial	industries	to
deliver	new	initiatives

• 	Identify	success	stories	to	promote	Wirral	Libraries	locally	and	further	afield
and	apply	for	awards	to	recognise	achievements	and	best	practice	to	support
future	funding	applications	and	partnership	working

Page 355



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

16

Healthier, Happier, Connected

We	will	provide	access	to	trusted	health	information	and	resources	and	will	
support	the	development	of	connected	communities	to	improve	wellbeing.	

Libraries	have	long	been	a	trusted	destination	for	information,	including	
information	about	health	conditions,	their	treatment	and	prognosis.	Keeping	
people	well	and	supporting	people	to	manage	their	illnesses	through	accessible	
information,	signposting	to	additional	support	and	reading	for	wellness	&	self-
care, promotes healthy living and self-management. 

Research	from	the	Reading	Agency	has	also	found	that	the	benefits	of	reading	
include,	increased	empathy,	better	relationships	with	others,	reduced	symptoms	
of	depression	and	dementia,	and	improved	well-being	throughout	life.	It	is	also	
widely	recognised	that	social	connection	improves	physical	health	and	
psychological	well-being,	with	strong	social	connection	leading	to	a	50%	
increased chance of longevity.  

4.4  Strategic priority four
Health and Wellbeing

Page 356



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

  17

Objective: Promote access to trusted information on a range of health issues 
including specific medical conditions and public health issues and provide 
self-management support

Actions:
• Innovate and share existing programmes that support physical and mental   
 health, and develop new initiatives with volunteers, third sector and public   
 health partners to deliver resources and services to people with physical and  
 mental health conditions
• Continue to develop and provide accessible, high-quality health information   
 and signpost and offer extended support for public health initiatives
• Work with key partners to provide staff and volunteers with relevant health   
 training

Objective: Provide a range of reading opportunities and creative and social 
activities, which engage and connect communities, to reduce loneliness and 
improve wellbeing

Actions:
• Work in partnership with health colleagues and volunteers to provide activities  
 and events that support communities with health and wellbeing outcomes 
•	 As	part	of	the	development	of	the	social	prescribing	approach,	we	will	work		 	
 with health partners to design an offer connected to libraries that supports   
 health and wellbeing
• Provide volunteering opportunities, whilst proactively encouraging and   
 supporting people with health and wellbeing needs 
• Seek investment where opportunities present themselves, to enhance library  
 spaces

Page 357



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

18

5. What next and how will we
know if we are getting it right?
5.1  An	implementation	plan	for	the	delivery	of	this	strategy	will	be	developed	
upon	approval	of	this	document.	A	set	of	measures	will	be	included	in	the	plan	to	
monitor progress and success. The delivery will be overseen by our Management 
Board. The Board will receive quarterly reports to monitor our progress.

5.2  Progress and success will be measured in several ways including:

• CIPFA key performance indicators

• Strategic priority 1  -  Reading
- Support reading attainment in areas of identified need
- Increase in community and resident led reading initiatives and activities in

areas of identified need
- Increase	in	book	issues	for	targeted	areas	of	stock	(physical	and	electronic)

• Strategic priority 2  -  Information and Digital
- Increase in uptake of library online services
- Increase in the usage of the digital collections
- Increase in engagement satisfaction and service awareness

• Strategic priority 3  -  Culture and Creativity
- Increase of and attendance at cultural and creative activities and events in

areas of identified need
- Increase in community usage of libraries by local cultural groups in areas of

identified need
- Increase in new partnerships and externally funded initiatives in areas of

identified need

• Strategic priority 4  -  Health and Wellbeing
- Increase in health and wellbeing book issues
- Increase in activities and events that have a health and wellbeing focus in

areas of identified need

5.3  We will also see people benefiting from a joined up Wirral Council offer  
aligned to the Wirral Council Plan 2021-26, in which we will work with other 
public services, third sector organisations and communities. We will do this by 
devising new ways to measure preventative activities and services whilst 
demonstrating the added value and impact that the library service can bring.

Page 358



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2021-2026

  19

1		Wirral	Council	Plan	2025	(2020)

2		Shared	Intelligence	(2017)	“Achieving	a	sustainable	library	service	for	Wirral”	Available	at:	http://
democracy.wirral.gov.uk/documents/s50041586/Shared%20Intelligence%20-%20Sustainable%20
Librariy%20:Service.pdf	(Accessed	6th	Feb	2020)

3		BWB	(2017)	“Re-imaging	libraries,	leisure,	parks	and	cultural	services	Part	1”	Available	at:	https://
www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/Leisure%20parks%20and%20events/Leisure%20and%20
Culture%20survey/BWB%20Phase%202%20Report%20Appendices%20Public.pdf	(Accessed	6th	
Feb	2020)

4		BWB	(2017)	“Re-imaging	libraries,	leisure,	parks	and	cultural	services	Part	2”	Available	at:	https://
www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/Leisure%20parks%20and%20events/Leisure%20and%20
Culture%20survey/BWB%20Phase%202%20Report%20Public.pdf	(Accessed	6th	Feb	2020)

5		Chartered	Institute	of	Public	Finance	and	Accountancy	(2020)	“Public	Library	Profiles”	Available	
at:		https://www.cipfa.org/services/comparative-profiles/public-libraries	(Accessed	6th	Feb	2020)

6 Libraries	Connected	“Universal	Offers”	https://www.librariesconnected.org.uk/page/universal-
offers	(Accessed	30th	June	2020)

7	DCMS	-	Libraries	Taskforce	(2016)	“Libraries	Deliver:	Ambition	for	Public	Libraries	in	England	
2016-2021”	https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-
libraries-in-england-2016-to-2021/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-libraries-in-england-2016-
to-2021	(Accessed	6th	Feb	2020)

8		National	Literacy	Trust	(2018)	“What	is	literacy”	Available	at:	https://literacytrust.org.uk/
information/what-is-literacy/	(Accessed	6th	Feb	2020)

9		The	Reading	Agency	(2015)	“Literature	Review:	The	impact	of	reading	for	pleasure	and	
empowerment”	Available	at:	https://readingagency.org.uk/news/The%20Impact%20of%20
Reading%20for%20Pleasure%20and%20Empowerment.pdf	(Accessed	6th	Feb	2020)

10		Sullivan,	A.	and	Brown,	M.	(2013)	“Social	inequalities	in	cognitive	scores	at	age	16:	The	role	of	
reading.	CLS	Working	Paper	2013/10”	

11		DCMS	(2018)	“Information	literacy	and	the	role	of	public	libraries”	Available	at:	https://
dcmslibraries.blog.gov.uk/2018/05/31/information-literacy-and-the-role-of-public-libraries/	
(Accessed	6th	Feb	2020)

12		DCMS	(2017)	“	Digital	skills	and	inclusion	policy”	Available	at:	https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/digital-inclusion-and-skills-policy/digital-skills-and-inclusion-policy	(Accessed	6th	Feb	
2020)

13		Wirral	Council	(Public	Health)	(2019)	“Creative	Communities-	Culture	for	Health	and	Wellbeing	
in	Wirral”	Available	at:	https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2873/public-health-
annual-report-2019-final.pdf	(Accessed	6th	Feb	2020)	

14		Arts	Council	England	(2020)	“Let’s	Create-	Strategy	2020-2030”

15		The	Reading	Agency	(2015)	“Reading	for	pleasure”	Available	at:	https://readingagency.org.uk/
news/media/reading-for-pleasure-builds-empathy-and-improves-wellbeing-research-from-the-
reading-agency-finds.html	(Accessed	6th	Feb	2020)	

16		Psychology	Today	(2012)	“Connect	to	thrive”	Available	at:	https://www.psychologytoday.com/
us/blog/feeling-it/201208/connect-thrive	(Accessed	6th	Feb	2020)

6. References

Page 359



LIBRARY SERVICE STRATEGY 2020-2025

20Page 360



 

Figure 1: Preferred Option 3 – New Model Sites and Proposed Mobile Library Outreach Sites 

P
age 361



 

Figure 2: Preferred Option 3 – New Model Sites vs. Multiple Indices of Multiple Deprivation Decile (LSOAs) 

P
age 362



 

Figure 3: Home Reader Distribution vs. % 65+ Population Estimates (LSOAs based on ONS Mid-Year Estimates 2020) 

P
age 363



 

Figure 4: Active Borrowers Count (1km Grid) and Distribution 

P
age 364



 

Figure 5: Active Borrowers Distribution vs 2 Mile Catchment Buffer for New Model Staffed Sites 

P
age 365



 

Figure 6: Preferred Option 3 – New Model Sites vs. % Households With No Car (Census 2011) 

P
age 366



 

Figure 7: Preferred Option 3 – New Model – West Kirby 10 Minute Drive, Cycle and Walk Catchment Isochrones  

P
age 367



 

Figure 8: Preferred Option 3 – New Model – Bebington 10 Minute Drive, Cycle and Walk Catchment Isochrones 

P
age 368



 

Figure 9: Preferred Option 3 – New Model – Birkenhead 10 Minute Drive, Cycle and Walk Catchment Isochrones 

P
age 369



 

Figure 10: Preferred Option 3 – New Model – Eastham 10 Minute Drive, Cycle and Walk Catchment Isochrones 

P
age 370



 

Figure 11: Preferred Option 3 – New Model – Heswall 10 Minute Drive, Cycle and Walk Catchment Isochrones 

P
age 371



 

Figure 12: Preferred Option 3 – New Model – Moreton 10 Minute Drive, Cycle and Walk Catchment Isochrones 

P
age 372



 

Figure 13: Preferred Option 3 – New Model – Upton 10 Minute Drive, Cycle and Walk Catchment Isochrones 

P
age 373



 

Figure 14: Preferred Option 3 – New Model – Wallasey 10 Minute Drive, Cycle and Walk Catchment Isochrones 

P
age 374



 

Figure 15: Preferred Option 3 – New Model vs. Network of Active Bus Stops 

P
age 375



 

Figure 16: Community Feature Assessment – MSOA Example 

P
age 376



Table 1: Accessibility Assessment 

Library Nearest 
Library 

Shortest 
Distance 

Car* Walking Public Transport IMD 
(greater 
score = 
higher 
deprivation) 
8.68-62.27 
 
ONS IMD 
2019 

% 
Households 
With No 
Car 
(MSOA) 
 
2011 
Census 

Total Net (After 
Households Costs) 
Household Income 
Average (MSOA) 
 
ONS Income 
estimates for small 
areas, England and 
Wales 2018 

Impact** – acceptable travel time – 19/23 
minutes as per National Transport Survey 
2019 (see Section 2 main report) 

Mitigation – offered above and beyond 
consideration of nearest library provision and 
accessibility by different modes of transport. 

Bromborough Eastham 2.3km 6 min 30 min 42, 16 and 39 bus routes 
ranging from 12-15 
minutes mid-morning 
travel. Over 60 and 
Disability - free, £2.85 
(YP), £5.55 (Saveaway), 
£2.20 (YP LCR).  

23.66 26.1 £26,600 Nearest physical library site is within 
acceptable travel times via car or public 
transport (bus). 
 
Cost of public transport and car ownership 
may pose a potential barrier to access in 
the context of multiple deprivation. 
 
 

Mobile Library – all - stops will initially be 
based around sites where closure/community 
owned/managed sites are proposed. This will 
mitigate loss in the short term. As the need 
arises, additional stops can be added to 
address demand.  
Online Library - all 
Home Reader Service – where eligible  

Higher 
Bebington 

Bebington 
Central 

1.8km 4 min 20 min 464, 73, 467 bus routes 
ranging from 14-15 
minutes mid-morning 
travel with 6 min walk. 
Over 60 and Disability - 
free, £2.85 (YP), £5.55 
(Saveaway), £2.20 (YP 
LCR). 

14.66 17 £28,500 Nearest physical library site is within 
acceptable travel times via car, public 
transport (bus), and walking. 
 
Cost of public transport and car ownership 
do not pose a barrier to access. 
 

Mobile Library – all - stops will initially be 
based around sites where closure/community 
owned/managed sites are proposed. This will 
mitigate loss in the short term. As the need 
arises, additional stops can be added to 
address demand.  
Online Library - all 
Home Reader Service – where eligible 

Wallasey 
Village 

Wallasey 
Central 

1.7km 5 min 25 min 414, 409, 410, 433, 413 
bus routes ranging from 
18-19 minutes mid-
morning travel. Over 60 
and Disability - free, £2.85 
(YP), £5.55 (Saveaway), 
£2.20 (YP LCR). 

16.73 22.5 £27,900 Nearest physical library site is within 
acceptable travel times via car or public 
transport (bus). 
 
Cost of public transport does not pose a 
barrier to access. Car ownership may 
pose a potential barrier to access. 
 

Mobile Library – all - stops will initially be 
based around sites where closure/community 
owned/managed sites are proposed. This will 
mitigate loss in the short term. As the need 
arises, additional stops can be added to 
address demand.  
Online Library - all 
Home Reader Service – where eligible 

Woodchurch Upton  1.3km 4 min 14 min 42, 41 bus routes ranging 
from 11-14 minutes mid-
morning travel with 7 min 
walk.  Over 60 and 
Disability - free, £2.85 
(YP), £5.55 (Saveaway), 
£2.20 (YP LCR). 

47.81 41.3 £21,700 Nearest physical library site is within 
acceptable travel times via car, public 
transport (bus), and walking. 
 
Cost of public transport and car ownership 
pose a significant barrier to access 
although nearest library is within 
acceptable walking distance (for those 
who can). 

Mobile Library – all - stops will initially be 
based around sites where closure/community 
owned/managed sites are proposed. This will 
mitigate loss in the short term. As the need 
arises, additional stops can be added to 
address demand.  
Online Library - all 
Home Reader Service – where eligible 

Greasby Upton 2.4km 5 min 32 min 437 bus route taking 13 
minutes mid-morning 
travel. Over 60 and 
Disability - free, £2.85 
(YP), £5.55 (Saveaway), 
£2.20 (YP LCR). 

8.68 12.5 £31,600 Nearest physical library site is within 
acceptable travel times via car or public 
transport (bus). 
 
Cost of public transport and car ownership 
do not pose a barrier to access. 
 
 

Mobile Library – all - stops will initially be 
based around sites where closure/community 
owned/managed sites are proposed. This will 
mitigate loss in the short term. As the need 
arises, additional stops can be added to 
address demand.  
Online Library - all 
Home Reader Service – where eligible 

P
age 377



Library Nearest 
Library 

Shortest 
Distance 

Car* Walking Public Transport IMD 
(greater 
score = 
higher 
deprivation) 
8.68-62.27 
 
ONS IMD 
2019 

% 
Households 
With No 
Car 
(MSOA) 
 
2011 
Census 

Total Net (After 
Households Costs) 
Household Income 
Average (MSOA) 
 
ONS Income 
estimates for small 
areas, England and 
Wales 2018 

Impact** – acceptable travel time – 19/23 
minutes as per National Transport Survey 
2019 (see Section 2 main report) 

Mitigation – offered above and beyond 
consideration of nearest library provision and 
accessibility by different modes of transport. 

Irby Heswall 3.5km 6 min 50 min 22 and 471 bus routes 
taking 12 minutes mid-
morning travel. Over 60 
and Disability - free, £2.85 
(YP), £5.55 (Saveaway), 
£2.20 (YP LCR). 

11.26 13.5 £31,500 Nearest physical library site is within 
acceptable travel times via car or public 
transport (bus). 
 
Cost of public transport and car ownership 
do not pose a barrier to access. 
 
 

Mobile Library – all - stops will initially be 
based around sites where closure/community 
owned/managed sites are proposed. This will 
mitigate loss in the short term. As the need 
arises, additional stops can be added to 
address demand.  
Online Library - all 
Home Reader Service – where eligible 

Pensby Heswall 2.1km 5 min 31 min 472 bus route taking 10 
minutes mid-morning 
travel. Over 60 and 
Disability - free, £2.85 
(YP), £5.55 (Saveaway), 
£2.20 (YP LCR). 

13.49 12.9 £29,300 Nearest physical library site is within 
acceptable travel times via car or public 
transport (bus). 
 
Cost of public transport and car ownership 
do not pose a barrier to access. 
 

Mobile Library – all - stops will initially be 
based around sites where closure/community 
owned/managed sites are proposed. This will 
mitigate loss in the short term. As the need 
arises, additional stops can be added to 
address demand.  
Online Library - all 
Home Reader Service – where eligible 

Prenton Ridgeway 
(RFID) 

2.9km 8 min 30 min Connecting bus route – 
17, 472, 41, 413, 42, 471, 
414, 16A → 495 taking 30 
minutes mid-morning 
travel. Over 60 and 
Disability - free, £2.85 
(YP), £5.55 (Saveaway), 
£2.20 (YP LCR). 

23.87 19.8 £29,200 Nearest physical library site is within 
acceptable travel times via car for both 
unstaffed RFID and staffed sites. Public 
transport is within acceptable distance for 
staffed site (Birkenhead Library). 
 
Although net household income is 
comparable to areas experiencing lower 
deprivation scores (Pensby) cost of public 
transport and car ownership scores may 
pose a potential barrier to access in the 
context of multiple deprivation. 

Mobile Library – all - stops will initially be 
based around sites where closure/community 
owned/managed sites are proposed. This will 
mitigate loss in the short term. As the need 
arises, additional stops can be added to 
address demand.  
Online Library - all 
Home Reader Service – where eligible 

Birkenhead 
Central 
(Staffed) 

3.6km 9 min 43 min 472, 41, 413, 42, 414 
taking 22 minutes mid-
morning travel. Over 60 
and Disability - free, £2.85 
(YP), £5.55 (Saveaway), 
£2.20 (YP LCR). 

Hoylake West Kirby 2.8km 5 min 35 min 407 and 38 bus routes 
taking 11 minutes mid-
morning travel. Over 60 
and Disability - free, £2.85 
(YP), £5.55 (Saveaway), 
£2.20 (YP LCR). 

14.24 19.5 £30,100 Nearest physical library site is within 
acceptable travel times via car or public 
transport (bus). 
 
Cost of public transport and car ownership 
do not pose a barrier to access. 
 

Mobile Library – all - stops will initially be 
based around sites where closure/community 
owned/managed sites are proposed. This will 
mitigate loss in the short term. As the need 
arises, additional stops can be added to 
address demand.  
Online Library - all 
Home Reader Service – where eligible 

Rock Ferry Birkenhead 
Central 

1.9km 5 min 26.5 
min 

42 and 41 bus route 
taking 19 minutes and 
connection bus route 410 
→ 414, 413 bus route 
taking 29 minutes mid-
morning travel. Over 60 
and Disability - free, £2.85 
(YP), £5.55 (Saveaway), 
£2.20 (YP LCR). 

62.27 52.3 £17,900 Nearest physical library site is within 
acceptable travel times via car or public 
transport (bus). 
 
Cost of public transport and car ownership 
pose a significant barrier to access. 
 

Mobile Library – all - stops will initially be 
based around sites where closure/community 
owned/managed sites are proposed. This will 
mitigate loss in the short term. As the need 
arises, additional stops can be added to 
address demand.  
Online Library - all 
Home Reader Service – where eligible 

P
age 378



Library Nearest 
Library 

Shortest 
Distance 

Car* Walking Public Transport IMD 
(greater 
score = 
higher 
deprivation) 
8.68-62.27 
 
ONS IMD 
2019 

% 
Households 
With No 
Car 
(MSOA) 
 
2011 
Census 

Total Net (After 
Households Costs) 
Household Income 
Average (MSOA) 
 
ONS Income 
estimates for small 
areas, England and 
Wales 2018 

Impact** – acceptable travel time – 19/23 
minutes as per National Transport Survey 
2019 (see Section 2 main report) 

Mitigation – offered above and beyond 
consideration of nearest library provision and 
accessibility by different modes of transport. 

New Ferry Bebington 
Central 

1.8km 6 min 25.5 
min 

464 and 410 bus routes 
ranging from 12-14 
minutes mid-morning 
travel with 7 and 8 min 
walk respectively. Over 60 
and Disability - free, £2.85 
(YP), £5.55 (Saveaway), 
£2.20 (YP LCR). 

46.64 39.7 £22,700 Nearest physical library site is within 
acceptable travel times via car or public 
transport (bus). 
 
Cost of public transport and car ownership 
pose a significant barrier to access. 
 

Mobile Library – all - stops will initially be 
based around sites where closure/community 
owned/managed sites are proposed. This will 
mitigate loss in the short term. As the need 
arises, additional stops can be added to 
address demand.  
Online Library - all 
Home Reader Service – where eligible 

*Derived from Google navigation (Car) 10-11am 22nd December 2021 

*Impact based on broad indicators for local area. This does not suggest that exceptions to this data do not occur within this area and this need and/or barrier to access will be sufficiently addressed as and when the need/demand 

arises. 

P
age 379



T
his page is intentionally left blank



   
 

   
 

 

 

  

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment 

 
Wirral Council 

December 2021 

Page 381



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 2 of 69 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment 

 

For further information please contact:  

Email: libraryconsultation@wirral.gov.uk 

 

Wirral Intelligence Service for Wirral Community Insight 

Email: wirralintelligenceservice@wirral.gov.uk  

 

 

Version 

Number 

Date Author 

1.0  December – 2021 Wirral Council 
 

 

Content overview 

 

Abstract 

 
The needs assessment has been undertaken to inform the future 
direction of the library service for Wirral, and the need to continue to 
provide a service that is compliant with statutory obligations, focusing 
on local need, whilst delivered in resources available. 
 
The library service is run and managed by the Local Authority and is 
provided under the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964. The 
Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) has produced 
guidance for councils to refer to when considering library service 
provision and states that a comprehensive and efficient service will 
differ between councils and will depend on the needs of each area. 
This must be done: 

• in consultation with their communities 

• through analysis of evidence around local needs 

• in accordance with their statutory duty 
 
This needs assessment will therefore form part of the process that will 
inform service redesign and delivery in respect of local need and 
strategic priorities, whilst continuing to meet statutory obligations. 
 

Intended or 
potential  
audience  

External  

• General Public 

• Library Service stakeholders 

• MPs for the four Wirral Constituencies 

• DCMS (Department of Digital, Culture, Media and Sport) 
 
Internal  

• Councillors 

• Departmental Management Team (DMT) 

• Service Leads 

• Staff 

Page 382

mailto:libraryconsultation@wirral.gov.uk
mailto:wirralintelligenceservice@wirral.gov.uk


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 3 of 69 

• Internal stakeholders 

Links with 
other topic 
areas  

• Children and Young People 

• Adults 

• Literacy 

• Information 

• Digital 

• Culture 

• Health and Wellbeing 

 

 

Key findings  

 

• Wirral has a population of 324,336 as of 2020, with a higher proportion of older people and a 

lower proportion of working age people compared to England 

• The population is projected to increase by 1.6% overall by 2039 to 328,500 

• The population of children and young people is projected to decrease by 7.2% by 2038 to 

52,900 

• The number of residents aged over 65 years is expected to increase by around 32% to 

92,300 by 2038 

• Birkenhead & Tranmere ward has the lowest life expectancy at birth for males (72.8), whilst 

Greasby, Frankby & Irby has the highest (83.5). For females, Rock Ferry ward has the lowest 

life expectancy (76.5) whilst Wallasey has the highest (87.7) 

• 110,000 people, or just over 35% of Wirral’s population are living in the top 20% deprived 

areas in England 

• 36.6% of the working age population in Birkenhead & Tranmere compared to 6.0% in Heswall 

claim working age benefit 

• Bidston & St James, Birkenhead & Tranmere, Rock Ferry and Seacombe wards account for 

41% of children living in low-income families 

• 28% of Wirral households have no access to a car 

 

Literacy (Reading) 

• Bidston & St James, Birkenhead & Tranmere and Rock Ferry wards have the lowest 

achievement of expected Early Learning goals 

• A higher proportion of key stage 4 children in schools in the south and west Wirral achieve the 

attainment 8 measure compared to those children in the less affluent north and east ward 

areas 

• In 2020, 6.6% of the working age population in Wirral had no qualifications 

 

Page 383



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 4 of 69 

Digital (Information and Digital) 

• Bidston & St James, Birkenhead & Tranmere, Rock Ferry and Seacombe wards are at 

greatest risk of digital exclusion when using the Digital Exclusion Index (DERI) 

• Birkenhead constituency has 28.4% of its population classified as e-Withdrawn, compared to 

just 2.3% in Wirral South 

• Most businesses in Wirral (88.65%) were classified as micro enterprises (1-9 employees) with 

the second highest being small enterprises (10-49 employees) (9.53%) as of 2017 

 

Community (Creativity and Culture) 

• Wirral (96) scores a higher level of need than England (68) in relation to the Community Need 

Index 

• Moreton West & Saughall Massie, New Brighton, Rock Ferry and Seacombe wards 

experience the lowest levels of participation in community life and are areas of poorer 

community and civic infrastructure with respect to the Community Need Index 

 

Health and Wellbeing 

• Overall, 22% of the population reported that their day-to-day activities were limited in some 

way by an illness or disability in the 2011 Census, but this hides large variations by age (from 

just 7% in those aged <35 to 83% of those aged 85+) 

• Over 7000 people in Wirral are estimated to be diagnosed with dementia by 2035 

• The prevalence of depression is much higher in Wirral than England, with 18% of adults 

compared to 11% nationally (according to GP records) 

• Wirral has a higher percentage (3.6%) of people receiving IB/ESA than the national average  

(2.1%) as of 2021. Wards showing the highest numbers of claimants are Birkenhead & 

Tranmere (818) and Bidston & St James (506) 

• Nationally, 43% of adults do not understand written health information 

 

Library 

• The number of libraries per 100,000 population for Wirral (7), is above the national average 

(5) 

• The net expenditure (£14935) per 1000 population for Wirral is significantly higher than 

national (£11040) and group comparators (£11913) 

• Footfall decreased by 376,557 visits over a five-year period (2015-2020), representing a 

decrease of 28.7% 

• Since 2012 there has been an 87.9% decline in the number of active borrowers 

Page 384



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 5 of 69 

• The largest group of active borrowers is 60+ (36.6%), followed by 0–12 (32.4%), with the least 

number of active borrowers in the 18-24 age category (1.4%) as of 2020 

• Between 2012 and 2020 there has been a 52.7% decline in the number of loan transactions 

• West Kirby (4826), Wallasey Central (4740), Bebington (4088) and Birkenhead (3532) 

libraries have the highest number of active borrowers, whilst Leasowe (221), Woodchurch 

(243), Beechwood (260) and St James (356) libraries have the lowest number as of 2020 

• Leasowe (2637) and Beechwood (3772) libraries have the lowest number of issues/renewals 

per site, whilst Wallasey Central (127,955) and West Kirby (107,722) libraries have the 

highest as of 2020 

• Since 2012 there has been a 2101% increase in the number of e-lending issues 

• E-book usage is 3 times lower in more deprived areas, compared to the least deprived areas 

of Wirral 

• The four central libraries (Bebington, Birkenhead, Wallasey and West Kirby), plus Moreton 

and Rock Ferry libraries have the highest number of PC and Wi-Fi logins of all Wirral Libraries 

as of 2019 

• Wallasey Central and West Kirby libraries offers the highest number of activities and events 

that occur at least once a month in 2019. Higher Bebington, Woodchurch, Leasowe and 

Heswall have the least number of activities and events occurring at least once a month 

 

 

  

Page 385



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 6 of 69 

Wirral JSNA: -   Wirral Libraries Need Assessment 

 

Contents 

Key findings .................................................................................................................................. 3 

Literacy (Reading) .................................................................................................................................... 3 

Digital (Information and Digital) .............................................................................................................. 4 

Community (Creativity and Culture) ....................................................................................................... 4 

Health and Wellbeing .............................................................................................................................. 4 

Library ...................................................................................................................................................... 4 

What do we know? ....................................................................................................................... 7 

Why is this important? .......................................................................................... 7 

Background .............................................................................................................................................. 7 

What is a library service needs assessment? .......................................................................................... 8 

Scene setting ........................................................................................................ 9 

Statutory Duty ......................................................................................................................................... 9 

National context ...................................................................................................................................... 9 

Local Context ......................................................................................................................................... 12 

Library Service provision .................................................................................... 13 

Service Provision pre-March 2020 ........................................................................................................ 13 

Service Provision since March 2020 ...................................................................................................... 14 

Strategic Context ................................................................................................ 15 

Insight ......................................................................................................................................... 17 

Facts, figures and trends .................................................................................... 17 

Demographic Need of Wirral ................................................................................................................. 17 

Demographic need relating to Universal Library offers ........................................................................ 22 

Wirral Libraries data and performance comparators (CIPFA) ............................................................... 29 

Local, Community and Stakeholder views .......................................................... 40 

Public consultation exercise (June-September 2021) ........................................................................... 40 

Intelligence from commissioned engagement activity in Wirral (2017) ............................................... 43 

What are we doing and why? .................................................................................................... 47 

Current activity and services ............................................................................... 47 

Strategic priorities and measures for the future .................................................. 49 

What is this telling us? .............................................................................................................. 50 

Key issues and challenges ................................................................................. 50 

Summary ..................................................................................................................................... 52 

Appendix............................................................................................................. 53 
Page 386



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 7 of 69 

 

 

What do we know? 

 

Why is this important?                                                                                                                                        

 

This needs assessment has been undertaken to inform the future direction of the library service 
for Wirral, and the need to continue to provide a service that is compliant with statutory 
obligations, focusing on local need and relevant socio-economic and demographic groups, whilst 
delivered in resources available. 
 
Background 
 

Over recent years Wirral’s Library Service has been subject to several reviews and service 
changes, all aimed at delivering an integrated portfolio of services that better meet local needs. 
 
The library service is run and managed by the Local Authority (Wirral Council) and is provided 
under the Public Libraries and Museums Act 19641. The Department for Digital, Culture, Media 
and Sport (DCMS) has produced guidance2 for councils to refer to when considering library 
service provision and states that a “comprehensive and efficient” service will differ between 
councils and will depend on the needs of each area. This must be done: 

• in consultation with their communities 

• through analysis of evidence around local needs 

• in accordance with their statutory duty 
 
Local authorities should be able to demonstrate: 

• plans to consult with local communities alongside an assessment of their needs (including 
projections of need) 

• consideration of a range of options (including alternative financing, governance, or delivery 
models) to sustain library service provision in their area 

• a rigorous analysis and assessment of the potential impact of their proposals 
 
In 2016 DCMS (via the Libraries Taskforce) published ‘Libraries Delivered: Ambition for Public 
Libraries in England 2016-2021’3. It suggested that councils should develop their library services 
using 7 common design principles, so that they: 

• meet legal requirements 

• are shaped by local needs 

• focus on public benefit and deliver a high-quality user experience 

• make decisions informed by evidence, building on success 

• support delivery of consistent England-wide core offers 

• promote partnership working, innovation and enterprise 

• use public funds effectively and efficiently 
 

It states that, at local level, councils need to take a strategic, long-term approach to transforming 
their library service to strengthen their organisational and financial resilience. Decisions should 

 
 
1 Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 
2 Libraries as a statutory service  
3 Libraries Deliver: Ambition for Public Libraries in England 2016 to 2021 Page 387

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1964/75/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-libraries-as-a-statutory-service/libraries-as-a-statutory-service
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-libraries-in-england-2016-to-2021


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 8 of 69 

be made based on an assessment of need, and actively managed with the community and library 
professionals, not carried out in an ad-hoc or reactive way. 
 

What is a library service needs assessment? 
 

A library service needs assessment is a process undertaken by a library service to learn about 
the needs of service users and non-users, and to evaluate how well they support these needs.  
 
There is no standard agreed methodology for carrying out a library needs assessment. 
Monitoring other local authority assessments suggests there is considerable scope for councils to 
shape a library needs assessment according to local circumstances. This is confirmed by a letter 
from the Minister of State to the Leader of Sheffield City Council in March 20154 in which he 
wrote ‘[the Secretary of State] recognises that it is for SCC [Sheffield City Council], as the 
democratically accountable local representatives, to make the required value judgements with 
regard to the needs assessment for its library service and these are within the proper bounds of 
SCC’s discretion’. 
 
This document provides a needs assessment which takes into account the following evidence: 

• national drivers, current thinking and best practice 

• demographic and socio-economic data as indicators of need 

• current library use and library location 

• national benchmarking comparators 

• intelligence from Council and commissioned engagement activity in Wirral 
 
The needs assessment derives its finding from a body of evidence that includes:  

• Wirral Local Insight tool for demographic profiles 

• Talis Alto Library Management System for library user visitation behaviours 

• Overdrive and Borrowbox for e-lending usage data 

• Cisco Meraki for Wi-Fi usage data 

• Insight Media i-CAM for PC usage data 

• CIPFA Comparative Profile (Public libraries comparative profiles | CIPFA) 

• Responses from a public consultation survey from 28 June to 20 September 2021 

• Wirral Borough Council: Re-Imagining Libraries, Leisure, Parks and Cultural Services. 
Phase 2 Report. (BWB, October 2017) 

• Achieving a sustainable library service for Wirral: results of an independent needs 
assessment (Shared Intelligence, January 2017)  

 
Therefore, the purpose of this needs assessment is to provide evidence and insight that can be 
used to develop a plan for the future of Wirral’s library service. This plan will be aimed at ensuring 
that the service is able to meet the future needs of customers by delivering the right services at 
the right time and specifically ensuring that services are ‘comprehensive and efficient’, 
sustainable, provide value for money, and maximise impact in supporting the delivery of the 
Wirral Plan 2021-20265. 
  

 
 
4 DCMS PO Letter Template (publishing.service.gov.uk) 
5 Draft Wirral Delivery Plan 2021-26 Page 388

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/?indicator=mye_census11revision_popest5yr_totpop_20200101
https://dev.cipfa.org/services/comparative-profiles/public-libraries
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/Leisure%20parks%20and%20events/Leisure%20and%20Culture%20survey/BWB%20Phase%202%20Report%20Public.pdf
https://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/documents/s50041586/Shared%20Intelligence%20-%20Sustainable%20Librariy%20Service.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/410769/Councillor_Dore.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3533/wirral-plan-2021-2026-draft-delivery-plans-approved-sept-2021.pdf


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 9 of 69 

 

Scene setting 

 

Statutory Duty 
 
The Libraries and Museums Act 19646 requires local authorities to provide a public library 
service. The main obligation is to provide a ‘comprehensive and efficient’ service for all persons, 
for all those who live, work or study in the area, and to encourage both adults and children to 
make full use of the library service and to lend books and other written materials free of charge. 
However, the meaning of ‘comprehensive and efficient’ are not defined. Guidance produced for 
councils by DCMS states7 what a ‘comprehensive and efficient’ service means to each local 
authority will depend on the needs of each area and it is the role of councillors and officials at a 
local level to determine how they spend and manage the delivery of their service. 
 
In her report following an inquiry into Wirral’s proposed library closures in 2009, Sue Charteris8 
provided some clarity on the definition of ‘comprehensive and efficient’, by identifying the need for 
a library strategy based on an analysis and assessment of local needs. 
 
More recent judicial reviews (non-Wirral) have also highlighted the need to take account of 
equalities implications of any proposed service changes. The requirement to demonstrate best 
value and adhere to procurement rules have also appeared in some judicial reviews. The 
government response to the report of the Culture, Media and Sport Select Committee (2013) 9 
stated that a ‘comprehensive and efficient’ library service represents the balance between 
meeting local needs within the context of available resources in a way appropriate to the 
identified needs of the communities they serve. Additionally, a Ministerial letter10 quoting relevant 
High Court judgements in 2011 and 2014 stated that the meaning of ‘comprehensive and 
efficient’ is to be interpreted in the context of the best use of assets within constraints of available 
resources and that a comprehensive service cannot mean that every resident lives close to a 
library. 
 
The guidance provided by DCMS, and the lessons learnt from the Charteris report and the 
subsequent judicial reviews into other library authorities’ proposals for change have been taken 
into account as part of this service review. We will also have regard to wider legal obligations and 
a separate, detailed Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) will be available. 
 
National context 
 

Libraries Connected Universal Library Offers 

In 2013 the Society of Chief Librarians and partners including, The Arts Council and The Reading 
Agency, made a commitment to keeping library services relevant and accessible. Together they 
identified six key areas of service which users regarded as integral to public libraries and 
developed a shared strategy for the future. 
 

 
 
6 Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964  
7 Libraries as a statutory service   
8 A Local Inquiry into the Public Library Service Provided by Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council  
9 Government Response to the Report of the Culture, Media and Sport Select Committee 
10 Ministerial letters regarding representations made about local library services Page 389

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1964/75/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-libraries-as-a-statutory-service/libraries-as-a-statutory-service
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-local-inquiry-into-the-public-library-service-provided-by-wirral-metropolitan-borough-council
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/86428/CP_Gov_Response_Library_Closures.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ministerial-letters-regarding-dcms-consideration-of-representations-about-local-library-services


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 10 of 69 

The Universal Offers covered the six key areas of service which customers and stakeholders see 
as essential to a 21st century library service. They are Health, Reading, Digital, Culture, 
Information and Learning. 
 
The Universal Offers have been informed by customer research, tested with stakeholders and 
customers and developed in partnership with The Reading Agency and Arts Council England. 
The aim of each of the offers is to develop a core package of partnerships and resources which 
can then be delivered locally and shaped to meet differing local needs. 
 
Libraries Connected as the sector support organisation for libraries, built on their previous work 
as the Society of Chief Librarians, and in 2018 Libraries Connected launched a review of their 
Universal Offers and a new refreshed Universal Library Offers framework (figure 1) was created 
in 2019, following an eight-month independent review. 
 
Figure 1: Libraries Connected Universal Offer framework 

Source: Universal Library Offers | Libraries Connected 

The revised offers were chosen to demonstrate the key areas and work public library services do 

to enrich the lives of individuals and their communities. The four offers are: 

• Reading 
Libraries support the growth of a literate, empathetic and confident society 

• Digital and Information 
Libraries provide quality information and support 

• Culture and Creativity 
Libraries work with cultural providers to spark curiosity, imagination and fun 

• Health and Wellbeing 
Libraries promote healthy living; provide self-management support and engagement 
opportunities for children and adults supported by welcoming spaces; effective signposting 
and information to reduce health, social and economic inequalities 

 
The Universal Library Offers also aim to ensure that all aspects of the public library provision are 
accessible and therefore each offer is underpinned by the Vision and Print Impaired People’s 

Page 390

http://www.librariesconnected.org.uk/page/universal-library-offers


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 11 of 69 

Promise (developed by Share the Vision) and The Children’s Promise (developed by The 
Association of Senior Children’s and Education Librarians). 
 

Libraries Taskforce Outcomes 

In 2016 the national Libraries Taskforce published ‘Libraries Deliver: Ambition for Public Libraries 
in England 2016-2021’11, which set out the strategic vision and commitment to public libraries in 
England. The document acknowledged the challenging times councils face in running library 
services and called for councils to think and act differently. 
 
The Library Taskforce describes libraries as a vital community hub, bringing people together and 
giving them access to the services and support they need to help them live better. The report set 
out an ambition for everyone to: 

• choose to use libraries, because they see clear benefits and positive outcomes from doing 
so 

• understand what library services offer, and how they can make the most of what’s 
available to them 

• be introduced to new ideas and opportunities, then given confidence and quick and easy 
access to tools, skills and information they need to improve their quality of life 

• receive trusted guidance through the evolving information landscape and build the skills 
needed to thrive in a changing world 

 
The document identified 7 outcomes that library services contribute to that are critical to the 
individuals and communities in their areas, as illustrated in figure 2. 
 
Figure 2: Libraries Taskforce: Libraries Deliver 7 outcomes 

Source: Libraries Deliver: Ambition for Public Libraries in England 2016 to 2021 

 

 
 
11 Libraries Deliver: Ambition for Public Libraries in England 2016 to 2021 Page 391

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-libraries-in-england-2016-to-2021/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-libraries-in-england-2016-to-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-libraries-in-england-2016-to-2021


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 12 of 69 

These outcomes are consistent with the Society of Chief Librarians’ (replaced by Libraries 
Connected in 2018) recommended Universal Offers as stated above. 
 

Arts Council England 

The Arts Council12 does not have any statutory responsibility for libraries, however as agreed with 
the Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS), the Arts Council’s role is to develop and 
advocate for libraries. They also take particular interest in the ways that library spaces can be 
used to connect the public with other cultural activities and believe libraries contribute to the 
wider goals of both national and local government, as well as the communities they serve. They 
have set out four priority areas for development: 

• Place the library as the hub of the community 

• Make the most of digital technology and creative media 

• Ensure that libraries are resilient and sustainable 

• Deliver the right skills for those who work in libraries 
 
Additionally, the ‘English Public Libraries Stakeholder Working Group’ is chaired by the Arts 
Council and it works closely with the DCMS to support it in its library superintendence role. 
 
Local Context 
 
Wirral Council set out a series of outcomes in its five-year plan, which the Council and its 
partners would work to achieve by 202513. The focus of these outcomes were: 

• A prosperous, inclusive economy where local people can get good jobs and achieve their 
aspirations 

• A sustainable Borough that is not only environmentally friendly but one which plays its part 
in urgently responding to the environment and climate crisis 

• Brighter futures for our young people and families – regardless of their background or 
where they live 

• Safe, vibrant communities where people want to live and raise their families 

• Services which help people live happy, healthy, independent and active lives, with public 
services there to support them when they need it 
 

In October 2019 Wirral Council had unanimously agreed the Wirral Council Plan 2025. However, 
because of COVID-19, it was agreed this needed to be reviewed, in light of the impact the 
COVID-19 pandemic has had on the Borough. The new plan 14 defines key thematic priorities for 
the Local Authority over the coming years, outlining those tasks which the Council will focus on to 
ensure the people of Wirral receive the services they need and want, based on what people said 
matters most to them. These thematic priorities are: 

• Inclusive Economy 

• Safe and Pleasant Communities 

• Sustainable Environment 

• Brighter Futures 

• Active and Healthy Lives 
  

 
 
12 Supporting libraries | Arts Council England 
13 Wirral Council Plan 2025 
14 Wirral Plan 2021-26 Page 392

https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/supporting-libraries
http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/documents/s50062190/WIRRAL%20COUNCIL%20PLAN%202025.pdf
https://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/documents/s50080601/Appendix%201%20Wirral%20Plan%202021-26.pdf


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 13 of 69 

Library Service provision 

 
Wirral Library Service currently comprises of 24 libraries, a Home Reader Service and online 
(virtual) library. 
 
Service Provision pre-March 2020 
 
Pre COVID-19 pandemic (until March 2020) service delivery consisted of 4 ‘central’ libraries 
(Bebington, Birkenhead, Wallasey and West Kirby) with extended opening hours, two of which 
also provided a One Stop Shop (OSS) service, 4 ‘merged’ library (Eastham, Heswall, Moreton 
and Rock Ferry) with OSS services, and 16 ‘community’ libraries offering up to 18 hours of 
opening across the week. 
 
The large central libraries offered a wide range of services including reference and ICT suites; all 
with self-contained rooms of varying numbers. Three with large floor spaces, and one with a 
smaller footprint and co-located with a Wirral Council leisure centre. Central libraries had a 
staffing budget provision of between 48 and 55 hours per week, whilst the four merged libraries 
staffing budget provision was 46 hours per week. 
 
These community libraries varied in size, scale of services, and level of activities and events, with 
most delivered through standalone sites. As of mid-March 2020, 14 of the 16 community libraries 
had budget provision to be staffed and open for 18 hours15 per week, but some had extended 
opening hours, through the use of volunteers who were able to deliver a ‘library express’ service, 
supported by RFID (self-service kiosks). In two areas (St James and Leasowe) the local 
Neighbourhood Trusts supported their local libraries with additional opening hours. St James 
library operated for an additional 4 hours a week, whilst Leasowe library an additional 32 hours 
per week. 
 
All libraries offered a book lending service, public computers (PC) access, Wi-Fi and printing 
facilities. They also offered a basic ‘triage’ or signposting service to Council and partner services. 
The merged and two central libraries offered a One Stop Shop service for more complex 
enquiries via a booking system. All central libraries offered reference material, DVD hire and 
audio material16, whilst Birkenhead Library had a large reference library with staffed provision. 
The service delivery was supported by volunteers in some ICT suites and Wallasey Central 
reference library, in addition to the forementioned ‘library express’ and Neighbourhood Trust 
volunteers within community libraries. 
 
A Home Reader Service delivered reading material, audio and DVDs to residents in their homes, 
sheltered and residential settings. The service was managed by the library service supported by 
volunteers. This service provided for those individuals who were unable to visit a library. 
 
An online (virtual) digital library service was available to library users for the loan of e-books and 
e-audio books and provided free access to several reference resources, which were available at 
each Wirral library and some via remote access. 
 
Across the network of libraries, a full calendar of events and activities was delivered by library 
staff, volunteers, partner organisations and groups, with outreach delivery when appropriate. 
These events and activities were in the majority delivered within core staffed library hours or 

 
 
15 Leasowe Library had staffing provision for 14 hrs (extended support provided by the Neighbourhood Trust) 
16 Birkenhead Central and Wallasey Central libraries provide music CDs Page 393



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 14 of 69 

‘library express’ times. The number and purpose of these activities and events varied on a site-
by-site basis and details are shown in appendix 1. 
 
Service Provision since March 2020 
 

Since March 2020 the library provision has been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. In late 
March 2020 all library sites closed as mandated by Central Government. The service provision 
was transferred to an online offer only, through the utilisation of social media channels and web-
based platforms to support the delivery of events and activities and awareness of the service’s 
digital library. 
 
In August 2020 following the change in Government guidelines two central libraries (Birkenhead 
and West Kirby) reopened for an ‘Order and Collect’ service only, with the remaining two centrals 
Bebington and Wallasey following in December 2020. Following the third lockdown the four 
central libraries reopened, adding a browsing offer from May 2021. 
 
From May to November 2021 a further eleven sites have reopened with a browsing offer and the 
resumption of IT facilities at all open sites and reference service at Birkenhead Central Library. 
 
As of December 2021, the current offer is: 

• four central libraries open six days a week 9-1 and 2-5 (42 hours a week) 

• three libraries open three days a week 9-1 and 2-5 and alternate Saturday’s 9-1 (21/25 
hours a week) 

• seven libraries open two days a week 9-1 and 2-5 and alternate Saturday’s 9-1 (14/18 
hours a week) 

• one library open one day a week 9-1 and 2-5 and alternate Saturday’s 9-1 (7/11 hours a 
week) 

 
Additional sites are scheduled to reopen in the coming months. 
 
As part of the remobilisation of the One Stop Shop service, they are now located in Wallasey 
Central Library one day per week, on an appointment only basis, with a view to resumption at 
other sites. 
 
The Home Reader service paused in March 2020 and since April 2021 has started doorstep 
deliveries to residents in their homes, with some doorstep residential visits commencing in June 
2021. Additional services are yet to restart. 
 
With regards to library events and activities, Wirral Libraries are working towards reinstatement of 
these, taking into account advice from Asset Management, Public Health and Health and Safety 
colleagues, with regards to ventilation requirements which affects the numbers of attendees. 
Similarly, Wirral Libraries is keen to engage with our volunteers, that provided IT, Home Reader, 
Reference and ‘library express’ support, so they can return in a safe manner. 
  

Page 394



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 15 of 69 

Strategic Context 

 

Wirral Libraries draft Library Strategy is available as a separate document and has four strategic 
priorities that mirror the Libraries Connected Universal Offers of: 

• Reading 

• Information and Digital 

• Culture and Creativity 

• Health and Wellbeing 
 
These four key strategic priorities were designed to ensure a modern library service which seeks 
to respond to the Wirral Plan, whilst also being informed by library service best practice and 
national frameworks. 
 
The Wirral Plan17 will underpin the future delivery of the library service and its four overarching 
strategic priorities, to ensure that the service can effectively contribute to the Council’s five-year 
plan and support the achievement of its ambitions. 
 
As seen in table 1, where the Universal Offers are cross referenced to the thematic priorities of 
the Wirral Plan, there is a close fit to how the library service offer can support the delivery of the 
Council’s future plan. 
 
Table 1: Libraries Connected Universal Offers/Wirral Council Plan priorities 
 

 
The “Libraries Deliver” National Taskforce outcomes strengthen the reasoning for the selection of 
the library service’s overarching priorities, and table 2 further demonstrates how the Council’s 
future plans can be supported by cross referencing the Taskforce’s Outcomes and the Wirral 
Plan’s thematic priorities. 
  

 
 
17 Wirral Plan 2021-26 

‘Libraries Connected Universal Offers 
Wirral Council Plan thematic priorities that are 

supported by the Library Service 

Reading 

Brighter Futures 
Inclusive Economy 
Safe and Pleasant Communities 
 

Information and Digital 

Brighter Futures 
Inclusive Economy 
Sustainable Environment 
 

Cultural and Creativity 

Inclusive Economy 
Active and Health Lives 
Safe and Pleasant Communities 
 

Health and Wellbeing 

Active and Healthy Lives 
Brighter Futures 
Safe and Pleasant Communities 
 

Page 395

https://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/documents/s50080601/Appendix%201%20Wirral%20Plan%202021-26.pdf


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 16 of 69 

Table 2: Taskforce Outcomes/Wirral Council Plan priorities 
 

 

  

‘Libraries Deliver’ National Taskforce 
Outcomes 

Wirral Council Plan thematic priorities that are 
supported by the Library Service 

Cultural and creative enrichment Inclusive Economy 
Active and Healthy Lives 
Safe and Pleasant Communities 
 

Increased reading and literacy Brighter futures 
Inclusive Economy 
Safe and Pleasant Communities 
 

Improved digital access and literacy Brighter Futures 
Inclusive Economy 
Sustainable Environment 
 

Helping everyone achieve their full 
potential 

Brighter Futures 
Inclusive Economy  
Active and Healthy Lives 
 

Healthier and happier lives Active and Healthy Lives 
Brighter Futures 
Safe and Pleasant Communities 
 

Greater prosperity Inclusive Economy 
Sustainable Environment 
 

Stronger, more resilient communities Safe and Pleasant communities 
Inclusive Economy 
Brighter Futures 
 

Page 396



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 17 of 69 

Insight 

 

Facts, figures and trends  

 
Demographic Need of Wirral18 
 
The current population of Wirral as of 2020 is 324,33619, with a higher proportion of older people 
and a lower proportion of working age people compared to England. 
 
The maps below (maps 1 to 3) show how the age of the population varies across the Borough, 
with a higher proportion of people aged 65+ living to the west, with higher proportions of younger 
people living in the east and central areas of Wirral. 
 

Map 1: Population aged 0-15 with library locations 2020

 
Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

  

 
 
18 All maps, unless otherwise stated showing areas at MSOA level Middle Layer Super Output Area 
19 Population estimates for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland- ONS Page 397

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/
https://datadictionary.nhs.uk/nhs_business_definitions/middle_layer_super_output_area.html#:~:text=Middle%20Layer%20Super%20Output%20Areas%20%28MSOA%29%20are%20a,of%20small%20area%20statistics%20in%20England%20and%20Wales.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/latest


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 18 of 69 

Map 2: Population aged 16-64 with library locations 2020 

 
Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 
Map 3: Population aged 65+ with library locations 2020 

 
Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 
The population is projected to increase by 1.6% overall by 2039 according to the Office of 
National Statistics (ONS), from 323,000 (2018) to 328,50020. The population of children and 
young people is projected to decrease by 7.2% (57,200 in 2018 to 52,900 in 2038). The number 
of residents aged over 65 years is expected to increase by around 32% by 2038 (69,700 in 2018 
to 92,300 in 2038), alongside a 6% contraction in the 16 – 64 age group (195800 in 2018 to 
183,100 in 2038)21. 
 
The number of births in Wirral as of 2020 was 2,958, the lowest number since Wirral was formed 
as a Metropolitan Borough in 1974; historical trends indicate these decreases could continue until 
the late 2020s (a 3% decrease by 2030 is predicted by ONS)22. 

 
 
20 Data from the Office for National statistics 2017 Mid-Year Estimates 
21 This is Wirral (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
22 JSNA: Children & Young People Population & Demographics (wirralintelligenceservice.org) Page 398

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2974/this-is-wirral-economy-business-and-skills-ig-added-19-12-19-final.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3518/jsna-cyp-pop-demo-2021-final-accchkd.pdf


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 19 of 69 

 
In 2017-19, life expectancy at birth in Wirral was 78.5 years for males and 82.3 years for females 
(both increases on 2016-18) compared to 79.8 and 83.4 respectively in England. Life expectancy 
varies considerable in Wirral; with Wirral residents having some of the poorest health outcomes 
in the country. Within the Borough differences in life expectancy of 10.7 years for men and 11.2 
years for women exist between the the most and least deprived wards in Wirral. Birkenhead & 
Tranmere had the ward with the lowest life expectancy at birth for males (72.8), whilst Greasby, 
Frankby & Irby had the highest (83.5). For females, Rock Ferry had the lowest life expectancy 
(76.5) whilst Wallasey had the highest (87.7)23. 
 
The 2011 census indicates that the Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) population makes up 5% 
(16,101) of Wirral’s population, compared to 20.2% in England. The largest number of Black and 
Minority Ethnic group people in Wirral were living in Birkenhead & Tranmere ward (1727 in 
2011)24. 
 
Since 2011, it is probable that Wirral’s BAME population has continued to grow. An indicator of 
this is the annual School Census (2021), which showed that BAME pupils made up 7.9% of the 
overall Wirral school population25. The proportion of the school population with a first language 
other than English rose from 2.6% (1150) in 2013 to 3.9% (1795) in 201726. 
 
There were an estimated 5000-5250 people in Wirral who identified as Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, 
with a further 50 people estimated to be transgender in the 2011 census27. 
 
The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) score, as shown in map 4, suggests that there is a 
significant gap between the most and least deprived wards in Wirral; with the most affluent ward 
being Heswall and the most deprived ward being Birkenhead & Tranmere, followed by Bidston & 
St James, Seacombe and Rock Ferry wards. 
 
Map 4: Index of Multiple Deprivation with library locations 2019 

Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 

 
 
23 Life expectancy in Wirral 2017-19 (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
24 Date from the 2021 census will not be available until 2023, so for the purpose of this assessment 2011 census data will be used. 2011 Census 
25 JSNA: Children & Young People Population & Demographics (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
26 This is Wirral (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
27 Wirral Population - Wirral Intelligence Service Page 399

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3384/life-expectancy-update-2017-19-final-accchkd.pdf
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/census_2011
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3518/jsna-cyp-pop-demo-2021-final-accchkd.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2969/this-is-wirral-population-ig-added-19-12-19-final.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/state-of-the-borough/wirral-population/


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 20 of 69 

Of the approximate 325,000 Wirral residents, over 110,000 or just over 35% of the population are 
classified as living in the most deprived 20% of areas in England28. 
 
The four wards of Bidston & St James, Birkenhead & Tranmere, Rock Ferry, and Seacombe, 
consistently featuring as the most disadvantaged wards when using indicators such as ‘No 
Qualifications’, ‘Participation in Higher Education’, ‘Healthy Life Expectancy at Birth’, ‘Out of Work 
Benefit Claimants’ and ‘Net Household Income’29. 
 
For example, in total, there were 35,924 people claiming working age benefits in Wirral (as of 
February 2021), which is 18.6% of the working age population of Wirral (compared to the 
England average of 14.5%). As Map 5 below shows, there are huge variations in Wirral, with a 
much higher percentage of benefit claimants in the east of Wirral (e.g. over one in three or 36.6% 
of the working age population in Birkenhead & Tranmere compared to one in 16 or 6.0% in 
Heswall)30. 
 
Map 5: Percentage of working age people receiving Department for Works and Pensions benefit 
with library locations 2021 

Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 
Children and young people aged 0-19 make up just over one in five (22%) of Wirral residents 
(73,699 in 2020). The 2019 Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index shows that deprivation 
affecting children is concentrated in the east of Wirral, with Birkenhead & Tranmere, Bidston & St 
James, Rock Ferry, Seacombe wards being the most deprived, with small pockets in other areas 
including Woodchurch, Acre Lane Bromborough, and Gilroy area of West Kirby31. 
 
Child poverty data shows the proportion of children living in low-income households (10,490 in 
2019) ranged from 4% in Heswall, to 46% in Bidston & St James ward. With just four wards 
(Seacombe, Birkenhead & Tranmere, Bidston & St James, Rock Ferry) accounting for 41% of 
children living in low-income families across the Borough32. 
 

 
 
28 Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) for Wirral 2019 (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
29 This is Wirral (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
30 JSNA: Children & Young People Population & Demographics (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
31 JSNA: Children & Young People Population & Demographics (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
32 Annual report of the Director of Public Health for Wirral 2020-2021 Page 400

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2928/imd-2019-briefing-paper-november-2019-final2.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2974/this-is-wirral-economy-business-and-skills-ig-added-19-12-19-final.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3518/jsna-cyp-pop-demo-2021-final-accchkd.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3518/jsna-cyp-pop-demo-2021-final-accchkd.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3479/final-phar_2021-22_final-30_9_21.pdf


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 21 of 69 

Transport provides access to jobs, education, services, and recreational activities. There are 
clear links between transport and social exclusion. According to the 2011 Census 33, 28% of 
Wirral households had no access to a car; this differs across the Borough with as many as 54.9% 
of households in Birkenhead & Tranmere ward not having access to a car compared to just 10% 
of households in Heswall as shown in map 6. 
 
Map 6: Percentage of households with no car with library locations 2011 

 
Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 

Wirral’s demographic need: key messages 

• Wirral has a population of 324,336 as of 2020, with a higher proportion of older people and 
a lower proportion of working age people compared to England 

• The population is projected to increase by 1.6% overall by 2039 to 328,500 

• The population of children and young people is projected to decrease by 7.2% (57,200 in 
2018 to 52,900 in 2038) 

• The number of residents aged over 65 years is expected to increase by around 32% by 
2028 (69,700 in 2018 to 92,300 in 2038) 

• Birkenhead & Tranmere ward has the lowest life expectancy at birth for males (72.8), 
whilst Greasby, Frankby & Irby has the highest (83.5). For females, Rock Ferry has the 
lowest life expectancy (76.5) whilst Wallasey has the highest (87.7) 

• 110,000 people, or just over 35% of Wirral’s population, are living in the top 20% deprived 
areas in England 

• 36.6% of the working age population in Birkenhead & Tranmere compared to 6.0% in 
Heswall claim working age benefit 

• Bidston & St James, Birkenhead & Tranmere, Rock Ferry and Seacombe wards account 
for 41% of children living in low-income families 

• 28% of Wirral households had no access to a car 
  

 
 
33 2011 Census 

 Page 401

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/census_2011


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 22 of 69 

Demographic need relating to Universal Library offers 
 
Taking the four overarching Universal Library Offers, as shown previously, and using 
demographic indicators that can be mapped, these key areas can be assessed. The four 
Universal Library offers underpin the strategic priorities of the draft Library Service strategy for 
the next 5 years and by comparing local need to the Offers, future library service delivery can be 
informed by this data. The Offers do have some interconnection and should be considered 
holistically. 
 

Reading 

A lack of literacy skills holds a person back at every stage of their life and supporting children and 
adults to develop reading skills for school, leisure and work is critical34. Research suggests that 
children and adults who read for pleasure are healthier, happier, and more confident than those 
who do not35. Examining key demographic indicators, that can be linked to literacy, can suggest 
where local need is greatest. 
 
Map 7 shows the proportion of pupils achieving their expected level in all Early Learning goals at 
the Early Years Foundation stage (EYFS). The level of progress children should be predicted to 
have attained at the end of Reception and the EYFS is defined by seventeen Early Learning 
Goals, within the goals are several literacy outcomes. 
 
Map 7: Percentage of pupils achieving their expected level in all 17 Early Learning Goals with 
library locations 2013/14 

Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 
Map 7 shows that pupils not achieving their expected level clusters around the east of the Wirral, 
the M53 corridor and the northern edges of the Wirral coastline, stretching from New Brighton to 
West Kirby. Areas with the highest percentage of pupils achieving expected goals include 
Clatterbridge, Heswall and West Kirby & Thurstaston wards, with small variations within the ward. 
Bidston & St James, Birkenhead & Tranmere and Rock Ferry wards have the lowest 
achievement of expected goals, all showing levels of under 50%, compared to England at 58%. 
 

 
 
34 What is literacy? | National Literacy Trust 
35 Libraries Deliver: Ambition for Public Libraries in England 2016 to 2021 Page 402

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/
https://literacytrust.org.uk/information/what-is-literacy/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-libraries-in-england-2016-to-2021/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-libraries-in-england-2016-to-2021


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 23 of 69 

The headline Wirral schools Key Stage 4 attainment 8 score is above the national and regional 
averages36. As map 8 below suggests, the educational attainment level of pupils varies 
significantly across the Borough, with a higher proportion of key stage 4 children in schools in the 
south and west of Wirral achieving the attainment 8 measure compared to those children in the 
less affluent north and east ward areas. 
 

Map 8: Educational Attainment – attainment score 8 with library locations 2017 

Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 
Wirral also has a relatively low rate of young people Not in Employment, Education or Training 
(NEET) compared to England37. There are approximately 12,800 people of working age in Wirral 
with no qualifications, or 6.6% of the working age population according to the ONS Annual 
Population Survey of 2020 as shown in table 3. This is slightly higher than the England average 
of 6.2% of the working population who have no qualifications, but lower than the North-West 
figure of 7.5%. 
 
Table 3: Level of qualification in Wirral, North-West and England in 2020 for adults 

Qualification 
Level 

Wirral North West (%) England (%) 

Number % 
 

NVQ4 and above 72300 37.5% 38.7% 42.8% 

NVQ3 and above 115600 59.9% 58.2% 61.2% 

NVQ2 and above 155700 80.7% 76.9% 78.0% 

NVQ1 and above 175000 90.8% 87.6% 87.9% 

Other qualification 5000 2.6% 4.9% 5.9% 

No qualification 12800 6.6% 7.5% 6.2% 

Source: NOMIS 202138 

 
The proportion of people with no qualification (as a percentage of all people aged 16+) is higher 
in the more deprived areas of Wirral as shown in map 9, with Bidston & St James (38.5%), Rock 
Ferry (31.6%), Birkenhead & Tranmere (30.8%) and Seacombe (30.9%) wards having the 
highest levels of people with no qualifications whilst Heswall (12.6%) and Hoylake & Meols 
(14.8%) wards show the lowest proportion of people with no qualifications, according to the 2011 
Census. 

 
 
36 This is Wirral (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
37 JSNA: Children & Young People Population & Demographics (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
38 JSNA: Children & Young People Population & Demographics (wirralintelligenceservice.org) Page 403

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2974/this-is-wirral-economy-business-and-skills-ig-added-19-12-19-final.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3518/jsna-cyp-pop-demo-2021-final-accchkd.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3518/jsna-cyp-pop-demo-2021-final-accchkd.pdf


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 24 of 69 

Map 9: People with no qualifications with library locations 2011 

Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 

Information and Digital 

Information literacy has relevance for everyday life, citizenship, health, education and the 
workplace and libraries have a key role to play in supporting individuals to access accurate and 
unbiased information that can inform life choices and support economic development through 
employment and business advice. Individuals also require skills and confidence to support 
learning. Libraries can be seen to provide a safe trusted space in which to learn. 
 
As individuals increasingly use digital devices and the internet, not all individuals will be able to 
go online. Some may lack the skills, confidence and motivation, whilst others may experience 
data poverty. Libraries can break down some of these barriers to increase digital inclusion, by 
increasing awareness and enabling users to have the skills and motivation to confidently go 
online and unlock opportunities and provide free or reduced cost data. 
 
The Digital Exclusion Index (DERI) explores the risk of digital exclusion at a localised geographic 
level. The score is based on components such as age, broadband access, and deprivation. 
Wirral has a higher score than the national average, suggesting more of the population are at risk 
of digital exclusion than the rest of England. Map 10 suggests the risk is higher to the east of the 
Borough stretching out towards the M53 areas of Moreton and Woodchurch, with Bidston & St 
James, Birkenhead & Tranmere, Rock Ferry and Rock Ferry wards at greatest risk. 
  

Page 404

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 25 of 69 

Map 10: Digital Exclusion Index with library locations 2021 

 
Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 
The University of Liverpool (2018) produced an Internet User Classification (IUC), which is a 
bespoke classification that describes how people interact with the Internet. The Passive and 
Uncommitted User39 and e-Withdrawn40 appear to be the two groups for whom internet access is 
least likely. Passive and Uncommitted Users classification is the 2nd most prevalent in Wirral 
(24% of the Wirral population) with the highest concentrations in Wallasey constituency 
compared to just 1 in 12 Wirral West constituencies. The largest majority of those classified as e-
Withdrawn reside in the Birkenhead area, with very few in Wirral South or Wirral West 
constituencies. Nationally, only 8.8% of people are classified as e-Withdrawn, but this figure is 
13.9% in Wirral, with Birkenhead constituency having 28.4% of its population classified as e-
Withdrawn, compared to just 2.3% in Wirral South41. 
 
Since 2010 business growth in Wirral has increased by 1,945 enterprises to 8705 as of 2017, 
employing around 150,200 people. Most businesses in Wirral (88.65%) were classified as micro 
enterprises42 (1-9 employees) with the second highest being small enterprises (10-49 employees) 
(9.53%). Business start-up levels in Wirral were increasing by 19 per 10,000 per population to a 
level of 47 as of 2017; despite this, levels were still behind the Northwest rate of 81. As of 2019 
around two-thirds of employers in England anticipated the requirement to develop the skills of 
their workforce in the coming year (64%)43. 
 

Culture and Creativity 

Community life, social connections and having opportunities to engage and participate in arts and 
culture can support health and wellbeing44. Libraries can reach audiences from all backgrounds 
and ages and provide a community based focal point for cultural and creative activities45, whilst 
also supporting the local cultural economy. The creative sector is recognised as the fastest 
growing sector in the Liverpool City region46. 
 

 
 
39 The Passive and Uncommitted Users group comprises individuals with limited or no interaction with the Internet. 
40 The e-Withdrawn Group is mainly characterised by individuals who are the least engaged with the Internet.  
41 Census 2021: Wirral Council Data Pack (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
42 This is Wirral (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
43 Employer Skills Survey 2019: Skills Needs (publishing.service.gov.uk) 
44 A guide to community-centered approaches for health and wellbeing 
45 The Outcomes | Arts Council England 
46 Leisure and Culture - Wirral Intelligence Service Page 405

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3407/census-data-pack-28-10-2020-final.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2974/this-is-wirral-economy-business-and-skills-ig-added-19-12-19-final.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/936489/ESS_2019_Skills_Needs_Report_Nov20.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/768979/A_guide_to_community-centred_approaches_for_health_and_wellbeing__full_report_.pdf
https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/outcomes-0
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/state-of-the-borough/leisure-and-culture/


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 26 of 69 

Arts Council England47 propounds that there is strong evidence that participation in the arts can 
contribute to community cohesion, reduce social exclusion and isolation and make communities 
feel safer and stronger. Evidence shows that engagement in structured arts and culture improved 
the cognitive abilities of children and young people, and that engagement in cultural activities 
also had a positive impact on specific health conditions including dementia, depression and 
Parkinson’s disease. 
 
The Community Needs Index48 was developed to identify areas experiencing poor community 
and civic infrastructure, relative isolation and low levels of participation in community life. A high 
score indicating that the area has high levels of need. The overall score for Wirral in 2019 
indicates a higher level of need compared to England (68 in England compared to 96 in Wirral), 
but also that there were significant variations within Wirral, for example scoring by ward varies 
from 122 in Bidston & St James to 41 in Clatterbridge as shown by the variation in shading on 
map 11. The data suggests that Moreton West & Saughall Massie, New Brighton, Rock Ferry 
and Seacombe wards experience the lowest levels of participation in community life and are 
areas of poorer community and civic infrastructure. 
 
Map 11: Community Need Index with library locations 2021 

Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 

Health and Wellbeing 

Libraries offer a wide range of health information, both online and through quality- assured 
reading lists dealing with more common health conditions49. Keeping people well and supporting 
people to manage their illness through accessible information, signposting to additional support 
and reading for wellness and self-care, promotes healthy living and self-management. Research 
from the Reading Agency50 has also found that the benefits of reading include, increased 
empathy, better relationships with others, reduced symptoms of depression and dementia, and 
improved well-being. It is also widely recognised that social connection improves physical health 
and psychological well-being. Libraries can support better health and wellbeing outcomes at a 
preventative and low-level intervention level by supporting people with relevant activities and 

 
 
47 Arts Council England 
48 Community Needs Index - measuring social and cultural factors - OCSI 
49 Libraries Deliver: Ambition for Public Libraries in England 2016 to 2021 
50 Reading Agency - Home | Reading Agency Page 406

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/
https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/
https://ocsi.uk/2019/10/21/community-needs-index-measuring-social-and-cultural-factors/#:~:text=What%20is%20the%20Community%20Needs%20Index%20%28CNI%29%3F%20The,to%20help%20policymakers%20target%20investment%20in%20social%20infrastructure.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-libraries-in-england-2016-to-2021/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-libraries-in-england-2016-to-2021#the-outcomes-libraries-deliver-for-their-communities
https://readingagency.org.uk/


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 27 of 69 

events, reading material, healthy lifestyle promotion, information signposting and health literacy. 
Representative indicators have been chosen below to give a snapshot of local need. 
 
People in Wirral spend just three-quarters of their life in good health (77.6% for men and 
women)51. Overall, 22% of the population reported that their day-to-day activities were limited in 
some way by an illness or disability in the 2011 Census52 but this hides large variations by age 
(from just 7% in those aged <35 to 83% of those aged 85+) 
 
According to Wirral’s compendium of statistics, 202153, five issues in GP surgeries contribute to 
over 50% of the GP disease register prevalence rates, these are: 

• Hypertension (High blood pressure) (16.4%) 

• Depression (18.1%) 

• Asthma (7.6%) 

• Diabetes Mellitus (7.4%) 

• Chronic Kidney Disease (5.1%) 
 
Wirral also has an ageing population. Map 12 shows a prediction of the prevalence of loneliness 
amongst residents, living in households, aged 65 and over, using a model devised by Age UK. 
The darker shading shows the areas with a greater prevalence of loneliness amongst those aged 
65 and over. There is a propensity towards the east of the Wirral (Bidston & St James, 
Birkenhead & Tranmere, Rock Ferry and Seacombe wards) stretching out along the top arc of 
the M53. 
 
Map 12: Probability of loneliness for those aged 65+ with library locations 2011 

Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 

Dementia is a growing challenge nationally and locally, with over 7000 people estimated to be 
diagnosed in Wirral by 2035. Reducing the risk of dementia, or delaying the onset, is influenced 
by a wide range of lifestyle factors, including the establishment and maintenance of a healthy 
lifestyle54. 

 
 
51 Life expectancy in Wirral 2017-19 (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
52 This is Wirral (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
53 Wirral Compendium of Statistics 2021 (wirralintelligenceservice.org) 
54 Wirral Dementia Strategy Page 407

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3384/life-expectancy-update-2017-19-final-accchkd.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2969/this-is-wirral-population-ig-added-19-12-19-final.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3458/wirral-compendium-of-statistics-2021-final-25-08-21-achkd.pdf
https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/media/6905/wirral-dementia-strategy-2019-2022-final-v2.pdf


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 28 of 69 

 
Poor mental health affects communities differently across Wirral, with referrals to mental health 
services three times higher in areas of deprivation than more affluent areas. The prevalence of 
depression is much higher in Wirral than England, with 18% of adults compared to 11% nationally 
according to GP records55.  
 
Map 13 shows that those adults of working age, receiving incapacity benefit and employment and 
support allowance (IB/ESA) for mental health, live predominately to the east of the Borough 
stretching out to the north and central areas of Wirral. Wirral has a higher percentage (3.6% 
equating to 6903 people) people receiving IB/ESA than the national average (2.1%) as of 2021. 
Wards showing the highest numbers of claimants are Birkenhead & Tranmere (818), Bidston & St 
James (506), Rock Ferry (561) and Seacombe (579), compared to Heswall (73) and Greasby, 
Frankby and Irby (95) wards. 
 
Map 13: People with mental health issues receiving IB/ESA with library locations 2021 

 
Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 

Health Education England56 states “there is a crisis in adult literacy that directly impacts on 

people’s health. In the UK 7.1 million adults read and write at or below the level of a nine-year-old 

and, critically, 43% of adults do not understand written health information.”57 

 

Demographic need relating to the Universal Offers key messages 

• Bidston & St James, Birkenhead & Tranmere and Rock Ferry wards have the lowest 
achievement of expected Early Learning goals 

• A higher proportion of key stage 4 children in schools in the south and west Wirral achieve 
the attainment 8 measure compared to those children in the less affluent north and east 
ward areas 

• In 2020, 6.6% of the working age population in Wirral had no qualifications 

 
 
55 Annual report of the Director of Public Health for Wirrral 2020-2021 
56 Improving health literacy | Health Education England (hee.nhs.uk) 
57 Adult literacy | National Literacy Trust Page 408

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3479/final-phar_2021-22_final-30_9_21.pdf
https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/knowledge-library-services/improving-health-literacy
https://literacytrust.org.uk/parents-and-families/adult-literacy/


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 29 of 69 

• Heswall (12.6%) and Hoylake & Meols (14.8%) wards show the lowest proportion of 
people with no qualifications, whilst Bidston & St James (38.5%), Rock Ferry (31.6%) have 
the highest proportion 

• Bidston & St James, Birkenhead & Tranmere, Rock Ferry and Seacombe wards are at 
greatest risk of digital exclusion when using the Digital Exclusion Index (DERI) Birkenhead 
constituency has 28.4% of its population classified as e-Withdrawn, compared to just 2.3% 
in Wirral South 

• Most businesses in Wirral (88.65%) were classified as micro enterprises (1-9 employees) 
with the second highest being small enterprises (10-49 employees) (9.53%) as of 2017 

• Wirral (96) scores a higher level of need than England (68) in relation to the Community 
Need Index 

• Moreton West & Saughall Massie, New Brighton, Rock Ferry and Seacombe wards 
experience the lowest levels of participation in community life and are areas of poorer 
community and civic infrastructure with respect to the Community Need Index 

• Overall, 22% of the population reported that their day-to-day activities were limited in some 
way by an illness or disability in the 2011 Census, but this hides large variations by age 
(from just 7% in those aged <35 to 83% of those aged 85+) 

• Over 7000 people in Wirral are estimated to be diagnosed with dementia by 2035 

• The prevalence of depression is much higher in Wirral than England, with 18% of adults 
compared to 11% nationally according to GP records 

• Wirral has a higher percentage (3.6% equating to 6903 people) of people receiving IB/ESA 
than the national average (2.1%) as of 2021. Wards showing the highest numbers of 
claimants are Birkenhead & Tranmere (818) and Bidston & St James (506) 

• Nationally, 43% of adults do not understand written health information 
 
 
Wirral Libraries data and performance comparators (CIPFA) 
 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic library data for April 2019 to March 2020 (2019/20)58 and CIPFA 
(Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) data 2019-202059 will be used for this 
assessment, unless stated otherwise. Further details of library specific data can be found in 
appendices 2 to 7. 
 
Wirral Libraries has 24 libraries, with map 14 showing the distribution of sites across the 
Borough. When a one-mile radius is shown around each library site, the map suggests a cluster 
of libraries, within one mile of each other, located in the central and east areas of Wirral. 
 
Using CIPFA benchmarking data shows the number of libraries per 100,000 population for Wirral 
(7), is above the national and group comparator average (5)60. 
  

 
 
58 Bebington Central Library closed for approximately 3 months from mid December 2109 to March 2020 and no performance data is available for 
New Ferry and Ridgeway libraries 
59 Public libraries comparative profiles | CIPFA 
60 Bury, Calderdale, Darlington, Durham. North Tyneside, Rotherham, Sefton, Southend-on-Sea, Torbay Page 409

https://dev.cipfa.org/services/comparative-profiles/public-libraries


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 30 of 69 

Map 14: Location of libraries with a 1-mile radius around each site 

 
Source: © Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100019803 

Note: Library locations shown in blue 

 
The net expenditure per 1000 population for libraries is significantly higher for Wirral (£14935) 
than national (£11040) and group comparators (£11913) 61, when examining CIPFA 
benchmarking data. 
 
Library usage is primarily measured by physical visits (footfall) and item loans. Figure 3 below 
shows the total footfall for Wirral Libraries until 2019/20, with footfall decreasing by 376,557 visits 
over the five-year period, representing a decrease of 28.7% 
  

 
 
61 Public libraries comparative profiles | CIPFA Page 410

https://dev.cipfa.org/services/comparative-profiles/public-libraries


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 31 of 69 

Figure 3: Total footfall (physical visits) by year, Wirral Libraries 2015/16 to 2019/20 

 
Source: Door counters at library sites (inhouse recording) 

 
Using CIPFA benchmarking data the number of visits per annum at the busiest service point 
(West Kirby) were significantly below the average visits per annum at the busiest service point 
nationally, with the national average being 341,077 compared to 146,731 at West Kirby Library 
(comparator group 231,748). Physical visits per 1000 population see Wirral (2881) having a lower 
number of visits than national (3428) and group comparators (2941). 
 
Map 15 below shows the number of library users per 1000 population, with regards to loan 
transactions, which generally contrasts to the map showing levels of deprivation (map 4), with 
West Kirby & Thurstaston and Hoylake & Meols wards having the highest number of users per 
1000 population, with Claughton and Bidston & St James wards have the lowest number. 
 
Map 15: Library users per 1000 population, Wirral Libraries 2017/18 to 2019/20 

 
Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 

1309518
1249739

1127705
1071255

932961

0

200000

400000

600000

800000

1000000

1200000

1400000

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Total footfall per year

Page 411

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 32 of 69 

Wirral Libraries has a slightly above average number of active borrowers62 per 1000 population 
(116), compared to the national comparator (111), with the highest number of active borrowers 
per site found at the four central libraries, West Kirby (4826), Wallasey Central (4740), Bebington 
(4088) and Birkenhead (3532). The smallest numbers of active borrowers per site, (appendix 2), 
are shown to be at Leasowe (221), Woodchurch (243), Beechwood (260) and St James (356) 
libraries. 
 
Figure 4: Number of active borrowers, Wirral Libraries 2012/13 to 2020/21 

Source: Talis Alto Library Management System 

 
The number of active borrowers has decreased in the last decade as seen in figure 4, with a 
significant decline in 2020/21, when the service provision was heavily impacted by the COVID-19 
pandemic. Since 2012 there has been an 87.9% decline in the number of active borrowers. If 
2012-20 is examined (removal of COVID-19 pandemic period), this shows a 47.3% decline in 
active borrowers. 
 
It can also be seen that the percentage of Wirral’s population63 that are active borrowers has 
declined over the last decade (2011-18) (figure 5), however the rate of decline has slowed 
towards the end of the period, with approximately 13.8% of the population loaning an item in 
2018/19. 
  

 
 
62 An active borrower is defined as someone who has borrowed at least one item from the library during the year 
63 Public libraries comparative profiles | CIPFA 

50134
47436

36065 35288
32172

30039
28142

26375

6045

0

10000

20000

30000

40000

50000

60000

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

No. of Active Borrowers

Page 412

https://dev.cipfa.org/services/comparative-profiles/public-libraries


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 33 of 69 

Figure 5: Active borrowers as a percentage of Wirral population, Wirral Libraries 2011/12 to 
2018/19 

 
Source: CIPFAstats comparative profile- Public Libraries Public libraries comparative profiles | CIPFA 

 

Breaking down active borrowers by age provides further insight into the age profile of those 
individuals using the library service to loan items. Figure 6 provides a snapshot and shows that 
the largest group of active borrowers is 60+ years old (36.6%), closely followed by 0–12 (32.4%), 
with the least number of borrowers in the 18-24 age category (1.4%). Children (0-12) and over 
60s make up almost 70% of active borrowers.  
 
Active borrower by age per site can be found in appendix 3. Bebington Central (1553), Wallasey 
Central (1504), West Kirby (1376) and Birkenhead Central (1045) libraries have the highest 
number of 0-12 active borrowers. West Kirby (1899), Wallasey Central (1559), Bebington Central 
(1338) and Heswall (1241) libraries have the highest number of over 60s as active borrowers. 
Age profile, as a percentage of active borrowers per site, does vary with some libraries having 
over 47% of their active borrowers aged 60+ (Heswall (47.6%) and Greasby (47.1%)), whilst 
Beechwood (48.8%) and Woodchurch (46.1%) libraries have over 46% of their active borrowers 
aged 0-12. 
  

17.5
16.2

22
20.5

16.9
15.6

14.3 13.8

0

5

10

15

20

25

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19%
 o

f 
W

ir
ra

l P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 A
ct

iv
e 

B
o

rr
o

w
er

s

Financial Year

Active Borrowers as % of Wirral Population

Page 413

https://dev.cipfa.org/services/comparative-profiles/public-libraries


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 34 of 69 

Figure 6: Age profile of active borrowers 2019-20, Wirral Libraries 

Source: Talis Alto Library Management System  

 

Figure 7 below shows that total loan transactions64 have steadily declined up until (March) 2020, 
with the incremental decline decreasing towards the latter end of the decade. Between 2012 and 
2020 there has been a 52.7% decline in the number of loan transactions. If the 2020/21 data set 
is incorporated, the period 2012 to 2021 has seen a 78.0% decline in total loan transactions.  
 

Figure 7: Total loan transactions, Wirral Libraries, 2012/13 to 2020/2021 

 
Source: Talis Alto Library Management System  

 
Appendix 5 shows number of items issued/renewals per site and issue/renewals per site broken 
down to adult and young person items. Leasowe (2637) and Beechwood (3772) libraries having 

 
 
64 Total loan transactions exclude e-lending issues and toy library item issues/renewals 

1,657,121

1,470,528

1,256,538

1,071,226
974,152

887,598
826,836 782,386

364,503

0

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1,200,000

1,400,000

1,600,000

1,800,000

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
Lo

an
 r

an
sa

ct
io

n
s

Financial Year

Total Loan Transactions

0 to 4
10%

5 to 12
22%

13 to 17
2%

18-24
1%

25-60
28%

60+
37%

Age Profile of Active Borrowers 2019/20

0 to 4

5 to 12

13 to 17

18-24

25-60

60+

Page 414



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 35 of 69 

the lowest number of issues/renewals per site, whilst Wallasey Central (127,955) and West Kirby 
(107,722) libraries have the highest. Wallasey Central (94,203) and West Kirby (68,366) libraries 
have the highest number of adult item issues/renewals, whilst West Kirby (39,356) and Bebington 
Central (35,390) libraries have the highest young person item issues/renewals. 
 
Loan transactions per 1000 population, as suggested in map 16, varies across the Borough, with 
a higher concentration of activity to west, north and south Wirral, with the highest rates seen in 
West Kirby & Thurstaston, Greasby, Frankby & Irby and Hoylake & Meols wards, and the lowest 
in Bidston & St James and Claughton wards. 
 

Map 16: Library loans per 1000 population, Wirral Libraries 2017/18 to 2019/20 

 
Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 

Total book issues65 at 2354 per 1000 population are slightly lower than the national comparator 
(2482), but higher when compared against Wirral’s CIPFA comparator group (2199). 
 

An online (virtual) library is available to all library members, for the loan of e-books and e-audio. 
As can be illustrated in figure 8, e-lending has increased over the decade, with a sharp increase 
in loans for 2020/21 when service points were closed due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Since 
2012 there has been a 2101% increase in the number of e-lending issues. 
  

 
 
65 This excludes items not classed as a book. Defined by CIPFA. Page 415

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 36 of 69 

Figure 8: Total annual e-lending issues, Wirral Libraries 2012/13 to 2020/21

 
Source: Borrowbox and Overdrive e-lending providers 

 

It should be noted that e-lending transactions almost mirrors physical loan transactions by area. 
These are focussed to the west, north and south Wirral areas (map 17), with lower issues in 
areas of deprivation, with the lowest loan rate in the Bidston & St James and Seacombe wards 
and the highest in Greasby, Frankby & Irby and Heswall wards. E-book usage is 3 times lower in 
more deprived areas, compared to the least deprived areas. 
 

Map 17: Library e-book loans per 1000 population, Wirral Libraries 2017/18 to 2019/20 

  
Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 

PC (public computer) usage in Wirral Libraries is shown in map 18, with the highest usage per 
1000 population in Birkenhead & Tranmere and Rock Ferry wards and the lowest in Heswall and 
Clatterbridge wards. The four central libraries (Bebington, Birkenhead, Wallasey and West Kirby) 
see the highest PC usage66, with Birkenhead Central having the highest usage (15496), with 
Moreton (11,136) and Rock Ferry (11,062) libraries also showing high usage figures (appendix 

 
 
66 Data for 2018/19 

3,711

20,432
25,634

30,067 30,926
36,523

42,111
47,156

81,714

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
e

-L
en

d
in

g 
Is

su
es

Financial Year

Total Annual e-Lending Issues 

Page 416

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 37 of 69 

6). Woodchurch (543) and Higher Bebington (747) libraries have the lowest number of logins. PC 
usage is more than double in areas of deprivation compared to the least deprived areas.  
 
Map 18: Library PC usage per 1000 population, Wirral Libraries 2017/18 to 2019/2020 

 
Source: Local Insight (communityinsight.org) 

Note: Library locations shown in pink 

 

Wi-Fi usage67 at library sites follows a similar trend as PC usage, with a concentration at the four 
central libraries (Bebington, Birkenhead, Wallasey and West Kirby), Moreton (1330) and Rock 
Ferry (1747) libraries. Higher Bebington (116) and Woodchurch (150) libraries see the lowest Wi-
Fi usage per site (appendix 7) 
 
The number of activities per site varies greatly across the service provision (appendix 1 and 4), 
with Wallasey Central (82) and West Kirby (79) libraries offering the highest number of activities 
that occur at least once a month. Higher Bebington (1), Woodchurch (4), Leasowe (5) and 
Heswall (6) libraries have the lowest number of activities occurring at least once a month. The 
purpose and audience of the activities also varies across sites, for example more work clubs are 
held in areas of deprivation than less deprived areas and there is a concentration of reading 
groups at the four central libraries Also, indicative data shows that activities in areas of 
deprivation were predominately run by established partner organisations, whilst those in more 
affluent areas were run by established groups, ‘Friends of’, volunteer groups and individuals. 
 
The Home Reader service predominately provides a service to older individuals in their home or 
sheltered/residential settings, with over 300 users in the year 2019/20, issuing over 14000 items. 
Map 19 shows the location of users by postcode, with a higher number of users located to the 
east of Wirral. The number of Home Reader users per 1000 population is comparable to other 
local authorities as defined by CIPFA. 
  

 
 
67 Data for 2018/19 Page 417

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 38 of 69 

Map 19: Housebound users by membership postcode, Wirral Libraries, 2019/20 

 
Source: © Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100019803 

Note: Housebound user shown in yellow 

 

Benchmarking data from CIPFA shows Wirral Libraries has a significantly lower number of 
volunteers (180) supporting the service than the national average (319) in 2019/20. Volunteers 
currently support the service in a number of roles including ‘Library Express’, IT, Reference, 
Home Reader and ‘Friends of’ events. 
 

Wirral Libraries data key messages 

• The number of libraries per 100,000 population for Wirral (7), is above the national 
average (5) and group comparator average (5) 

• The net expenditure (£14935) per 1000 population for Wirral is significantly higher than 
national (£11040) and group comparators (£11913) 

• Footfall decreased by 376,557 visits over a five-year period (2015-2020), representing a 
decrease of 28.7% 

• Since 2012 there has been an 87.9% decline in the number of active borrowers 

• The largest group of active borrowers is 60+ (36.6%), followed by 0–12 (32.4%), with the 
least number of active borrowers in the 18-24 age category (1.4%), as of 2020 

• Between 2012 and 2020 there has been a 52.7% decline in the number of loan 
transactions 

• Bebington (4088), Birkenhead (3532), Wallasey Central (4740) and West Kirby (4826) 
libraries have the highest number of active borrowers, whilst Leasowe (221), Woodchurch 
(243), Beechwood (311) and St James (356) libraries have the lowest number as of 2020 

• Leasowe (2637) and Beechwood (3772) libraries have the lowest number of 
issues/renewals per site, whilst Wallasey Central (127,955) and West Kirby (107,722) 
libraries have the highest number as of 2020 

• Since 2012 there has been a 2101% increase in the number of e-lending issues 

Page 418



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 39 of 69 

• E-book usage is 3 times lower in more deprived areas, compared to the least deprived 
areas of Wirral 

• The four central libraries (Bebington, Birkenhead, Wallasey and West Kirby), plus Moreton 
and Rock Ferry libraries have the highest number of PC and Wi-Fi logins of all Wirral 
Libraries as of 2019 

• Wallasey Central and West Kirby libraries offers the highest number of activities and 
events that occur at least once a month in 2019. Higher Bebington, Woodchurch, Leasowe 
and Heswall have the least number of activities and events occurring at least once a 
month 
  

Page 419



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 40 of 69 

Local, Community and Stakeholder views 

 

Public consultation exercise (June-September 2021) 
 

A consultation exercise was completed from 28 June to 20 September 2021, utilising a range of 
engagement methods developed to collect feedback through different routes and to maximise the 
engagement approach to enable access to those who wanted to take part. A report on the public 
consultation is available as a separate document. 
 
The consultation questionnaire was developed to enable participants to share their views about 
Wirral Libraries and a draft Library Strategy. It focussed on several different themes and 
information was requested about current library provision to find out which facilities and services 
worked for residents, and which did not. Participants were also asked what would improve the 
service, how they valued the service and how service delivery could be supported in the future. 
 
The consultation was primarily carried out using Wirral Council’s ‘Have Your Say’ consultation 
portal at www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk, with key documents published on the webpage for 
download. Paper copies were also made available. An ideas board, where participants could 
submit their own ideas and interact with other people’s ideas by ‘liking’ and commenting on them 
was hosted on the consultation portal. In addition, a series of events and key stakeholder 
sessions were offered and held, including sessions in the community, schools, with Council staff 
and at specific stakeholder meetings. 
 
Whilst the consultation is a collection of viewpoints and feedback about the service rather than an 
assessment of need, it is nevertheless relevant to the needs assessment as it demonstrates what 
participants felt was most important about the service provision and how this could possibly be 
supported in the future. 
 
A total of 1562 survey responses were received with an additional 14 community engagement 
sessions and specific stakeholder group discussions. Of the survey responses, 89.9% of the 
respondents were library members and the most represented areas were Bebington and 
Greasby, Frankby and Irby areas of Wirral (each 11.1%). Clatterbridge and Claughton were the 
least represented (0.9%).  
 
Key findings from the consultation highlighted that the most common frequency to visit the library 
was once a month, followed by once a week and the most popular mode of travel to the library 
was foot (65.4%), followed by walking (43.9%). 
 
The most prevalent reason to visit the library was to borrow and return books (89.9%), with 
leisure and relaxation, event attendance and photocopier/printer use the next most prevalent 
reason to visit a library. Service offers, that respondents would like to see within the library 
service provision was a café (51.1%), followed by events for adults (47.7%) such as talks or 
author events, and organised groups (37.5%), event/exhibition space (36.6%) and creative 
spaces (34.2%).  
 
For those respondents who stated they do not use a library, most provided an “other” reason, 
which was predominately that their local library was closed due to COVID-19 restrictions. 
Additional reasons for not accessing the service were equally proportioned between: 

• I am too busy (18.9%) 

• I use another book service (18.9%) 

• Inconvenient opening hours (18.9%) 

 Page 420

http://www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 41 of 69 

Services that would support respondents who do not currently use the library service were café 
facilities (54.5%), followed by events for adults (36.4%). 
 
The top services respondents would like to access via the online library were a wider variety of 
book genres (53.9%) and an increase in the number of titles available, with the most desired 
service for future online library provision being able to access to archive information (38.4%). 
 
With regards to user satisfaction statements about the library service: 

• The majority of respondents (73.2%) felt positively about the service provided by Wirral 
Libraries and  

• Most respondents either strongly agree (50.5%) or agree (37.7%) that the library staff are 
helpful and knowledgeable 

• Most respondents either strongly agree (59.1%) or agree (31.0%) that they feel welcomed 
and safe at the library  

• Most respondents either strongly agree (56.4%) or agree (34.0%) that they find the library 
service useful  

• Most respondents either agree (32.2%) or strongly agree (24.7%) that the library opening 
hours are helpful. 

• Most respondents (38.8%), either agree nor agree that they feel confident accessing the 
online library 

 
As previous stated the draft Wirral Libraries Strategy has four key priorities and respondents 
were asked to rank in order of importance. These priorities are Reading, Information and Digital, 
Culture and Creativity, Health and Wellbeing. 
 
Figure 9: Average rank of library service offer (4 thematic priorities) Wirral Libraries Consultation 

Survey, 2021 

 
Source: Wirral Intelligence Service 

 

As figure 9 shows “Reading” is seen as the key priority respondents deem as the most 
important, with Health and Wellbeing ranked as the most important by the fewest people, 
however the figure illustrates that respondents ranked the remaining three priorities (excluding 
Reading) as almost equally important when an average rank was calculated. 
 Page 421



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 42 of 69 

Within the consultation document four different types of libraries were proposed. A 
Neighbourhood Library (48.8%) was felt to be the most suitable for the library they use the most, 
with the next most suitable option being a Central library (28.6%). A Community Managed (4.7%) 
was deemed the least suitable. Respondents predominately thought that community groups 
(58.9%) and volunteers (56.1%) could support the Council to deliver the library service. However, 
when respondents were asked would they like to be involved in the running of the service, 70.6% 
said ‘no’.  
 
Finally, the consultation questionnaire asked for further comments and ideas, these have been 
grouped into themes, with the top 4 highlighted below: 

• Libraries 
Many comments focused on the request that libraries reopen or be kept open. As the 
consultation was completed during a period when service delivery was impacted by 
COVID-19, this feedback is unsurprising as pre-COVID-19 service delivery had not 
recommenced. 

 

• Facilities and Events 
In terms of facilities, respondent feedback focussed on access to computers and 
improving the access to printing, computers and reference resources. As previous 
highlighted café facilities were a common theme, with space for study and group activities 
also a service outcome. 

 

• Events 
Events currently held (pre-March 2020) and events they would like to see in the future 
were the main areas of feedback. Events for children and adults were a common response 
with the request that provision be increased. 

 

• Importance of Libraries 
Respondents felt that libraries were an essential service and the importance to 
themselves, and the community was key, with its linkage to encourage reading and 
literacy being a factor. 
 

71 contributors submitted or commented on 66 ideas to the ideas board tool. The top three 
common themes were: 

• Events- events wanted at libraries 

• Facilities- café facilities, agile working spaces, improved computer access and support 

• Staffing- use some volunteers, paid staff needed 
 
Community and key stakeholder events were carried out and from event discussions key themes 
raised across the events were identified and summarised. Themes that were mentioned several 
times at the community events included the importance of libraries, and that they were seen as 
an essential service and important community hubs. There was a desire for them to re-open 
following COVID-19 closures and they were seen as important for social interactions, with 
services run from the libraries, including events for adults and children and One Stop Shop 
provision, being valued and that more could be provided. Feedback also noted that library 
buildings were outdated and had a poor appearance, with more funding required for the service. 
Space utilisation within libraries was raised and it was noted that improved communication with 
communities to promote the offer would be beneficial, with an improved book and computer offer. 
 
From engagement with key stakeholders, public accessibility of libraries was important and public 
transport was important to users with disabilities. Home Reader was a valued service and there 
was potential for health partners in Wirral to link residents they worked with to the library service, 

Page 422



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 43 of 69 

with a focus on supporting their health and wellbeing and to improve people’s use of digital 
technology. 
 
Under 16s feedback was reported back separately within the report and there were specific 
engagement sessions with young people. Although their feedback generally mirrored key 
findings, it was cited that the most common reason for not using a library was they did not live 
close enough to a library. A café and creative space were the most popular services under 16s 
would like to use in the library, whilst under 16s preferred a Central Library option. Under 16s 
thought that volunteers (46.2%) could support the Council, whilst 52.6% of respondents said they 
would not like to be involved with the running of the library. Many under 16s were unaware of the 
online library offer at the specific engagement sessions and attendees noted book collections 
could have greater relevance and diversity  
 
Intelligence from commissioned engagement activity in Wirral (2017) 
 

Significant engagement activity was carried out to inform the needs analysis provided by Shared 
Intelligence68 and BWB69 in 2017, with both agencies capturing and summarising the key 
messages that they heard during this process. Shared Intelligence’s report focused on the 
development of a sustainable Wirral Libraries model, whilst BWB’s project examined the delivery 
of an integrated portfolio that better met local needs. 
 
Stakeholder engagement activity carried out by Shared Intelligence identified the following 
themes: 

• Stakeholders and partners value the service and are keen to support a more needs-
focussed library service 

• There are many examples of good practice and a capacity to change  

• The library service reaches a large number of people, but is reactive rather than needs 
focussed 

• Although libraries contribute to the (then) Council Pledges this needs to be planned and 
measured 

• A lower-cost and more needs-focussed service seems impossible whilst also trying to 
sustain a network of 24 libraries 
 

Further stakeholder engagement activity was carried out where stakeholders were asked to 
indicate what was most important to them about these services. The approach taken resulted in 
the submission of over 2,200 individual comments through workshops with staff and external 
stakeholders, and through an on-line survey. The following priorities were identified: 

• That it’s open and accessible to all as a community asset 

• That it’s affordable to use 

• That the services on offer are of good quality 

• That it provides the services/products that you want to use 
 
The following areas with specific relevance to the library service were also identified: 
 

 
 
68 Shared Intelligence (2017) “Achieving a sustainable library service for Wirral” Available at: 
http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/documents/s50041586/Shared%20Intelligence%20-%20Sustainable%20Librariy%20:Service.pdf  
69 BWB (2017) “Re-imaging libraries, leisure, parks and cultural services Part 1” Available at: 
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/Leisure%20parks%20and%20events/Leisure%20and%20Culture%20survey/BWB%20Phase%202
%20Report%20Appendices%20Public.pdf  
BWB (2017) “Re-imaging libraries, leisure, parks and cultural services Part 2” Available at: 
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/Leisure%20parks%20and%20events/Leisure%20and%20Culture%20survey/BWB%20Phase%202
%20Report%20Public.pdf  Page 423

http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/documents/s50041586/Shared%20Intelligence%20-%20Sustainable%20Librariy%20:Service.pdf
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/Leisure%20parks%20and%20events/Leisure%20and%20Culture%20survey/BWB%20Phase%202%20Report%20Appendices%20Public.pdf
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/Leisure%20parks%20and%20events/Leisure%20and%20Culture%20survey/BWB%20Phase%202%20Report%20Appendices%20Public.pdf
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/Leisure%20parks%20and%20events/Leisure%20and%20Culture%20survey/BWB%20Phase%202%20Report%20Public.pdf
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/Leisure%20parks%20and%20events/Leisure%20and%20Culture%20survey/BWB%20Phase%202%20Report%20Public.pdf


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 44 of 69 

• Outcomes 

While many comments in the other themes implicitly include a view on outcomes, 
comments in this theme explicitly consider the impact that the services had on outcomes 
for individuals, groups and the wider community. This was often around health and 
wellbeing, education, social impacts and the contribution to the ‘community’ in Wirral. 
Comments often relate closely with accessibility to services e.g., job seekers using library 
resources, and operational improvement that would lead to better outcomes. 

 

• Volunteers 
While there was concern with over reliance on volunteers there was also suggestions that 
the public could become more involved with services either as volunteers or for ongoing 
dialog about how services should be run. Stakeholders called for more control, and even 
ownership, to be given to groups. 

 

• Accessibility  
In terms of issues at the time (2016), many people commented on opening times, 
inconsistencies, and cancellations. People felt that services should be open longer, 
particularly in the evenings, at weekends and on bank holidays when people want to 
access services. While these comments were predominantly from members of the public, 
staff also recognised the demand for change in this area.   

 

• Efficiency savings 
Many of these comments related to opportunities to share assets and reduce the number 
of assets to not only save money but to improve services. These comments came from 
both members of the public and staff, particularly in relation to library services. 

 

• Marketing  
From a communication point of view, comments often related to a lack of information 
available to the public. This often referred to a lack of marketing of both Council services 
and services and events offered within the community and by other providers. Many 
participants describe the role of the Council as a facilitator and platform to promote 
activities rather than delivery. This was particularly prevalent in relation to arts and culture 
where people were positive about the work done by groups outside of the Council. 

 
Further independent engagement activity was carried out with a focus group of randomly 
selected Wirral residents to develop an understanding of how the library service fitted in with their 
lives and met their needs at the time of consultation. The exercise delivered the following 
findings: 

• Library usage 
Libraries are held dear but were often not well used. The majority of participants were 
current library members, although around half did not use the library regularly. The most 
regular users tended to be older residents or those with small children, and the majority of 
members only used the book service or computer/printer services at the library. 

 

• Barriers to library use 
The key barriers to using the library service appeared to be linked to the restricted opening 
hours, the limited ranges of books available and the lack of awareness of wider services.  

 

• Strengths of local libraries 
The key strength of local libraries was the way they cater for young children and to some 
extent, older residents. Staff were also seen as a strength. 

 
Page 424



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 45 of 69 

• Weakness of local libraries 
Limited and erratic opening hours and the lack of focus on teens/young adults were seen 
as key weaknesses. It also appeared that libraries were not seen as sources of advice or 
support, but more of a place to independently find information. 

 

The ideal library was perceived to be a ‘local community hub for optimism’. Residents could see a 
lot of potential for libraries to become a more valuable community hub, focusing on increasing 
access to community activities and offering something for all ages and working closely with other 
local services. However, it was considered key that this only happened if it is not done at the 
expense of losing the core offer/essence of the library.  
 
Whilst residents appeared to be receptive to a potential new concept of the library and were open 
to libraries offering more to the community and working more closely with other organisations and 
services, they often held the view that libraries should not change ‘too much’ and still offer core 
services. 
 
The majority of residents consider books, research resources and access to computers/printers 
as core offers/essence of the library service and offers that should not be reduced (and if 
anything should be increased), but when asked how they like to read books/conduct research, 
the majority did not access the library and instead preferred to use online resources, buy cheap 
books and have access to computers/printers. 
 
Finally, a clear theme from the discussions around services available from the library was that 
whilst most or all of the focus group did not use them personally, they felt that it was important 
that they were retained for those who may benefit from them. 
 

Key messages from public engagement (2021) 

 

• the most prevalent reason to visit the library was to borrow and return books (89.9%) 

• service offers, that respondents would like to see was a café (51.1%), followed by events 
for adults (47.7%), and organised groups (37.5%), event/exhibition space (36.6%) and 
creative spaces (34.2%). 

• reasons for not using a library were (excluding COVID-19 reason) ‘I am too busy’ (18.9%), 
‘I use another book service’ (18.9%) and ‘Inconvenient opening hours ‘(18.9%) 

• respondents would like to access a wider variety of book genres (53.9%) via the online 
library 

• the most desired service for a future online library was access to archive information 
(38.4%) 

• the majority of respondents (73.2%) felt positively about the service provided by Wirral 
Libraries 

• reading is deemed as the most important of four identified priorities 

• Neighbourhood Library (48%) was deemed to be the most suitable type of library 
respondents use the most, whilst Community Managed (4.7%) was deemed the least 
suitable 

• respondents predominately thought that community groups (58%) and volunteers (56.1%) 
could support the Council service 

• respondents felt that libraries were an essential service 

• feedback noted that library buildings were outdated and had a poor appearance  

• space utilisation within libraries could be improved 

• improved communication with communities to promote the offer would be beneficial  
 

Page 425



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 46 of 69 

Key messages from commissioned engagement (2017) 

 

• stakeholders and partners value the service and are keen to support a more needs-
focussed library service 

• there are many examples of good practice and a capacity to change  

• the library service reaches a large number of people, but is reactive rather than needs 
focussed 

• although libraries contribute to the (then) Council Pledges this needs to be planned and 
measured 

• a lower-cost and more needs-focussed service seems impossible whilst also trying to 

sustain a network of 24 libraries 

• the library service can impact on outcomes such as health and wellbeing and employment 

• concern with over reliance of volunteers, contrasting with some stakeholders who called 

for more control 

• service hour inconsistency and should be open for longer 

• opportunities to share assets and reduce number of assets 

• lack of information available to the public including marketing 

  

Page 426



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 47 of 69 

What are we doing and why? 

 

Current activity and services                                                                                                        

 

Wirral Libraries has 24 libraries with digital access, a Home Reader service, and a range of of 
digital services and digital content accessible on the Council’s web pages and dedicated library 
social media channels. This service provision is supplemented with a full calendar of activities 
and events that align to the Libraries Connected Universal offers. Table 4 maps Wirral Libraries 
service offer70 to the Universal Offers and Wirral Plan thematic priorities. A detailed breakdown of 
activities can be found in appendix 171. 
 

Table 4: Universal Offers mapped to Wirral Plan priorities 

 
 
70 Thematically representative and not exhaustive 
71 Appendix 1 does not include one off events, programmes of work from externally funded projects, pre-school and class visits 

‘Libraries 
Connected 

Universal Offers 
Wirral Libraries service offer (March 2020) 

Wirral Council Plan 
thematic priority 

Reading 

• General and specialist book collections 

• Accessible stock in a range of formats 

• Home Reader service 

• Targeted literacy programmes 

• Adult learning support 

• Reading groups 

• Author and poet talks and events 

• Bounce and rhyme, storytimes 

• E-lending collection 

• Literary themed events 

• Bookstart book gifting 

• Dolly Parton Imagination Library gifting 

• Pre-school and class visits 

• Family learning sessions 

• Creative writing groups 

• Reference material (physical and digital) 

• Shared reading groups 

• Literature groups 
 

• Brighter 
Futures 

• Inclusive 
Economy 

• Safe and 
Pleasant 
Communities 

Information and 
Digital 

• Public PCs and printing 

• Wi-Fi 

• Digital support (staff and volunteer) 

• Adult learning courses 

• Code Clubs 

• E-lending collections 

• Reference collections (physical and 
digital) 

• Digitised collections 

• Employment clubs 

• Local History events 

• Information signposting 

• Business and Intellectual Property 
information and support 

• Family learning sessions 

• Brighter 
Futures 

• Inclusive 
Economy 

• Sustainable 
Environment 

Page 427



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 48 of 69 

 

  

• Employment advice 

• Genealogical and Local History support 

• Social media channels 
 

Cultural and 
Creativity 

• Art exhibitions and activities 

• Externally funded projects such as Arts 
Council England projects 

• Creative writing groups 

• Author and poet talks and events 

• Friends’ events and activities 

• Music events and youth music 
development programme 

• Storytelling/poetry performances 

• Creative events and activities 

• Craft activities for young people 

• Lego and games clubs 

• Code Club 

• Family learning sessions 

• Adult learning programme 

• Local history information and resources 

• Community event support 
 

• Inclusive 
Economy 

• Active and 
Health Lives 

• Safe and 
Pleasant 
Communities 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

• Reading Well and self-help collections 

• E-lending collections 

• Health and wellbeing books 

• Volunteering opportunities 

• Work experience placements 

• Health and Wellbeing marketplace 

• Reminiscence boxes and dementia 
friendly events 

• Tea and memories events 

• Signposting to services and information 

• Health walks 

• Family Connector service 

• Home Reader service 

• Wellbeing activities 

• Creativity events 

• Safe and welcoming community spaces 

• Public Health/NHS events 
 

• Active and 
Healthy Lives 

• Brighter 
Futures 

• Safe and 
Pleasant 
Communities 

Page 428



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 49 of 69 

Strategic priorities and measures for the future                                                                                                                                           

 

As previous stated Wirral Libraries currently provide a core library offer across the Borough, as 
well as an online (virtual) library and Home Reader service.  
 
Through consideration of library service best practice, national frameworks and engagement with 
users, volunteers, stakeholders and staff, a draft Library Strategy underpinned by the Universal 
Library Offers72, has been designed to ensure a modernised and sustainable library service 
which seeks to respond and align to the Wirral Council Plan 2021-2673. 
 
Appendix 9 shows the four strategic priorities contained within the draft Library Strategy and the 
objectives and actions that will be implemented on approval, with key measurables that the 
service aims to achieve. 

  

 
 
72 Universal Library Offers | Libraries Connected 
73 Wirral Plan 2021-26 Page 429

https://www.librariesconnected.org.uk/page/universal-library-offers
https://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/documents/s50080601/Appendix%201%20Wirral%20Plan%202021-26.pdf


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 50 of 69 

What is this telling us? 

 

Key issues and challenges  

 
The needs assessment shows that Wirral’s population has a higher proportion of older people 
and a lower proportion of working age people compared to England. The population is projected 
to increase, with the greatest increase in people over 65 years, with a projected decrease in 
children and young people. These two age groups currently represent the largest groups of active 
borrowers for Wirral Libraries. 
 
Those areas of greatest need, using demographic and socio-economic indicators, are generally 
to the north-east of the Borough and follow the northern arch of the M53, through to the centre of 
the Wirral, with small pockets of need located elsewhere. Bidston & St James, Birkenhead & 
Tranmere, Rock Ferry, Seacombe wards are consistently identified as areas of greatest need by 
indicators chosen within this needs assessment and wider evidence base. 
 
These areas (including Bidston & St James, Birkenhead & Tranmere, Rock Ferry and Seacombe 
wards) have been shown to have lower levels of literacy, skills and qualifications in comparison 
with the rest of the Borough. In addition, some of these areas, suffer from acute deprivation, with 
health and well-being issues also predominant. However, the west of Wirral, which is 
predominately not indicated as an area of deprivation, has a higher percentage of people aged 
65+, which presents a differing local need. 
 
The indicators also show that the Borough is one of extremes, for example levels of life 
expectancy, attainment and community need vary considerable across the Borough. Many of 
these inequalities across Wirral are longstanding, with some residents experiencing the poorest 
outcomes in the country. How the library service tries to impact on these inequalities at a targeted 
intervention level will be challenging and focusing available resources for the best impact and 
value will be paramount in the context of a significant reduction in Council resources. 
 
The picture in respect to library specific indicators and the service offer is quite complex. As 
previously shown the offer of loanable items (predominately books) is currently lower, in areas of 
deprivation, with libraries such as Leasowe, Beechwood, St James and Woodchurch seeing low 
transaction levels. This contrasts with the digital offer of PC and Wi-Fi access, where usage is 
higher in areas of deprivation, in sites such as Birkenhead and Rock Ferry libraries. Adding to the 
complexity is that some of these areas of deprivation appear to have few activities and events 
within the library space, such as Woodchurch, Leasowe and Beechwood libraries. 
 
Data across the network reveals that the mainstay of the library provision is books (loanable 
items) and the public consultation showed that respondents felt the most important strategic 
priority was ‘Reading’. Nevertheless, data shows that over the last decade item transactions 
(which are predominantly book loans) is decreasing, whilst e-lending is increasing. Also, active 
membership of the service is declining, with active membership within certain libraries being very 
low (Leasowe, Woodchurch and Beechwood libraries). 
 
There is little library specific insight or data on non-library users and their perception and need of 
the service offer. The public consultation (2021) had a small data set who identified as non-library 
users. In addition, some ward areas had small data sets and were underrepresented within the 
consultation process despite efforts to increase engagement. The consultation also highlighted 
that the most suitable type of library from the four types proposed was a Neighbourhood library, 
however this contrasts with current service usage in which Central libraries have the highest 
service usage. Additionally, respondents predominately thought that Community Groups (58%) Page 430



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 51 of 69 

and Volunteers (56.1%) could support the Council to deliver the library service, but when 
respondents were asked would they like to be involved in the running of the service, 70.6% said 
‘no’. 
 
The impact of COVID-19 on communities is still unknown but emerging data and evidence shows 
that the COVID-19 pandemic will worsen several local indicators discussed in this needs 
assessment and accelerate existing inequalities within the Borough. The heaviest impact has 
fallen on the lives of people already experiencing health, social and economic inequalities. 
Additionally, the Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021 states “that children and young people 
may be hit hardest by the COVID-19 control measures, which could exacerbate existing 
inequalities in educational attainment”74. 
  

 
 
74 2021 Public Health Annual Report - Wirral Intelligence Service Page 431

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/local-inequalities/2021-public-health-annual-report/


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 52 of 69 

Summary  

 

The purpose of this needs assessment is to provide evidence and insight that can inform a plan 
for the future of Wirral’s library service, focusing on local need. In the context of significant 
reductions in Council resources over coming years, an approach is required that will substantially 
transform the service’s delivery model and delivery model options are included in a separate 
document. 
 
The needs assessment lays the foundations for designing this approach in a way that meets the 
common design principles identified by the Libraries Taskforce for developing and transforming 
library services: 

• meet legal requirements  

• are shaped by local needs  

• focus on public benefit and deliver a high-quality user experience  

• make decisions informed by evidence, building on success  

• support delivery of consistent England-wide core offers  

• promote partnership working, innovation and enterprise  

• use public funds effectively and efficiently 
 

The Council’s approach should also be led by precedent, comments made by the Secretary of 
State and outcomes of judicial reviews, which define the legal landscape for transformational 
library change. 
 
In outlining specific needs of the Borough through demographic, socio-economic and service 
indicators, the assessment has identified those areas of greatest need and appendix 8 shows a 
ranking table of library sites by MSOA (Middle Layer Super Output Layer) using key indicators 
discussed within the assessment. These needs can often show extremes across the Borough’s 
library site areas and a contrast between demographic and socio-economic indicators, and some 
library service indicators. The table in appendix 8 is an illustrative comparison tool and shows 
that the areas in which Beechwood, St James, Seacombe and Rock Ferry libraries are located by 
MSOA have the greatest need, when selecting measurables identified within this needs 
assessment, whilst Greasby, Pensby, West Kirby and Irby library site areas have the lowest 
need. Detailed MSOA profile reports are available for each of the Borough’s MSOA areas (Wirral 
Intelligence Service75) in which reports show key social and economic indicators and allows 
further comparison of the area selected to comparator areas. 
 
Finally, this needs assessment represents the beginning of an iterative process that will inform 
service redesign and delivery in respect of local need, library users and non-library users. This 
resource is a key decision-making tool and will ensure that targeted interventions and services 
are developed to support the delivery of the draft Library Strategy and its priorities, underpinned 
by the Universal Offers and Wirral Plan 2021-2026. Due to factors such as COVID-19 and 
external challenges such as reduction in available resources, any emerging future delivery model 
may impact local need and the indicators used within this assessment should be reviewed 
frequently to ensure they are relevant and will influence and drive future decision making. 
  

 
 
75 Local Insight - MSOA area profile Page 432

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/map/


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 53 of 69 

Appendix 

 

Appendix 1 

List of activities and events held as of December 2019 
 
Bebington Central Library 

Baby Bounce & Rhyme: Thursday weekly 10.30am 

Family History Helpdesk: 1st and 3rd Thursday 10- 12.30pm 

Friends of Bebington Central Library: meets regularly throughout the year 

Adult Reading Group: Tuesday weekly 2:00-4:00pm 

Knitting Group: Friday weekly 2-4pm  

Reachout work club: Tuesday weekly 10am – 12noon  

Reading Group: Thursday monthly 6:15 - 7.15pm 

Children’s Reading Group: Thursday monthly 6-7pm 

Storytime: Monday weekly 10am 

Tai Chi classes: Saturday weekly 10 - 11 am 

Creative Writing Group: Saturday weekly 2-4pm  

Lego/board games: Saturday monthly 

Film Club: Saturday monthly 2-4pm Saturday 

Wirral Lifelong & Family Learning Services: varies 

Reading group (HI): weekly  

Mayer Trust: monthly  

MacMillan Support 

 

Beechwood Library 

Reachout work club: Weekly 

Councillor: 2nd Saturday of the month 10-20-11.30pm 

Family Connector (InvolveNW): weekly 

 

Birkenhead Central Library 

Adult Reading Group (Shared) weekly:  

Mondays 10.30am and 1.30pm,  

Thursday 10.30am  

Friday 11am 

Baby Bounce and Rhyme: weekly 10am – 10.30am 

Friends of Birkenhead Central Library: meet regularly throughout the year 

Handicrafts: 1st and 3rd Saturday every month 10.30am—12.30pm 

Reachout work club: Thursdays 10:00am 

Reading Group: Thursday monthly 2-.15-3.30pm 

Wirral Lifelong & Family Learning services: numerous courses 

Age UK IT: weekly 

Mencap IT courses: weekly 

Baby Sing + Rhyme: monthly 

Macmillan Support: by appointment daily 

Remploy: weekly 

Lego Club: fortnightly Page 433



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 54 of 69 

 

Bromborough Library 

Reading Group: weekly 

Storytime: Monday weekly 2.15-2.45pm (volunteer) 

Health walks: starting at library 

Coffee morning and book sale: monthly 

Reading group: monthly 

 

Eastham Library 

Adult Reading Group: Monday monthly 3.45-4.45pm 

Adult Reading Group: weekly 

Reachout work club: 2nd and 4th Wednesday of the month 10-12 noon 

Police surgery: varies 

Councillor: Tuesday weekly 11-1pm  

 

Greasby Library 

Adult reading group: Thursday weekly 2-3pm 

U3A reading group: Thursday monthly 10.30-12noon 

Baby Bounce: Thursday weekly (term time) 

Knit n natter: Thursday 3 times a month 10.30-12.30pm 

Friends of Greasby Library: meet regularly throughout the year 

 

Heswall Library 

Family History Group: drop-in session 1st Monday of every month 10-1pm 

Exhibitions: Heswall Library holds regular exhibitions and displays in our exhibition room 

Craft group: U3A Monday monthly 10-12noon 

Knit n natter: Wednesday fortnightly 10-12.30pm 

Scrabble: Monday fortnightly 2-4pm  

 

Higher Bebington 

Reading Group: WI reading group monthly 

 

Hoylake Library 

Get crafty: Thursday fortnightly 2-3.30pm 

In stitches: Saturday fortnightly 10.30-12noon 

Reading Group: shared group weekly Monday am 

 

Irby Library 

Women’s Institute: meet regularly 

Friends of Irby Library: meet regularly throughout the year 

Storytime: Tuesdays 2-3pm volunteer term time only 

Art Group: fortnightly 

Community Coffee morning: monthly 

Crafty Group: fortnightly 

Dementia Afternoon: monthly 

Flower Club: fortnightly 

Page 434



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 55 of 69 

Scrabble: fortnightly 

 

 

Leasowe Library 

Craft: weekly 

Storytime: monthly 

 

Moreton Library 

Reachout work club: Monday weekly 10am 

Art Class: Age UK Monday weekly 10.30am 

Moreton Day care centre reading group Tuesday 1pm 

Get into Reading weekly Wednesday 10am 

Monthly reading group Thursday 11am 

Get into reading group weekly Friday 10.30am 

Storytime: Monday 9.30 weekly 

Baby Bounce: Monday 10am weekly 

MP surgery: Saturday monthly 10.30am 

Wirral Lifelong & Family Learning services: various courses 

Moreton Day Centre: Friday weekly computer courses 

Ask Us Wirral: x 2 weekly 

 

Pensby Library 

Baby Bounce: Tuesday weekly 10.30-11am 

Storytime: Tuesday weekly 2.15pm and weekly volunteer session 

Knit n natter: Tuesday weekly 2-5pm 

Reading group: 3rd Friday of the month 2-3pm and shared reading group weekly 

Councillor surgery: Saturday weekly 10-11am 

Friends of Pensby Library: meet regularly throughout the year 

Volunteers of Pensby Library: meet regularly throughout the year 

 

Prenton Library 

Reading Group: Friday monthly 3-4.30pm and weekly  

Baby Bounce: Tuesday weekly 10.30am 

Reachout work club: appointment only 

  

Rock Ferry Library 

Adult Reading Group: 3rd Thursday afternoon of the month at 2pm 

Adult Reading Group: Thursday weekly 10-12noon 

Ferries group: Tuesday weekly 12.30-3.30pm 

Career Connect: appointment only 

Councillor: Fridays 4.30pm to 6.00pm 

Residents Association: monthly 

Ask Us Wirral CAB: twice yearly event 

Wirral Lifelong Learning: limited number of courses 

Saturday Club: Kids club- Lego, craft and board games 

 

Page 435



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 56 of 69 

Seacombe Library 

Reachout work club: Tuesday 9.30am weekly 

Connexions: Tuesday and Wednesday all day 

Knit n Katter: Tuesday 2.30pm weekly 

Book and Breakfast (Get into Reading): Wednesday 10am weekly 

Bounce & Rhyme: Tuesday 10am weekly 

Friends of Seacombe Library: host a selection of daytime activities 

Additional activities held outside staffed opening hours including Age UK and Wirral Lifelong 

Learning 

Energy Projects Plus: Weekly 

 

St James Library 

Adult Reading group: Thursday weekly 10-12noon 

Jolly Tots: Monday weekly 

Reachout work club: Tuesday weekly 9 -10am 

 

Upton Library 

Baby bounce: Friday weekly 10.30-11.15am 

Reading group: Tuesday monthly 2-3.30pm 

Family History Helpdesk: Appointment only 

Reachout work club: weekly 10am Tuesday 

 

Wallasey Central Library 

Get Into Reading group: 1.30pm weekly 

Reading Groups: 

First Monday of every month 6pm - 7pm 

First Tuesday of every month 6pm - 7pm 

First Thursday of every month 2-3pm 

Last Thursday of every month 6.45  

Family History Help Desk: 2nd and 4th Friday of every month 

Friends of Wallasey Central Library: meet regularly throughout the year 

Wirral Lifelong & Family Learning Services: various courses 

Reachout work club: Thursday weekly 10-12noon 

Baby Bounce and Rhyme: every Thursday 2.30-3pm 

Storytime: every Thursday 10am -10.30am 

Wallabies (craft and play): every Monday 11.00am - 12.00pm 

After school storytime: every Friday 3.45-4.15pm 

Spanish for children: every Thursday 4.15 

Code club: 8 sessions per month (Thursday 6.30 / Saturday 11am) 

Board games club monthly 

Macmillan: daily by appointment 

Other regular groups at Wallasey Central Library: 

Crafty chatty weekly 1-3pm 

Art Group weekly 10-12noon 

Art Group weekly 1.30-3.30pm 

Page 436



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 57 of 69 

French weekly 6.45-7.45 

Friends of Rake Lane 1st Monday of the month 

Bridge weekly 10-12noon 

Remploy weekly 1-2.30pm 

Film club fortnightly 7.30-9.30pm 

U3A art class fortnightly 10-12noon 

U3A art group monthly 2-4pm 

Wallasey Historical Society 7.30-9.30pm twice monthly 

Wallasey Leisure painters weekly 10-12pm 

Wallasey Arts monthly 9.30-12.30 

 

Wallasey Village Library 

Baby bounce: Friday weekly 10-11am 

Storytime: Monday weekly 2.30pm 

Book Club: Friday monthly 11-12noon 

Friends of Wallasey Village Library: meet regularly throughout the year and hold activities on 

days the library is not staffed. Also organise health walks from the library  

Volunteer led groups: yoga, mini yoga, tai chi, gardening club, cross stich, parents together, 

coffee mornings 

 

West Kirby Library 

Reading/Poetry/Play/Literature groups: 

Monday weekly 10-30-12noon and 1.45-3.45 

Tuesday monthly 2.30-4pm 

Thursday monthly 10-12 noon (U3A) 

Thursday monthly 10-12noon 

Thursday monthly 6-7pm 

Friday weekly 10am-11.30am 

Scrabble: monthly Fri 2pm and tri-monthly  

Tuesday 2pm 

Knit n natter: Friday weekly 10.30-12noon 

Adult colouring: Wednesday weekly 10-11.30am 

Creative writing: Wednesday weekly 1.45-3.45, Thursday monthly 10-12noon 

Needlework: weekly Thu 2-4pm 

Craft and Chat: weekly Monday 1-3pm 

Art group: weekly Monday 2-4pm 

Friends History Group: Tuesday weekly 10-12noon 

Reachout work club: Tuesday weekly 9-10am 

Family History Helpdesk: Monday monthly 10-1pm 

Incredible edible: Thursday monthly 2pm 

Discussion Group: “What the papers say” Thur am 

Baby Bounce: Tuesday weekly 10am 

Storytime: Monday weekly 2.30pm 

Creative Writing (children): Tuesday and Thursday weekly 4-5.30pm 

Dementia Friendly activity: 4th Monday pm 

Friends of West Kirby and Hoylake Library: meet regularly throughout the year 

Page 437



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 58 of 69 

Lego Club: Saturday pm fortnightly 

Code Club: Thursday 6pm 

Macmillan support: regularly 

 

Woodchurch Library 

Class Visits from school 

Stories and Rhymes: weekly Friday (term time) 

 

  

Page 438



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 59 of 69 

Appendix 2 
 
Number of Active Borrowers per Wirral Libraries site in order of total 2019/20 

 

Branch 2019/20 

Beechwood Toy 
Library 58 

Leasowe 221 

Woodchurch 243 

Beechwood 260 

Home Reader Central 310 

St. James 356 

Prenton 460 

Seacombe 618 

Irby 878 

Wallasey Village 911 

Hoylake 976 

Higher Bebington 1052 

Pensby 1067 

Rock Ferry 1180 

Upton 1246 

Eastham 1437 

Bromborough 1616 

Greasby 1844 

Moreton 2107 

Heswall 2606 

Birkenhead Central 3532 

Bebington Central 4088 

Wallasey Central 4740 

West Kirby 4826 
Source: Talis Alto Library Management System 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 439



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 60 of 69 

Appendix 3 

 
Age Profile of Library Service Borrowers per site 2019/20 excluding Home Reader Service, with 

number and percentage at each library site 

 

 0 to 4 5 to 12 13 to 17 18 to 24 25 to 60  60+  

  Number % Number % Number % Number % Number % Number % Total 

Bebington 
Central 458 11.20 1095 26.79 89 2.18 51 1.25 1057 25.86 1338 32.73 4088 

Beechwood 40 15.38 87 33.46 6 2.31 4 1.54 72 27.69 51 19.62 260 

Beechwood 
Toy Library 5 8.62 10 17.24 0 0.00 0 0.00 35 60.34 8 13.79 58 

Birkenhead 
Central 290 8.21 755 21.38 67 1.90 109 3.09 1204 34.09 1107 31.34 3532 

Bromborough 141 8.73 320 19.80 23 1.42 17 1.05 395 24.44 720 44.55 1616 

Call Centre 91 9.11 175 17.52 6 0.60 6 0.60 239 23.92 482 48.25 999 

Eastham 164 11.41 402 27.97 20 1.39 17 1.18 320 22.27 514 35.77 1437 

Greasby 205 11.12 304 16.49 27 1.46 17 0.92 421 22.83 870 47.18 1844 

Heswall 235 9.02 464 17.81 49 1.88 29 1.11 588 22.56 1241 47.62 2606 

Higher 
Bebington 174 16.54 264 25.10 8 0.76 4 0.38 227 21.58 375 35.65 1052 

Hoylake 128 13.11 208 21.31 12 1.23 8 0.82 255 26.13 365 37.40 976 

Irby 107 12.19 204 23.23 13 1.48 8 0.91 194 22.10 352 40.09 878 

Leasowe 30 13.57 62 28.05 3 1.36 3 1.36 73 33.03 50 22.62 221 

Moreton 219 10.39 515 24.44 44 2.09 26 1.23 560 26.58 743 35.26 2107 

New Ferry              
Pensby 122 11.43 223 20.90 7 0.66 9 0.84 259 24.27 447 41.89 1067 

Prenton 56 12.17 120 26.09 6 1.30 9 1.96 108 23.48 161 35.00 460 

Ridgeway              
Rock Ferry 131 11.10 306 25.93 17 1.44 35 2.97 383 32.46 308 26.10 1180 

Seacombe 81 13.11 185 29.94 11 1.78 17 2.75 189 30.58 135 21.84 618 

St. James 48 13.48 92 25.84 6 1.69 7 1.97 119 33.43 84 23.60 356 

Upton 103 8.27 258 20.71 30 2.41 16 1.28 299 24.00 540 43.34 1246 

Wallasey 
Central 491 10.36 1013 21.37 90 1.90 77 1.62 1510 31.86 1559 32.89 4740 

Wallasey 
Village 122 13.39 207 22.72 14 1.54 12 1.32 245 26.89 311 34.14 911 

West Kirby 455 9.43 921 19.08 110 2.28 67 1.39 1374 28.47 1899 39.35 4826 

Woodchurch 50 20.58 62 25.51 4 1.65 6 2.47 82 33.74 39 16.05 243 

Total 3947 10.49 8256 21.94 664 1.76 554 1.47 10436 27.73 13774 36.60 37631 

Source: Talis Alto Library Management System 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 440



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 61 of 69 

Appendix 4 

 
Number of events per site in order of number of activities/events that occur at least once a month 
as of Sept 2019-Dec 2019 
 

  

No. activity events that 
occur at least once a 
month  

Higher Bebington  1 

Woodchurch 4 

Leasowe  5 

Heswall   6 

Hoylake 8 

Beechwood  9 

Greasby 9 

Prenton 10 

Upton 10 

Bromborough  11 

Eastham  12 

St. James  12 

Irby  15 

Pensby 22 

Wallasey Village 22 

Rock Ferry 30 

Seacombe  32 

Bebington Central  44 

Moreton 46 

Birkenhead Central  54 

West Kirby 79 

Wallasey Central 82 
Source: Talis Alto Library Management System 

Note: Activities including pre-school and school visits are excluded from this total as are one off events and externally funded programmes of work 

such as Arts Council England projects 

 

  

Page 441



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 62 of 69 

Appendix 5 

 
Number of items Issues/Renewals per site broken down to Adult Item and Young Person Items 
2019/20 
 

 All Adult 

All 
Young 
Person 

Toy 
Library Sum: 

Bebington Central 45682 35390 - 81072 

Beechwood 1905 1867 - 3772 

Beechwood Toy 
Library 64 41 359 464 

Birkenhead Central 52141 21442 - 73583 

Bromborough 21916 7892 - 29808 

Call Centre 4259 2002 - 6261 

Eastham 16696 10773 - 27469 

Greasby 27467 13412 - 40879 

Heswall 35208 17593 - 52801 

Higher Bebington 8281 6555 - 14836 

Home Reader - 
Central 13984 258 - 14242 

Hoylake 10152 7986 - 18138 

Irby 9774 5933 - 15707 

Leasowe 917 1720 - 2637 

Moreton 29710 15216 - 44926 

Pensby 13661 9064 - 22725 

Prenton 4734 3867 - 8601 

Rock Ferry 9519 6402 - 15921 

Seacombe 4172 3299 - 7471 

St. James 2695 1659 - 4354 

Upton 29183 11046 - 40229 

Wallasey Central 94203 33752 - 127955 

Wallasey Village 9094 6840 - 15934 

West Kirby 68366 39356 - 107722 

Woodchurch 1296 3583 - 4879 

Total 515,079 267,307 359 782,745 
Source: Talis Alto Library Management System 

  

Page 442



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 63 of 69 

Appendix 6 

 

PC usage per site in order of logins total 2018/19 

 

 2018/19 

Woodchurch 543 

Higher Bebington 747 

Prenton 802 

Beechwood 859 

Wallasey Village 1060 

Irby 1094 

Leasowe 1104 

Hoylake 1121 

Pensby 1437 

Upton 1582 

Bromborough 1857 

St. James 2624 

Greasby 2919 

Seacombe 3918 

Heswall 4895 

Eastham 5492 

West Kirby 10743 

Rock Ferry 11062 

Moreton 11136 

Bebington Central 11653 

Wallasey Central 14653 

Birkenhead Central 15496 

Total 106797 
Source: Insight Media i-CAM 

 

  

Page 443



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 64 of 69 

Appendix 7 

 

Wi-Fi usage per site in order of login total 2018/19 

 

 2018/19 

Higher Bebington 116 

Woodchurch 150 

Hoylake 159 

Upton 161 

Prenton 168 

Beechwood 225 

Wallasey Village 257 

Irby 263 

Greasby 343 

Pensby 408 

Bromborough 428 

St. James 524 

Seacombe 558 

Eastham 576 

Leasowe 621 

Heswall 1079 

Moreton 1330 

Rock Ferry 1747 

Wallasey Central 1761 

Birkenhead Central 2238 

Bebington Central 2607 

West Kirby (Library) 5040 

Total 20759 
Source: Cisco Meraki 

 

  

Page 444



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 65 of 69 

Appendix 8 

 

Table of ranking by area library is located, using MSOA data 

 

 
 

Sources: Local Insight (communityinsight.org), Talis Alto Library Management System, Insight Media i-Cam 

Note: The table is in-house designed using a concept from St Helens Library Service Strategy 2021-26. 

 

The table is an illustrative comparison tool only to show the differences in need across the library 

site MSOA areas. The aggregate score indicates that Beechwood Library area (located in the 

Bidston Hill MSOA) has the greatest need, whilst Greasby Library area (located in the Greasby 

MSOA) has the lowest need. 

 

Middle Layer Super Output Areas (MSOA) are a geographic hierarchy designed to improve the 

reporting of small area statistics in England and Wales and for the purpose of this table were felt 

to be the most appropriate area identifier to represent each library location area. The indicators 

were chosen from the needs assessment and are representative of demographic and socio-

economic indicators, and library service indicators. The data was ranked according to its value and 

no weighting was placed on the data. It should also be noted that New Ferry Library area is not 

represented, and no library service indicator data was available for Ridgeway Library. The most 

current data available was used for all indicators, except for library indicators where 2019/20 data 

was used, except for PC usage data where 2018/19 was the most current complete year data set. 

It should also be noted that Bebington Library was closed from mid December 2019 to March 2020. 

 

Codes for Library sites 

BE- Bebington Central 

BD- Beechwood 

BI- Birkenhead Central 

BR- Bromborough 

EA- Eastham 

GR- Greasby 

HE- Heswall 

Page 445

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/


   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 66 of 69 

HI- Higher Bebington 

HO- Hoylake 

IR- Irby 

LE- Leasowe 

MO- Moreton 

PE- Pensby 

PR- Prenton 

RI- Ridgeway 

RF- Rock Ferry 

SE- Seacombe 

SJ- St. James 

UP- Upton 

WC- Wallasey Central 

WV- Wallasey Village 

WK- West Kirby 

WO Woodchurch 

 

  

Page 446



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 67 of 69 

Appendix 9 

 

Strategic priority 1- Reading 

Objective: Offer children of all ages an opportunity to read and discover  
 
Actions: 

• Provide affordable and engaging interactive activities and resources aimed at supporting 
language, communication, and developmental opportunities for pre-school children  

• Work in partnership with schools, focusing resources where uptake and attainment levels 
are lower, to demonstrate the value of creative reading activities and supported 
programmes that impact on literacy attainment and wellbeing 

• Design, develop and review, with key partners, diverse and inclusive literacy resources, 
supporting programmes of work virtually, within libraries and communities, with a specific 
focus on targeted audiences  

 
Objective: Provide affordable and engaging resources and activities to promote and celebrate 
reading for pleasure for adults  
 
Actions: 

• Use national and regional initiatives to promote reading for pleasure 

• Work with community volunteers and reader development organisations to grow reading 
for pleasure activities and initiatives in accessible community places, ensuring they are 
appealing and relevant, whilst supporting resident led groups and community adhesion  
 

Objective: Provide an engaging and diverse book stock and reading focused materials for all 
ages and abilities  
Actions: 

• Encourage resident involvement in book selection and ensure that the book stock is 
managed effectively to ensure greatest value and evolves to reflect local need 

• Provide access (physically and remotely) to a range of inclusive and diverse books in 
accessible formats to allow engagement with reading, and work with partners to support 
adults to engage in reading 
Implement inspiring, imaginative book and reading-focused promotions within our libraries 
and community settings, whilst employing complementary social media campaigns 
 

Strategic priority 2- Information and Digital 
 
Objective: Provide a range of resources and activities that promote digital inclusion and support 
residents with their learning and digital skills  
 
Actions: 

• Use local and national programmes to offer digital activities to encourage digital inclusion 
and digital literacy, particularly in areas of identified need, using our network of staff, 
partners, volunteers and online resources 

• Work with partners and those that have an existing presence within communities to enable 
individuals and communities to develop inspiring learning offers 

• Seek opportunities when appropriate that invest in technological improvements for users  
 
Objective: Provide access to quality information and digital services  
 
Actions: 

Page 447



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 68 of 69 

• Develop and refine our online services to ensure they are relevant and accessible 

• Work with partners to assist users to choose the right sources of information 

• Explore opportunities to develop and implement a digital programme to increase 
accessibility to local history resources  

• Continue to develop an imaginative programme of workshops and exhibitions with other 
public services and partner organisations 

• In partnership with the British Library offer a Business and IP (Intellectual Property) Centre 
to provide local residents and businesses free access to relevant databases and business 
advice 

 
Strategic priority 3: Culture and Creativity 
 
Objective: Provide opportunities for residents to engage in inclusive cultural and creative 
experiences, relevant to the local community  
 
Actions: 

• Work with partners and volunteers to develop new ways of engaging targeted groups 
through cultural and creative activities and events 

• Explore opportunities which will support young people’s participation and talent 
development  

• Develop a marketing strategy that includes service promotion of activities and events, and 
the library space, to encourage cultural and creative participation by users and the wider 
community  

• Support local cultural groups to grow by curating and promoting information about their 
cultural and creative community activities and events 

• Being aware of opportunities, and when appropriate, support the development of creative 
spaces within libraries  

 
Objective: Develop strong partnership working to deliver joined up working around culture and 
creativity  
 
Actions:  

• Share programmes of work with key partners including Wirral’s Culture team and Liverpool 
City Region library authorities to identify areas of collaboration  

• Being aware of opportunities for Wirral Libraries to participate in national and regional 
cultural initiatives and identify and maximise external funding opportunities  

• Forge new partnerships with health services, further and higher education, third sector 
organisations and technological and commercial industries to deliver new initiatives  

• Identify success stories to promote Wirral Libraries locally and further afield and apply for 
awards to recognise achievements and best practice to support future funding applications 
and partnership working 

 
Strategic priority 4: Health and Wellbeing 
 
Objective: Promote access to trusted information on a range of health issues including specific 
medical conditions and public health issues and provide self-management support  
 
Actions:  

• Innovate and share existing programmes that support physical and mental health, and 
develop new initiatives with volunteers, third sector and public health partners to deliver 
resources and services to people with physical and mental health conditions  

Page 448



   
 

Wirral Libraries Needs Assessment: December 2021                                                                         Page 69 of 69 

• Continue to develop and provide accessible, high-quality health information and signpost 
and offer extended support for public health initiatives  

• Work with key partners to provide staff and volunteers with relevant health training  
 
Objective: Provide a range of reading opportunities and creative and social activities, which 
engage and connect communities, to reduce loneliness and improve wellbeing  
 
Actions: 

• Work in partnership with health colleagues and volunteers to provide activities and events 
that support communities with health and wellbeing outcomes •  

• As part of the development of the social prescribing approach, we will work with health 
partners to design an offer connected to libraries that supports health and wellbeing   

• Provide volunteering opportunities, whilst proactively encouraging and supporting people 
with health and wellbeing needs  

• Seek investment where opportunities present themselves, to enhance library spaces 
 
An implementation plan for the delivery of the strategy will be developed upon approval of the 
strategy document. A set of measures will be included in the plan to monitor progress and 
success. The delivery will be overseen by the service’s Management Board and will receive 
quarterly reports to monitor our progress.  
 
Progress and success will be measured in several ways including:  
 
CIPFA key performance indicators 
 
Strategic priority 1 - Reading 

• Support reading attainment in areas of identified need 

• Increase in community and resident led reading initiatives and activities in areas of 
identified need 

• Increase in book issues for targeted areas of stock (physical and electronic) 
 

Strategic priority 2 - Information and Digital   

• Increase in uptake of library online services 

• Increase in the usage of the digital collections 

• Increase in engagement satisfaction and service awareness  
 

Strategic priority 3 - Culture and Creativity   

• Increase of and attendance at cultural and creative activities and events in areas of 
identified need 

• Increase in community usage of libraries by local cultural groups in areas of identified 
need 

• Increase in new partnerships and externally funded initiatives in areas of identified need  
 

Strategic priority 4 - Health and Wellbeing  

• Increase in health and wellbeing book issues 
Increase in activities and events that have a health and wellbeing focus in areas of identified 

need 

Page 449



This page is intentionally left blank



Table 1: WBC Design Principles / Libraries Preferred Option 

Design 
Principle 

Priorities Libraries Preferred Option Outcome 

Finance • Operate within available 

resources 

• Maximise Wirral Pound, pooling 

resources with partners 

• Outcomes based budgeting 

• Business planning is aligned to 

financial planning 

• Commercial 

• Preferred option most viable balance against statutory duty within 

the context of available resources. 

• External assurance review represents influencing factor – 

corporate mandate, budget challenges and need for service to 

evidence efficiencies and maximising value for money wherever 

possible. 

• Key need to review Council’s approach to central recharges. 

• Fundamental test - whether Strategic outcomes as a statutory 

function can be met with available resource and under the 

preferred option. 

• Outcomes linked back to strategy and needs analysis. 

• Co-location with partners to ensure Council assets are better 

utilised and to minimise operational costs whilst still providing a 

comprehensive service – Seacombe Children’s Centre a good 

pilot. 

Commissioning  • Consistent approach 

• Economies of scale maximised, 

and gaps minimised / avoided 

• Performance led 

• Outcomes focused 

• Risk based management 

• Accountability culture 

• To ensure a clear and consistent approach to commissioning in 

line with the Council’s procurement procedure rules – No PO No 

Pay, due diligence to reduce and remove maverick spend etc. 

• Opportunities to standardise library stock management with 

neighbouring authorities currently being explored – economies of 

scale. 

• Improving systems and processes by updating and improving the 

current library management system – tender out early 2022 

P
age 451



Design 
Principle 

Priorities Libraries Preferred Option Outcome 

Data & Insight • One source of the truth 

• Enables evidence-based decision 

making and evaluation of impact 

• Real time data / insight and 

response 

• At the heart of what we do 

• Intelligent holistic view of 

customers 

• Evidence based decision making and needs based approach is 

embedded in the Development of new operating model and 

preferred option. 

• Suite on intelligence and data has been used to inform decision 

on new operating model, including operational and performance 

data. 

• Comprehensive needs analysis has been updated. 

• Socio-economic profiling and mapping undertaken. 

• Public consultation to inform the outcomes of the strategy and 

forward plan.  

Assets • Rationalise assets 

• Minimise environmental impact 

and carbon footprint 

• Co-location 

• Flexible use 

• Minimal operating costs 

• New operating model places focus on service being delivered and 

not physical assets/quantity of buildings. Geographic coverage a 

key consideration and informed consolidation of assets. 

• Need for condition/remedial costs management and plan 

identified and engagement with assets initiated. Requires 

commitment/need for future capital investment and improvement 

works. 

• Consideration for listed building status and other limiting factors. 

• Consideration for appropriate future use and options including 

retain, reuse, disposal etc.  

• Inefficient building stock, exploring opportunities around corporate 

decarbonization agenda and climate emergency declaration – 

requires commitment and financial support. 

P
age 452



Design 
Principle 

Priorities Libraries Preferred Option Outcome 

Governance • Proportionate to risk 

• Underpinned by effective 

committee system / democratic 

processes 

• Statutory duty and compliance with 1964 act governing and 

directing the development of the preferred Option.  

• Local interpretation and definition based on local need  

• Benchmarking against other local authorities and national 

precedent for what constitutes a ‘comprehensive and efficient 

service’. 

Digital • Maximise digital opportunities 

• Self-serve 

• Convenient, intuitive, and 

accessible 

• Digital inclusion 

• Identified opportunities to enhance digital offer through improved 

library management systems, online library provision, using the 

learning from COVID pandemic and 

performance/trends/outcomes of consultation. 

• Taking lead from corporate digital strategy and wider Customer 

Access Solutions programme looking at digital transformation and 

improvements. 

• Subject to corporate Wi-fi and connectivity improvements – 5G 

enabled. 

• Identified need for libraries to be a key consideration and in scope 

for corporate digital design – seen as the face of the Council and 

often first tier for information and advice. 

• Exploring, where appropriate, a reduction of printed/printing 

services and improvement around digital accessibility to content 

and media. 

Process • Standardised 

• Lean 

• Minimise steps end to end 

• Minimised resource under preferred option will place challenge on 

non-essential processes and need for review/lean approach 

P
age 453



Design 
Principle 

Priorities Libraries Preferred Option Outcome 

• Customer centric 

• All processes must add value, 

those that do not will be stopped 

identified – subject to internal service review alongside 

implementation of new model (pending agreement). 

• Expression of interest in a fully funded external peer challenge 

will be submitted to ACE in Jan 2022 – external challenge team 

developed to provide objective analysis on the effect of service 

change and identifying opportunities for further transformation 

and process improvements. Report with recommendations 

provided. 

• Redesign alongside implementation of new LMS to ensure 

alignment with new processes and customer 

expectation/experience. 

Service Design • Focus on prevention and early 

intervention, reducing demand on 

statutory services 

• Enabling and empowering 

communities and individuals to 

help themselves and each other 

• Reducing inequality and 

delivering efficiently through lean 

core universal services & 

targeted services based on 

needs 

• Place based approach. Making 

the Wirral pound go further and 

improving outcomes by delivering 

• Outcomes based approach – utilising needs based model (e.g. 

education, attainment, “better brighter futures” – clear cross over 

and opportunities with other ‘people’ services in the Council and 

external partners. 

• Partnership based approach – developing and delivering 

programmes of work with partners and services (e.g. early years, 

macmillan, NHS). Highlights importance of strategic librarian 

team and ensuring adequate capacity within the model to develop 

and strengthen existing and new partnerships and programmes. 

• Wirral is a borough of extremes – ensuring needs based model 

reflects local need (e.g. east/west). Delivered through use of 

needs analysis and socio-economic profiling.  

• Removal of existing provision ‘as is’ addressed differently in 

development of new model to ensure accessibility remains and 

P
age 454



Design 
Principle 

Priorities Libraries Preferred Option Outcome 

together with partners and 

communities 

sufficient/appropriate mitigation offered (e.g. mobile library, 

community owned/managed libraries explored). 

• Piloting community hub model – Seacombe 

• One stop shops and co-design and delivery – library 1st tier 

information and advice and requires front door design and end to 

end mapping to provide comprehensive service. 

• Explore opportunities and ensure libraries is a key consideration 

through corporate digital offer and improvement programmes. 

Customer 
Access & 
Experience 

• Getting it right for the customer, 

first time, with minimum number 

of steps / contacts 

• Convenient, intuitive, fast digital 

services 

• Fast feedback – action loop 

• Rationalise customer access 

channels  

• Accessible with support / options 

to address digital exclusion 

• Consistent  

• Clear SLAs 

• Opportunities to enhance digital access in preferred Option and 

exploring further accessibility. 

• Signposting through appropriate and available channels (global, 

organisation led). 

• Work with partners and develop/agree “cut off” points with other 

services including SLAs (mapping processes end-to-end). 

• Use of rationalised service evaluated on impact/quality to assess 

future provision for the customer. 

• Improve/planned use of online channels and media to support 

continuous improvement and feedback loop. Explore two-way 

communications with customers and library users. 

• Ensure annual iterative review against KPIs within the strategy 

and opportunities for consultation/feedback with customers to 

inform. 

• Corporate approach to customer complaints and inquiries – 

aligned with customer access solutions programme. Use as key 

intel/data to inform decision making, lessons learnt and continual 

P
age 455



Design 
Principle 

Priorities Libraries Preferred Option Outcome 

improvement. Root cause analysis with support from service 

design team. 

• 12-week consultation – high level feedback used to develop 

Library Strategy and new operating model/preferred option. 

•  Use if physical/virtual OSS within Library design (inc. Kiosks) 

Workforce & 
Culture 

• Organisation structured (spans, 

layers) 

• Centralised corporate services 

• Head of profession and centre of 

excellence model 

• People, place and 

resource/organisation clusters 

• More flexible, agile, highly skilled 

workforce 

• Focus on culture, values, and 

behaviours 

• Effective, system leaders 

• Exemplar employer 

• Best fit for workforce at this time in relation to preferred option – 

acknowledge there are some unknowns as this represents the 

most significant transformation in library services history. 

• Lessons from this model need to be incorporated iteratively and 

periodic reviews will be undertaken alongside a full service review 

as part of an implementation plan to ensure model is delivering 

on vision and objectives.  

• Post-COVID trends uncertain – this may influence options and 

decisions once impacts are known/clearer. 

• Need to understand EVR impact on structure/resource/capacity in 

line with corporate approach. 

• Multi-disciplinary working already in place with many staff trained 

for frontline 1st tier information and advice as well. 

• Library workforce adapted to change well during COVID – 

redeployed and adapted new capabilities, evidence of resilience.  

• Expect impact on culture and wellbeing requires significant input 

and support from OD – change management and motivation 

specifics. Need to bring workforce with this change. 

P
age 456



Design 
Principle 

Priorities Libraries Preferred Option Outcome 

• Seen as a two phased approach – delivery of option and 

transformation for the future. 

 

P
age 457



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Mobile Library 

In relation to the proposed preferred option (Option 3) Wirral’s Library Service will 

commit to invest in a brand new, electric mobile library which will provide a flexible 

and scalable service to Wirral residents. Current market research and modelling 

suggests a 7.5t Iveco Daily van (ranging from 4 to 7 metre lengths) will be sufficient 

with space for 3000 books, digital provision (e.g., computers, printing, copying etc.), 

and enough space for people to comfortably move around. The mobile library will be 

supplemented with a roof mounted solar panel to ensure its footprint is minimal. 

Generally, a mobile library will be fully customisable ensuring that disabled and ramp 

access is incorporated as well as any other design and access features that allow for 

equality of use. The forthcoming consultation on the proposals for a new library 

model will be used to gain feedback and ideas on any other design features for the 

mobile library. The images below are indicative of what this model of van could look 

like.  

Page 459



 

Opportunities  

The mobile library is a key supporting mitigating factor for the preferred option and 

provides opportunities for an enhanced provision. As well as a core library offer (free 

access to books and printed material) the intention is to provide digital provision such 

as I.T., printing and copying facilities, and to explore the feasibility of roaming Wi-Fi. 

The service will be supplemented by a programme of outreach work supported by a 

core team of Strategic Librarians. This will build on the existing and new partnership 

opportunities both internally and externally to deliver outreach and events that 

provide additional outcomes and value to having a mobile provision in Wirral. For 

example: 

• NHS and CCG partners - to provide outreach such as baby weighing, 

engagement and information events, and offering free equipment (all 

observed in other authorities).  

• Schools – providing themed visits, storytelling, authors, and bringing the 

service to them to encourage and engage children and young people with 

independent reading and to support literacy. 

• Community Groups/Venues – enhance provision at community run or 

managed libraries (TBC), community centres, day centres and other 

community venues, supermarkets, care homes, hospitals, offices etc. 

• Local events and activities – bringing the mobile library to events in parks, 

school fairs, sporting events, and community events. Targeting high 

footfall/traffic events to engage as many people as possible. 

• Library Events – dependant on conditions and available space, the service 

could extend outside of the mobile library for events traditionally held in a 

physical building such bounce and rhyme, reading groups, and reading 

challenges that could provide a unique and diverse setting for those engaged. 

• One Stop Shops – libraries have long been a first line of information for other 

Council services, and this will be explored for the mobile library. 

Page 460



• Order &Collect – we know from the consultation that library opening times 

may not be conducive for many people’s lives and schedules and the 

feasibility of offering a click and collect service where people could order 

books and collect from a scheduled stop and at a time suitable for them will 

be explored. 

In addition to partnership work, the mobile library will act as a marketing tool for 

Wirral’s Library service as it moves around the borough. It can also act as a conduit 

between the Council and engaged residents to provide up to date information and 

advice. 

 

Locations 

The locations have been initially set against those libraries where a closure or 

community managed/owned library is being proposed. This does not mean the 

mobile library will simply station outside of a vacant library building. It does mean 

that locations within that local community will be considered based on demand, need 

and the impact it can have. For example, the mobile library may visit community 

centres, shopping centres, schools, residential areas, and/or car parks of local 

supermarkets. It will also be possible to incorporate areas of the borough that have 

previously been a significant distance from any library or had no provision at all (e.g. 

Thornton Hough). The frequency of visits will be determined via a number of sources 

primarily through existing use, performance and opening hours, the forthcoming 

consultation, emerging demand as the service is rolled out, and based on 

performance and uptake monitoring after the first 12 months.  

The added benefit is that the mobile library will deliver on the Councils statutory 

functions to engage as many children, young people and adults as possible by 

bringing the service to them in a means that is most suitable.  

 

Purchase and Running Costs 

Based on market research and recent purchases from other authorities the cost will 

be c.£213k with a minimum revenue provision and interest of c.£24k (annual 

repayments over 10 years). 

Discussions with other local authorities has suggest that the mobile library can be 

run by one library assistant (dual role). This has been set at Band E based on mobile 

library roles in other authorities (£22k). In addition, the annual running costs for a 

mobile library is c.£16k based on other authorities.  

For the purposes of modelling the ongoing costs and associated savings with the 

preferred option (Option 3), an ongoing cost of £62k has already been factored in to 

account for the above. Additional capital may be required to provide the necessary 

infrastructure for electric charging which will be factored in once known. 

 

Page 461



This page is intentionally left blank



Digital Library 
 
The Digital Library has the advantage of being available when people want to access 
resources 24/7. This includes free access to around 12,000 eBooks and eAudio titles 
through the OverDrive and BorrowBox platforms. Library members also have access 
to a wide range of online information resources including: Find My Past (for family 
history research), Encyclopaedias (OUP Online), and full image editions of national 
and local newspapers (Access UK & Ireland Newspapers - Newsbank). There are 
also two online reading groups available for anyone to join. 
 
 

Home Reader Service 
 
Residents who are unable to visit their local library can have books, audio and 
community information delivered to their home for free. Deliveries are also made to 
people who live in residential and nursing homes. Deliveries are made every four 
weeks at a pre-arranged time. The service can be contacted at 
homereaderservice@wirral.gov.uk or on 0151 666 3443. 

Self Service (non-staffed) (x5) 
 
Radio Frequency Technology (RFID) automated book issue and return technology is 
already installed in 15 of our Libraries. The roll out to these additional five sites will 
allow for books to be available for borrowing without need for staff on site all the time 
that the service point is open, but staff will still provide ad hoc support as needed. 
 
 

Staffed Libraries (x8) 
 
Will continue to offer a comprehensive range of services that include: 

• Book lending 
• Reference libraries and family history 
• Library services for children (Rhyme Time / Storytimes) 
• e-Books and e-Audio 
• CDs and DVDs 
• Public access computers and free WiFi 
• Printing and Photocopying 
• Reading groups and other events 

 

Page 463

mailto:homereaderservice@wirral.gov.uk
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/libraries-and-archives/reference-libraries
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/libraries-and-archives/library-services-children
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/libraries-and-archives/e-books-e-magazines
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/libraries-and-archives/cds-and-dvds


This page is intentionally left blank



TOURISM, COMMUNITIES, CULTURE & LEISURE COMMITTEE
Tuesday, 18 January 2022

REPORT TITLE: 2022/23 BUDGET UPDATE
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF LAW AND GOVERNANCE

REPORT SUMMARY

The report provides for consideration of the recommendations of the Policy and 
Resources Committee in respect of the 2022/23 Budget Update. The associated 
Report of the Director of Resources to the Policy and Resources Committee is 
attached at appendix 1.

RECOMMENDATION/S 

The Tourism, Communities, Culture & Leisure Committee is recommended to:

1) note and comment on the 2022/23 draft budget proposals.

2) authorise the relevant director with portfolio to take the necessary action to 
consult on any proposals that require additional consultation and take 
necessary action to deliver the resulting service changes in consultation with 
the Chair and Group Spokesperson or reporting to the Tourism, Communities, 
Culture & Leisure Committee as the Director considers appropriate.

Page 465

Agenda Item 8



SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 

1.1 To provide the opportunity for the Policy and Services Committees to provide 
feedback on the budget proposals for the Policy and Resources Committee to 
take into consideration in recommending a legal budget to Full Council at its 
meeting of 28 February 2022.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

2.1 Other options have been considered as reported in the Policy and Resources 
Committee and appended report. 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

3.1 Policy and Resources Committee at its meeting on Monday, 17 January 2021 
will receive a report from the Director of Resources providing an updated 
position on the draft budget for 2022/23 and related statutory consultation. 
That report and associated appendices are appended to this report.

3.2 The budget proposals associated to Tourism, Communities, Culture & Leisure 
Committee are detailed within section 3 of this report.

3.3 PROPOSAL: Review of Leisure Service 

More about this option: This proposal includes a full-service review of the 
council’s Leisure Services Division to consider all elements delivered and 
focus on removal of unnecessary cost and duplication, improved 
commissioning, and a lean target operating model. 

It is likely that there will be staffing implications as a consequence of the 
review, the totality of which cannot be identified at the present time. Any 
reduction in staffing numbers would be attempted to be achieved through 
EVR/VS, redeployment and/or retraining.
Saving: £178k

3.4 PROPOSAL: Closure of Europa Fun/Leisure Pool & Enhanced Gym Offer

More about this option: This proposal includes the closure of the Leisure 
Pool ('Fun' Pool) at Europa Pools (wave machine, swimming pool features, 
flumes, etc). The option does not include the closure of the centre nor 
competition swimming pool which would continue to remain open. The service 
would also seek to repurpose the Leisure Pool, using the space to create a 
larger indoor gym offer and therefore increased income.
Saving: £246k Plus £20k increased income from Gym offer

3.5 PROPOSAL: Increased Catering Across all Leisure Sites

Page 466



More about this option: This saving proposal would see an increase in 
income generation at the Sail Loft site through maximisation of customer 
numbers and sales. Further income could be generated through expansion of 
the service at different sites across the borough. 
Income: £60k

3.6 PROPOSAL: Outdoor Water Sports Offer at West Kirby Marine Lake 

More about this option: This budget option is an income generation scheme 
that would utilise the Marine Lake for new outdoor activities. These activities 
have become popular during the pandemic as people have sought 
alternatives to indoor activities whilst restrictions were in place.

Additionally, there will be more opportunities for residents to become involved 
in new sports activities, as well as having the potential to attract additional 
customers at the Sail Loft site
Income: £15k

3.7 PROPOSAL: Catering Pod at Leasowe Leisure Centre for Football Traffic

More about this option: This proposal will look to establish an outdoor 
catering offer (catering pod) at Leasowe Leisure Centre. An extension of the 
council’s expanded in-house catering offer, the unit will primarily serve the 
high footfall football league traffic during the months of September – May. 
There is also scope to expand operation by re-locating the unit during the 
remaining months of the year. 
Income: £21k

3.8 PROPOSAL: Permanent Closure and Demolition of Woodchurch Leisure 
Centre

More about this option: This option is for the closure of Woodchurch Leisure 
Centre. Due to the condition of the site, its low usage levels comparable with 
other sites, the required level of investment and the subsidy it carries, is 
proposed that the centre is then demolished to make way for a growth in 
outdoor leisure provision. The site adjacent to the Leisure Centre will see the 
construction of a new 3G Artificial Grass playing pitch and accompanying 
pavilion during the 2022-23 financial year. 
Saving: £402k

3.9 PROPOSAL: Temporary Closure and Remodelling of Bidston Tennis Centre 

More about this option: The option would see the closure of the Tennis 
Centre (indoors) in Bidston for a 12-month period whilst a facility upgrade 
takes place at the site within the core of the building. It has been identified by 
an independent leisure consultant that the facility mix within the building does 
not complement local need or local demographic. Consequently, a redesigned 
centre will meet the needs of the local population and provide additional 
income. The new development would take out 3 indoor tennis courts and 
replace with extensive soft play and gymnastics offer. A second new 3G 

Page 467



Astroturf pitch would also be built within the outside grounds of the site in a 
funding partnership between the Football Foundation and the Council with 
further income potential. 
Saving: £114k

3.10 PROPOSAL: Review of Golf Offer

More about this option: This proposal will seek to generate savings through 
the closure of the two lowest income generating 18-hole golf courses, two 
leisure based recreational New Brighton sites and introduction of a new 
pricing/membership model for municipal golf. Brackenwood and Hoylake golf 
courses will close, along with Wallasey Beach and Kings Parade leisure sites. 
The two remaining golf courses will still provide a sufficient ‘golf offer’ to the 
residents of Wirral whilst substantially reducing the financial subsidy to the 
authority.
Saving: £328k

3.11 PROPOSAL: Exercise on Referral Programme

More about this option: Wirral’s Leisure Services Team has a pool of 
qualified professionals who will be commissioned by health partners to 
provide patients with an opportunity to engage in a structured programme of 
physical activity or exercise by working with a qualified exercise professional 
to provide a positive introduction to being active.
Income: £100k

3.12 PROPOSAL: Reprovision of the Library Service 

More about this option: This saving is associated with the development of a 
new operating model in libraries which will consolidate and realign the current 
libraries estate and resources to provide a comprehensive and efficient 
service for all who wish to use it.

The new operating model will retain four central libraries and four community 
libraries, as well as Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) only provision co-
located in community assets. The home reader service will remain for 
residents who cannot access a traditional library, as will the council’s digital 
library and online offer. 

In addition, the service will invest in a Mobile Library with a 3000-book 
capacity to ensure hard to reach communities have access to a library 
service. 

The saving will be achieved through library closures, service realignment and 
a staffing restructure.

Full details of the new Libraries Operating Model will be available from 10th 
January via:    
http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=956&MId=9051
Saving: £814k

Page 468

http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=956&MId=9051


3.13 PROPOSAL: Floral Pavilion – New Operating Model

More about this option: This option would reduce the operational budget for 
the Floral Pavilion Theatre and Conference Centre, whilst increasing the 
amount of income generated by the venue. The venue does attract a subsidy 
however this has diminished in recent years due to improved management 
and this trend of working towards a leaner operating model with greater 
income potential is expected to continue.
Saving: £350k - £400k

3.14 PROPOSAL: Review of Anti-Social Behaviour Team

More about this option: This option will involve an alternative service 
delivery model and reduction of one post. The Team will continue to prioritise 
the statutory functions and consider the impact on the Community Safety 
Strategy. 
Saving: £50k

3.15 PROPOSAL: Review Engagement Officer Secondment

More about this option: This proposal will seek agreement to not backfill an 
Engagement Officer for one year secondment to Regeneration.
Saving: £35k

3.16 PROPOSAL: Reduction in Community Patrol Service 

More about this option: This option would see a redesign of the Community 
Patrol Service to an Out of Hours / High Demand service only (the CCTV and 
Control Room Function will remain 24/7, 365).
Saving: £150k

3.17 PROPOSAL: Cessation of Constituency Team and Remodelling of Section 

More about this option: This saving presents the deletion of the 
Constituency Team and Redeployment of officers where possible. The saving 
will be achieved through associated staffing reductions.
Saving: £346k

3.18 PROPOSAL: Introduction of an Overnight Camper Van Parking Charge in 
New Brighton

More about this option: This option will focus on income generation from 
introducing an overnight parking charge for leisure vehicles (motorhomes / 
campervans) on the coastal areas of New Brighton.

There is currently no charge for overnight parking. New Brighton has seen 
regeneration and an increase in tourism in recent years. The proposal will 
help to manage overnight parking in this area which has also seen a 
significant growth particularly since the start of the pandemic.

Page 469



Income: £35k

3.19 PROPOSAL: Deletion of Vacant Posts 

More about this option: There are a number of vacant posts across the 
Neighbourhoods Directorate. This option would see these posts deleted to 
achieve the savings.
Saving: £302k

3.20 PROPOSAL: Reduction in The Budget for Office Related Expenditure

More about this option: This proposal is made up of a reduction in 
Neighbourhoods budgeted expenditure for office related expenses such as 
printing and paper services, lighting, electricity, heating, etc.
Saving: £23k

3.21 PROPOSAL: Review of the Neighbourhood Services Directorate

More about this option: A fundamental review of the Neighbourhood 
Directorate will take place in order to drive efficiencies and realign service. 
This will be achieved through an EVR process that will commence in early 
January. 

Statutory services within this Directorate will not be affected by the review.
Saving: £360k

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 This report is to ensure that a fully balanced legal budget can be 
recommended by the Policy and Resources Committee to Full Council at its 
meeting of 28 February 2022.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1     As detailed in the appended report to the Policy and Resources Committee.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 

6.1 As detailed in the appended report to the Policy and Resources Committee.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 As detailed in the appended report to the Policy and Resources Committee.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 As detailed in the appended report to the Policy and Resources Committee.

1.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

Page 470



9.1 As detailed in the appended report to the Policy and Resources Committee.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 As detailed in the appended report to the Policy and Resources Committee.

11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS

11.1 As detailed in the appended report to the Policy and Resources Committee.

REPORT AUTHOR: Dan Sharples
(Dan Sharples, Democracy Business Manager)
email:  danielsharples@wirral.gov.uk  

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Report to Policy and Resources Committee, 17 January 2022
Appendix 2 Detailed Draft 2022-23 Budget Position
Appendix 3 Briefing Note: Local Government Finance Settlement 2022/23
Appendix 4 2022/23 Budget Setting Proposals Pack
Appendix 5 Full Budget Consultation report

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Pressure and Growth Business Cases
Savings and Income Business Cases
DLUHC External Assurance Reports

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Policy and Resources Committee
Policy and Resources Committee
Policy and Resources Committee
Policy and Resources Committee

17 March 2021
25 October 2021
01 December 2021
17 January 2022

Page 471

mailto:danielsharples@wirral.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
Monday, 17 January 2022 

REPORT TITLE: 2022/23 BUDGET UPDATE 
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES (S151 OFFICER)

REPORT SUMMARY

This report is part of the Council’s formal budget process, as set out in the constitution and 
in accordance with the legal requirements to set a balanced and sustainable budget for 
2022/23.

The Policy and Resources Committee on 25 October 2021 agreed to ask for the views of 
residents, businesses, and all those with a stake in the future of Wirral, about what council 
services matter to them most to help develop the budget plan.  This consultation ran from 2 
to 28 November 2021 and the outcomes are provided in this report.  

At the Committee on 25 October 2021,  and in line with the external assurance review 
recommendations to provide sensitivity analysis, three potential budget scenarios were 
presented as to what the budget gap could be for 2022/23.  The rationale for the three 
scenarios was to present assumptions based on known information at the time in advance 
of the draft Local Government Finance Settlement being published and in advance of the 
compilation of proposals for pressures and growth items and savings and income for the 
2022/23 budget.

The Draft Local Government Finance Settlement was published on 16 December 2021 and 
budget proposals have been developed in response to the previously outlined budget gap.  

This report provides an updated position on the draft budget for 2022/23 and related 
statutory consultation. The final budget proposals will be presented to Policy & Resources 
Committee on 15 February 22 for recommendation to full Council.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Policy and Resources Committee is recommended to:

(i) Note the outcome of the draft Local Government Financial Settlement for 2022/23, 
in advance of the final Settlement which is due later in January 2022;

(ii) Recognise, the extent of the Council’s financial challenge and structural deficit, 
which needs to be eliminated;

.

Page 473



(iii) Note the savings and income proposals that could address the 2022/23 budget 
gap;

(iv) Note the outcome of the November 2021 consultation; 

(v) Consult on the draft budget for 2022-23, under section 65 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992. 

Page 474



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 The scale of the financial challenge that the Council faces cannot be overstated. The 
Council has a structural deficit and this has been recognised in a request to DLUHC 
for the application of a capitalisation directive. The short-term support afforded by 
government in the form of a capitalisation directive does not extend beyond 2021/22, 
emphasising the need for focus and agility in balancing the Council’s financial 
position.

1.2 The offer for capitalisation for the current financial year was subject to an external 
assurance review. The review focussed on the Council’s financial position and on its 
ability, including the strength of its governance arrangements, to deliver its plans for 
medium-term sustainability. This process reinforces the requirement for an in-depth 
review of functions to enable considered and robust proposals to be made to Council 
in February 2022 for the 2022/23 budget.

1.3 Implementing proposals will require difficult decisions to ensure that a balanced 
budget can be presented. Regular Member engagement on the process is essential 
for effective budget formulation.

1.4 One component of the external assurance review recommendations set out the need 
to develop a financial recovery plan. Policy & Resources Committee approved the 
Council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) at its meeting of 1 December 
2021, which confirmed key principles the Council would follow in respect of its 
financial planning. The MTFS provides a robust, consistent, and sustainable 
approach to establishing and maintaining a stable and prudent financial basis on 
which the Council’s services are to be delivered.

1.5 In order to fulfil the aims of the MTFS, it is imperative that proposals for budget 
options are evidence based and achievable. In order to ensure that this is the case, 
rigorous review has been undertaken through:

 Directorate Management Teams (DMT)
 Senior Leadership Team (SLT)
 internal finance assurance review
 external review via the engagement of the Chartered Institute of Public 

Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and
 Council Committees

1.6 This process of review and challenge is ongoing, to ensure that final proposals made 
to Policy & Resources Committee in February, for budget recommendation, are fully 
scrutinised and fit and proper in terms of readiness for decision-making. Contained 
within this report are all current proposals for consideration prior to the need to make 
decisions on how the budget for 2022/23 should be formulated. 

1.7 Setting out potential budget proposals in this report ensures statutory consultation 
can be carried out in advance of setting the 2022/23 annual budget.

1.8 The information in this report also provides the opportunity for the Policy and 
Services Committees at their meetings in January 2022 to provide feedback on the 

Page 475



budget proposals for the Policy and Resources Committee to take into consideration 
in recommending a legal budget to Full Council at its meeting of 28 February 2022.

1.9 As part of the budget setting process, the Policy and Resources Committee is able to 
take into consideration the outcome of the November 2021 consultation with 
residents, businesses, and all those with a stake in the future of Wirral, about what 
council services matter to them most to help develop the budget plan.

1.10 This report ensures that the Policy and Resources Committee is provided with timely 
information on the latest budget position and the matters that affect the budget gap 
inclusive of outline proposals to address it.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The setting of a legal budget is a statutory requirement and therefore no other 
options have been considered.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 At the Policy and Resources Committee on 25 October three scenarios were 
presented as the potential budget gap for 2022/23.  Members will be aware that the 
budget gap is an ever-moving target due to a number of factors:

 Ongoing Government announcements of funding, including specifically at this 
time of year, the Chancellor’s Autumn Statement 

 The continued scrutiny of growth and pressures to ensure values are evidenced 
based with no optimism bias

 Addition of new pressures that continue to materialise as further local and 
national evidence comes to light

 The continued further development of budget proposals 

3.2 As a result, the budget scenarios presented in October have changed and with the 
publication of the draft Local Government Financial Settlement on 16 December 
2021, the three scenarios have been consolidated into one, more robust, position. 
This position however is subject to further change ahead of formal budget setting 
activity.

Page 476



2022/23 Budget Position
3.3 The 2022/23 budget position is currently as follows:

Budget 
Position 

Reported in 
MTFS 1 Dec 

21

Revised 
Budget 

Position

Change

£m £m £m
Total Funding -317.94 -330.57 -12.63

Initial Budget Requirement for 2022-23 329.40 329.40 0.00

Total one off savings from 2021-22 7.51 7.51 0.00
Total one off pressures from 2021-22 -14.06 -14.06 0.00
Total known pressures 31.64 27.45 -4.19

Initial Budget Gap 36.55 19.73 -16.81

Total savings options -11.34 -20.31 -8.97

Revised Budget Gap 25.21 -0.58 -25.79

3.4 A more detailed analysis of this table can be found in Appendix 1.

3.5 In October 2021, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced information regarding 
the Spending Review in his Autumn Statement. The details of this have been 
provided in the Local Government Funding Settlement, received on 16 December 
2021 and a summary briefing note is included in Appendix 2. It should be noted that 
the settlement is provisional at this stage and is open to consultation until the 13th 
January 2022. Following the closure of the consultation period the settlement is 
subject to Parliamentary approval, and as such the financial position outlined above 
is subject to change.

3.6 At the Policy and Resources Committee on 1 December, agreement was given to 
identify further budget proposals via a process of providing Directorate budget 
envelopes, after the original budget process, agreed in March 2021, failed to 
generate the level of savings required.

3.7 In November 2021, the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC) published the two external assurance reports indicating areas the Council 
should give specific focus to. In response to the recommendations made in the 
assurance reports a peer-based improvement panel will convene in January when 
the information provided as part of the 2022/23 budget setting process will be 
reviewed. 

Page 477



3.8 The current set of budget proposals for the 2022/23 budget are included in Appendix 
3. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 This report is part of a programme of activity to ensure that a fully balanced, legal 
budget can be recommended by the Policy and Resources Committee to Full 
Council at its meeting of 28 February 2022. 

4.2 The programme to develop a robust budget position, which this paper forms part of, 
will support the Council in ensuring that CIPFA’s Financial Management Code (FM 
Code) is complied with, in particular in relation to Section 4 of the FM Code – The 
Annual Budget.

4.3 The FM Code requires the Council to demonstrate that the processes they have in
place satisfy the principles of good financial management, based on the following six
principles:

 Organisational Leadership – demonstrating a clear strategic direction based
on a vision in which financial management is embedded into organisation
culture.

 Accountability – based on Medium-Term Financial Planning, that derives the
annual budget process supported by effective risk management, quality
supporting data and whole life costs.

 Financial management - undertaken with transparency at its core using
consistent, meaningful and understandable data, reported frequently with
evidence of periodic officer actions and elected member decision making.

 Professional standards - Adherence to professional standards is promoted by
the leadership team and is evidenced.

 Assurance - sources of assurance are recognised as an effective tool
mainstreamed into financial management, including political scrutiny and the
results of external audit, internal audit and inspection.

 Sustainability - The long-term sustainability of local services is at the heart of
all financial management processes and is evidenced by prudent use of public
resources.

4.4 Delivering financial sustainability is vitally important for the Council. The 
Capitalisation directive requirements reinforce the need to develop a revised 
approach to sustainable service delivery resource planning. This is reflective of 
comments made by Grant Thornton, the Council’s external auditor, who noted as 
part of their value for money review during the audit of the 2019/20 accounts, “We 
note that the capitalisation directive will only provide support to the Council for 
2020/21 and 2021/22. As such, the Council needs to ensure that it delivers against 
its revised MTFS. It will need to put in place clear plans to reduce its future recurring 
service expenditure and move to a balanced revenue position that does not rely on 
reserves”.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Council must set the budget in accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and approval of a balanced budget each year is a 

Page 478



statutory responsibility of the Council and, therefore, of this Committee in preparing 
that budget.

5.2 The provisions of section 25, Local Government Act 2003 require that, when the 
Council is making the calculation of its budget requirement, it must have regard to 
the report of the chief finance (s.151) officer as to the robustness of the estimates 
made for the purposes of the calculations and the adequacy of the proposed 
financial reserves. In doing so, Members must satisfy themselves that sufficient 
mechanisms are in place to ensure both that savings are delivered and that new 
expenditure is contained within the available resources. Accordingly, proposals put 
forward as part of the budget process will have identified the realistic measures and 
mechanisms to produce the desired outcomes. 

5.3 Consultation has taken place in respect of the priorities and views of the public in 
formulating the draft budget, as set out in this report.    

5.4 Once the Committee has agreed a draft budget, which is the purpose of this report, 
there is then a requirement under section 65 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 to conduct specific consultation with persons or bodies appearing to it to be 
representative of non-domestic ratepayers about the authority’s proposals for 
expenditure (including capital expenditure) in the forthcoming financial year. The 
information required to be shared as part of the consultation is set out in the Non-
Domestic Ratepayers (Consultation) Regulations 1992. This includes the authority’s 
current estimates of the total of its revenue expenditure and the total of its 
expenditure for capital purposes for the forthcoming financial year (the draft budget).

5.5 It must be borne in mind that this is consultation on the budget proposals, not on the 
decision to take whatever decision is implied by the adoption of that budget. 

5.6 The report sets out the relevant considerations for Members to consider during their 
deliberations and Members are reminded of the need to ignore irrelevant 
considerations. Members have a duty to seek to ensure that the Council acts lawfully 
and, where a service is provided pursuant to a statutory duty, it would not be lawful 
to fail to discharge it properly or abandon it, and where there is discretion as to how it 
is to be discharged, that discretion should be exercised reasonably. Members must 
not come to a decision which no reasonable authority could come to; balancing the 
nature, quality and level of services which they consider should be provided, against 
the costs of providing such services. 

5.7 There is a particular requirement to take into consideration the Council’s fiduciary duty 
and the public sector equality duty in coming to a decision. 

5.8 Members are also individually reminded that Section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 applies to the Council meeting on the budget and therefore 
arguably to the formulation of the Budget. Members who are two months or more in 
arrears with their Council Tax must declare this to the meeting and must not vote on 
budget recommendations, as to do otherwise can be a criminal offence.

 

Page 479



6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 The implications for staffing, ICT and Assets will be included within the individual 
savings proposals currently being developed by Directors and will be addressed 
when these are brought forward for approval.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The Council’s ability to maintain a balanced budget is dependent on a proactive 
approach due to estimated figures being provided in the calculation for the budget, 
albeit the best estimates available at the time, plus any amount of internal and 
external factors that could impact on the budget position in year. Examples of which 
are new legislation, increased demand, loss of income, increased funding, 
decreased funding, inability to recruit to posts, ongoing impact of the pandemic, etc.

7.2 A robust monitoring and management process for the budget is in place. If at any 
time during the year an adverse position is forecast, remedial action must be agreed 
and implemented immediately to ensure the budget can be brought back to balanced 
position.

7.3 Failure to achieve a balanced budget would lead to the Section 151 Officer issuing a 
Section 114 notice and potential ministerial invention under Section 15 of the Local 
Government Act 1999.

7.4 Funding and demand assumptions in particular can change as more information 
becomes available. As such, the Medium-Term Finance Plan (MTFP) is regularly 
reviewed and updated as part of routine financial management.

7.5 Under the system of retained Business Rates, Authorities benefit from a share of any 
increased revenues but are liable for at least a share of any falls in income (subject 
to safety net triggers) and any non-collection. This includes reductions arising from 
appeals relating to past years which partially fall on the Authority. These risks are 
mitigated through a combination of the operation of the Collection Fund, General 
Fund Balances and a Business Rates Equalisation Reserve.

7.6 A balanced MTFP is fundamental in demonstrating robust and secure financial 
management. Delivering a balanced position requires continual review and revision 
of plans to allow alternative financial proposals to be developed and embedded in 
plans as situations change. A delay in agreeing these may put the timetable for 
setting the 2022/23 budget at risk and may result in a balanced budget not being 
identified in time for the deadline of 11 March 2022.

7.7 Assumptions have been made in the current budget outlook for income and funding 
from business rates and council tax and social care grants as the main sources of 
funding. If there is an adverse change to these assumptions as a result of the final 
funding settlement, additional savings proposals or reduced expenditure would need 
to be identified as soon as possible to ensure a balanced five-year MTFP.

7.8 Sections 25 to 29 of the Local Government Act 2003 impose duties on the Council in 
relation to how it sets and monitors its budget. These provisions require the Council 
to make prudent allowance for the risk and uncertainties in its budget and regularly 

Page 480



monitor its finances during the year. The legislation leaves discretion to the Council 
about the allowances to be made and action to be taken.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/ CONSULTATION 

8.1 Initial consultation has taken place to ask for the views of residents, businesses, and 
all those with a stake in the future of Wirral, about what council services and priorities 
matter to them most to help develop the 2022-23 budget. This process ran from 2 to 
28  November 2021. The full report of the outcome to the consultation is included 
within Appendix 4.

8.2 Statutory budget consultation will commence subject to agreement by the 
Committee. This will take place in January 2022 and feedback will be taken into 
consideration by the Policy and Resources Committee when recommending a 
budget to Full Council at its meeting of 28 February 2022.

8.3 All Policy and Services Committees will have an opportunity to debate the draft 
2022/23 budget publicly at the January 2022 Committees and feedback will be taken 
into consideration by the Policy and Resources Committee when recommending a 
budget to Full Council at its meeting of 28 February 2022.

8.4 The Council has engaged regularly with trade unions about the Council’s financial 
position and response to the external assurance reports. This will continue 
throughout the budget setting process.

8.5 For budget proposals that may result in reductions to the workforce, the Council will 
consult with trade unions and relevant staff groups as required and in accordance 
with section 188(1A) of the Trade Union and Labour Relations Act (TULRCA) 1992).

8.6 The Council is committed to mitigating the impact on staff as far as possible and will 
take all steps possible to avoid any compulsory redundancies in accordance with 
policies and procedures.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 
carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity.

9.2 The equality implications will be included within the individual savings proposals 
currently being developed  and will be addressed when these are brought forward for 
approval. Equality implications will be part of the decision-making process.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The environment and climate implications will be considered within the individual 
savings proposals currently being developed and will be addressed when these are 
brought forward for approval. 

Page 481

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1992/52/section/188


11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS

11.1 The community wealth implications will be considered within the individual savings 
proposals currently being developed. The budget proposals under consideration will 
take account of related matters across headings such as the following:

 Progressive Procurement and Social Value How we commission and 
procure goods and services. Encouraging contractors to deliver more benefits 
for the local area, such as good jobs, apprenticeship, training & skills 
opportunities, real living wage, minimising their environmental impact, and 
greater wellbeing.
 More local & community ownership of the economy Supporting more 
cooperatives and community businesses. Enabling greater opportunities for 
local businesses. Building on the experience of partnership working with 
voluntary, community and faith groups during the pandemic to further develop 
this sector.
 Decent and Fair Employment Paying all employees a fair and reasonable 
wage.
 Making wealth work for local places 

REPORT AUTHOR: Shaer Halewood
(Shaer Halewood, Director of Resources (S151 Officer))
telephone:  Tel: 0151 691 8688
email:  shaerhalewood@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Detailed Draft 2022-23 Budget Position

Appendix 2: Briefing Note: Local Government Finance Settlement 2022/23

Appendix 3: 2022/23 Budget Setting Proposals Pack 

Appendix 4: Full Budget Consultation report

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Pressure and Growth Business Cases
Savings and Income Business Cases
DLUHC External Assurance Reports
CIPFA’s Financial Management Code

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Policy and Resources Committee
Policy and Resources Committee
Policy and Resources Committee
Policy and Resources Committee

17 March 2021
25 October 2021
30 November 2021
01 December 2021

Page 482



APPENDIX 1: Detailed Draft 2022-23 Budget Position
Budget 
Position 

Reported in 
MTFS 1 Dec 21

Revised 
Budget 
Position

Change

£m £m £m
FUNDING 
Business Rates
Business Rates base -72.30 -72.30 0.00
Inflation -1.16 -1.16 0.00
Properties -0.14 -0.14 0.00
Section 31 Grant -11.67 -11.67 0.00
Top up Grant -34.30 -35.05 -0.75
BCF -18.80 -19.24 -0.44
Council Tax
Council Tax Base -156.70 -156.70 0.00
Additional Properties -0.57 -0.57 0.00
Inflation -3.15 -3.15 0.00
Adult Social Care Precept -1.58 -1.58 0.00
Other
Collection Fund (surplus) / deficit 4.04 4.04 0.00
Local Council Tax Support Grant -2.56 -2.56 0.00
NI reimbursement Grant -1.44 0.00 1.44
New Homes Bonus -0.07 -0.44 -0.37
Social Care Grant -14.60 -19.77 -5.17
Lower Tier Funding 0.00 -0.51 -0.51
Capital Receipts -2.93 -2.93 0.00
Capitalisation Directive 0.00 0.00 0.00
2022/23 Services Grant 0.00 -5.62 -5.62
Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund 0.00 -1.22 -1.22
TOTAL FUNDING -317.94 -330.57 -12.63

P
age 483



Budget 
Position 

Reported in 
MTFS 1 Dec 21

Revised 
Budget 
Position

Change

£m £m £m
EXPENDITURE
INITIAL BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR 2022/23 329.40 329.40 0.00

Removal of one-off items from 21/22:
Total one off savings from 21/22 7.51 7.51 0.00
Total one off pressures from 21/22 -14.06 -14.06 0.00

REVISED BUDGET GAP 4.91 -7.72 -12.63

ADD KNOWN PRESSURES/ GROWTH 31.64 27.45 -4.19

REVISED BUDGET GAP 36.55 19.73 -16.81

DEDUCT PROPOSED SAVINGS
Adult Care & Health -4.00 -3.89 0.11 
Children, Young People & Education -1.89 -3.15 -1.27 
Neighbourhoods -0.77 -6.28 -5.51 
Regeneration & Place -0.08 -1.93 -1.85 
Resources -1.10 -4.23 -3.13 
Law & Governance -0.20 -0.73 -0.53 
Corporate -3.31 -0.11 3.20 
Total Proposed Savings -11.34 -20.31 -8.97

REVISED BUDGET GAP 25.21 -0.58 -25.79

P
age 484



APPENDIX 2: Briefing Note: Local Government Finance Settlement 2022/23

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This briefing note outlines the government’s announcement and subsequent 
publications on 16th December 2021 concerning the Local Government Finance 
Settlement 2022/23 and gives an analysis on the impact on Wirral Council’s 
Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP), although as noted below all data is 
provisional at this stage. 

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 On 27th October 2021 the government announced The Spending Review, which set 
out the Government’s spending plans for each government department for the next 
three financial years, including local government and its agenda on “levelling up”.

Following this, on 16th December 2021 the Local Government Finance Settlement 
2022/23 was announced, with impacts on Core Spending Power for 2022/23, Social 
Care Grant allocations as well as other grant details. The settlement was for a 
single year only, to give the government time to work with the sector and assess 
how it will share out resources fairly in future years. 

At the same time, a consultation related to the settlement proposals was launched, 
which runs for 4 weeks and concludes on 13th January 2023. 

3.0 LOCAL GOVERNMENT HEADLINES

3.1 Core Spending Power
Core Spending Power is a measure of the resources available to local authorities to 
fund service delivery. It sets out the money that has been made available to local 
authorities (assuming full Council Tax increase) through the Local Government 
Finance Settlement.

The headline announcement was that an additional £3.5 billion of funding would be 
“made available” to councils, representing a 4% real terms increase. This includes 
an additional £1.5 billion of the £1.6 billion announced grant funding and the first of 
the promised support from Department of Health to support Market Sustainability 
and Fair Cost of Care.

It was again undertaken that no Council would suffer a cash terms cut in core 
spending power. The main sources of the funding are:

Page 485



Provisional Change Change
2021-22 2022-23 22-23 22-23

 
ENGLAND
 £ million £ million £ million %
Settlement Funding Assessment 14,809.7 14,882.2 72.5 {
Compensation for under-indexing 
the business rates multiplier

650.0 1,025.1 375.1 {       2.9

Council Tax Requirement 
excluding parish precepts

30,326.9 31,728.5 1,401.6 4.6

Improved Better Care Fund 2,077.0 2,139.8 62.8 3.0
New Homes Bonus 622.3 554.5 -67.8 -10.9
Rural Services Delivery Grant 85.0 85.0 0 0
Social Care Grant2 1,710.0 2,346.4 636.4 37.2
2022/23 Services Grant 0 822.0 822.0 0
Market sustainability and Fair 
Cost of Care

0 162.0 162.0 0

Lower Tiers Services Grant 111.0 111.0 0 0
Core Spending Power 50,391.9 53,856.5 3,464.6 6.9

3.2 Council Tax
The Council Tax proposals set out in the Spending Review 2021 in October were 
confirmed as part of the settlement. The proposal for core Council Tax in 2022/23 is 
therefore to continue a referendum cap of up to 2%.

There is also the flexibility to add up to a further 1% adult social care precept for 
authorities providing adult social care services. This can be enhanced by up to 3% 
of the permitted Social Care Precept increase from 2021-22 where not already 
utilised.

A £5 flexibility is proposed for district councils, a £10 flexibility is proposed for 
Police and Crime Commissioners and a flexibility of £5 for the 8 lowest charging fire 
and rescue authorities. No referendum limit is proposed for Mayoral Combined 
Authorities in 2022-23 and Government has deferred its decision to impose a 
referendum limit on Town and Parish Councils.

3.3 Improved Better Care Fund
Improved Better Care fund grows by 3% for all upper tier councils.

3.4 Social Care Grant
Social Care Grant will increase by £636m from £1,710m to £2,364m in 2022/23. 
The basis for allocating the additional £636m is as follows:

 £556 million is based on existing formula i.e., distributed using the adult 
social care relative needs formula.

 £80 million is to equalise the different abilities of councils to raise social care 
precept.

3.5 Lower Tier Services Grant
Introduced in 2021/22, the Lower Tier Services Grant was assumed to be one-off 
funding for the current financial year only. However, it has been retained for 

Page 486



2022/23 and remains unchanged in cash terms at £111m, although the distribution 
to Local Authorities has been recalculated. 

3.6 New Homes Bonus
The government has decided to maintain the current approach to the NHB 
payments in 2022/23. There will be no legacy (i.e., second) payment for 2021-22 
years’ NHB meaning 2022-23 payment therefore consists of 2019-20 legacy and 
2022-23 estimate, resulting in a 10.9% reduction in the overall grant.

3.7 2022/23 Services Grant
A new 2022/23 Services Grant was announced giving Local Authorities £822m 
nationally. This grant is explicitly noted as a one-off grant and will in future likely 
contribute towards transition funding in the future as the government intended to 
take steps towards the introduction of Fair Funding in later years. 

3.8 Public Health Grant
Information on the Public Health grant is not yet available and is expected in the 
new year.

3.8 Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund
To further support the government’s proposals for making specific funding available 
for social care services, along with Better Care Fund and Social Care Grant, the 
Department for Health and Social Care’s Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of 
Care Fund is included within Core Spending Power in 2022/23.

Totalling £162m nationally, this fund is to support Local Authorities prepare their 
markets for reform and move towards paying providers a fair cost of care and is to 
be allocated using the government’s existing Adult Social Care Relative Need 
Formula, in line with the Social Care Grant.

4.0 WIRRAL COUNCIL IMPACT

4.1 Council Tax
The confirmation of the 2% core referendum principal means an increase in Council 
Tax income of approximately £3.1m as reported as part of the Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) at Policy & Resources Committee on 1st December 
2021. 

Similarly, a 1% Council Tax precept for Adult Social Care would generate an 
additional £1.6m as reported within the MTFS. Both these figures are subject to 
confirmation of the Council Tax Base figure for 2022/23, which is due to be reported 
to Policy and Resources in January 2022.

4.2 Social Care Grant
Provisional allocations of the ringfenced Social Care Grant indicate that Wirral will 
receive £19.8m in 2022/23, which is an increase of £5.2m compared with the 
2021/22 budget and the 2022/23 assumption in the MTFS reported to Policy & 
Resources. Based upon this allocation, the resources have been proportioned 
across Adults and Children’s Services to limit the requirement to make additional 
savings in those statutory services.

Page 487



4.3 Lower Tier Services Grant
It had previously been assumed that the Lower Tier Services grant was for one 
year only in 2021/22. However, confirmation of its continuation in 2022/23 means a 
£0.5m improvement compared with MTFS assumptions.

4.4 New Homes Bonus
It had previously been assumed that the New Homes Bonus grant was coming to 
an end with just a legacy payment of £0.074m due in 2022/23. However, the 
government has decided to maintain the current approach to the NHB payments in 
2022/23. Provisional allocations indicate Wirral will receive £0.4m in 2022/23, an 
increase of £0.36m against previous assumptions. 

4.5 2022/23 Services Grant
Provisional allocations indicate Wirral will receive £5.6m from this new grant, which 
was not included in previous assumptions as a standalone grant. However, as well 
as providing funding to all tiers of local government in recognition of the vital 
services, including social care, delivered at every level of local government, this 
grant includes funding for local government costs for the increase in employer 
National Insurance Contributions which Wirral had previously assumed would be 
received as a separate grant of £1.4m, meaning the provisional allocation is £4.2m 
better off against previous assumptions. 

4.6 Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund
Early indications are that Wirral will receive approximately £1.2m for this funding, 
although any detailed conditions and allocation tables are not expected until early in 
2022.This has been allocated to Adult Social Services, pending additional guidance 
and implications.

4.7 Business Rates
The settlement confirmed that the 100% Business Rates Retention pilot that Wirral 
participates in alongside Liverpool City Region authorities will continue in 2022/23. 
Although this was already assumed in the MTFS, this is positive news as Wirral 
benefits by approximately £7m per year as a result of participating in the pilot. 

The latest assumptions were that the Business Rates Top-up would remain 
unchanged from 2021/22 at £53.1m. However, the provisional settlement indicates 
this will increase to £54.3m, an improvement of £1.2m.

4.8 Included within this increase is a 3% BCF increase of £0.44m to support  integrated 
working across Adults, Children’s, Public Health and NHS.

4.9 Dedicated Schools Grant
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) allocations were also published by the Department 
for Education (DfE) on 16th December 2021. Although this is ringfenced education 
funding and therefore has no impact on the MTFS, Wirral’s indicative allocation for 
2022/23 is £313.5m, a £10.9m (3.6%) increase from the current 2021/22 estimate. 

Page 488



4.10 In total, the provisional impact on the Wirral MTFS is an improvement of £12.6m. 
The following table summarises the impact of the provisional Local Government 
Finance Settlement on Wirral Council’s MTFS:

  2022/23

 
2021/22 
Budget

MTFS 
assumption 

(P&R 01/12/21)
Provisional 
settlement

MTFS 
Impact

 £m £m £m £m
Business Rates Top-Up -53.10 -53.10 -54.29 -1.19
SC NI levy reimbursement 0.00 -1.44 0.00 -1.44
New Homes Bonus -0.20 -0.07 -0.44 -0.36
Social Care Grant -14.60 -14.60 -19.77 -5.17
Lower Tier Funding -0.50 0.00 -0.51 -0.51
2022/23 Services Grant 0.00 0.00 -5.62 -5.62
Market Sustainability & Fair Cost of 
Care Fund 0.00 0.00 -1.22 -1.22
Total provisional 2022/23 MTFS 
impact    -12.62

5.0 CONCLUSION

5.1 While the settlement brought positive news for Wirral as well as the Local 
Government sector in general, the data outlined in this briefing note should be 
treated with caution. 

5.2 Firstly the settlement is provisional at this stage, and as noted is open to 
consultation until the 13th January 2022. Following the closure of the consultation 
period the settlement is subject to Parliament approve, and as such the data 
outlined above is subject to change.

5.3 Guidance on Business Rates for 2022/23 is still to be released. The estimated 
income generated from Business Rates for 2022/23, as well as the related Section 
31 Grants for qualifying reliefs, will be analysed in detail in conjunction with the 
guidance when available. Such estimates have a deadline for completion and 
submission to Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) of 
31st January 2022, and as such the impact of Business Rates income on the MTFS 
is not yet clear. 

5.4 Similarly, the estimate of the Collection Fund position will impact the 2022/23 
budget. This is a statutory process and is based on the latest data available on 15th 
January 2022 and therefore this will not be known until late January. 

5.5 Finally, while the provisional settlement brings positive news for Wirral Council it is 
important to remember that, despite the three-year Spending Review period, the 
government have only impacted a single -year settlement. While the additional 
resources for 2022/23 are welcomed, they only provide limited and short-term 
stability while creating uncertainty for longer term financial planning. 

Page 489



This page is intentionally left blank



2022/2023 BUDGET SETTING
Proposals Pack

Page 491



Children’s Services
Wirral’s Children’s Services are focussed on breaking the cycle of poor outcomes and 
encouraging and enabling families to bring up children in safe, happy, and secure 
environments. Its functions include:

 Assessment and Intervention
 Children’s Business Support
 Early Childhood Services
 Education and Lifelong Learning
 Fostering, Adoption and Placement Commissioning
 Integrated Front Door
 Modernisation
 Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub
 Performance Improvement
 Permanence
 Safeguarding QA and Practice Improvement
 SEND and Inclusion
 Schools Improvement
 Youth Service

PROPOSAL: Reduction of Historic Teachers Pensions Costs

More about this option: The council is responsible for the costs of additional benefits 
awarded to teachers upon early retirement outside of the terms of the Teachers’ Pension 
Scheme. This is a legacy financial commitment where the cost is reducing over time and can 
be achieved through a simple budget reduction.
Saving: £200k

PROPOSAL: Alternative Accommodation Provision for Children Looked After

More about this option: In order to reduce costs associated with external accommodation 
providers, the council plans to partner with a Community Interest Company to open four 
children’s homes for up to 16 young people over the next 2 years. 
Provision will include short-breaks, therapeutic provision for children and young people with 
learning disability/autism and mental health difficulties and expanding in-house provision at 
Willowtree for young people with disabilities. A registered housing provider will also be 
commissioned to offer care leaver accommodation.
Saving: £1m

Page 492



PROPOSAL: Utilisation of Demand Reserve 

More about this option: This proposal is focused on service demand. A long-term saving will 
involve an alternative delivery model based on the Department for Education’s Family 
Safeguarding model. In the meantime, COVID funding will deliver the savings until the 
permanent model is in place. 
Saving: £467k

PROPOSAL: Children’s Services redesign and posts deletion/closure

More about this option: This proposal will look to achieve efficiencies within the Directorate 
through removal of vacant posts, redeployment, and service realignment. 
Saving: £294k

PROPOSAL: Reduction in Adoption Orders.

More about this option: Wirral had a disproportionally high number of adoption orders in 
2017/18 and 2018/19. This has impacted on the budget which funds the service via the 
Regional Adoption Agency. The funding formula for the regional adoption agency is 
currently based on the average number of adoption orders for the previous four years.
As these adoption order numbers pass out of the formula calculation over the next two 
years, Wirral’s contribution to the regional adoption agency will reduce.
Saving: 2022/23: £50k   2023/24: £150k

PROPOSAL: Reduction in the Number of Looked After Children

More about this option: In recent years, the overall children looked after (CLA) numbers in 
Wirral were higher than statistical neighbours. The numbers coming into care presently are 
more in line with neighbours. The cohort of children who joined during the earlier period 
are likely to remain in care until age 18, but as these pre-2019 children reach 18 we 
anticipate our CLA spending will reduce annually. 
Saving: £564k (22/23)

Page 493



PROPOSAL: Review of Youth Offending Service

More about this option: This proposal includes the removal of a post from the Youth 
Offending Service structure which is no longer required.
Wirral’s Youth Justice Service produces an Annual Strategic Plan which is approved by the 
Youth Justice Management Board and Council. The plan sets out the priorities and action for 
future delivery. It is anticipated that the service can continue to meet its statutory 
responsibilities and prevention approach without the additional post.
Saving: £25k

PROPOSAL: Special Educational Needs (SEND) Transport Review  

More about this option: This option will include a service redesign which will look to reduce 
costs in home to school transport for children with SEND. The review will include changes to 
timings and routes, multiple drop offs, vehicle sharing and eligibility post 16.
Saving: £150k

PROPOSAL: Increase Funding for Placements from Health Clinical Commissioning Group and 
SEND

More about this option: Social Care currently contributes the majority of funding (90%) 
towards residential placements whilst education contribute 4.45% and health 5.27% (as of 
April 2021). This proposal is seeking a more equal distribution of funding which will help 
secure this saving.
Saving: £200k

PROPOSAL: Redesign of Youth Offer 

More about this option: This proposal will seek to achieve savings through a review of 
current budgets and resource. It will include withdrawal of £150k from the Hive (in addition 
to the £200k withdrawn last year 2020/21), the removal of £108k from the Youth Service 
budget and deletion of one post from the Youth Service.
In 22/23 the Hive will continue to receive a £100k contribution from local developers.
Saving: £200k

Page 494



Regeneration 
This Directorate is leading Wirral Council on its hugely ambitious regeneration of the 
borough, and plays a significant role in promoting housing supply, providing wider place-
based regeneration and local growth, and supporting cohesive communities. Its functions 
include: 

 Assets and Facilities Management
 Culture strategy and Visitor Economy
 Development Management and Building Control
 Housing, Supported housing and homelessness services
 Major Planning and projects including Wirral Growth Company
 Inward investment
 Regeneration
 Strategic Transport

PROPOSAL: Capitalisation of Regeneration Staff Salaries

More about this option: Capitalisation of salaries will ensure the delivery of the council’s 
regeneration and economic growth programme, which is recognised as a once in a 
generation opportunity to address decline in Birkenhead and other areas across Wirral.
Saving: £1.4m

PROPOSAL: Cease Financial Contributions for the Provision of Community Alarms and 
Response Calls

More about this option: It is proposed the council will cease the grant funding contribution 
to current eligible customers for the community alarm/response services charges. Notice 
will be given to the providers of this funding being withdrawn in line with current funding 
regime and agreement notice period. Registered providers will then each undertake their 
own review of the service provided to see how this would be managed with their residents.
Saving: £200k (22-23) £100k (23/24) 

PROPOSAL: Reconfiguration of Commissioned Homeless Accommodation

More about this option: The homeless accommodation scheme in its current configuration 
is not fully meeting the demands being seen coming through the council’s housing options 
system. In partnership with service providers, we will look to reconfigure the service, 
adjusting parameters, including age restrictions, in order to meet demand and cater for 
wider client groups. Changes would result in the service having the ability to apply for 
intensive housing management eligible costs, thereby releasing the expenditure the council 
currently provides as part of a commissioned service.

Page 495



Saving: £115k (22/23) £37k (23/24)

PROPOSAL: The Closure of Nine Public Conveniences 

More about this option: Due to increasing maintenance costs, this proposal will see the 
closure of public conveniences, located mainly in coastal areas, with sites including Harrison 
Drive, New Brighton; Moreton Common; Moreton Cross; West Kirby Marine Lake; West 
Kirby Concourse (outside); Parade Gardens, Hoylake; Meols Parade; New Ferry and 
Thornton Hough.
Saving: £143k

PROPOSAL: Corporate Buildings – Holding Costs 

More about this option: Following changes in working arrangements due to the Covid 
pandemic, a number of council owned buildings are currently not in use, and it is proposed 
that a further review of them is undertaken, with savings anticipated from reduced utility 
costs, cleaning, materials etc.
Saving: £50k

Page 496



Law and Governance
The core business of this department is to provide corporate and operational legal advice, 
assistance and support to the authority and its members, as well as responsibility for the co-
ordination and efficient management of the decision-making processes of the Council. Its 
functions include:

 Civic Services
 Committee Services
 Coroners
 Electoral
 Legal Services
 Licensing
 Registrars
 Scrutiny

PROPOSAL: Removal of Individual Member Budgets

More about this option: In order to set a balanced budget for the 2021/22 budget year, the 
council had agreed to limit the budget to £1,000 per member with a view to the budget 
being reintroduced for 2022/23. However, given the current budget savings requirement 
that the council must meet to set a balanced budget, it is proposed that this budget now be 
removed altogether.
Saving: £250k

PROPOSAL: Reduction in the Number of Committees

More about this option: The current re-design of the council’s committee structure will be 
accompanied by a re-design of the staffing requirement to support the number of meetings, 
members, and officers in the decision-making process.
Saving: £150k

PROPOSAL: Capitalise Salaries

More about this option: This proposal will include a change to re-direct qualifying legal 
services salaries away from the council’s central budget to specific capital projects, which 
will enable a saving on net revenue costs. 
This type of expenditure is not considered to be a council overhead but a direct cost 
necessary to achieve a project or programme of projects.
Saving: £200k

Page 497



PROPOSAL: Whole Council Elections

More about this option: the council is currently undertaking a statutory consultation on 
changing the electoral cycle to whole council elections as of 2023. Over a 4-year period, the 
cost of running Local Authority elections is £1,024,200. The costs of running whole council 
elections, with the provision of funding for the event of by-elections, would be £520,000 
over the same 4-year period
Saving: £125k

Corporate Office 
The role of the Corporate Office is to ensure that Wirral Council is a high-performing, well-
managed, strategic organisation. The office stands as a key interface between the Chief 
executive, Senior Leadership Team, Leader of the Council, Members and Key Stakeholders. 
Its functions include:

 Business Support
 Communications
 Customer Feedback and Members Enquires
 Quality and Organisational Effectiveness
 Strategy, Policy and Partnerships

PROPOSAL: Service Re-design

More about this option: The Corporate Office will be redesigned to include the 
centralisation of corporate resources and more integrated and flexible teams. This work will 
be delivered over 18 months. The first phase of this will be achieved through the deletion of 
two vacancies across the Policy and Communications Teams and a reduction in the 
marketing budget. Phase two will be developed during 2022/23 and will align with the 
Change Programme service re-design schedule to explore opportunities for centralised 
corporate services.
Saving: £110k

Page 498



Adult Care and Health 
The Department provides or secures the majority of care and support services through adult 
social care, which is part of the wider health and social care system. Its functions include:

 Care standards
 Commissioning Older People and Mental Health and Disability Services
 Public Health
 Strategic Commissioning
 Wirral Intelligence Service

PROPOSAL: Demand mitigation – Technology and Care Package Review 

More about this option: This proposal is an increased efficiency requirement for 2022/23 
against the community care budget based on a range of case reviews, demand management 
approaches and care provider market shaping.
Saving: £3.89m

Page 499



Resources
The Resources department includes all the professional services needed for the efficient 
running and sound financial management of Wirral Council. Its functions include: 

 Debt recovery and income
 Finance and Investment
 Health and Safety
 Human Resources
 ICT Strategy and Delivery
 Merseyside Pension Fund
 Organisational change
 Organisational Development and Design
 Procurement and Commercial Management
 Programme Office
 Revenues and Benefits and Council Tax

PROPOSAL: One Stop Shop Establishment Review

More about this option: The One Stop Shop (OSS) Network has reduced in line with a 
reduction in visitors to OSS outlets. Savings are achieved by the removal of vacant posts 
which are no longer required.
Saving: £99k

PROPOSAL: Review of Treasury Activity

More about this option: Debt management and investment opportunities cover a wide 
range of activities undertaken within Treasury Activity.
This proposal will look at investment opportunities, including social and green investment 
aims. Additionally, there is also potential for new revenue streams from alternative 
investments. Both will be balanced against risk and current income targets.
Saving: £500k

PROPOSAL: Revenues & Benefits Review and Restructure

More about this option: This proposal includes a full review to examine every aspect of the 
service and its processes, looking to streamline as much as possible and removing 
wasteful/bureaucratic tasks from the service. This process includes the expansion and 
introduction of new automated processes.
The savings will be realised by a mixture of removing vacant posts from the existing 
structure which can be released from the review, together with streamlining management 
structures and a limited offer of early voluntary retirement.
Saving: £750k

Page 500



PROPOSAL: Reduction of Strategic Change Revenue Budget

More about this option: Partial funding of business change can be supported through 
flexible use of capital receipts for transformation, and this can therefore release revenue 
budget whilst enabling the service to deliver major business change to the council.
Saving: £650k

PROPOSAL: Restructure of Procurement and Commercial Teams 

More about this option: Following an in-year staffing restructure that saw a central team of 
commercial officers restructured, this proposal seeks to remove the remaining budget for 
the team. Additional roles supporting income generation are in place within the relevant 
Directorates. 
Saving: £230k

PROPOSAL: Review of Finance Team Structure

More about this option: This saving proposal, of reducing resources within the Finance 
function, is presented in recognition of the changes being put forward elsewhere in the 
council that will impact on the support services required. 
Saving: £50k
 

PROPOSAL: Cease Business Rates Contribution

More about this option: It is proposed that the annual contribution to reserves to guard 
against successful appeals of business rates is halted. 
Saving: £696k

PROPOSAL: Modernisation of Information and Communications Technology (ICT) Service

More about this option: In order to improve the councils digital offer, Microsoft are being 
engaged to support a Digital Transformation programme. As part of this programme the ICT 
services will be modernised which will see processes digitalised and automated. This will 
enable savings to be made across ICT.
Saving: £50k

Page 501



PROPOSAL: Review of Business Support Unit

More about this option: With the move to working from home, less stationery is being 
purchased and there is less of a requirement to provide courier services. Savings will 
therefore be made within the Business Support Unit in lines with these changes in working 
patterns. 
Saving: £20k

PROPOSAL: Review of Internal Audit – Income and Efficiencies

More about this option: In addition to staff efficiencies the department will increase the 
selling of services to third parties, which will include new customers that have already been 
secured.
Saving: £80k

PROPOSAL: Reduction of Learning & Development Budget

More about this option: This one-year temporary saving can be made as a result of the 
introduction of a new Learning Experience Platform, reduction in face-to-face delivery and 
optimising the apprenticeship levy. In addition to this the council have increased income 
which will be paid in 2022/23 tax year from the government apprenticeship start incentive 
payments which can be utilised to support learning and development.
Saving: £100k

PROPOSAL: Investment Statutory Override Pressure Removal

More about this option: Councils had been granted a time limited special exemption on the 
way they account for financial investments.  If this exemption was not in place, this would 
present a pressure for the council of an estimated £1m.
This had previously been included as a pressure as the time limit was about to expire. 
However, the time period has now been extended meaning that the pressure can be 
removed from 2022/23.
Saving: £1m

Page 502



Neighbourhoods 
The Neighbourhood’s department is made up of the everyday functions that are key to the 
wellbeing of local areas and local people. The department includes a wide and varied range 
of universal, front-line services, such as:

 Assisted Travel
 Climate change
 Community Safety
 Customer Services
 Emergency Planning
 Environmental Health
 Highways Design and Maintenance
 Highways, Traffic and Road Safety
 Leisure
 Libraries
 Street Scene
 Major events
 Network Management
 One stop shops
 Parks and Countryside
 Road Safety
 Trading Standards
 Traffic Management
 Waste and Environment

PROPOSAL: Review of Leisure Service 

More about this option: This proposal includes a full-service review of the council’s Leisure 
Services Division to consider all elements delivered and focus on removal of unnecessary 
cost and duplication, improved commissioning, and a lean target operating model. 

It is likely that there will be staffing implications as a consequence of the review, the totality 
of which cannot be identified at the present time. Any reduction in staffing numbers would 
be attempted to be achieved through EVR/VS, redeployment and/or retraining.
Saving: £178k

PROPOSAL: Highways Operational Services - Income exploration

More about this option: This proposal will explore the commercial opportunities and 
internal promotion of the various services available through Highway Operational Services 
in order to create additional income generation. It will also seek to further expand other 
departmental work requests within the council from Assets, Education, Parks & Countryside, 

Page 503



and third party works currently undertaken for service partners such as NHS and Wirral 
Older People’s Parliament.
Income: £30k

PROPOSAL: Closure of Europa Fun/Leisure Pool & Enhanced Gym Offer

More about this option: This proposal includes the closure of the Leisure Pool ('Fun' Pool) at 
Europa Pools (wave machine, swimming pool features, flumes, etc). The option does not 
include the closure of the centre nor competition swimming pool which would continue to 
remain open. The service would also seek to repurpose the Leisure Pool, using the space to 
create a larger indoor gym offer and therefore increased income.
Saving: £246k Plus £20k increased income from Gym offer

PROPOSAL: Increased Catering Across all Leisure Sites

More about this option: This saving proposal would see an increase in income generation at 
the Sail Loft site through maximisation of customer numbers and sales. Further income 
could be generated through expansion of the service at different sites across the borough. 
Income: £60k

PROPOSAL: Outdoor Water Sports Offer at West Kirby Marine Lake 

More about this option: This budget option is an income generation scheme that would 
utilise the Marine Lake for new outdoor activities. These activities have become popular 
during the pandemic as people have sought alternatives to indoor activities whilst 
restrictions were in place.
Additionally, there will be more opportunities for residents to become involved in new 
sports activities, as well as having the potential to attract additional customers at the Sail 
Loft site
Income: £15k

PROPOSAL: Catering Pod at Leasowe Leisure Centre for Football Traffic

More about this option: This proposal will look to establish an outdoor catering offer 
(catering pod) at Leasowe Leisure Centre. An extension of the council’s expanded in-house 
catering offer, the unit will primarily serve the high footfall football league traffic during the 
months of September – May. There is also scope to expand operation by re-locating the unit 
during the remaining months of the year. 
Income: £21k

Page 504



PROPOSAL: Permanent Closure and Demolition of Woodchurch Leisure Centre

More about this option: This option is for the closure of Woodchurch Leisure Centre. Due to 
the condition of the site, its low usage levels comparable with other sites, the required level 
of investment and the subsidy it carries, is proposed that the centre is then demolished to 
make way for a growth in outdoor leisure provision. The site adjacent to the Leisure Centre 
will see the construction of a new 3G Artificial Grass playing pitch and accompanying 
pavilion during the 2022-23 financial year. 
Saving: £402k

PROPOSAL: Temporary Closure and Remodelling of Bidston Tennis Centre 

More about this option: The option would see the closure of the Tennis Centre (indoors) in 
Bidston for a 12-month period whilst a facility upgrade takes place at the site within the 
core of the building. It has been identified by an independent leisure consultant that the 
facility mix within the building does not complement local need or local demographic. 
Consequently, a redesigned centre will meet the needs of the local population and provide 
additional income. The new development would take out 3 indoor tennis courts and replace 
with extensive soft play and gymnastics offer. A second new 3G Astroturf pitch would also 
be built within the outside grounds of the site in a funding partnership between the Football 
Foundation and the Council with further income potential. 
Saving: £114k

PROPOSAL: Review of Golf Offer

More about this option: This proposal will seek to generate savings through the closure of 
the two lowest income generating 18-hole golf courses, two leisure based recreational New 
Brighton sites and introduction of a new pricing/membership model for municipal golf. 
Brackenwood and Hoylake golf courses will close, along with Wallasey Beach and Kings 
Parade leisure sites. The two remaining golf courses will still provide a sufficient ‘golf offer’ 
to the residents of Wirral whilst substantially reducing the financial subsidy to the authority.
Saving: £328k

PROPOSAL: Exercise on Referral Programme

More about this option: Wirral’s Leisure Services Team has a pool of qualified professionals 
who will be commissioned by health partners to provide patients with an opportunity to 
engage in a structured programme of physical activity or exercise by working with a 
qualified exercise professional to provide a positive introduction to being active.
Income: £100k

Page 505



PROPOSAL: Reprovision of the Library Service 

More about this option: This saving is associated with the development of a new operating 
model in libraries which will consolidate and realign the current libraries estate and 
resources to provide a comprehensive and efficient service for all who wish to use it. 
The new operating model will retain four central libraries and four community libraries, as 
well as Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) only provision co-located in community assets. 
The home reader service will remain for residents who cannot access a traditional library, as 
will the council’s digital library and online offer. 
In addition, the service will invest in a Mobile Library with a 3000-book capacity to ensure 
hard to reach communities have access to a library service. 
The saving will be achieved through library closures, service realignment and a staffing 
restructure.

Full details of the new Libraries Operating Model will be available from 10th January via:    
http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=956&MId=9051

Saving: £814k

PROPOSAL: Floral Pavilion – New Operating Model

More about this option: This option would reduce the operational budget for the Floral 
Pavilion Theatre and Conference Centre, whilst increasing the amount of income generated 
by the venue. The venue does attract a subsidy however this has diminished in recent years 
due to improved management and this trend of working towards a leaner operating model 
with greater income potential is expected to continue.
Saving: £350k - £400k

PROPOSAL: Standardisation of Residents Parking Permits

More about this option: This proposal will look to standardise charges for residents parking 
permits for existing and new residents parking schemes to cover all operational running 
costs including the council’s set-up, maintenance, administration, and enforcement costs for 
existing and new schemes.
Income: £110k

PROPOSAL: Fleet Efficiencies in Transport - Going Green

Page 506

http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=956&MId=9051


More about this option: This budget saving option is to appoint an independent expert to 
undertake a no-cost 'Green Fleet Review'. This review will examine the existing fleet in 
terms if vehicle choice, fuel economy and recommend mileage reduction strategies.
Saving: £20k

PROPOSAL: Capitalisation of Highways Salaries 

More about this option: All highways and transport approved schemes for 2021/22 are 
funded from the Combined Authority allocation for Integrated Transport Block (ITB), which 
is £1.15m. It is anticipated that the new City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement 
allocation for Wirral over 5 years from 2022 will be between £5m and £11m. 
Revenue savings can be achieved by increasing capital recharges – that is staff time spent on 
individual schemes.
Saving: £15k

PROPOSAL: Highway’s Maintenance Contracts 

More about this option: This proposal will see a reduction in the highway lining and the 
street furniture budgets. This will include seating, guard rails, signs, and bollards.
Saving: £25k

PROPOSAL: Streetlighting Service Savings

More about this option: Due to the introduction of the new LED lanterns programme 
savings can be made through ceasing night-time lighting inspections. In addition, the capital 
investment for illuminated signage has enabled us to replace all the illuminated bollards 
with reflective surfaces, therefore savings can also be made within the illuminated signage 
budget.
Saving: £50k

PROPOSAL: Car Park Maintenance - 1 Year Budget Reduction

More about this option: This proposal will see a revenue saving from the car parks 
maintenance budget for 1 year only. A budget will remain for essential safety repairs to 
potholes etc.
Saving: £50k

PROPOSAL: Transport Efficiencies

Page 507



More about this option: This proposal will include a review of the in-house fleet, such as the 
outsourcing of the tyre fitting supply, repair, and fitting service. A management restructure 
is also planned in order to realign the service and create workforce efficiencies.
Saving: £70k

PROPOSAL: Special Educational Needs (SEN) Transport Review

More about this option: This proposal focuses on the outsourcing of the in-house SEN adult 
transport service. Savings are based on the average cost of the current external provision 
compared to in-house provision, plus outsourcing of tyre supply, repair, and fitting service.
Saving: £0 in 22-23 then £118k in 23-24

PROPOSAL: Eco and Forest School Income

More about this option: The council provides a well-established and highly regarded Eco 
Schools programme and has been developing a Forest Schools initiative. Such provision is 
currently offered to schools free of charge. This proposal sets out an opportunity to 
implement a charge for parts of these programmes.
Income: £20k

PROPOSAL: Tree Management Team Commercial Offer

More about this option: The primary purpose and function of the Tree Risk and Inspection 
Team is to inspect and manage the council’s tree stock (both highways and parkland) and 
mitigate any risk associated. However, there is some capacity within the inspection team to 
conduct tree inspections and provide management advice for partnering organisations and 
other landowners. 
Income: £25k income

PROPOSAL: Market Rental for Park Café 

More about this option: This option will seek to increase the income received from rents, 
specifically for the rent of a café at Royden Park by a commercial operator.
Income: £10k

PROPOSAL: Income Increase on Allotments 

More about this option: This option would seek to increase the income received from 
allotments by increasing the annual fees charged to allotment holders.

Page 508



Income: £50k

PROPOSAL: Increase in Charges for Waste and Environmental Services

More about this option: This proposal would see an increase in charges (income) for a 
range of services provided by Waste and Environmental Services (including garden waste 
collection service subscription, skip permits, collection of bulky items, collection of waste 
and recycling from schools and cost to supply a new wheelie bin), as well as freezing the 
litter bin budget for one year and annual contract efficiency savings.
Income: £462k

PROPOSAL: Removal of Vacancies in Environmental and Waste Team

More about this option: This option seeks to approve a post for early voluntary retirement 
(EVR) from the Waste and Environmental Services Team, plus not filling of existing or new 
vacancies.
Saving: £100k

PROPOSAL: Suspension of Climate Emergency Initiatives
 
More about this option: This saving proposal would see the suspension of the budget for 
climate emergency action plan projects, for the period of one year. External funding will be 
sought to continue environmental projects where available.
Saving: £250k

PROPOSAL: Remodelling of Street Cleansing, Plus Special Events 

More about this option: This option would see the removal of the additional community 
permanent presence street cleansing service in some areas of the borough, as well as the 
removal of the budget for cleansing of special events e.g., River of Light, Cycling Tour of 
Britain, Giants etc. Removing this budget would result in cleansing costs for special events 
being charged out to promoters/organisers.  
Saving: £214k

PROPOSAL: Cease Overtime Budget in Parks 

Page 509



More about this option: This Savings option would review the use of the additional hours 
budget, given the reduced maintenance and cessation of green spaces.
Saving: £15k

PROPOSAL: Re-Design Parks Service Reducing Maintenance and Service Costs

More about this option: This option will focus on service reduction and maintenance in 
parks. It will include the cessation of public firework displays, a reduction in maintenance 
cuts from 10 to 8 per annum, ceasing maintenance in open spaces including up to 10-15 
local parks, and ceasing maintenance of 50% of the remaining parks. Local parks which also 
have play areas, football pitches or bowling greens etc have been excluded from this list.
Saving: £655k

PROPOSAL: Income Strategy - Cemeteries and Crematorium Service 

More about this option: This option would provide increase choice for bereaved families 
with regards to burials and memorials and offer corporate sponsorship opportunities within 
Wirral’s Cemeteries and Crematorium grounds for funeral directors.
Income: £53k income

PROPOSAL: Review of Anti-Social Behaviour Team

More about this option: This option will involve an alternative service delivery model and 
reduction of one post. The Team will continue to prioritise the statutory functions and 
consider the impact on the Community Safety Strategy. 
Saving: £50k

PROPOSAL: Review Engagement Officer Secondment

More about this option: This proposal will seek agreement to not backfill an Engagement 
Officer for one year secondment to Regeneration.
Saving: £35k

PROPOSAL: Reduction in Community Patrol Service 

More about this option: This option would see a redesign of the Community Patrol Service 
to an Out of Hours / High Demand service only (the CCTV and Control Room Function will 
remain 24/7, 365).
Saving: £150k

Page 510



PROPOSAL: 50% Reduction in School Crossing Patrol Service

More about this option: The service has 80 established sites but traditionally carries a 
number of vacancies due to difficulties in recruiting to the role. This option will require the 
permanent deletion of the 18 vacant sites plus the closing of at least a further 25 sites to be 
achieved by reprioritising of sites into highest risk areas / highest number of peds crossing.
Saving: £100k (22/23) £40k (23/24)

PROPOSAL: Cessation of Constituency Team and Remodelling of Section 

More about this option: This saving presents the deletion of the Constituency Team and 
Redeployment of officers where possible. The saving will be achieved through associated 
staffing reductions.
Saving: £346k

PROPOSAL: Introduction of an Overnight Camper Van Parking Charge in New Brighton

More about this option: This option will focus on income generation from introducing an 
overnight parking charge for leisure vehicles (motorhomes / campervans) on the coastal 
areas of New Brighton.
There is currently no charge for overnight parking. New Brighton has seen regeneration and 
an increase in tourism in recent years. The proposal will help to manage overnight parking in 
this area which has also seen a significant growth particularly since the start of the 
pandemic.
Income: £35k

PROPOSAL: Deletion of Vacant Posts 

More about this option: There are a number of vacant posts across the Neighbourhoods 
Directorate. This option would see these posts deleted to achieve the savings.
Saving: £302k

PROPOSAL: Reduction in The Budget for Office Related Expenditure

Page 511



More about this option: This proposal is made up of a reduction in Neighbourhoods 
budgeted expenditure for office related expenses such as printing and paper services, 
lighting, electricity, heating, etc.
Saving: £23k

PROPOSAL: Review of the Neighbourhood Services Directorate

More about this option: A fundamental review of the Neighbourhood Directorate will take 
place in order to drive efficiencies and realign service. This will be achieved through an EVR 
process that will commence in early January. 
Statutory services within this Directorate will not be affected by the review.
Saving: £360k

Page 512



Wirral Council Budget 2022-23
Public Consultation Report

Consultation: 2 November 2021 – 28 November 2021

Report: 6 December 2021

Page 513



2

Contents
1.0 Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................4

1.1 Key Findings .........................................................................................................................5

1.1.1 The Questionnaire........................................................................................................5

1.1.2 The Ideas Board............................................................................................................6

1.1.3 Demographics...............................................................................................................7

2.0 Methodology ............................................................................................................................8

2.1 Questionnaire ......................................................................................................................8

2.2 Ideas Board ..........................................................................................................................9

2.3 Staff Feedback......................................................................................................................9

2.5 Analysis of Respondents ......................................................................................................9

2.6 Interpretation of Results......................................................................................................9

2.7 Communication..................................................................................................................10

3.0 Results ....................................................................................................................................11

3.1 Questionnaire Results ........................................................................................................11

Council Services .......................................................................................................................12

Q1. Which Council Services do you value the most? ..........................................................12

Q2. Tell us which services you believe the council needs to invest more resources into. ..13

The Wirral Plan and the council budget...................................................................................15

Q3. Please tell us how important these priorities are to you on a scale of 1-5. .................15

Q4. Sustainable Environment: How important are these actions? .....................................16

Q5. Brighter futures: How important are these actions?....................................................17

Q6. Inclusive Economy: How important are these actions?................................................18

Q7. Safe and Pleasant Community: How important are these actions? .............................19

Q8. Active and Healthy Lives: How important are these actions? ......................................20

Q9. Please outline any suggestions you may have for how the council can make additional 
savings or potential sources of income. ..............................................................................21

3.2 Ideas Board Results ............................................................................................................25

3.3 Staff Engagement...............................................................................................................29

4.0 Demographics and Site Traffic................................................................................................31

Page 514



3

4.1 Demographics ....................................................................................................................31

4.2 Have your say - Site Traffic.................................................................................................38

Appendix 1: Data Tables ...............................................................................................................39

Q1 Which council services do you value the most? data table ...........................................39

Q2 Which Services do the council need to invest more resources in data table ................41

Q3 How important are these priorities? - data table ..........................................................44

Q4 Sustainable Environment data table..............................................................................45

Q5 Stronger & brighter futures data table ..........................................................................46

Q6 Inclusive Economy data table ........................................................................................47

Q7 Safe & Pleasant Communities data table.......................................................................48

Q8 Active and Healthy Lives data table...............................................................................49

Page 515



4

1.0 Executive Summary

Wirral Council continues to face financial challenges as it moves ahead with setting a budget for 
2022-23. The authority faces a potential maximum budget gap of around £30m between 
funding (from council tax, fees, and grants) and the cost of providing services at the current 
level.

The council must therefore plan to make any necessary savings in order to deliver a legal 
balanced budget.

At Policy and Resources committee on 25 October 2021 a stakeholder consultation programme 
was agreed. The objectives of the public consultation were to:

 Achieve a proportionate balance of responses which accurately reflects stakeholder 
make up

 Ensure external coverage is balanced in tone and content, with inaccuracies challenged 

 Ensure residents and stakeholders understand the scale of the budget challenge, and 
feel able to contribute their views 

 Provide an engagement plan that will: 

 Allow residents to contribute strategically about what’s important to them and their 
community

 Address the difficult budget choices/decisions that must be taken.

Through the consultation people were asked to tell us what their priorities are, what council 
services matter most to them, and where they believe the Council should be focusing its efforts 
to help develop the budget plan. The results of the consultation are provided in this report.

Page 516



5

1.1 Key Findings
1.1.1 The Questionnaire

A total of 534 survey responses were received, 530 online responses and 4 paper copies. These 
responses have been amalgamated and are reported on as a whole.

 Parks and Open Spaces and Children’s Services were highlighted as being among the 
top 3 for both most valued services (Q1) and most important services to invest more 
resources in (Q2).

 Q1. The services that were most frequently placed as being most valued were:

1. Children’s Services (46.1% of respondents)

2. Parks and Open Spaces (42.5%)

3. Adult Social care (40.0%)

 Q2. The services that were most frequently placed as most important to invest more 
resources in were:

1. Parks & Open Spaces (39.2%)

2. Museums (39.0%)

3. Children’s Services (36.3%)

 Q3. Safe and Pleasant Communities was the priority most frequently placed as most 
important, by 46.2% of respondents.

o Within the Safe and Pleasant Communities priority, working with partner 
agencies to reduce crime and tackle anti-social behaviour was the action was 
most frequently placed as most important, by 53.3% of respondents.  

o Within the Sustainable Environment priority, the protection of our local 
environment action was most frequently placed as most important, by 41.8% of 
respondents.

o Within the Brighter Futures priority, ensuring our children and young people 
have equal access to education opportunities was the action was most 
frequently placed as most important, by 47.0% of respondents.  

o Within the Inclusive Economy priority, supporting local businesses and job 
creation was the action was most frequently placed as most important, by 47.0% 
of respondents.  

Page 517



6

o Within the Active and Healthy Lives priority, working collaboratively with our 
partner agencies to improve mental wellbeing was the action was most 
frequently placed as most important, by 34.6% of respondents.

 Suggestions and Ideas that appeared in-common on both the free text section of the 
questionnaire (Q4) and the ideas board were:

o The council should have fewer consultants (32 comments/23 ideas).

o The council should have fewer councillors (29 comments /38 ideas).

See below for a full summary of the free text responses to Question 4. 

See section 1.1.2 for a full summary of the ideas board. 

Q4. Respondents were invited to outline suggestions as to how the council could make 
additional savings or generate income.

 The most common themes that suggestions fell in to were:

o Council workforce (136 people).

o Council operation (54). 

o Suggestions for chargeable services (51). 

 Overall the top specific suggestions were:

o The council should have fewer consultants (32).

o The council should have fewer councillors (29).

o Reduce salaries within the council (26).

1.1.2 The Ideas Board

 112 contributions were made to the ideas board by 78 participants. Contributions could 
be in the form of an idea (x80) or a comment on an idea (x32) and participants were 
able to make more than one submission.

 The most common themes that ideas fell in to were:

o Council’s operation and structure (score of 71).

o Ideas relating to maintenance (57). 

o Ideas relating to golf courses (42). 

 The most popular and ‘liked’ specific ideas were:

Page 518



7

o The council should have fewer councillors (38).

o Hoylake Beach should be maintained (24).

o The council should use fewer consultants (23).

1.1.3 Demographics

 Most of the respondents (87.9%) classed themselves as local residents.

 The most represented Wirral Ward is Hoylake and Meols (11.3%), the least represented 
Wirral Ward was Bromborough (0.2%).  

 Most Wirral respondents were in Decile 1 or decile 6 of the IMD (13.7% each), where 
decile 1 is the most deprived, and decile 10 is the least deprived.

 59.3% of respondents were male; 36.4% were female.

 The most represented age group was 65–74-year-olds (24.7%).

 The least represented age group was 16–27-year-olds (0.8%).

 93.4% of respondents were of white British ethnicity.

 2.7% were of a non-white or ‘other’ ethnicity.

 81.6% of respondents were heterosexual.

Page 519



8

2.0 Methodology
Through the budget consultation people were asked to tell us what their priorities are, what 
council services matter most to them, and where they believe the Council should be focusing its 
efforts to help develop the budget plan.

Following the consultation, the feedback will be considered by the Policy and Resources 
Committee on 17 January 2022, where further budget consideration will be made. Full Council 
will have the final say on the authority’s budget for the next year.

The consultation was carried out between 2 November – 28 November 2021. The approach 
used was an on online public consultation through the ‘Have your say’ consultation portal at 
www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk with a page dedicated to the Budget Consultation. A Budget 
Booklet, a Financial Strategy Document and an Easy Read Version of the consultation were 
published on the portal and available for download to provide key information about the 
consultation. 

Two online tools were provided for residents to engage with:

 An online questionnaire – to respond to specific questions about budget proposals.

 An ideas board – for residents to post ‘ideas’ about the council budget.

Respondents were also able to request paper copies of the survey, including an easy read 
version, or submit additional comments via a dedicated email address, which was published on 
the ‘Have your say’ website alongside the online tool.  

2.1 Questionnaire
The consultation questionnaire was developed on the themes of the Wirral Plan and enabled 
stakeholders to record their feedback and opinions on how the council budget could be 
allocated, and savings made according to their priorities and what matters to them most. To 
enable further understanding, and in-depth analysis, respondents were invited to provide free-
text comments to expand on their ideas or concerns.

Following closure of the consultation, the responses to each of the direct questions were 
collated and the responses included in this report. For the free-text comment question, a text 
coding approach was used based on the reoccurring themes. This data was then collated and 
summarised in the report. Free text results are provided as a count, rather than as percentages. 
This is because one comment or idea may cover multiple themes, therefore there are 
considerably more themes than contributions.  Percentages derived from this as a denominator 
are non-sensical and confusing so have been omitted

Page 520

https://wirralcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Team-0401/Shared%20Documents/General/2020%20EngagementHQ/Budget/www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk


9

Four paper questionnaires were submitted. These responses were examined, and the points 
raised incorporated into the online questionnaire results to ensure the views were represented 
in the final analysis. 

2.2 Ideas Board
The Ideas Board function was set up to allow respondents to submit their own ideas about the 
budget, these could be voted for (‘liked’) and commented on by other members of the public.

Ideas and comments were reviewed and categorised into themes.  Those categories of ideas 
that were most prevalent and/or most ‘liked’ have been identified and highlighted.

Ideas Board results are provided as a score, rather than as percentages. This is because one 
comment or idea may cover multiple themes, therefore there are considerably more themes 
than contributions.  Percentages derived from this as a denominator are non-sensical and 
confusing so have been omitted.

2.3 Staff Feedback
In addition to direct Manager/ Departmental Management Team communications, a specific 
area was set up on the council’s new Intranet Platform. This included channels for questions, 
feedback, and ideas, as well as links to the Have Your Say platform. Regular staff briefings, 
member engagement, ‘Exec view’ messages and specific sessions for our harder to reach staff 
were also undertaken. All responses were reviewed and summarised for reporting. 

2.5 Analysis of Respondents
Respondents to the online tools were provided with the option to provide demographic 
information about themselves. It must be noted that this is an option and that not all 
respondents included this information. This data allows the demographic results to be included 
in this report to enable analysis of the scope of responses and representation from different 
demographic groups.  

2.6 Interpretation of Results
In terms of the results, it is important to note that:

 The public consultation is not representative of the overall population but provides 
information on the opinion of those residents who engaged.

 For specific tools where percentages do not add up to 100, this may be due to rounding, 
or the question is multi-coded. All free-text questions and ideas that offered 
respondents the option to provide written feedback could have covered multiple 

Page 521



10

themes. Therefore, with free-text responses being categorised using a coding system, 
some comments will be multi-coded and therefore add up to more than 100 percent.

The Policy and Resources Committee requested that the engagement should aim to ‘Achieve a 
proportionate balance of responses which accurately reflects stakeholder make up’. To achieve 
responses from a representative sample of the Wirral population would require a range of 
targeted engagement to ensure the correct sample size, and coverage of response from the 
correct population demographics. Consultations designed to achieve this are often run in a 
range of stages based on analysis of the responses throughout the process and often use a 
range of engagement techniques such contacting residents using a call centre. The time frame 
allowed to run this consultation did not allow this to be achieved. As noted above this 
consultation provides information on the opinion of residents who engaged.

2.7 Communication
A major social and digital media sub campaign was also carried out, which included regular 
messaging, targeted demographical and geographical communications, resident e-newsletters, 
and regular theme specific stories, linking with the narrative, and urging residents and 
stakeholders to take part in the consultation.

Through partnership agreements, we worked closely with Wirral Globe, Metro, and more local 
digital news channels. A mix of printed adverts and advertorials were placed to encourage 
participation, as well as digital click-through links and targeted news stories.

Page 522



11

3.0 Results
3.1 Questionnaire Results
The questionnaire was responded to by 534 people, with 530 through the online portal and 4 
paper copies submitted. No questions were mandatory so respondents could choose which 
questions to respond to.   

Due to the size of data tables, the main tables for each of the closed questions are contained in 
Appendix 1.

Page 523



12

Council Services
Q1. Which Council Services do you value the most?

“We believe the services the council provides are all important. In planning for how we fund 
and deliver these services, we want to know more about which council services(s) you value 
the most”.

Please tell us how important these services are to you on a scale of 1-5 (1 being very important 
and 5 being of no importance at all).

The services that were most frequently placed as being most valued were:

1. Children’s Services (46.1% of respondents)

2. Parks and Open Spaces (42.5%)

3. Adult Social care (40.0%)

46.1%
42.5%
40.0%
39.3%
37.8%
29.2%
28.9%
28.3%
26.6%
24.5%
23.4%
20.5%
17.6%
16.3%

15.4%
23.3%

18.4%
25.6%

24.4%
16.6%
27.9%
25.6%

22.8%
30.0%

20.4%
30.3%

19.3%
22.2%

13.7%
14.0%

16.5%
17.3%

18.3%
23.0%

25.1%
22.6%

23.9%
26.6%

27.0%
23.7%

27.8%
30.7%

8.1%
10.4%

10.2%
8.8%

11.2%
14.2%

10.1%
14.0%

12.3%
11.4%

15.3%
16.3%

17.2%
17.8%

16.6%
9.8%

14.8%
9.0%
8.3%

17.0%
8.0%
9.5%

14.4%
7.4%

14.0%
9.3%

18.1%
13.1%

Children’s Services
Parks and Open Spaces

Adult Social Care
Bins and Recycling
Community Safety

Climate Emergency
Highways and Roads

Public Health
Leisure Services

Environmental Health
Rough Sleeping/ Homelessness

Regeneration
Affordable Housing

Museums

One (most important) Two Three Four Five (of no importance at all)

Q1. Which Council Services do you value the most?

Figure 1: Chart showing which Council Services respondents value the most

Page 524



13

Those services most frequently placed as least valued were:

4. Affordable Housing (18.1%)

5. Climate Emergency (17.0%)

6. Children’s Services (16.6%)

Q2. Tell us which services you believe the council needs to invest more resources into.

The services that were most frequently placed as most important to invest more resources in 
were:

1. Parks & Open Spaces (39.2%)

2. Museums (39.0%)

3. Children’s Services (36.3%)

39.2%

39.0%

36.3%

34.8%

29.8%

28.5%

28.1%

26.1%

25.5%

25.1%

23.9%

23.2%

19.9%

18.3%

18.1%

22.2%

19.5%

24.9%

16.2%

23.1%

22.1%

21.0%

19.9%

21.7%

22.6%

25.6%

17.0%

19.9%

18.3%

20.7%

18.3%

23.4%

21.4%

27.2%

19.2%

28.2%

26.6%

31.2%

25.8%

29.9%

25.6%

30.4%

9.3%

7.1%

10.8%

9.9%

13.6%

11.6%

11.9%

13.0%

9.3%

12.7%

13.4%

12.3%

15.1%

13.2%

15.1%

11.1%

15.3%

7.0%

19.1%

9.5%

18.7%

11.7%

18.6%

9.3%

14.2%

9.1%

22.4%

18.3%

Parks and Open Spaces

Museums

Children’s Services

Highways and Roads

Climate Emergency

Community Safety

Regeneration

Environmental Health

Public Health

Adult Social Care

Leisure Services

Rough Sleeping/ Homelessness

Bins and Recycling

Affordable Housing

One (most important) Two Three Four Five (of no importance at all)

Q2. Which services do the council need to invest more resources in to

Figure 2: Chart showing which services respondents feel that the council needs to invest more 
resources into

Page 525



14

Those services that were most frequently placed as of no importance at all to invest more 
resources in were:

1. Bins and Recycling (22.4%)

2. Climate Emergency (19.1%)

Page 526



15

The Wirral Plan and the council budget
Q3. Please tell us how important these priorities are to you on a scale of 1-5.

Safe and Pleasant Communities was the priority most frequently placed as most important, by 
46.2% of respondents.

Active and Healthy Lives (31.8%), Brighter Futures (31.4%) and a Sustainable Environment 
(31.3%) were all similarly placed in importance.  

A Sustainable Environment was the priority most frequently placed as of no importance at all 
(13.1%). 

46.2%

31.8%

31.4%

31.3%

20.4%

25.0%

25.8%

27.7%

19.7%

31.5%

13.1%

22.6%

18.6%

24.4%

28.1%

6.
1%

10
.0

%
11

.6
%

11
.4

%
11

.7
%

9.
7%

9.
8%

10
.8

%
13

.1
%

8.
3%

Safe and Pleasant Communities 

Active and Healthy Lives

Brighter Futures 

A Sustainable Environment

An Inclusive Economy

One (most important) Two Three Four Five (of no importance at all)

Q3. Please tell us how important these priorities are to you.

Figure 3: Chart showing how important these priorities are to respondents

Page 527



16

Q4. Sustainable Environment: How important are these actions?

Within the Sustainable Environment priority, the protection of our local environment action 
was most frequently placed as most important, by 41.8% of respondents.

The continue to respond to the climate emergency action was most frequently placed as of ‘no 
importance at all’ (14.9%).

41.8%

33.0%

32.5%

24.3%

26.8%

20.0%

31.7%

22.3%

15.7%

22.5%

20.0%

26.0%

7.9%

9.6%

9.5%

14.2%

7.
8%

14
.9

%
6.

3%
13

.2
%

Protection of our 
local environment

Continue to respond to 
the climate emergency

Keep working to 
improve street cleanliness

Support increased use 
of active travel networks

One (most important) Two Three Four Five (of no importance at all)

Q3a. Sustainable Environment: How important are these actions?

Figure 4: Chart showing how important the Sustainable Environment actions are to respondents

Page 528



17

Q5. Brighter futures: How important are these actions?

Within the Brighter Futures priority, ensuring our children and young people have equal access 
to education opportunities was the action was most frequently placed as most important, by 
47.0% of respondents.  This was also the action most frequently placed as being of ‘no 
importance at all’.

47.0%

45.0%

44.2%

20.0%

19.5%

20.3%

13.7%

15.8%

17.0%

6.
5%

7.
4%

6.
9%

12
.8

%
12

.2
%

11
.7

%

Ensure our children and young people 
have equal access to educational 

opportunities
Continue to ensure our children and 

young people become the best adults they 
can be

Take every opportunity to raise the 
aspirations of all our children and young 

people

One (most important) Two Three Four Five (of no importance at all)

Q3b. Brighter Futures: How important are these actions?

Figure 5: Chart showing how important the Brighter Futures actions are to respondents

Page 529



18

Q6. Inclusive Economy: How important are these actions?

Within the Inclusive Economy priority, supporting local businesses and job creation was the 
action was most frequently placed as most important, by 47.0% of respondents.  

Developing quality, affordable, sustainable homes was most frequently placed as of ‘no 
importance at all’ (13.7%).

28.7%

25.4%

23.9%

22.9%

30.2%

27.1%

30.2%

20.4%

22.4%

28.3%

24.4%

27.0%

11
.6

%
10

.6
%

12
.4

%

16
.0

%

7.
0%

8.
5%

9.
2%

13
.7

%

Supporting local businesses
 and job creation

Delivering regeneration, 
transport, and growth ambitions

Creating community wealth 
and social value

Developing quality, 
affordable sustainable homes

One (most important) Two Three Four Five (of no importance at all)

Q3c. Inclusive Economy: How important are these actions?

Figure 6: Chart showing how important the Inclusive Economy actions are to respondents

Page 530



19

Q7. Safe and Pleasant Community: How important are these actions?

Within the Safe and Pleasant Community priority, working with partner agencies to reduce 
crime and tackle anti-social behaviour was the action was most frequently placed as most 
important, by 53.3% of respondents.  

Tackling rough sleeping and homelessness was most frequently placed as of ‘no importance at 
all’ (13.7%).

52.3%

38.0%

29.2%

20.6%

29.8%

22.5%

11
.1

%
17

.5
%

23
.7

%

6.
4%

6.
5%

12
.3

%

9.
6%

8.
3%

12
.3

%

Working with partner agencies to 
reduce crime and tackle anti-social 

behaviour

Delivering everyday neighbourhoods 
services to the best possible standard

Tackling rough sleeping 
and homelessness

One (most important) Two Three Four Five (of no importance at all)

Q3d. Safe and Pleasant Community: How important are these actions?

Figure 7: Chart showing how important the Safe and Pleasant Community actions are to 
respondents

Page 531



20

Q8. Active and Healthy Lives: How important are these actions?

Within the Active and Healthy Lives priority, working collaboratively with our partner agencies 
to improve mental wellbeing was the action was most frequently placed as most important, by 
34.6% of respondents.  This action was also most frequently placed as of ‘no importance at all’ 
(11.8%).

34.6%

31.4%

30.5%

28.7%

26.3%

27.6%

22.1%

28.6%

28.7%

30.8%

18.4%

24.0%

23.3%

22.6%

24.0%

8.
4%

12
.9

%
9.

5%
12

.6
%

11
.0

%

11
.8

%
9.

7%
8.

1%
7.

4%
7.

9%

Working collaboratively with our 
partner agencies to improve mental wellbeing

Tackle health inequalities

Supporting people to live independently

Deliver Public Health services to 
help people live healthy lifestyles

Encouragement and help with active living

One (most important) Two Three Four Five (of no importance at all)

Q3e. Active and Healthy Lives: How important are these actions?

Figure 8: Chart showing how important the Active and Healthy Lives actions are to respondents

Page 532



21

Q9. Please outline any suggestions you may have for how the council can make additional 
savings or potential sources of income.

The most common themes that suggestions fell in to were: 

1. Council workforce (136).

2. Council operation (54). 

3. Suggestions for chargeable services (51). 

136
54

51
46

42
36

30
29

26
25

20

Council Workforce
Council Operation

Chargeable Service suggestions
Regeneration

Assets
Service closure/reduction

Maintenance
Leisure Services

Fines and enforcement
Climate Emergency

Golf Courses

Q4. Top categories of suggestion

Figure 9: Top categories of suggestions

Main Category Count
Council Workforce 136
Council Operation 54
Chargeable Service suggestions 51
Regeneration 46
Assets 42
Service closure/reduction 36
Maintenance 30
Leisure Services 29
Fines and enforcement 26
Climate Emergency 25
Golf Courses 20

Table 1: Top categories of suggestion.

Page 533



22

Overall the top specific suggestions:

1. The council should have fewer consultants (32).

2. The council should have fewer councillors (29).

3. Reduce salaries within the council (26).

32

29

26

22

21

16

14

14

Fewer consultants

Fewer councillors

Reduce salaries within council

Sell council buildings

Cease existing projects - no new projects

Parking charges - support

Parking charges - oppose

Hoylake Beach - Rake/clean up

Q4. Top suggestions

Figure 10: Top suggestions

Category Subcategory
Tota
l

Council Workforce Fewer consultants 32
Council Workforce Fewer councillors 29
Council Workforce Reduce salaries within council 26
Assets Sell council buildings 22

Regeneration
Cease existing projects - no new 
projects 21

Chargeable 
Services Parking charges - support 16
Chargeable 
Services Parking charges - oppose 14
Maintenance Hoylake Beach - Rake/clean up 14

Table 2: Top suggestions

Page 534



23
Page 535



24

Below is a summary of those suggestions that were put forward more than 10 times.

1. The council should employ fewer consultants (32). Council workforce.

32 people put this forward as a suggestion. It is felt that the functions carried out by 
consultants should be carried out in-house, and that a workforce should be recruited that 
have the necessary skills.

2. Reduce the number of Councillors serving Wirral (29). Council workforce

29 people put forward this suggestion.  Most commonly, people suggested that there 
should be only 1 or 2 councillors per ward, and that expenses paid should be reduced.

3. Reduce salaries paid (26). Council workforce

26 people put forward this suggestion.  It is felt that salaries, particularly amongst upper 
management should be reduced or capped.

4. Sell council-owned buildings (22). Assets

22 people put forward this suggestion as a way of potentially generating revenue and saving 
costs in maintaining older buildings.  There were 4 counter suggestions, where people were 
against selling off buildings, particularly the town halls. 

5. Curtail regeneration projects and do not embark on new ones (21) Regeneration

21 people suggested that the various regeneration projects do not represent value for 
money and often do not reach fruition.  It is felt that money should be spent on essential 
services and/or where there will be an immediate impact. 7 of the suggestions specifically 
mentioned that regeneration in Birkenhead in particular should cease.

6. Parking charges - for (16) and against (14) Chargeable services

Parking charges divided opinion amongst the suggestions. 

16 people suggested that parking charges should be retained, or introduced, in order to 
increase revenue and/or deter car use.  Some suggest all car parking should be charged, 
others that specific types should be chargeable such as on-street parking, parking at retail 
parks, workplace parking and non-resident parking.

There were 14 counter suggestions to this, suggesting that to charge for parking at smaller 
town and village high streets would have a detrimental effect on the businesses there, 
result in closures, and encourage people to out of town retail parks instead.  It is also 
highlighted that removing parking charges at beauty spots would encourage people to be 
active and improve health and wellbeing.

Page 536



25

7. Hoylake Beach - Rake/clean-up (14) Maintenance

14 people suggested that maintenance resume at Hoylake beach, and that it be returned to 
an ‘amenity beach. The prevalent feeling in regard to this is that beach is no longer usable 
for leisure and recreation by the community, nor is an attraction to visitors.  It is felt this will 
have a detrimental effect on health and wellbeing and the local economy. In addition, it is 
thought that the unmaintained beach will attract vermin.

Page 537



26

3.2 Ideas Board Results
Ideas were examined and sorted into categories and given a ‘score’ based on the frequency 
that the idea was put forward and how many likes they received.  Counter comments have 
been taken into account, and where someone disagrees with an idea, or submits an opposing 
idea, the score was adjusted (reduced) accordingly.

The score was calculated by adding the number of submissions and number of combined likes 
and subtracting the number of counter comments.

Where one individual has made multiple submissions saying the same thing, these are 
combined to one submission per category discussed.  Any ‘likes’ accrued across the submissions 
are combined and retained.

The most popular type of ideas were those relating to the 

1. Council’s operation and structure (score of 71).

2. Ideas relating to maintenance (57). 

3. Ideas relating to golf courses (42). 

71
57

42
40

34
29

23
17

13
13

10

Council operation
Maintenance
Golf courses

Service closure/reduction
Fines and charges

Council Tax
Community Safety
Generate Tourism

Waste collection
Assets

Road Safety

Top categories of ideas by likes and number of submissions

Figure 11: Top idea categories

Page 538



27

Category Sum of Likes Submissions Total approval
Council operation 58 13 71
Maintenance 41 16 57
Golf courses 24 18 42
Service closure/reduction 26 14 40
Fines and charges 24 10 34
Council Tax 21 8 29
Community Safety 17 6 23
Generate Tourism 15 2 17
Waste collection 11 2 13
Assets 9 4 13
Road Safety 8 2 10

Table 3: Top idea categories – score matrix

The most popular and ‘liked’ specific ideas were:

1. The council should have fewer councillors (38).

2. Hoylake Beach should be maintained (24).

3. The council should use fewer consultants (23).

38

24

23

22

15

13

12

10

Fewer Councillors

Hoylake Beach - Rake-clean up

Fewer consultants

Retain Brackenwood Golf Course

Remove Metro Mayor

Fly tipping - accept all waste at tips

More youth clubs

Retain leisure services & leisure centres

Top ideas by likes and number of submissions

Figure 12: Top individual ideas

Page 539



28

Row Labels
Sum of 
Likes Submissions

Counter 
Comment

Total 
approval

Fewer Councillors 33 5 38
Hoylake Beach - Rake-clean up 25 7 8 24
Fewer consultants 20 3 23
Retain Brackenwood Golf Course 17 5 22
Remove Metro Mayor 14 2 1 15
Fly tipping - accept all waste tips 11 2 13
More youth clubs 10 2 12
Retain leisure services & leisure 
centres 7 3 10

Table 4: Top individual ideas – score matrix

Below is a summary of those ideas that achieved a frequency and popularity score of more than 
10:

1. Reduce the number of Councillors serving Wirral (38). Council Operation and Structure

Five people put forward submissions mentioning this as an idea, which between them 
garnered 33 ‘likes’.  Most commonly, people suggested that there should be only 1 
councillor per ward, not 3.

One of these submissions was the joint most popular idea on the ideas board and received 
14 ‘likes’: 

2. Resume maintenance of Hoylake Beach (24) Maintenance

Seven people put forward submissions relating to this, which between them garnered 25 
‘likes’.  There were also contrary opinions about this (8), that the beach should be returned 
to nature, which have been taken into account in the final scoring.

Page 540



29

The feeling is that beach is no longer usable for leisure and recreation by the community, 
nor is an attraction to visitors.  It is felt this will have a detrimental effect on health and 
wellbeing and the local economy. 

The counter argument is that it would be environmentally beneficial to see the beach 
returned to nature and would attract wildlife and thus wildlife enthusiasts.  It saves 
maintenance costs and stabilises the sand.

3. Council to employ fewer consultants (23) Council Operation and Structure

Three ideas to this effect were submitted, which garnered 23 ‘likes’.  The prevalent feeling 
is that consultants were expensive and unnecessary. It is felt that the work should be 
carried out in-house and staff employed who could carry out the roles currently outsourced.

4. Retain Brackenwood Golf Course (22) Golf

Five people submitted ideas and comments to this effect, which were ‘liked’ by 17 people. 

Brackenwood Golf Course is predominantly mentioned in terms of courses that should be 
retained, Hoylake golf course and the plans for an Arrowe Park golf resort were mentioned 
as those that could be sold or scrapped.

5. Remove metro mayor charge from council tax (15) Council Tax

Two people submitted ideas or comments to this effect, garnering 14 likes.  It is felt that this 
function does not benefit Wirral.

One of these submissions was the joint most popular idea on the ideas board and received 
14 ‘likes’: 

There was a counter comment to this submission which stated that a metro mayor afforded 
the ability to make regional decisions independent of Westminster, and that funding was 
attached to role.

6. Reduce fly tipping by accepting all waste at tips and making kerbside collections 
cheaper (13) Waste Collection

Two people submitted ideas or comments to this effect, garnering 11 likes. 

Page 541



30

By accepting all types of waste, and commercial waste at Wirral recycling centres fly-tipping 
would be greatly reduced or eliminated thus saving the cost of clearance.  Similarly, if kerb-
side bulk waste collection services were cheaper, this would lead to a reduction in fly 
tipping.

7. More youth clubs (12) Community safety and crime prevention

Two people submitted ideas or comments to this effect, garnering 10 likes.

It is noted that there is little for young people to do, and this can lead to anti-social 
behaviour born of boredom.  The Hive in Birkenhead is highlighted as being a success and it 
is suggested that specifically West Kirby youth club should re-open.

8. Retain services and leisure centres (10) Health & wellbeing

Three people submitted ideas or comments to this effect, garnering 7 likes.

The benefits of sport and leisure on physical and mental health are highlighted as 
particularly important following COVID-19 restrictions. It is specifically queried as to why 
Woodchurch Leisure Centre is not open.

3.3 Staff Engagement
There were five staff responses fed back through the channel set up within the Council. The key 
areas in the feedback included:

Ideas for cost savings:

 Income generation in services such as cemeteries and crematorium.

 Reduce spending on buildings by reducing the Councils assets or bringing more services 
together to share buildings.

 Reducing the number of inappropriate jobs created in some parts of the Council. 
Inappropriate jobs relate to those established without consultation, ring fenced to 
certain individuals, lack of job evaluation and manager level pay with no management 
responsibility.

 To have a more inclusive curriculum and education system with support within schools 
and colleges utilising learning bases so a lot of money doesn’t have to be spent on 
alternative curriculum for young people.

 Utilising the services that already exist including third sector to support instead of 
creating new services.

 Utilising tourists’ spots to bring money in.

Page 542



31

 Having more courses and educational opportunities in the Wirral so people don't have 
to travel out or move away.

What the Council priorities should be:

 Vulnerable Adults and Children

 Front line services e.g., bins, streetlighting, schools, social services.

 Use of the intelligence we have.

 Valuing and utilising the skills of the experienced staff we have.

 Senior management listening to ideas from staff not just once a year at budget time.

 Investing in young people, more opportunities and youth workers in the communities 
where young people are.

Page 543



32

4.0 Demographics and Site Traffic
4.1 Demographics
Registration was required to engage in the online Budget Consultation. The registration form 
included questions regarding demographics including gender, age group, ethnicity, and sexual 
orientation, however not all questions in the registration form were compulsory and 
respondents could choose to select ‘prefer not to say’ or skip the question. The demographics 
results are summarised below.

Most of the respondents (87.9%) classed themselves as local residents.

87
.9

%

5.
7%

3.
7%

1.
2%

1.
1%

0.
4%

A local resident An employee of 
Wirral Council

A member of a 
voluntary or 
community 
organisation

A local Business Other An elected 
Member of 

Wirral Council

Are you registering as:

Figure 13: Who are you registering as?

Are you registering as: Count %
A local resident 494 87.9%
An employee of Wirral Council 32 5.7%
A member of a voluntary or community 
organisation 21 3.7%

A local Business 7 1.2%
Other 6 1.1%
An elected Member of Wirral Council 2 0.4%
Total 562 100.0%

Table 5: Who are you registered as?

Page 544



33

The most represented Wirral Ward is Hoylake and Meols (11.3%), the least represented Wirral 
Ward was Bromborough (0.2%).  Most Wirral respondents were in Decile 1 or decile 6 of the 
IMD (13.7% each), where decile 1 is the most deprived, and decile 10 is the least deprived.

Parts of Seacombe and Bidston and St. James were most represented in decile 1. Parts of 
Hoylake and Meols ward was most represented in decile 6.

11.3%
7.0%

5.6%
5.2%

5.0%
5.0%
5.0%

4.6%
4.4%

4.2%
4.2%

4.0%
4.0%

3.8%
3.8%

3.6%
3.6%

3.4%
2.4%
2.4%
2.4%

1.4%
1.2%

0.2%
0.2%
0.2%
0.2%
0.2%

Hoylake and Meols
Wallasey

Clatterbridge
Eastham

Bebington
Greasby, Frankby and Irby

New Brighton
Heswall

Pensby and Thingwall
Oxton

Prenton
Liscard

Seacombe
Moreton West and Saughall Massie

Upton
Claughton

West Kirby and Thurstaston
Bromborough

Bidston and St. James
Birkenhead and Tranmere

Leasowe and Moreton East
Rock Ferry

Cheshire West
Brombrough

Denbighshire
Halton

St Helens
Wiltshire

Representation of Wiral Wards amongst respondents

Chart 1: Respondent location by ward

Page 545



34

Ward Name Count %
Hoylake and Meols 57 11.3%
Wallasey 35 7.0%
Clatterbridge 28 5.6%
Eastham 26 5.2%
Bebington 25 5.0%
Greasby, Frankby and Irby 25 5.0%
New Brighton 25 5.0%
Heswall 23 4.6%
Pensby and Thingwall 22 4.4%
Oxton 21 4.2%
Prenton 21 4.2%
Liscard 20 4.0%
Seacombe 20 4.0%
Moreton West and Saughall Massie 19 3.8%
Upton 19 3.8%
Claughton 18 3.6%
West Kirby and Thurstaston 18 3.6%
Bromborough 17 3.4%
Bidston and St. James 12 2.4%
Birkenhead and Tranmere 12 2.4%
Leasowe and Moreton East 12 2.4%
Rock Ferry 7 1.4%
Cheshire West 6 1.2%
Bromborough 1 0.2%
Denbighshire 1 0.2%
Halton 1 0.2%
St Helens 1 0.2%
Wiltshire 1 0.2%
Uncategorised 10 2.0%

Total 503 100.0%
Table 6: Respondent location by ward.

Page 546



35

13
.7

%

6.
0% 7.

4% 8.
5%

5.
6%

13
.7

%

11
.3

%

11
.5

%

9.
1%

8.
5%

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Representation by IMD decile (Wirral)

IMD decile

Figure 14: Representation by IMD decile

IMD Decile Count %
1 69 13.7%
2 30 6.0%
3 37 7.4%
4 43 8.5%
5 28 5.6%
6 69 13.7%
7 57 11.3%
8 58 11.5%
9 46 9.1%
10 43 8.5%
Outside Wirral 10 2.0%
Unavailable 13 2.6%

Total 503 100.0%
Table 7: Representation by IMD decile

Page 547



36

The gender of respondents was 59.3% male, 36.4% female, with 3.5% preferring not to say and 
0.8% preferring their own term.

Female
 46%

Male
 49%

Prefer not to 
say
 4%

Prefer to use 
own term

 1%

Gender

            Chart 2: Gender of respondents

Page 548



37

The age group profile is illustrated with the most common age groups were 65-74 years 
(24.7%), followed by 55-64 years (23.1%) and 45-54 years (20.4%). The least represented 
groups were 16-24 years (0.8%) and over 75s (7.6%).

0.
8%

8.
0%

15
.5

% 20
.4

% 23
.1

%

24
.7

%

7.
6%

16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75

Age Group

Chart 3: Age group of respondents

93.4% of respondents were white British, with only 14 (2.7%) respondents were of a non-white 
or other ethnicity. 

93.4%

2.7%

2.1%

1.2%

0.4%

0.2%

White - British

White - Any other White background

Other

White - Irish

Mixed - Any other Mixed background

Mixed - White and Asian

Which of these groups do you consider you belong to? 

Chart 4: Ethnicity of respondents

Page 549



38

81.6% of respondents were heterosexual, 3.6% were gay/ lesbian, 1.4% bisexual and 13.5% 
preferred not to say.

81
.6

%

3.
6%

1.
4%

13
.5

%

Heterosexual GayLesbian Bisexual Prefer not to say

What is your sexual orientation

               Chart 30: Sexual orientation of respondents

Page 550



39

4.2 Have your say - Site Traffic
Reviewing the site activity, visits, and how people visit the site can be useful to evaluate if 
people are aware of the site, as well as to ensure engagement activities are deployed 
effectively, and to a wide range of different people – enhancing public engagement in the 
future. 

Site registration allows us to confirm the number of engaged participants through the 
completion of the questionnaire or ideas board; 530 people completed the survey and 78 
people contributed 112 ideas to the board.

2,710 visited the Budget Consultation page of the Have Your Say site, of these 182 downloaded 
a document, 530 people completed the survey and 78 people contributed 112 ideas to the 
board.

These figures cannot be viewed as definitive as they are based on site tracking through 
‘cookies’ and there are a number of factors that can impact on this. These include that cookies 
may be disabled or deleted, individuals may access the site multiple times through different 
devices or different browsers. However, the figures can be used to gauge how much interest 
has been generated in individual projects through the rate of engaged participants.

The route that people access the site is known as the traffic source. The ‘Have your say’ portal 
allows analysis to be carried out on traffic source, and if they lead to engagement in the site 
tools such as the questionnaire. This analysis allows a greater understanding of which 
communication and promotional tools to use to optimise engagement.

For this project a range of traffic sources have been reviewed and summarised in the table 
below. Most visits to the site were direct visits (2,006 visits) where people have either pasted or 
typed the URL in to their browser; these generated high rate of engagement with 32.5% of 
visits resulting in completion of the survey and/or ideas board. 

Compared to this, whilst social media accounted for the second highest volume of traffic (1,120 
visits) it generated the lowest rate of engagement - 11.8%. 

TRAFFIC CHANNEL AWARE VISITS INFORMED VISITS (%) ENGAGED VISITS (%)
DIRECT                  2,006 70.0% 32.5%
SOCIAL MEDIA                  1,120 61.3% 11.8%
EMAIL                     199 63.3% 15.6%
SEARCH ENGINE                     135 57.0% 19.3%
REFERRALS                       67 67.2% 14.9%
.GOV SITES                         9 66.7% 33.3%

Table 8: Site traffic sources

Page 551



40

Appendix 1: Data Tables
Q1 Which council services do you value the most? data table

Importance Online responses Paper responses Total responses Percent
Adult Social Care    
One 209 4 213 40.0%
Two 98 98 18.4%
Three 88 88 16.5%
Four 54 54 10.2%
Five 79 79 14.8%
Total 528 4 532 100.0%
Children’s Service    
One 242 3 245 46.1%
Two 82 82 15.4%
Three 72 1 73 13.7%
Four 43 43 8.1%
Five 88 88 16.6%
Total 527 4 531 100.0%
Bins and Recycling    
One 207 2 209 39.3%
Two 134 2 136 25.6%
Three 92 92 17.3%
Four 47 47 8.8%
Five 48 48 9.0%
Total 528 4 532 100.0%
Affordable Housing    
One 90 3 93 17.6%
Two 101 1 102 19.3%
Three 147 147 27.8%
Four 91 91 17.2%
Five 96 96 18.1%
Total 525 4 529 100.0%
Highways and Roads    
One 152 152 28.9%
Two 144 3 147 27.9%
Three 131 1 132 25.1%
Four 53 53 10.1%
Five 42 42 8.0%
Total 522 4 526 100.0%
Climate Emergency    
One 154 1 155 29.2%

Page 552



41

Importance Online responses Paper responses Total responses Percent
Two 87 1 88 16.6%
Three 120 2 122 23.0%
Four 75 75 14.2%
Five 90 90 17.0%
Total 526 4 530 100.0%
Community Safety (Including Antisocial Behaviour)    
One 197 3 200 37.8%
Two 128 1 129 24.4%
Three 97 97 18.3%
Four 59 59 11.2%
Five 44 44 8.3%
Total 525 4 529 100.0%
Rough Sleeping and Homelessness    
One 122 2 124 23.4%
Two 107 1 108 20.4%
Three 142 1 143 27.0%
Four 81 81 15.3%
Five 74 74 14.0%
Total 526 4 530 100.0%
Regeneration (Including Economic Growth and Job Creation)   
One 108 108 20.5%
Two 158 2 160 30.3%
Three 124 1 125 23.7%
Four 86 86 16.3%
Five 48 1 49 9.3%
Total 524 4 528 100.0%
Public Health (Including addressing Health Inequalities)   
One 146 3 149 28.3%
Two 134 1 135 25.6%
Three 119 119 22.6%
Four 74 74 14.0%
Five 50 50 9.5%
Total 523 4 527 100.0%
Environmental Health    
One 128 1 129 24.5%
Two 155 3 158 30.0%
Three 140 140 26.6%
Four 60 60 11.4%
Five 39 39 7.4%
Total 522 4 526 100.0%
Leisure Services (Including Leisure Centres and Golf Courses)   

Page 553



42

Importance Online responses Paper responses Total responses Percent
One 139 1 140 26.6%
Two 118 2 120 22.8%
Three 126 126 23.9%
Four 65 65 12.3%
Five 75 1 76 14.4%
Total 523 4 527 100.0%
Museums     
One 85 1 86 16.3%
Two 116 1 117 22.2%
Three 161 1 162 30.7%
Four 94 94 17.8%
Five 68 1 69 13.1%
Total 524 4 528 100.0%
Parks and Open Spaces    
One 223 2 225 42.5%
Two 122 1 123 23.3%
Three 74 74 14.0%
Four 55 55 10.4%
Five 51 1 52 9.8%
Total 525 4 529 100.0%

Q2 Which Services do the council need to invest more resources in data table

Importance Online responses Paper responses Total responses Percent
Adult Social Care (including Domestic Abuse, Safeguarding and Independent Living)  
One 141 4 145 36.3%
Two 78 78 19.5%
Three 73 73 18.3%
Four 43 43 10.8%
Five 61 61 15.3%
Total 396 4 400 100.0%
Children’s Services (Including Education, Safeguarding, Early Help and SEND)  
One 153 3 156 39.2%
Two 72 72 18.1%
Three 72 1 73 18.3%
Four 37 37 9.3%
Five 60 60 15.1%
Total 394 4 398 100.0%
Bins and Recycling    
One 93 2 95 25.1%
Two 80 2 82 21.7%

Page 554



43

Importance Online responses Paper responses Total responses Percent
Three 118 118 31.2%
Four 48 48 12.7%
Five 35 35 9.3%
Total 374 4 378 100.0%
Affordable Housing    
One 72 2 74 19.9%
Two 62 1 63 17.0%
Three 94 1 95 25.6%
Four 56 56 15.1%
Five 83 83 22.4%
Total 367 4 371 100.0%
Highways and Roads (Including Streetlights, Parking and Street Cleaning)   
One 108 3 111 28.5%
Two 89 1 90 23.1%
Three 106 106 27.2%
Four 45 45 11.6%
Five 37 37 9.5%
Total 385 4 389 100.0%
Climate Emergency    
One 113 1 114 29.8%
Two 61 1 62 16.2%
Three 80 2 82 21.4%
Four 52 52 13.6%
Five 73 73 19.1%
Total 379 4 383 100.0%
Community Safety (Including Antisocial Behaviour)    
One 131 3 134 34.8%
Two 95 1 96 24.9%
Three 90 90 23.4%
Four 38 38 9.9%
Five 27 27 7.0%
Total 381 4 385 100.0%
Rough Sleeping and Homelessness    
One 93 3 96 25.5%
Two 75 75 19.9%
Three 99 1 100 26.6%
Four 35 35 9.3%
Five 70 70 18.6%
Total 372 4 376 100.0%
Regeneration (Including Economic Growth and Job Creation)   
One 91 91 23.9%

Page 555



44

Importance Online responses Paper responses Total responses Percent
Two 84 2 86 22.6%
Three 97 1 98 25.8%
Four 51 51 13.4%
Five 53 1 54 14.2%
Total 376 4 380 100.0%
Public Health (Including addressing Health Inequalities)    
One 95 3 98 26.1%
Two 78 1 79 21.0%
Three 106 106 28.2%
Four 49 49 13.0%
Five 44 44 11.7%
Total 372 4 376 100.0%
Environmental Health    
One 86 1 87 23.2%
Two 93 3 96 25.6%
Three 112 112 29.9%
Four 46 46 12.3%
Five 34 34 9.1%
Total 371 4 375 100.0%
Leisure Services (Including Leisure Centres and Golf Courses)   
One 107 1 108 28.1%
Two 83 2 85 22.1%
Three 74 74 19.2%
Four 46 46 11.9%
Five 71 1 72 18.7%
Total 381 4 385 100.0%
Museums     
One 67 1 68 18.3%
Two 72 2 74 19.9%
Three 113 113 30.4%
Four 49 49 13.2%
Five 67 1 68 18.3%
Total 368 4 372 100.0%
Parks and Open Spaces    
One 153 2 155 39.0%
Two 87 1 88 22.2%
Three 82 82 20.7%
Four 28 28 7.1%
Five 43 1 44 11.1%
Total 393 4 397 100.0%

Page 556



45

Q3 How important are these priorities? - data table

Importance Online responses Paper responses Total responses Percent
A Sustainable Environment – e.g., tackling climate crisis    
One 165 2 167 31.3%
Two 104 1 105 19.7%
Three 129 1 130 24.4%
Four 61 61 11.4%
Five 70 70 13.1%
Total 529 4 533 100.0%
Brighter Futures – e.g., helping children and families    
One 163 3 166 31.4%
Two 146 146 27.7%
Three 97 1 98 18.6%
Four 61 61 11.6%
Five 57 57 10.8%
Total 524 4 528 100.0%
An Inclusive Economy – e.g., supporting jobs and businesses   
One 106 2 108 20.4%
Two 165 2 167 31.5%
Three 149 149 28.1%
Four 62 62 11.7%
Five 44 44 8.3%
Total 526 4 530 100.0%
Safe and Pleasant Communities – e.g., being safe where we live   
One 241 3 244 46.2%
Two 131 1 132 25.0%
Three 69 69 13.1%
Four 32 32 6.1%
Five 51 51 9.7%
Total 524 4 528 100.0%
Active and Healthy Lives – e.g., helping people live independently   
One 166 3 169 31.8%
Two 136 1 137 25.8%
Three 120 120 22.6%
Four 53 53 10.0%
Five 52 52 9.8%
Total 527 4 531 100.0%

Page 557



46

Q4 Sustainable Environment data table

Importance Online responses Paper responses Total responses Percent
Continue to respond to the climate emergency     
One 174 1 175 33.0%
Two 105 1 106 20.0%
Three 118 1 119 22.5%
Four 51 51 9.6%
Five 79 79 14.9%
Total 527 3 530 100.0%
Protection of our local environment    
One 220 1 221 41.8%
Two 140 2 142 26.8%
Three 83 83 15.7%
Four 42 42 7.9%
Five 41 41 7.8%
Total 526 3 529 100.0%
Keep working to improve street cleanliness    
One 169 2 171 32.5%
Two 166 1 167 31.7%
Three 105 105 20.0%
Four 50 50 9.5%
Five 33 33 6.3%
Total 523 3 526 100.0%
Support increased us of active travel (walking and cycling) networks   
One 128 1 129 24.3%
Two 117 1 118 22.3%
Three 137 1 138 26.0%
Four 75 75 14.2%
Five 70 70 13.2%
Total 527 3 530 100.0%

Page 558



47

Q5 Stronger & brighter futures data table

Importance Online responses Paper responses Total responses Percent
Continue to ensure our children and young people become the best adults they can be  
One 235 1 236 45.0%
Two 101 1 102 19.5%
Three 82 1 83 15.8%
Four 39 39 7.4%
Five 64 64 12.2%
Total 521 3 524 100.0%
Ensure our children and young people have equal access to educational opportunities  
One 245 2 247 47.0%
Two 104 1 105 20.0%
Three 72 72 13.7%
Four 34 34 6.5%
Five 67 67 12.8%
Total 522 3 525 100.0%
Take every opportunity to raise the aspirations of all our children and young people  
One 229 2 231 44.2%
Two 105 1 106 20.3%
Three 89 89 17.0%
Four 36 36 6.9%
Five 61 61 11.7%
Total 520 3 523 100.0%

Page 559



48

Q6 Inclusive Economy data table

Importance Online responses Paper responses Total responses Percent
Creating community wealth and social value    
One 124 1 125 23.9%
Two 156 2 158 30.2%
Three 128 128 24.4%
Four 65 65 12.4%
Five 48 48 9.2%
Total 521 3 524 100.0%
Supporting local businesses and job creation    
One 150 1 151 28.7%
Two 157 2 159 30.2%
Three 118 118 22.4%
Four 61 61 11.6%
Five 37 37 7.0%
Total 523 3 526 100.0%
Developing quality, affordable sustainable homes    
One 118 2 120 22.9%
Two 106 1 107 20.4%
Three 142 142 27.0%
Four 84 84 16.0%
Five 72 72 13.7%
Total 522 3 525 100.0%
Delivering regeneration, transport, and growth ambitions
  
One 133 1 134 25.4%
Two 141 2 143 27.1%
Three 149 149 28.3%
Four 56 56 10.6%
Five 45 45 8.5%
Total 524 3 527 100.0%

Page 560



49

Q7 Safe & Pleasant Communities data table

Importance Online responses Paper responses Total responses Percent
Working with partner agencies to reduce crime and tackle anti-social behaviour  
One 275 2 277 52.3%
Two 108 1 109 20.6%
Three 59 59 11.1%
Four 34 34 6.4%
Five 51 51 9.6%
Total 527 3 530 100.0%
Tackling rough sleeping and homelessness    
One 152 2 154 29.2%
Two 119 119 22.5%
Three 124 1 125 23.7%
Four 65 65 12.3%
Five 65 65 12.3%
Total 525 3 528 100.0%
Delivering everyday neighbourhoods services to the best possible standard   
One 199 1 200 38.0%
Two 155 2 157 29.8%
Three 92 92 17.5%
Four 34 34 6.5%
Five 44 44 8.3%
Total 524 3 527 100.0%

Page 561



50

Q8 Active and Healthy Lives data table

Importance Online responses Paper responses Total responses Percent
Working collaboratively with our partner agencies to improve mental wellbeing  
One 179 3 182 34.6%
Two 144 1 145 27.6%
Three 97 97 18.4%
Four 44 44 8.4%
Five 62 62 11.8%
Total 526 526 100.0%
Encouragement and help with active living    
One 137 2 139 26.3%
Two 162 1 163 30.8%
Three 127 127 24.0%
Four 57 1 58 11.0%
Five 42 42 7.9%
Total 525 4 529 100.0%
Supporting people to live independently    
One 158 3 161 30.5%
Two 150 1 151 28.6%
Three 123 123 23.3%
Four 50 50 9.5%
Five 43 43 8.1%
Total 524 4 528 100.0%
Deliver Public Health services to help people live healthy lifestyles   
One 148 4 152 28.7%
Two 152 152 28.7%
Three 120 120 22.6%
Four 67 67 12.6%
Five 39 39 7.4%
Total 526 4 530 100.0%
Tackle health inequalities    
One 161 4 165 31.4%
Two 116 116 22.1%
Three 126 126 24.0%
Four 68 68 12.9%
Five 51 51 9.7%
Total 522 4 526 100.0%

Page 562



TOURISM, COMMUNITIES, CULTURE & LEISURE COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 18 JANUARY 2021

REPORT TITLE: TOURISM, COMMUNITIES, CULTURE AND 
LEISURE WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF LAW AND GOVERNANCE

REPORT SUMMARY

The Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee, in co-operation with the 
other Policy and Service Committees, is responsible for proposing and delivering an 
annual committee work programme. This work programme should align with the 
corporate priorities of the Council, in particular the delivery of the key decisions 
which are within the remit of the Committee.  It is envisaged that the work 
programme will be formed from a combination of key decisions, standing items and 
requested officer reports. This report provides the Committee with an opportunity to 
plan and regularly review its work across the municipal year. The work programme 
for the Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee is attached as 
Appendix 1 to this report.

RECOMMENDATION/S

The Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee are invited to agree or 
otherwise determine the content of the Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure 
Committee work programme which is proposed in this report for the remainder of the 
2021/22 municipal year.

Page 563

Agenda Item 9



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To ensure Members of the Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure 
Committee have the opportunity to contribute to the delivery of the annual 
work programme.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 A number of workplan formats were explored, with the current framework 
open to amendment to match the requirements of the Committee

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The work programme should align with the priorities of the Council and its 
partners. The programme will be informed by: 
 The Council Plan 
 The Council’s transformation programme 
 The Council’s Forward Plan 
 Service performance information 
 Risk management information 
 Public or service user feedback 
 Referrals from Council

Terms of Reference 

The Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee has responsibility for 
customer contact, community development and community services. including all of 
those functions related to community safety and also those regarding the promotion 
of community engagement. The Committee is charged by full Council to undertake 
responsibility for the Council’s role and functions: 

(a) for customer and community contact services, including various offices and 
meeting points, customer contact centres and advice and transaction 
services 

(b) community engagement, incorporating the Council’s approach to equalities, 
inclusion communities, neighbourhoods and the voluntary and charitable 
sector, community wealth building and social value. 

(c) in considering options and develop proposals for neighbourhood 
arrangements, including capacity building, use of assets and devolving 
powers and services to neighbourhoods.

(d) for the provision and management of leisure, sports and recreation facilities.  

Page 564



(e) for delivery of the authority’s library and museums services, including but not 
limited to art galleries, historic buildings and their gardens and the functions 
of the Council regarding public records

(f) concerning tourism, the arts, culture and heritage, including provision of 
theatre, entertainments, conferences and events; 

(g) in relation to bereavement services and support to the Coroner’s service; 

(h) regarding community safety, crime and disorder and all associated matters; 

(i) for trading standards and environmental health, including but not limited to: 

(i) consumer protection; 

(ii)   product safety; 

(iii) fair trading; (iv) metrology; 

(v) food standards and animal health; 

(vi) air pollution control; 

(vii) health and safety at work (except in so far as it relates to the Council as 
an employer); 

(viii) public conveniences; 

(ix) food safety; and 

(x) control of nuisances; 

(j) in respect of emergency planning and community resilience (community, 
regulatory and asset services); 

(k) providing a view of performance, budget monitoring and risk management in 
relation to the Committee’s functions; and 

(l) undertaking the development and implementation of policy in relation to the 
Committee’s functions, incorporating the assessment of outcomes, review of 
effectiveness and formulation of recommendations to the Council, partners and 
other bodies, which shall include any decision relating to the above functions

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1    This report is for information and planning purposes only, therefore there are 
no direct financial implication arising. However, there may be financial 
implications arising as a result of work programme items.

Page 565



5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1      There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. However, there 
may be legal implications arising as a result of work programme items.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1   There are no direct implications to staffing, ICT or Assets.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The Committee’s ability to undertake it’s responsibility to provide strategic 
direction to the operation of the Council, make decisions on policies, co-
ordinate spend, and maintain a strategic overview of outcomes, performance, 
risk management and budgets may be compromised if it does not have the 
opportunity to plan and regularly review its work across the municipal year.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Not applicable.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 
carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to 
ensure equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, 
decision or activity.

This report is for information to Members and there are no direct equality 
implications.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 This report is for information to Members and there are no direct environment 
and climate implications. However, there may be implications arising as a 
result of work programme items.

11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH BUILDING IMPLICATIONS

11.1 This report is for information purposes only and as such there are no direct 
community wealth building implications. 

REPORT AUTHOR: Anna Perrett
(Senior Democratic Services Officer)
email:  annaperret@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Page 566



Appendix 1: Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure Committee Work 
Programme

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Council Constitution

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Tourism, Communities, Culture and Leisure 
Committee

12th October 2021
2nd September 2021
27th July 2021
16th June 2021
3rd March 2021
21st January 2021
23rd November 2020
26th October 2020

Page 567



This page is intentionally left blank



TOURISM, COMMUNITIES, CULTURE AND LEISURE 
COMMITTEE
WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21

Contact Officer/s: MIKE JONES

ANNA PERRETT

January Agenda 

Item Key Decision Lead Officer
Sport and Physical 
Activity Strategy

Yes Andy McCartan

FINAL LIBRARY 
STRATEGY AND 
FUTURE OPERATING 
MODEL

Yes Andy McCartan

2022/23 Budget 
Update

No Shaer Halewood

Work Programme 
Update

No Anna Perrett

UPCOMING KEY DECISIONS – WAITING TO BE SCHEDULED 

Item Approximate 
timescale 

Lead Departmental Officer  Wirral Plan 
Priority

Birkenhead Culture 
and Heritage 
Strategy (part of 
Birkenhead 2040 

2022 Jane Morgan Inclusive Economy

Page 569



Regeneration 
Framework
Wirral Culture and 
Heritage Strategy

July 2022 Jane Morgan Inclusive Economy

Future of Golf (Final 
Report), 

2022 Andy McCartan Healthy and Active 
lives

Open Golf 2022 Andy McCartan Healthy and Active 
lives

Grass Roots 
Football?

2022 Andy McCartan Healthy and Active 
Lives

Community Safety 
Annual Update

 2022 Mark Camborne Healthy and Active 
Lives

ADDITIONAL AGENDA ITEMS – WAITING TO BE SCHEDULED 

Item Approximate timescale Lead Departmental 
Officer  

Battle of Brunanburh TBC Keith Keeley
 

STANDING ITEMS AND MONITORING REPORTS  

Item Reporting Frequency  Lead Departmental 
Officer  

Financial Monitoring TBC Shaer Halewood

WORK PROGRAMME ACTIVITIES OUTSIDE COMMITTEE 

Item Format Timescale Lead Officer  Progress 
Working Groups/ Sub Committees

Task and Finish work

Spotlight sessions / workshops
Royden Park Workshop 2021 James 

Roberts
TBC

Golf Working 
Group/workshop

Workshop 2021 Neil price Oct 2021

Page 570



Budget Setting Workshops 2021 All Ongoing
Performance Dashboard Workshop 2021 Nicki 

Butterworth/
Nancy 
Clarkson

Completed

Corporate scrutiny / Other 

Page 571



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES
	Minutes

	6 A Sport and Physical Activity Strategy for Wirral (2021-2026)
	Active Wirral Strategy FV
	Wirral Council – Strategic Outcomes Planning Guidance Report 2021
	Sport & Physical Activity Strategy Consultation Report
	1.0 Executive Summary
	1.1 Key Findings
	1.1.1 Surveys
	Resident’s consultation, including young people.
	Partners’ consultation
	Ideas Board
	1.1.2 Easy Read responses


	2.0 Methodology
	2.1 Surveys
	2.1.2 Ideas Board

	2.2 Interpretation of Results
	2.3 Communications

	3.0 Findings
	3.1 Questionnaire findings
	3.1a Resident’s responses: People and Young People surveys.
	Q1. What does being active mean to you?
	Q2. Is it important to have an active lifestyle?
	Q3. Do you enjoy taking part in physical activity?
	Q5. Do you take part in any sport or physical activity (outside of school or college)?
	Q6. How much time do you like to spend being active?
	Q7. How often are you active in an average month?
	Q8. When it comes to being active, what matters most to you?
	Q9. Where are you when you are active?
	Q10. What sport and/ or physical activities do you currently take part in?
	Q11. Are there any barriers that make it harder for you to be active?
	Q12. Do you currently, or have you in the past, used a Invigor8 membership?
	Q13. Why have you not taken out an Invigor8 membership?
	Q14. Why have you not taken out a new Invigor8 membership?
	Q15. How easy do you find it to know what sports and activities are happening locally?
	Q16. How could we help you to be more active?
	Q17. Which sports and activities are most important to you?
	Q18. At what time of day would you prefer to be active?
	Q19. To help us design new sessions, how long would you like them to be?
	Q20. Have you had COVID-19?
	Q21. What impact has the last 12 months had on you?
	Q22. How have the changes and restrictions brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic affected your levels of physical activity?
	Q23. Do you have a disability?
	Q24. Do you have a long-term health condition?
	Q25. Do you attend school or college?
	Q25. Are you currently in employment?
	Q27. Are you currently not in school, college or employment (NEET)?
	Q28. Is there anything else you would like to tell us about being active in Wirral?
	Residents
	Young People


	3.1b Partners Responses
	Q1. Please tell us what type of services your organisation provides
	Q2. Who is your service for?
	Q3. Please tell us where your services are delivered
	Q4. Would you be interested in working with Wirral Council Leisure Services to improve health inequalities?
	Q5. Have you worked in partnership with Wirral Council Leisure Services in the past?
	Q6. If you have worked in partnership with Wirral Council Leisure Services in the past, please provide the timing of this?
	Q7. What type of work was carried out in this partnership??
	Q8. How satisfied were you with your experience of working in partnership with Wirral Council Leisure Services?
	Q9. From your experience, what worked well in this partnership?
	Q10. From your experience what didn't work well in this partnership?
	Q11. What role do you see Wirral Council Leisure Services playing in partnership with your organisation?
	Q12. Is there anything else you would like to tell us about how we could work together to improve activity levels across the borough?

	3.2 Ideas Board Responses
	Residents’ Ideas Board
	Young People’s Ideas Board


	4.0 Demographics and Site Traffic
	4.1 Demographics
	Residents
	Young People
	Partner’s demographics

	4.2 Site Traffic
	Residents
	Young People
	Partners



	Sport and Physical Activity Strategy Needs Analysis

	7 LIBRARY STRATEGY AND FUTURE OPERATING MODEL
	Appendix 1 - Libraries Consultation Report
	Appendix 2 - PowerBI Dashboard Example
	Appendix 3 - Libraries Strategy
	Appendix 4 - Mapping Figures
	Appendix 5 - Libraries Accessibility Assessment
	Appendix 6 - Libraries Needs Assessment
	Appendix 7 - WBC Design Principles Assessment
	Appendix 8 - Mobile Library Provision
	Appendix 9 - Service Definitions

	8 2022/23 Budget Update
	17 Jan 22 PR Budget Report, 17/01/2022 Policy and Resources Committee
	17 Jan 22 P&R Budget Report - Appendix 3, 17/01/2022 Policy and Resources Committee
	17 Jan 22 P&R Budget Report - Appendix 4, 17/01/2022 Policy and Resources Committee

	9 Work Programme Update
	TourismCommunitiesCultureandLeisureWorkProgrammeJanuary2022




